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North of t h e Broad R i v e r 

PREFACE 

Aa we progress farther into the back country and along the smaller 

streams, it becomes increasingly evident that we were wise in considering 

the land and the people as an integral unit.The immigrant settler became so 

much a part of the land and the land so much a part of the settler, that it 

seemed Impossible to consider one and not the other. From the land the settler 

drew his 1 lever easy, never without danger, never without back breaking 

labor. To this virgin land,he became ihe husband-- | :e huabandtaan . 

Aa was so often the case, when his life was finished , the settler 

I his family w-jre laid to rest t: -ke«i graves on his land. The cycle 

waa complete: he had repaid his debt to the land, To no future farmer 

ifOIll I land have the same meaning. 
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P-l North of the Broad River 

In the I of Crooked Run Creek and Little Cedar Creek 

As recorded in the first volume of this studv, Stephen Smith, the 

Leitners,and the Gradicks were earlv settlers along the eastern bank of 

Little Cedar Creek from its junction with Big Cedar Creek to its junction 

with Crooked Run Creek, David Hamiter's place lay along the western bank 

of Little Cedar Creek, and later became known as the Captain Whitworth place. 

Captain Whitworth, a veteran of the Confederate Army, married a daughter of 

David Hamiter, 

Robert McCants a: holas Wirick were early settlers near the forks 

of Little Cedar Creek and Crooked Run Creek*. Christian Hanaminger 

(Entzminger),Wil1iam M ark Daviea (Davis?),Christopher Davis,George 

ley,Stephen Eleazer, James Mann, and John Geiger had land surveys 

MAi icob Bookman was to own much of this land at a later date, and 

Oscar Fitzland Chappell owned much of this land in even more recent times. 

Mc CANTS 

Dâ  Cants, in accordance with a precept issued on August 26,1736, 

had 300 acres of land surveyed for him in Williamsburg Township,and the plat 
1 

was certified on April 2 r>, 1737. He had 250 acres of land laid out for him 

nship and a lot in the town laid out for him on March 28, 

17. 

James McCants had 300 acres of land laid out for him in Williamsburg 

3 
.'50 acres in 1752. Jamea Mc Cants made his will on 

Mai , 1772, and it was proven a few days later on March 19,1772, 

1-C P Vol 18 P *126 1737 

2- Thl 740 

ibid. ' 
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His youngest son James and his son Thomas were named his executors. He had 
4 

five sons but < .lines and Thomas were nam« 

John McCants had 290 acres of land laid out for him on Catfish 

Swa and 300 acres in two tracts on the Pee Dee River in 1757. 

John McChants(sir ived in South Carolina from Ireland on the ship 

•rd Dunluce, and on January 6,1773, petitioned Council for 100 acres of 

Bid, On the same date, Elizabeth McChants (sic), who had arrived on the 

6 
same ship,petitoned for 100 acres of land. Both petitions were granted and 

on January 6, 1773, John Bremar,Esq.,D.S.G., issued warrants of survey. 

John McCants had his 100 acres laid out for him on Twenty-Five Mile 

Creek: boun ill sides by vacant land.Andrew McDowell, D.S. certified 

his plat on February 11,1/73. Elizabeth McCants had her 100 acres laid out 

on Cedar Creek, Craven County: bound southea8t on the land of Peter Bequets. 
Q 

Andrew McDowell,D.S. certified her plat on Febr :1,1773 . 

hn and Samuel McCance(sic) arrived in South Carolina on board the 

ship ell, and on Ja: ', petitioned Council for 100 acres of 

9 
land,each. Their petitions were approved and warrants of survey prepared. 

Samuel McCants had 100 acres of land laid out for him on the southv. 

side of Black Creek. The plat was certified on June 25, 1773. John McCants 

had 100 acres surveyed for him on the northeast side of Sparrow Swamp and 
10 

the plat was certified on May 27, 1773, by Elias DuBose,D.S. 

4-Moore, Wills, 1760-1784,P-170 

,P-405;V -293. 

I*Vl 11,List oi Protestant Immigrants ,Pp . -I 

7-C,P.,Vol.18, -

8-

9-Revill,List of Protes immigrants,P.-124 
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There wa8 an earlier Samuel McCants, who had 100 acres of land 

surveyed for him on Bowers Mill Creek in 1766. Thomas McCants had 100 acres 

surveyed tor hi• 0Q the north side of Lynches Lake between the Santee and 

Pee Dee Rivers in 1768. He had a second Survey of land north of Lvnches Lake 

in 177 

Samuel McCants, of Turkey Creek, Sumter County, wrote a letter on 

May 1, 1817, stating that he was too ill to travel and wished his potential 

heirs toMcome down at onceM. Miss Jane McCants, also of Sumter County, had 

her will recorded on August 24,1821. She leftMalln to her friend Thomas 

13 
Pringle of Sumterville. 

William and Hannah McCants had the following children: 

James- born August 21,1754 

William- born December 25, 1756 

Joseph- born January 18,1759 
14 

Thomaa-born J •• 9,1761 

Rachel McCants was the sister of Joseph Commander,and had a daughter 

15 
zabeth Dunnan. 

Countv,Twer. - ve Mile Creek,was an 

immigrant from Ireland, and arrived in South Carol! the ship Lord Dunluce, 

opewel1;but,most probably, the Lo; luce.lust prior to 1773. He 

made his will on January 14,1813, and it was proven on November 11,1813. He 

1 1 - C.f . ,V< -99 

V o l . 9 , P 2 6 3 ; V o l . l 8 , P - 1 2 8 

<»r Will Hook, V o l . l , B k AA,P- L87 

14- <G Mag. -*!8 

I - loore, W i l i a , 17b()-17 -173 

: . .Apt . 11, I t 8 9 . 
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his wife Sarah had the following children:Robert, Samue1,John,William, 

Alexander, George,Jermiah, Andrew, Jean (daughter),Amy, Sarah,Liddiah, Ma 

Margaret,and Rosey. He left his wife Sarah and his four youngest sor. 

Alexander,George, Jeremiah,and Andrew; and his three youngest daughters, 

Mary,Margaret and Rosey,the use of his plantation,the Negroes, stock and 

farm implements,unti1 they should come of age. To his sons.Alexander, 

George, Jere ,md Andrew,he left the 150 acres of land adjoinig Samuel 

McCants. To al its children, in common, he left the 100 acres near John 

Kel! William to have the home place and 100 acres when all of 

the children are grown< He named his son William McCants and Abner Ross 

his executors. 

John McCance( antique spelling), according to the 1790 census for 

Fairfield C , had one free, white male over sixteen years of age;five 

ler sixteen; and five white,free females in his household. It is high 

unlikely that an- is children were able,or old enough ,to have had ar. 

business transactions prior to 1800. 

September 15,1804, John McCants,of Twenty-Five Mile Creek, sold 

iam Armstrong the 100 acres of land thathad been granted him on 
17 

John McCants served thirty days at the Congarees under Lt. Mitchell, 

Captain Craig's Company,Colonel Taylor's Regiment; fifty days under Lt. 

Smith at Orangeburgh; and twelve days under Lt. Trapp at Eutaw. He 

received 6 pounds, 11 shillings and five pence,ster1ing, for the 92 

18 
a service. 

k p,r-

ocords, S.C.Dept. Archives and Histor 
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Sai Cants, widow of John McCants, for $130,on January 12,1820, sold 

John ft in* estimated 250 acres of land on Sawney Creek that had been 

left to he: ier husband. Sarah McCants, formerly Sarah Hamilton, and 

Nancy Hamilton sold John Kennedy their rights to the property of John Hamilton 

$61.60,on August 1,1815. This property consisted of 129 acres made up 

OUt of 148 acrea that had been granted to James Hamilton on May 7,1792,and 

19 acres out of 640 acres granted to Jeremiah Pearson Mon the drains of 

Cedar Creek" on December 12, 1764: bound by the lands of Alex Robinson, James 

20 
Kennedy and Samuel Robinson. 

»• lcCANTS,on October 26,1804, paid Daniel Seal $240 for 50 acres 

lis land was one-half of 100 acres that had been 

granted to John Wilson. On May 28,1806,Alexander Crumpton sold Robert 

McCants 350 acres of land on Sawney Creek for $175.This land had been 

finally granted to John Burns. Sebastian and Sebrena Ruff witnessed the 

deed. On August 5, 1808. Thomas McCants bought 100 acres on the north side 
21 

of Sawney Creek >maa Grigg for $400. 

Rober *nts, probably the eldest son of John and Sarah McCants, 

died during the year 1815. His widow,Judith McCants, asked that Alexander 

Crumpton an« Oanta be appointed administrators of her husband's 

estate,stating that he had died on July 10,1815.Jacob Cloud, Sebastian 

Ruff and Zach Crumpton appraised the chattel goods of Robert McCants for 

$857. Asa Bell, minister at Twentv-Five Mile Batist Church read the 

citati September 17,1815. The names of all their children not known,but 

-98 

- i, Bk AA,P-388 

21-1 bid, - k 8tF« 
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they had a young son named John,who exacted a promise from his dving 
22 

father that he was to have a certain little mare. 

Judith McCants, widow of Robert Mc Cants, died sometime before the 

bond for her administrators,Samuel McCants and Alexander Crumpton, 

was signed on Januarv 27,1823. The sale of her chattel goods brought 

$587.27. Distribution was made to the following heirs: Sarah, wife of Green 

Berry Lai (?);Samuel Mc Cants;and Robert Alexander McCants. John Mc Cants had 

died before May 4,1825, because the administrator,on that date,showed the 

return from his estate to be $62.79, and he did not receive a distributive 

share of .nt's estate. By 1835, when the final settlement was 

23 
made, Alexander Crumpton was dead and Samuel McCants acted as sole execute 

SA: ta son of John and Sarah McCants,probably the second s 

bought 100 acres of land from John Pickett for $150 in January 1816. This 

land lay on Big Sawney Creek and had been originally granted to John 

Robinson I 5, Richard Campbell sold Samuel McCants 174 acres of land in 

the forks of Sawney Creek and Stonev Lick Branch on September 29,1809.This 

land was part of 820 acres that had been granted William Bryant in 1808. 

I Reynolds sold Samuel Mc Cants es of land on Sawney Creek for 

$350.This land was part of 823 acres that had been granted to Bryant,and 

bordered e land of Thomaa Knighton, Samuel McCants and Stonev Lick 

Bra< e deed was signed on September 14,1825.Samuel McCants signed a 

22-F.P.C.,file 12,Pkg. 95 

23- . As will be shown later, Judith Mc Cants was 

a daughter i r*gg Sr.,and a sister-in-law of Alexander Crumpton. 
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note for Elias Fish as ish to purchase 295 acres of land on 

the headwaters of Big Ced.-r Creek na October 17,1826. Samuel McCants purchased 

300 acres of land at a sheriff's sale for $10. The sale was to satisfy an 

indebtedness of #34.54. The land was bound by the lands of Jacob Sellers, 

.Palmer,Thomas Williamson and Dr. Davis; the deed was signed on Januarv H, 

24 
1828, and was witnessed by Victor Broom and James Walling. For $1, Samuel 

McCants released to James B.Coleman 199 acres of land; this land was part 

0 acres that had been granted to William Sanders on June 12,1772,and 

west on land granted Archibald McNeil, now owned by Edward G. 

<»man;northeaat by the land laid off for Ann B.McCants; southeast and 

est by the land of John Hollis. The deed was signed on November 8,1833, 

and witnessed by Samuel A. McCants and Robert (Alexander/) McCant izabeth, 
25 

wife of Samuel McCants, signed her release. On Jan* ,1835, William 

Sanders sold Samuel McCants 141 acres of land on Sawney Creek for $130. This 

land was where William Sanders lived and was bound by the lands of Samuel 

McCants,Dr. James Davis, James Rosborough,George R.Hunter,and Jonathan 

26 
Mickle, 

On December 3,1836, Robert A.McCants and Samuel McCants sold Isaac 

Arledge 586 acres of land on Sawney Creek for $1200: made up out of land 

gin/illy grantc n Wilson, John Grigg and John Burns. William 

Lan Samuel McCants 42 acres on the southwest side of Sawney Creek 

27 
C $100 on August 14, 1834. Rosanna Langhon signed her release. 

24- :,
P.25M .Pp. 140,454. 

). 

26-Ihld. - ',401 

U5 
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The tax returns for Ps d District for the year 1822 showed 

28 
its as the owner of 300 acres of land and one one slave. 

WILLIAM &S, son of John and Sar Cants, sold John Kelly the 

29 
100 acres ol on Sawney Creek that had been left him bv his fathe 

William McCants died in 1829,shortly after he had sold his land to 

Jls widow Judith was appointed his administratix, and her bond 

was signed on er 9,1829. The warrant of appraisement was issued to 

Sebatian I Zach Crumpton, Nathan Godbold,Vincent Bell and Austin 

er 3, 1829. The next day her chattel goods were sold. 

John W.Crumpto: es W.Crumpton,Sarah E.McCants ,Judith W. McCants and 

Cynthia | agreed to the appointment of John Crumpton as their 

attorney.The distribution of the estate of William McCants took place on 

October 11, 1833, and the following shares were given out: the • Judith 

received $1607,94.4; each of the following heirs received $64 nia 

Adeline McCants, Elizabth Amelia McCants,and Rebecca Ann McCants, Eliza Ann 

30 
McCants,and Sarah Eleanor McCants. It can be safely assumed that these 

were daughters of William and Judith McCants. 

ALEXANDER McCANTS,son of John and BtS, apparently died at 

about the time of his brother Villiam. George R.McCants and Elizabeth 

Preston were ft] *ed his adminstrator and administratrix. In this office, 

they sol tT Alexander McCants' share in the 150 acres of land 

that John McCants had left his voungest children.The land sold for $1.50 

acre, and was made up out of land that had been granted William Briant 

28-Tax Returns eld, 1822 

29- ., Bk 73 

30-F.P.C.,file 43,pkg.671,1829 
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(Bryant) on February 2,1801,and Margaret Robinson on September 12,1768. On 

this same day, December 17,1833,George R.McCants, John C.McCants and 

Andrew McCants sold John Walker the remaining three shares in the land 

31 
left his youngest children by John McCants. 

Several members of the John and Sarah McCants family belonged to-and 

were active in- Twenty Five Mile Baptist Church,later Sandy Level Baptist 

Church. Judith McCants, wife of William, was baptized in this church on 

Sati m e 5, 1824. Her husband William joined this church on October 5, 

1827. Job cCants was a long time and very active member: serving 

several times as a delegate to the Baptist conventions; as clerk of the 
32 

church; and in many other faithful positions, 

ROBERT McCANTS settled in what is now upper Richland County. His relation­

ship to John McCants Q Creek, and the other Mc Cants of South Carolina 

could not be established by official records.An unconfirmed source says that 

he wss the granson of David McCants. 

On June 3, 1771, Robert McCants received a precept for 100 acres of 

land that was surveyed for him on Cedar Creek by John Alston,D.S. and the 

plat certified on June 22,1771.This land was bound northeast by the land 

of Nicholas Wirick and on all other sides by vacant land. The Royal Grant 

33 
ir 14,1771. On April 1, l^ r), 100 acres of land was laid 

out for him on Crooked Run Creek. The creek ran across the eastern portion 

the land, and the land was bound on the east by Thomas Alston,north by 

John Bell iwest by Thomas May.southwest by vacant land, and south by 

U- F.D.B. ,Bk MM,Pp- 25 

32-MS Records of Sandy Level (Twenty-Five Mile) Baptist Church 

33-CeP.Vol. U\P-94; Royal Grants, Vol.24,1771 
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the land already owned by Robert HcC . On the same day, April 1, 1785, 

a plat for 200 acres of land on Thorn Tree Creek, a branch of Wateree 

River,was certified for him."The road to the Congarees"ran across this 
34 

id. On March 2,1795, he sold this land on Thorn Tree Creek to Thomas 

Trapp for 40 pounds, sterling. Nicholas Wirick and Jesse Busbv witnessed 
35 

the deed. Samuel Alston surveyed 206 acres of land for Robert McCants on 

Cedar Creek,and o <»d the plat on December 29,1794.This land was bound 

by the lands of RobertMcCants,John Lightner, Joseph Durham and by land 
36 

whoae owner was not known. Robert McCants sold sold Moses Wooten the 100 

acres of land on Sawney Creek that had been granted to Jane Robinson for 50 
37 

ids, sterling. David McGraw conveved to Robert McCanta 400 acres of land 

on Morris Cree^ <»bruary 5,1787. This land had been granted to David 

raw,and was bou the lands of Peter Starnes, James Andrews and 
38 

Edward Mc< and Joahua Starnes witnessed the deed. 

Brian Skippei District, sold sold Robert McCants 1^0 acres of land 

for 50 pounda, att . This land had been surveyed for John Long on 

December 9,1771, and granted to John Winn on July 28,1775: and waa bound 

southeast on Isaac Ar1edge,southwest on Pressley Tidwell. The date of the 

deed was November 9,1784. Sixteen years later, on October 5,1800, he sold 

39 
this land to Daniel Goyner (Joyner?) for $300. 

34-S.P.,Series I,Vol.7Q.P-17;Vol.79,P-18. 

.Series 2,Vol.33, P32 

-19 

38- -̂ 6 

9. 
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On ry 4, 1812, Robert McCants sold his son James McCants 134 

acres < d on Little Cedar Creek;being made up,in part, out of the 

40 
100 acres of land granted Robert McCants on September 14,1771. 

Robert Mc Cants made his will on July 3, 1812, and it was proven on 

February 11,1817, and recorded on June 4,1817. His wife Elizabeth to 

retain all of the proper' t she had brought with her. On June 3, 1802, 

a marriage contract was drawn up between Elizabeth McMeekin and Robert 

McKance(sic), in which it was agreed that he would give up all claim to 

her property. Elizabeth McMeekin and her brother Andrew McMeekin were 

listed as heirs of James McMeekin in a land transaction on Januarv 20, 

1797. The izabeth McCants, to receive full support from the 

D <obert , which had been willed to his son James 

ants.Green Terman, grandson of Robert McCants was willed 75 acres of 

land on the west side of the 200 acres that had been granted Robert 

McCants on March 2, 179r>. James Thompson, a grandson, was to have the 75 

acres,the complement of the land which had been willed to his son James 

its, and made up out of land granted Robert McCants in 1771 and 1786. 

Hia son James to serve as his executor and to have the residue of his 

property.J.Beaty,James Workman and George Shedd witnessed the will. Adam 

Hamiter, Nicholas Wir pseed and William Robertson appraised 

43 
the estate. 

VP-193 

; r . l.\ (Hi 100 

.D.B,i -129 

Izabeth McMeekI Robert McCants were probably married In 1802. 

She was not the mother of James r.s and it is unlikelv that she had 

iren. 
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On December 10,1819, James Thompson sold James Mc Cants the 75 acres 

of land that had been willed to him by his grandfather Robert McCants,for 

$300. The land was bound on the northwest by the land of Nicholas Wirick. 
44 

ha, wife of James Thompson, signed her release. 

JAMES McCANTS, son of Robert McCants, died intestate in Fairfield 

District late in 1836,or early 1837. His son James B.McCants was appointed 

his administrator,and his chattel goods appriased on January 17,1817, by 

phrey Gibson,Z.Trapp, and Jacob Bookman. The appraised value of h 

perty was $13,848,86*5. He had been successful in a judgement against 

:in Chappell and $455.98 was paid into his estate by the estate of John 

Chappell. Mis wife was Mary Ann,daughter of Bartholomew Turnipseed. His heirs 
45 

were not liste< 

Martha McCants,daughter of James McCants, in her will listed the 

names Q other! iisters as her heirs.The will was made on March 27, 

1841, and her brother James B.McCants waa named her executor. Adam F.DuBard, 

R.E.Bookman and Sophia Bell witnessed her will.She first desired the 

r secondly, she gave $10 to the Winnsboro 

Bible Society; she then made the following requeats: to her brother George, 

a Bible; to her sister Elizabeth,a red quilt;to her sister Mary, a black 

sill rle table; to her brother Thomas,a trunk; to sister 

Jemima,a sampler; to sister Permelia, a white counterpane;to her mothe-

her bed;to sister Nancy, a blue silk frock; to sister Mary, the first $200 

44- -54 

45-F.P.C, Apt ile 688;Apt.513. 
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realized from the sale of her property; the residue of her property to 
46 

be equally divided. 

James McCants and his wife Mary Ann(Turnipseed) sold Jacob Bookman, 

for $522, two tracts of land : the first tract was 35 acres made up out of 

nd grante* Wi on May 7,1787,and out of land devised to Mar 

i McCants by the will of her father Bartholomew Turnipseed;the second 

tract of 75 acres was made up out of 200 acres of land granted to Stephen 

Eleazer on May 21,1772, and represnted land that had been granted Elizabeth 

Connel her father Bartholomew Turnipseed. The 35 acres of land lay to 

the west of Crooked Run Creek,and between that stream and the road to 

la. Jacob Bookman owned the land to the northeast and southeast of 

of this tract;James McCants owned the o the west. The 75 acres of 

to the west of the road to Columbia(from Bell'sMill), and was on 

the drains ol ^r's Branch. The deed was witnessed by George McCants 

Harriet pseed, and was signed ifi 1831. 

m 1822 Tax Returns for Fairfield District showed James McCants, Esq. 

as the own CM /3 acres of land and seven slaves. 

DR. ANTS,son of James and grandson of Robert McCants,made his 

wil: iry 1,1860, and it was proven on January 27,1860. Carolus 

Felder, J.S.Steward and Thomas A.Pulllg witnessed the will. His wife Sarah H, 

McCants to have the home place that belonged to her at the time of their 

marriage.The farm to be operated for the support of his wife and children. 

-328 

47-F.D.B.,!k | 4 
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The executors o: .-ill to sell the Fant place and the small farm in 

Richland County. The executor to be the guardian of his children, Willie 
48 

Anna. Willie to have his gold watch.Mentions his medical books. 

old Robert McCants home place was located on a quiet hill on the 

western bank of Crooked Run Creek near its junction with Little Cedar Creek, 

A large cemetery of unmarked graves marks the crown of the hill just 

behind the site of the old homeplce. A heart pine stake marked the site of 

the last burial in this graveyard more than a hundre s ago.There is 

a tradition that a Revolutionary soldier drowned in the creek and Is 

buried here. 

49 
THE WIRICKS 

On February 13,1766, John Nicholas Werrick petitioned the Governor 

uncil for 150 acres of land in-or near, Londonborough Township and 

I bounty.He had lately arrived in the province on encouragement of 

the bounty. On this same day,Febr 13, 1766,Maria Eva Werrick petitioned 

for the bounty. 

In accordance with a precept dated June 2,1767, 150 acres of land was 

surveyed I :holas Wirick ^Werrick) on Dry Branch of Cedar Creek: bound 

northeast on land of Mark Davies (Davis?), and on all other sides by vacant 

land. The plat was certified on August 30,1767, by Ralph Humphries D.S. 

52 
The Royal Grant was dated March 8,1768. 

le U9, 48 

<>timee written Wyrick, Wyref, Werrick, Wyrey ,Wavref .Wirrick. 

50-Rev il Lists of Protestant Immigrants, 1763-1773, P-56. 

eries 1,Vol33,P-420. 

- Royal Grants, Vol.16,P42,1768. 
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Pursuant to a warrant issued on November 5, 1771, 150 acres of land 

was surveyed for Nicholas Wyrey (Wirick) on Crooked Run Creek: bound 

southwest on John Hansearington,and on all other sides by vacant land. 

The land was surveyed on November 10,1771, and the Royal Grant dated 

May 21,1772.53 

George Monglett and Peter Reamick, Lancaster County, South Carolina, 

sold Nichola8 (probably the young Nicholas) Wirick,of Fairfield Coun* 

150 acres of land on Cedar Creek for 2 5 pounds,sterling,on January 1, 

1798: bound southeast on land of George Freshley and vacant land; southwest 

54 
las Wirey(Wi ,and on the other aides by vacant land. 

James Mai a August 17,1802, sold Nicholas Wirick 134* acres of land 

on Little Cedar Creek. This land was part of 150 acres that had been 

granted James Mann c 1786, .t the time of the original survey 

was bound on the northwest by land of Nicholas Wrick,southwest on Robert 

ants,southeast on Elijah Wallens and t land, and on the northeast 

by vacant land. Mary and Samuel Alston witnessed the deed;Agnes, wife of 

55 
James Mann signed her release. 

Kinstrv and wife Jane(Jean) sold Nicholas Wirick a tract of 

land for $558,on Januar his land lay on Indian Branch,Little 

Otdar Creole, tad had LMM luLiwjpod Ear taha Alston Coc L60 acroi on 

January 1,1787. On resurvey,it was found to contain 279 acres. James 

talker and John Brown witnessed the deed. Jean McKinstry signed her release. 

53- C. undle, .P. Series i,Vol.33,P-418.Royal Grants, Vol.25,P-671. 

54- -120,1798 

- : i£, Bk 0,P-373,1802 

,1812. 

56 
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February 14, 1818,James Owens and his wife Anna sold Nicholas 

Wirick 74 acres of land on Crooked Run Creek for $883.42: being part of a 

tract of 100 acres granted John Bell on February 13, 1768, and by John Bell 

nsferred to John Alston on November 25,26,1774. This land was 

resurveyed by Samuel Alston on Januarv 9,1811, and at that time was bound 

on the southeast by Nicholas Wirick;south and southwest by John Turnipseed; 

west by Robert s. Crooked Run Creek made a big loop across the land. 

Returns for Fairfield District for 1822 showed Nicholas 

ick as the owner of 895 acres of land and five slaves. 

On February 16,1826, Nicholas Wirick sold his son Jacob Wirick a tract 

of land for $466. This land had been granted to John Geiger in November 

177. een originally aurveyd as 150 acres, but on resurvey was 

;nd to contain 238 acres. The land lay on Indian Branch of Little Ce<: 

Creek and Dry Branch of Crooked Run Creek: bound by the lands of George 

Freshley(on Indian Branch),Harmon Wyrick,and Samuel Brown's estat is 

tract of 150 acres was surveyed for John Geiger by John Alston,D.S. on March 9, 

58 
1772. There is no evidence that John Geiger ever lived on this land and 

I ca no record transferring this land to Nicholas Wirick prior to the 

sale on Februa: ,1826. 

On this same date, February 16,1826, Nicholas Wirick sold his son 

Adam a tract of land for $384. This tract contained 107 acres and was made 

up-in part- out of 150 acres that had been granted to James Mann on March 6, 

1786, and,in part, out of 150 acres granted to Nicholaa Wirick on March8,1768; 

I,P-152. 

-87. C.P.,Vol.lb,P-4S. 
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the second part of the tract was 72 acres out of the 150 acres that had 

been granted to Christopher Davis in 1771. A survey of the 107 acres of 

land on March 2,1824, showed that this land was bound northeast by land 

of Nicholas Wirick,southeast by land of Jesse Wirick,south by John Gradick, 

and southwest and west by McCant's land. Catherine Gradick signed her 
59 

release of dower rights. 

Still on February 16,1826, Nicholas Wirick sold his son Jesse,for 

, a tract of 130 acres made up,in part,out of the land granted James 

part, out of the 150 acres granted Nicholas Wirick on 

March 8,1768. The sale included a second tract of 73 acres made up out of 

the land granted Christopher Davis in 1771. On a plat made by Samuel 

Alston,D.S., March 3,1824,the 130 acres of land waa bound on the west by 

Nicholas Wirick, north and east by John Gradick and Michael Turnipseed, 

and south and southeast by James McCants. The 73 acre tract was bound on 

the east by land of Adam Wirick, south by David Brown's land,west by 
60 

land of W.Robertson, and north V erine Turnipseed. 

Nicholas Wirick sold his son Nicholas Jr.,February 16,1826, 150 acres 

ol Land lor $37 is tract of land was made up,in part,out of the 100 

acres granted John Bell, and,in part, out of 160 acres granted John Alston 

on Jam, ,1787. 

59-F.D.B ;G,P-145 

- Ibid. BkGG, -

1 - Ibid. 
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On January 27,1827, Nicholaa Wirick made his will: six years later,on 

August 4, 1833, he died.His sons Adam, Nicholas, Jacob and Jesse were 

appointed his executors.To his wife Catherine, he left his house, his 

plantation,and his three slaves:Jinny,Charles and Reuben. He also left her 

his household goods, farm implements, and farm animals-all carefully listed. 

Separately were hisMDutch Books^To each of his children,he gave a 

and call, t_welve dollars.Jiny to be freed at his wife's death, but 

the rest of the property to be equally divided at her death. To each of his 

sons he gave a horse worth $70; Jesse received a horse worth $90,and $20 to 

be returned to the estate. His son Zachariah to receive the home place, but 

he is to pay the estate $500. The home place contained 340 acres. As 

already noted, he had sold land to his sons Adam,Jesse, Jacob and Nicholas 

I slaves not to be put at public auction for fear thev 

might be mistreated. HisMbound boy" Phillip Gradick to be freed at the age 

o years. Very likely Phillip Gradich was grandson,nephew,or 

close relative of Nicholas or Catherine Gradick Wirick. 

Buying at the sale of the chattel gooda, besides the family,were: 

John Chappell. John Cook, Holly Robertson,Rebecca Mason(a daughter), 

ry Gradick, John Turnipseed, George Brown, John H.Smith,William DuBard, 

Stephr /, Nathan O- William Johnston, and Phillip Cook.The final 

accounting went to these heirs: Jacobb Wirick; Adam Wirick; Nicholas 

Wirick Jr.;Jease Wirick; Zachariah Wirick;Mary,wife of Henry Gradick; 

iRebeccah,wife : '. r.; Catherine Wirick;El izabeth Wirick;and Anna 
62 

te of .radick. 

He 69, Pkg. 1064,1833. 
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I old Nicholas Wirick graveyard ,overgrown and difficult to find, 

lies on a hill just to the east of the small branch where (John) Nicholas 

Werrick (Wirick),the immigrant, first obtained his land grants in 1768. 

<»s of the family was originally enclosed, but the fence has long 

since decayed. Some of the graves were marked (as will be noted later), but 

many were unmarked. Outside of the enclosure were the numerou r̂ked 

graves of the slaves. For many years, this graveyard outside of the 

enclosure,was a favorite burying ground for the local Negroes. One of the 

graves in the Negro burying ground was marked by a "nigger head" rock with 

the simple inscription "Elmer': 

The marked graves carried these marking 

cholas Wirick-January 16,1768- August 4,1833. 

Catherine Dorette Wirick-November 27,1772-December 7,1841. 

John Wirick-December 1790-August 27,1800. 

Christlane Wirick- November 27,1795-September 12, 1809. 

Mias Elizabeth Wirick- December 27,1810-October 3, 1888. 

ian Jefferson Wirick- January 13,1827- ,1855. 

Since the Nicholas whose life we have Just traced would have been 

only a few months old at the time that John Nicholas Werrick (Wirick) 

received his land grant in January 1763, it seems logical to assume t; 

"our Nicholas" was the son of the immigrant John Nicholas.We ,also, 

believe that his wife was the Maria 2va Werrick ,who asked for the bonus 

M Ptbruary 13,1766. There was a Herman -or Harmon Wirick (often preferring 

the spelling w I who was a contemporary of Nicholas Wirick and could 
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have been a brother of Nicholas Wirick (1768-1833). The family of Harmon 

Wyrick (WiricK) will be considered later. Catherine Dorette Gradick Wirick 

was the daughter of Jacob and Mary Metz Gradick. Tillman Jefferson Wirick was 

born too late to have been a son of Nicholas and Catherine Wirick and 

was probably a grands 

JACOB WIRICK,son of Nicholas and Catherine Wirick, was named for his 

63 
ldfather Jacob Gradick. Jacob Wirick married Polly Kaon. No probate 

papers for Jacob Wirick were found and we do not know the names of his 

children. The 1829 census for Fairfield District showed Jacob Wirick to 

have five members in his fami 

As previous ted,Jacob Wirick purchased a tract of land from his 

February 16,1826. Jacob Wirick had 9*5 acres of land on Crooked 

Run Creek surveyed for him on November 22,1832. At the time of the survey, 
65 

the land was almost completely surrounded by the land of Jacob Bookman. 

Chelsey Stanton ,on February 9,1830, sold Jacob Wirick the 59 acres of 

land that he had bought a years earlier,on January 30,1829. This land 

wae made up out of the 150 acres that had been granted the immigrant (John) 

Nicholas Wirier 768. Sevilla Stanton, wife of Chelsey Stanton, signed 

66 
the release of her dowr 

ADi\M WIRICK, son of Nicholas and Catherine Wirick,as previously noted, 

63- Fannie Lever MS 

26 

65-S.J' lex 2, Vc >0 

lis shows a close connection of Harmon Wirick 

las Wirick,the immigrant. 
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had bought two tracts of land from his father on February 16,1826.By 1836, 

Adam Wirick had moved to Florida,and on October 6, 1836, he sold his 

brother Jesse the tract of 107 acres that he had bought from his father 

67 
ten years earlier. 

JESSE WIRICK,son of Nicholas and Catherine Wirick, had the 203 acres 

of land that he had purchased from his father in 182b,and the 107 acres that 

he had purchased from his brother Adam.On October 8,1832, Phillip D.Cooke 

Ld Jesse Wirick 201 acres of land for $1281.37*5.This land lay northwest 

of Little Cedar Creek and where a small spring branch entered the creek.The 

land lay mostly to the west of the branch and was made up out of land 

iginally granted to Mark Davies (Davis) on December 26,1766,and out of 

68 
land originally granted Christian Rister on May 2,1774. 

On Marci *ggo D.S., under that act of 1791 for the 

iting of vacant land,laid out 572 acres of land for Jesse Wirick. 

Patrick Noble, Governor of the State of South Carolina, signed the grant on 

July 18,1839, s land lay on both sides of Little Cedar Creek,and was 

made up out of land originally granted Christopher Davis(1771),Christopher 

Reuster(1774),Mark Davis (17' d James Mann(1768).Part of this survey 

seemed to include part ot the 201 acres that Jesse Wirick had bought from 

Phillip D.Cooke in 1832.Thia 572 acres of land was bound southeast on the 

lands cf Catherine Gradick and B.H.Robertson,east and north on land of 

Wllli.mi Robertson,! <»st on James Alston, west on Catherine Wirick's 
69 

land southwest on land of James McCants. Jesse Wirick should have owned 

68-Ibid. !»k KK.P-394 

69-s.r. huiox 2,Vol.52,P-30A,1839 
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1083 acres of land by the end of 1839. The 1829 census counted five 

persons in his household. We do not know the names of his wife and 

children,and no probate records found. 

Samuel and Jesse Wirick were mustered into Captain Daniel Smith's 
70 

Company for three months service in the Seminole War on February 17,1836. 

NICHOLAS WIRICK JR.,son o nolas and Catherine Wirick,never married 

and died intestate on July 24,1867.His nephew Washington Mason, son of his 

sister, Rebecca Mason,was appointed his asministrator.His heirs-not 

named- were his one surviving brother,the children of his two deceased 

71 
<*rs,and his five sisters. 

The heirs of George Freshley sold Nicholas Wirick Jr. the 150 acres 

Ol land that had been granted to George Freshley f 18,1771. This land 

resurvey was found to contain 206 acres. The land lay on Indian Branch 

ol little Cedar Creek. The heirs of George Freshley concerned in this 

transaction were Arthur , John Turnipseed of 

Mississippi, Rebecca and Abraham Turnipseed of Richland County. The land 

sold md the deed was signed on June 3, 1834. Michael Turnipseed 

acted as attorney for John Turnipseed of Amet Count saissippi. Eliza 
72 

pseed, wife of John Turnipseed,signed her release. 

On Decer »s Wirick Jr. bought a tract of land on 

Morriss Creek rhompson t\* John Adger, and Dvid McDowel1,executors 

70- Seminole War Records,S.C.Dept. Archives and History, 

71-F.P.C. series) Apt. 27,file 319,186 

72- L834. 
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of the estate of Joshua Player. This land had been conveyed to Joshua 

Player by Peter Mason, and was priced at $13 an acre;to be paid on equal 

73 
installments on Januarv 1 , 1837,Janua: 1838, and Januarv 1,1839. 

ZACHARIAH (Zach) WIRICK, son of Nicholas and Catherine Wirick,died 

intestae in Fairfield County sometime prior to January 13, 1852, the 

date of the appraisal of his chattel goods. Marshall McGraw, Samuel H. 

Evans and John Copeland carried out the appraisal. His heirs were the 

>w, Rebecca A. Wirick, John Z.Wirick, C.Wirick, and Laura Elizabeth 

Wirick.74 

Zach Wirick had obtained 340 acres of land through the provisions of 

his father's will.John Carlisle and his wife Susan(Susannah) sold Zach 

Wirick 189 acres of land for $1900 on Ja: 11, 1834. This land was made 

up out of 149 acres that had been given Susannah Mason Carlisle by her 

ier John Mason; and 40 adjoining acres given her by her mother Mr. 

75 
Mason. Susannah Mason Carlisle signed the release of her dov 

Zach ,alao, bought Jane Harrion's(wife of Thomas Harrison) 

distributive share of land that had been left her by hi ;ier John Mason. 

The tract contained 114 acres and lay on Morris Creek: bound southeast by 

land of Jane Boyd;northeast by land of Samuel Cork;north by the land of the 

Widow Scott; and west by land already owned by Zach Wirick. The sale price 

77 
was $1100, and the deed was signed on December 29,lh 

.,Bk NN P-219 1836 

74-F.P.C.,Apt. ile 397,1852. 

75-! 171,1834. John Mason died 1803 and his wife Mary died in 

1824, Susannah Mason Carlisle was born on December 3,1797 and died March 4, 

< y are buried in the Old Bethel Church Cemete: 

s35. 
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The Harmon-or Herman- branch of the Wirick family has been hard to and 

most of the genealogy is presumptive, although based on reasonable evldene. 

I believe that Nicholas and Harmon Wirick were brothers or,at least, ve* 

close kin. 

HARMON < a) WYRICK (Wirick) was noted as having a wife named Sarah, and 

probably sons named Jeremiah and Samuel. Sevilla C.Stanton was probably a 

a daughter.The 1790 census for Fairfield District listed a Herman Wyret 

as having two white, free males over sixteen years of age and one white 

female in his household. The 1829 census showed the household of Harmon 

as having five white members his presumed family of 

fe Sarah,two sons,a daughter,and Harmon,himself. 

On J.i 23, L829, Harmon Wirick sold Samuel Wirick (a son?) one 

wago! , ^, ? cows and 9 sheep for $300.Tyrus and Azmond Bell witnessed 

the deed. this same year,1829, Harmon Wirick sold Samuel Wirick ,for 

$200, all that tract of 150 acres (resurveyed to show 196 acres) original: 

granted ( las Wyrey (Wirick) on November 1< , and 90 acres 

out of the 300 acres that had been granted to Christian Hansminger 

(Entzminger) on February 21,1772. Fiftv-nine of these acres had been 

measure r Chelsey Stanton and lay on the Spring Branch side of 

Crooked Run Creek.Sara,wife of Harmon Wirick signed the release of her 

77 
dowr lis seems to mean that Samuel Wirick was planning to set up 

housekeeping, and might have been planning to mar 

77- P.D.I '),278,1829. 
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non Wirick sold Chelsey Stanton the 59 acres of land that had been 

measured o m the land that he had sold Samuel Wirick on January 30, 

1829.Chelsey Stanton sold this land to Jacob Wirick on February 9,1830, 
78 

I Sevilla con signed the release of her dow 

ies Craig sold Jeremiah Wirick 95% acres of land for $238,75,on 

Jan 1829.This land lay on Trapp Branch of Big Cedar Creek and was 

part of 482 acres granted to Thomas Trapp on July 7, 1800; and,also part 

at had been resurveyed by Samuel Alston,D.S. on December 

1828: bound northwest and southwest on John Kennedy and John Stanton; 

southwest and southeast on Weals? land and William Brown;and northeast on 

James Craig.Jane Craig signed her release.John J.Wirick sold Samuel Wirick 

35% acres of land on Big Cedar Creek for $79.87%,on Febr 12,1833. 

I land was part of the tract of 482 acres that had been granted Thomas 

Trapp in 1800. James Craig sold Samuel Wirick an additional 30 3/4 acres out of 

79 
the Thomas Trapp tract on February 12,1833. 

Samuel Wirick sold Jacob Bookman the 149 acres of land that he had 

purchased from Harmon Wirick for $487,in February 1831. This was the land 
80 

that he had purchaaed two years earlier. 

Jeremiah Wirick applied for and received a letter of dismissal from 
81 

n Twenty-Five Mile(Sandy Level) Baptist Church on Saturday,May 5, 1832. 

I this mean that he was moving to another state? 

-K.D.B- ,Pp-17,18,1829,1830. 

: ,P-403,1829;Bk KK,Pp443,444,1833. 

8 0 - I b i d . Uk KK,P-l r)l , 1831 . 

- MS Records - S Mile Creek (Sandy Leve l ) Bapt i s t Church, 

South Carol in iana Libra: 
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owing Wiricks saw service in the Confederate 

FRANK N.WIRICK,18 years old, Co C, 12th S.C.Regiment, killed at 

Spottsylvania,May 18,1864. 

JESSE P.(A) WIRICK, Co F. ,12th S.C.Regiment,enlisted at Alston on 

September 5,1861, killed at Gaines Mill,June 27,1862. He was the son of 

Zach Wirick. Just before entering service, he made his will leaving all 

82 
of his estate to his mother Mary M.Wirick. 

LABON V. WIRICK,Co H,7th Bn. S.C. Infantry( Enfield Rifles),also known 

as Nelson's Bn. Enlisted on October 2,1863, at Sullivan's Island by 

Captain Brooks, captured at Drewry's Bluff. Was in military prison at Point 

Lookout M later transferred to Elmira Prise .,August 15,1864. 

When he was released on June 17,186 5, he was asked where he wanted to go 

he atatedMto go home to Columbia."He was released to the Simpson 

Department .is prison records,he was described as being of florid 

complexion,with au hair,blue eyes,and five feet five inches in height. 

J.F.(John Pe)WIHGKtCo C, 12th S . C. Regiment ,enl isted at Winnsboro by 

Lt. Hinn.i h 18,1862, captured at Spottsylvania, on or before 

March 12,1864.At the time of his capture, he was charged with a leather 

cartridge belt and extra cartridges valued at $4.07.These charges were 

noted each time he was picked up on report. 

W.p.(Wylie P.) WIRICK,20 years old, Co C, 12th S.C. Regiment,enlisted 

August 10,1861, by Captain H.C.Davis at Lightwood Knot Springs, wounded at 

Gettysburg, July 1863, died of his wounds (pyemia) in Federal Prison on 

82 -K. P. C , Apt. series 
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July 26,1863. His body was transferred to David's Island on September 17, 

1863, and he was buried in Cypress Hill Cemetery,Long Island. 

J.Z(John Zi\ ih) WIRICK,son of Zachariah Wirick, served in Co B, 

R^ 

7th S.C.Bn. 

John Nicholas Werrick (Wirick) came to the forks of Crooked Run Creek 

Little Cedar Creek in 1767, and by thrift and hard work became the 

progenitor of a large and wealthy family. A century later the guns of the 

Civil War and emigration so decimated the family in Fairfield County that 

today no members of the family now reside in the county. The contribution 

I he Wirio Ily to the Confederate cause should preserve for the 

family a place in the memoray of the count 

FAMILY OF JAMES MANN 

The immigrant James Mann had lands in the forks of Little Cedar 

Creek and Crooked Run Creek bordering on the lands of Stephen Eleazer, 

(John) Nicholas Wirick, Nicholas Wirick, David McGraw,and George Freshli 

JAMES MANN,the immigrant, arrived in South Carolina on the ship 

Pennsvl v.ml.i Farmer a and on January 6,1773. petitioned the Governor and 

Council for 200 acres of land.(This would seem to indicate that there were 
84 

ir members in his household) A precept for this land was issued on 

January 6,1773, and on February 6,1773, John Alston D.S. laid the land off 

on Crooked Run Creek: bound south west by Stephen Eleazer and vacant lar 

and northwest on Davi raw's land; northeast and east on Nicholas Wirick's 

ederate War Records,S.C.Dept Archives and History, 

ivill,Original Lists of Protestant Immigrant*,1763-1773,P-125 
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85 
George Freshley's land. On November 4,1784, he had 150 acres of land 

laid off for him. The grant was dated March 6, 1786.On November 21,1784, he 

had 245 acres of land surveyed for him,and the grant dated June 5, 1786. 

On February 22,1800, he had 68 acres of land laid off for him, and the 

86 
grant was dated March 3, 1800, 

D November 16,1790, William Boyle, son and heir of John Boyle, 

sold James Mann 100 acres of land for 50 pounds,sterling. This land had 

been granted to John Boyle on June 19,1772. At the time of the original 
87 

survey,the as surrounded by vacant land. David Watkins of Salisbury, 

N.C.,sold James Mann 250 acres of land for 150 pounds sterling, on February 27, 

17(> [B land lay on Ned's Branch of Little River,and had been original 

granted to John Bell on May 13, 1768. John Bell transferred the land to 

John Murray,who,in turn, transferred the land to David Watkins o: h 18, 

3. 

James Mann sold Jacob Turnipseed the 68 acres granted hla on Cedar 

Cedar Creek,on March 3, 1 or $52 in February 1801. This tract of land 

was bound northeast on the estate of John Comptyjwest by John Brent's lar. 

south by George Leightner(Leitner);and east by Jacob Turnipseed. Agnes, 

89 
lames Mann, signed the release of her dowry. On August 17, 1802, 

James Mann sold Nicholas Wirick 134% acres out of the 150 acres that had 

granted him on March 6,1786. The land lay on Little Cedar Creek and at the 

8 6 — I l,Vol .7q,i - :idex 1, 

- -State Grants, Vol. - L35,P-135.,1786. S.P.,Index 2, Vol.37, 

>tate Grants, Vol.46, P-290,1800 

87-i 790 

88-i ,1792 
89"lbld 32,1801. 
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time of the original survey was bound northwest bv the land of Nicholas 

Wirick,southeast by Robert McCant's land,southeast by land of Elijah 

Wallen and vacant land, and northeast by vacant land. Marv and Samuel 
90 

Alston witnessed the deed. Agnes Mann signed the release of her dowr 

The immigrant James Mann died in August 1818. His will made on August 7, 

1818, was proven on August 17,1818.To his sons James and Thomas, he left the 

home place of 250 acres; James to have the home and Thomas to have the 

other half of the land with Still House Branch to be the line. I believe 

this is the land that that the immigrant James Mann had purchased from 

David Watkins in 1792, and situated on Still House Branch,Alligator Creek, 

Little River. as and his brother Nathaniel to have the 200 acres of 

the adj( tract;Thomas to have 25 or 30 acres and Nathaniel to 

have the remainder of the 200 acres. He gave his son Thomas three slaves, 

Jamea two slaves and Nathaniel one slave. To his daughter Elizabeth he 

gave the slave girl Peggy; to his son-in-law William McCreight, he gave 

$30 andforgave him all of his debts;to his daughter Jane Frazier,he gave 

$40 and all ol the property already given her.Agnes, wife of James Mann 

was not mentioned in the will and was probably already dead.Joseph McAdams, 

Samuel McKinstrv and Rebecca Evans witnessed the will. Thomas and James 

91 
Mann were named executors of the will. 

Ezekiel and Jane(Ma razier were not satisfied with the distribution 

of her father James Mann's proper? filed a petition against the 

heirs of James Mann:James, Thomas and Nathaniel Mann; Thomas, James and 

Polly McCeight; and Elizabet! he petition was hear in the Court of 

90- , -383,U 

91- ,Vol.1, k7,P-43.F.P.C.,Apt.2 5,file 386,1818. 
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Equity for Fairfield District in the June 1825 term of court.The court 

ordered the sale of the 250 acres of land on Aligator Creek,Little River, 

that had been granted to John Bell in 1768;and part of the 245 acres of 

land granted James Mann Sr.,for a total of 461 acres of land.John Buchanan, 

Commissioner in Equity ordered the sale for September 4,1826. James Mann Jr. 

bought the land,at the sale,for $1786.37%. The land was bound by the lands of 

Ezekiel Frazier,Samuel Brown,Samuel McKinstrv, Hugh Elliott, Zach Trapp, 

92 
Edward Yarborough and others. 

James Mann Jr. on December 30,1826, sold his brother Thomas the 250 

es of land that had been granted John Bell in 1768,along with 30 acres 
93 

out of the tract of 245 acres granted to James Mann (Sr.) in 1786. 

ur of the children of the immigrant James Mann:James, Thomas, Elizabth 

Mann and Pollv McCreight died within a few months of each other in late 1842 

or early 1843. The medical bill submitted by Dr. John M.Glenn to the estate 

of Thomas Mann 8erves as an indication as to the time of death of these 

several members of the family.He began attending Thomas Mann during the 

month of August 1842, and saw him reg\: through the month of September 

t he saw him occasionally until J f 19,1843,the probable 

date of his death.In September 1842,he began seeing "Miss Polly" (Polly 

McCreight). She was dead before her sister Elizabeth. In November 1842, 

HH,P-29,182h. Elkin's map of Fairfield Countv (1876) shows 

1 gator Creek entering Little River Just above Brown's Bridge. A recent 

South Carolina Highway map shows Alligator Creek, now called Mann's Branch, 

Joining with Clbeon'a Branch just Ufore entering Little River. 

93-F.D.B. ,P-28,1826. 
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Dr Glenn began seeing Miss Betsy 'Elizabeth Mann), and attended her until 

her death on January 9,1843. James Mann appears to have died in late 

January 1843. Dr Glenn made no record of having attended James Mann.Dr Glenn 

charged $2.SO for the visit and the medicine. At the time Dr. Glenn submitted 

his bi! March 17,1845, he charged interest for one year,two months and 
94 

ten days. 

The death of these four members of the same family within so short 

a period of time suggests the possibility of a contagious disease. The 

prolonged illness suggests that tuberculosis might have been the disease. 

James Mann Jr.,son of the immigrant James Mann and his wife Agnes, 

made his will on October 1,1828. His son Nat qualified on January 30, 

1843. His sister Elizabeth Mann was left a "genteel support" out of the 

estate. lis niece Mary McCreight,he left $200,to be paid when she reached 

the age of eighteen years,or married. To his nephews James and Thomas Mann, 

sons of his brother Nathaniel, he left a slave,each, after the death of 

hia brother Thomas. To his brother Thomas, still unmarried, he left the 

residue of his estate; Nat to inherit after Thomas. Samuel Brown 

and Nathaniel Mann were named his executors.Wil1iam Brown, George Ferrell 

Samuel WO witnessed the will. The estate of James Mann Jr. had a 

horse named Bob and another named Lightfoot. In the probate papers of 

James Mann, there was a letter from Thomas V.McCreight and James McCreight 

0. Autauga ,Alabama, dated March 22,1845 appointing William McCreight their 

attorney to receive their inheritance. 

.C.,Apt.78,Pkg.l08,1843 

95-F.U ),P-290;F.P.C.,Apt.78,Pkg.109,1843, 
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mas Mann,son of the immigrant James Mann and his wife Agnes, made 

his will on January 14,1843, and it was proven on January 30,1843. To his 

brother Nathaniel,he left six slaves,his stock, household goods and three-

quarters of the money owed him. He left his niece Hai McCreight a slave 

boy and girl and one-quarter of the money owed him. To his nephews Jamee 

and Thomas Mann,sons of his brother Nathaniel, he left his real estate. 

Nathaniel Mann and Phillip Pulleg were named his executors. John Watt, 
96 

E.Yarbough and Green W.Yarborough witnessed the will. He had been sick 

a long time and probably died on January 19,1843. 

The 1822 Tax Return for Fairfield District showed Thomas Mann as the 

ier of seven slaves and 450 acres of land. 

I izabeth Mann, unmarried daughter of the immigrant James Mann and 

his wife Agnes, died intestate on January 9,1843. Included in her probate 

papers was the bond for the sale of her father's estate on September 

1826. The principal was $275.97, and the interest for eighteen years was 

ing a total of $634.92.James B.McCants was now Commissioner 

in Equity for Fairield County.Her brother Nathaniel, adminstrator of her 

estate,had $1987.18, for distribution on January 1,1845. The distribution 

was made in this manner: to estate of Thomas Mann,deceased, $497.29%;to 

dren of Jane Frazier(deceased) viz Mary wife of Robert Elliott,William 

Frazier,Nancy wife of \:>.irah wife of Thomas Jones ,Ezekiel Frazier, 

Joel Frazier,and Jane wife of Peter Mason,$97.29%;to children of Mary 

McCreight,deceased, viz Thomas and James McCreight,and Mary wife of J.W. 

Logan (she had married and become a widow in the two years since her uncle 

96-F.W.B. >,P-292.F.P.C.,Apt.78,Pkg. 110.1843. 



P-33 Chapter 1 

North of the Broad River 

In the Forks of Crooked Run Creek and Little Cedar Creek 

Thomas Mann'death),$497.29^; Nathaniel Mann,$497.29%. Phillip Pulleg acted 

a8 the attorney for the heirs of Ezekiel Frazier and on July 13,1845, 

received $506.50. Mary E.Logan gave her receipt for $75.76% as her share 
97 

in her aunt's estate. 

Nathaniel Mann,son of the immigrant James Mann and his wife Agnes, 

and Margaret,wife of Nathaniel Mann , signed a quit claim to the estate of 

Thomas Richardson and his widow Elizabeth,both deceased; having by other 

ingements received their full inheritance. The signing of this quit 

:n on April 17,1830, permitted Thomas Richardson (an heir) to sell 

Joseph Seastrunk 168 acres of land : made up out of land granted to Bryan 

Riley, Thomas McPherson(150 acres)and Daniel WOotan(250 acres granted 

December 24, 1772),a: ng on Little River. Susannah Richardson,wife 
98 

of Thomas Richardson signed her release. It is probable that Margaret 

Mann,wife of Nathaniel, was a daughter of the elder Thomas and Elizabeth 

Richardson. 

James,son of Nathaniel and grandson of the immigrant James Mann, 

was born on September 6,1811, and die 10,1899. His wife Hi Mann 

was born on August 18,1823, and died February 18,1899, They are buried 

in the churchyard of Bethel Methodist Church, not far from their home. 

i\P.C.,file 78,Pkg. 108 

98-1 KK,P-310,1830 
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JOHN GEIGER 

John Geiger had 200 acres of land surveyed for him north of Broad 

River:bordering southwest on land that he already owned,southeast on Anthonv 

Arnest (sic), and on all other sides by vacant lands. The warrant of survey 

was Issued on November 5, 1771, and the plat certified on November 8,1771. 

On February 4, 1772, he received a warrant of survey for 150 acres of land. 

I land was surveyed for him on (Little) Cedar Creek: bound southeast on 

George Freshley,southwest on NIcholaa Wairey (Wirick),and on all other sides 

by vacant land. The plat was certified on on March 9,1772. This land lav on 
1 

Indian 'ranch of Little Cedar Creek and a Dry Branch of Crooked Run Creek. 
2 

ebrua: 1826, las Wirick sold this land to his son Jacob. 

John Geiger was a member of the Presbyterian Church,Apii Forum, 

later Cedar Creek Methodist Church,on Cedar Creek, at the time of its 
3 

incorporation in 1788. 

The 1790 census shows John Geiger living in Richland County with one 

white,tree male over sixteen years of age,two white,free feamles and five 

slaves. 

The family of this John Geiger could not be traced with any degree 

of certainty.A John Geiger died in Lexington District in 1815. 

5 
JOHANNES STEPHEN ELEAZER 

ie South C a r o l i n a G a z a t t e fo r May 28,June 4,and June 2 5 , 1 7 5 0 , 

1 - C . P . V o l . 1 6 , P - 4 8 , 1 7 7 1 - 1 7 7 2 . 

.D.B, Bk GG,P-89,1826 

3-S.C.H.M. ,Vol . 4 7 . P - 2 0 3 . 

'•rent \\.\i rialized Records of Lexington District, South 

Carolina,1814-1825.Southern Historical Press , Easley, S.C,1978. 

5- Sometimes written Ellizer in the records. 

file:////./i
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carried the advertisements that the indentured Dutch servant named 

Johannes Stephen Ellizer(sic) had run away from Mr Robert Quince of Cape 
6 

Fear,and that a five pound reward was being offered for his return. On 

Tuesday May 7,1751, Johannes Stephen Eleazer,a stone cutter,who described 

himself as"one of the unhappy people who came to Cape Fear on Capta 

Crawford's ship and from there came to this place'.' (Charleston) .Later,he 

went up the to the Congarees with Herman Geiger, and declared himself 

desirous of settling on the Broad River above Saxe Gotha.Since coming to 

the Congarees, he had married Barbara Swagert(Sv/vgert) and petitioned the 
7 

Governor and Council for 100 acres of land. On May 7 f 17 51, Johannes Stephen 

Eleazer received a precept from George Hunter Esq.,S.G.,for 100 acres of 

land that was later aurveyed for him on the southwest side of Broad River. 

This land was bordered northeast on the river, southeast on Jacob Weaber, 

southwest on vacant land, and northeast on land of Peter Rentfrow. The plat 

8 
was certified on May 17,1751, and the Royal Grant wa8 dated October 6, 1752. 

Seventeen years later, on May 17,1768, he had 100 acres of land laid out 

n the drains of Broad River": bound northeast and southeast on lands 

Jacob Boughter (Bookter),and on all other sides by vacant land. The Re 

9 
Grant was dated December 6,1768. 

On February 28,1772, he had 200 acres of land laid out on Phillips 

Branch of Little I southeast on William McGraw and vacant land, 

vh Carolina GazetteS.C.Dept Archives and History. 

7-C. J. ,Mav 7, 1 ; 1 . 

8-C.P.,Vol.5,P-224 ,P-63. 

9-C i-23;R.G.9Vo\ .17,P.72. 
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southwest on Phillip Shaver, and on the other sides by vacant land. The 
10 

Royal Grant was signed on May 21,1772. 

During the Revolutionary War, Stephen Eleazer furnished forage and 

food to the troops. From May 1779 to March 1780,he sold corn, forage,pork, 

bacon and mutton to the Continental State Troops and to the militia to the 

value of 36 pounds,sterling. The troops buying these supplies were 

Colonel Thomaa'Light Dragoons and part militia,Colonel Lindsay's Detachment, 

Captain Leitner's Company. He,also, fed breakfast and dinner to small 

detachments of troops. He furnished corn for General Plcken's Brigade;also, 

for part of the brigade under ColonelFarr. On October 20,1781, he sold two 

bushels of corn for the horses of Colonel Wade Hamoton. Stephen Eleazer 

died before August mmim o^ 

was the administrator of his father estate and,therefore, entitled to 

collect all the f due his father for the provisions that he had 

11 
provided. 

The 1790 census showed Jacob Elliser(Eleazer) as a resident of the 

NorthPart of Orangeburgh District, and to have one white, free male over 

sixteen years of age,and three white, free females in his household. 

SIMON ELEAZER, Lexinton County, as the lawful heir of Stephen 

Eleazer,sold George Eleazer,Fairfield County, the 200 acres of land that 

had been granted Daniel Boatwright,March 8,1752, on Eleazer Branch of Cannon 

Creek in the forks of Saluda and Broad Rivers, for 50 pounds, current mor 

ol.l5,P-l;R.G. Vol.25,Pr559. 

ll-R*w War Records,AA 2191. 
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12 
ry, wife of Simon Eleazer, signed the release of her dowr-

The 1790 census showed Simon Eleazer as living in the North Part of 

l^eburgh District(forks of Broad and Saluda Rivers) with one white,free 

male over sixteen ; of age, and two white,free females in his household. 

The same census shoed Mary Elliser(Eleazer) as living in the same area with 

two white, free males over sixteen years of age,three under sixteen, and 

two white, free females in her household. 

Simon and Mary Eleazer,Richland County, sold Bartholomew Turnipseed 

the 200 acres of land on the drains of Shaver's Branch for 100 pounds, 

sterling on May 8,1796. This land had been granted Stephen Eleazer on 

May 21, 1772. Samuel Alston, Jacob Nertz and George Eleazer witnessed the 
13 

James Mc Cants and fa ^ary, daughter ^*w 

Turnipseed (deceased) sold Jacob Bookman this 200 acres of land that had 
14 

been granted Stephen Eleazer in 1772. 

On November 6, 1798, Thomas Richardson sold George Eleazer 50 acres of 

land for 100 pounds. This land was part of 100 acres that had been 

granted William Busby. John Chappell, Robert Richardson and Samuel 

Richardson witnessed the deed. Elizabeth,wife of Thomaa Richrdson, signed 
15 

the release of her dowr 

12-F.D.l -72,1789 

13- Ibid, »k.K,P-198,1796 

14-Ihld. KK,P-154,1831. 

15- ~ ,P-50,1798.. 
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George Eleazer, Fairfield District, sold John Sims,Fairfield District, 

55 acres of land on the west bank of Little River for $300, on December 23, 

1804. This land was bound by the lands of George Ashford, Elliott lands,and 

the land of John Slmms. This land was part of the tract that had been to 

William Busby and undoubtedly represented the land that George Eleazer had 
16 

purchased from Thomas Richardson in 1798. On Febru , 1806, George 

Eleazer gave Bartholomew Turnipseed a mortgage on a slave to secure a note 
17 

for $295. 

We know nothing further of George Eleazer.Since we could not find 

probate records in Richland or Fairfield County, we might assume that he 

went to Lexington County to live on the 200 acres of land that he had 

bought from Simon Eleazer on ileazer Branch of Cannon Creek.The relationship 

of George Eleazer to Johannes Stephen,Simon,Jacob and not well 

established. 

18 
GEORGE FRESHLEY 

GEORGE FRESHLEY received a precept for 150 acres of land on November 6, 

1770, and the land was laid out for him on Indian Branch, Little Cedar 

Creek,Craven County; bound on all sides by vacant land. The plat was 

19 
certified on December 29,1770 and the Royal Grant was signed on May 18, 1771. 

On March 27,1773,100 acres of land was laid out for him south of the 

.D.B. ,B4i.O,P-523,1805. 

17-1M<1, HkQ,P-65,1806. 

18- Sometimes written as Frsshley or Frishley. 

19-C.P.,Vol.15,P-218,1770;R.G.Vol.23,P-52S,1771 
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Broad Rivertbound southwest on land of Henry Shull.and on all other sides 

20 
by vacant land. The Royal Grant was signed on May 25,1774. 

The 1790 census showed George Freshley as a resident of the North Part, 

Orangeburgh District, with two white,free males over sixteen years of age, 

three under sixteen years of age,and four white,free females in his 

household. 

George Freshley died sometime before 1824.on January 26,1824, his heirs: 

Arthur McGraw for his wife Nancy,Fairfield District; John Turnipseed,Amet(?) 

County, Mississippi;Rachel and Abraham Turnipseed, had Samuel L.Alston D.S, 

resurvey the 150 acres of land on Indain Branch, Little Cedar Creek, that 

had been granted George Freshley in 1771. These heirs, with Michael 

Trunipseed acting for John Turnipseed of Mississippi, sold Nicholas Wirick 
21 

this land on June 3,1835. Eliza,wife of John Turnipseed,signed her release. 

Miley,or Milly,Turnipseed, daughter of John B.Turnipseed,married John 

(George) Freshley.Her brothers were John, George and Potley; her sisters were 
22 

Polly, Nancy and Elizabeth(married George Lorick) That George Freshley 

was also known as John George Freshley is evident from a deed of January 27, 

1792. On that date,Christian Leitner,eldest son and heir of Michael 

Leitner,sold John George Freshley 250 acres of land on Crooked Run Creek 

for 75 pounds,sterling. This land had been granted Micael Leitner on 

May 15,1775. At the time of the original grant,this land was bound northwest 

on Edward 'ennett and land owner unknown;northeast on John Alston and 

Jennett Boyd;and on other sides by vacant and land owner unknown.Chritian 

20-C.P.,Vol.l5, P-211,1773; R.G.,Vol.22.P-156,1774. 

21-F.D.B,Bk LL.P-328,382. 

22-R.W.B.,Vol.l2, Bk H,P-167,1833. 
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Reister and Jacob Fry were witnesses to the deed.It is probable that 

George Freshley never lived on his land in Fairfield District. A deed dated 

December 1,1800, showed George Freshley as a resident of Orangeburgh District 

(North Part- Forks of Saluda and Broad Rivers?). On that date George Frashlev 

23 
sold James Long of Fairfield District a Negro girl for $300. 

CHRISTIAN FRESHLEY, Lexington District,was probably a son of George 

Freshley.On October 5, 1822, Christian Freshley sold Samuel Alston 152 acres 

Of land on Crooked Run Creek for $456. This land was part of 250 acres that 

John George Freshley had purchased from Christian Leitner on January 27, 

1792.Nancy,wife of Christian Freshlev, wigned the release of her dowrv. John 

24 
William Brown witnessed the deed. 

ll Alston sold Christian Freshley, Lexington District,140 acres of 

land on Reiley's Creek,Little River for $140. This land had been granted to 

Samuel Alston on December7,1812.Robert Mc Cants was Justice of the Peace 
25 

at the Signing of the deed on Januar 1813. 

On January 19,1819, William Augustine sold Christian Freshley 6Q 

acres of land for $4160. This land was made up out of the following tracts: 

300 acres granted Egerton Leigh on December 5,1758;150 acres granted 

William McWilliams on September 5,1775;150 acres granted John Boyd;500 acres 

granted William Landers on April 29,1772;176 acres granted Augustine 

Williams on May 6t1805;350 acres granted Stephen Gibson on April 18,1771. 

-^64,1792; Bk,N,P-216,1800. 

24- Ibid. Bk.KK,P-260,1822. 

:bj,di Hk,V,P-194,1813. 
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There waa no record as to how much land was taken out of each of these 
26 

cy Augustine eigned the release of her dowr 

Christian Freshley,on August 13,1827, had a note in the Columbia 

Branch of the Bank of South Carolina for $1500. This note was endorsed by 

Samuel Brown, John Thompson and Thomas Cook. To secure this note, Christian 

Freshley gave his endorsers mortgages on several slaves. George Ashford 

27 
and William Mounce witnessed the transaction. 

Christian Freshley, Lexington District,on August 1,1832, sold Charles 

Free.Fairfield District,797 acres of land for $3500. This land was made up 

out of several tracts in Fairfield District, northeast of Broad River: bound 

south on Broad River,and on all other sides by the lands of Nathan Cook,L. 

Trapp,John Chappell and John Watt.Not included in the sale was the fer: 

across Broad River,and the road from the ferry landing to the road to 

Columbia.His son Joseph Freshlev to retain the ferry and the road. Nanc 

wile of Christian Freshley signed the release of her dowrv.Joseph and Eli 
28 

Freshley witnessed the deed. Also on August 1,1832, Christian Freshlev 
29 

sold Charles Free four slaves for $191 

Joseph and reahley,Lexington District, and Chales Free.Fairfield 

Diatrict, agreed to pay Nancy Freshley fifty dollars,each,annually,for 

reasons not stated. Failure to meet this obligation would permit Nam 
30 

Freshley to have use of auch lands as she needed and the use of e slave. 

26- F.D. AA.P-458,1819. 

27-Ihid, l',k.!!H,P-3b4,1827. 

!il!i, Bk.KK,P-350,1832. 

29-Ibid. Bk.KK,P-351, 1832. 

30- Ibid. P-158,1832. 
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ie Freshleys gave their name to shoal In Broad River near Wallaceville. 

THE DAVIS FAMILIES 

MARK DAVIES(Davis) received a precept for 100 acres ofland on August 5, 

1765. This land was laid out for him on a branch north of Little Cedar 

Creek and the plat certified September 18,1765. The land was surrounded by 

vacant land at the time of the original survey. A path to the house of 

John Willlama crossed the land and across Little Cedar Creek to the 

southea8t. 

Mark Davis was one of the th: - ive Little River-Cedar Creek 

Regul*tort,end sppemt ly tmvmt momd e o n then the l 0 terms ol land granted 
3? 

him. He received the Regulator Pardon of October 31,1771. 

We do not known the eventual fate of Mark Davis (Davies),but the land 

that had been granted him on Little Cedar Creek eventually came into the 

possession of Jesse Wirick through a sale bv Phillip D.Cooke,and through 

33 
a state grant of 572 acres of land to Jesse Wirick on July 18,1839. 

CHRISTOPHER DAVIS received a precept for 100 acres of land on October 1, 

1771, and the land was laid off for him on October 9,1771,by John Alston D.S. 

s land was bound on the southeast by land of Thomas Franklin and on all 

other sides by vacant land. Nicholas Wirick came to own this land and on 

35 
February 16, 1826, sold the land to his sons Adam and Jesse. 

31- C.P.Vol.9,P-401, 

32-Brnwn, S.C.Regulators, Pp-145, 159-160,212. 

33-F.D.B.f3k.KKlP-3*Al1«32.S.P.,Index 2,Vol.52,P-304,1839. 

34- C.P.,Vol.9.P-401.1771. 

.GG,P-145,148,1826. 
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The relationship, If any, between Mark Davis and Christopher Davis 

could not be established. Neither were listed in the 1790 censu 

JOHN DAVIS was the son of the Rev. John Davis, pastor of the Second 

Baptist Church, Boston,and grandson of the Rev. David Davis who had 

immigrated from Walee in 1710,and was pastor of the Welsh Tract Church in 

Pennsylvania. John Davis moved to Loudon Countv, Virginia, and from there 

to Fairfield County in 1770.He had seven sons that were engaged in the 

American Revolution,and only two survived the conflict.Three of his sons 

were successive captains in the same company. He departed this life on March 15, 

36 
1785, in the 66th year of his age. 

iere is no date on the will of John Davis to show the date it was made, 

thi date of its proving.To his son Jonathan he left a shillina:to his son 

Amos, he left a alave and the tract of land where lives, and containing 150 

acres; to his daughter Rachel Pritchard,he left 30 pounds to be paid twelve 

months after his death;to his son (Captain) James Davis, he left the home 

place known as the Engleman place ,and a second place of 200acres on Sandy 

Run and known as the Davis old place,and a third place of 150 acres on Rockv 

Creek;to his grandson John Davis, son of his dececeased son John, he left 

left 30 pounds to be paid twelve months after his death. Amos and Jamee 

37 
Davis were named his executors. The probate papers of John Davia are 

brief, cryptic and extremely difficult to read. James, Amos and Joseph 
38 

Davis owed him money. 

Adapted from the inscription on his monument in the Furman -Davis 

cemetery as copied by Mary Sue Robinson.,Richard Wi n n Chapter DAR. 

37- K.W.,Vol .l,Bk.A,l -

3H-F.P.C, file 2, Pkg.61,1785. 
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John Davis had 150 acres of land laid off for him in Craven Count 

north of the Broad River, on two small branches of Rocky Creek: bound 

northeast on James Rowbuck (sic) and unknown land;southeast on Joseph 

Howard and unknown land;southwest on John Wilson, unknown land and vacant 

39 
land. John Owen D.S. made the survey on August 30,1773. 

AMOS DAVIS, son of John Davis and brother of Captain James Davis, 

did militia duty for 200 days during the Revolutionary War as a private, 

141.days as a captain in the militia. This duty included 69 days at 

burgh in 1781,and 72 days at Four Holes and Edisto in 1782. He saw 

duty in Captain Anderson Thomas' Company,and as a captain of foot in 

40 
Coloi ichard Winn's Regiment. 

Amos Davis died betve- ' ^ ^ r *,17HS, 

and the proving of this will on November 16,1786. To his son John,he left 

a Negro call Ben,the home place of 150 acres, and an adjoinig place of 

238 acres.To his son Elnathan, he left a Negro girl named Rose. His wife 

Sarah was pregnant and to this unborn child and Elnathan, he left the 

rest of his estate. To his wife Sarah, he left half of the rest of his 

land, and what animals .farm tools, and hou8ehold goods that she might 

need during her lifetime-or widowhood. W.Hogan, Moses Arnold, and Ma: 

41 
Arnold witnessed the will. In the probate papers of Amos Davis, his 

still,a tub and a worm worth 4 pounds was listed. At the settlement of 
42 

his estate , May 28,1791, Edward and Sarah Tillman acted as adrainstators. 

39- C.P.Vol.14, P-330,1773. 

40-Rev. War Records. 

•'•1-K.W.B., Vol. \-l,P-215,1786. 

le 63,1791, 
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Had the widow Sarah Davis married Edward Tillman? 

ELNATHAN DAVIS,son of Amos Davis,grandson of John Davis,died 

Intestae sometimes during the year 1836. The warrant for the appraisement 

of his estate waa issued on December 13, 1836, to his brother John,Elizah 

Willingham and Jonathan B.Robertson.Buying at the sale of his personal 

property on January 27,1837:Joseph Holmes, Jonathan Barnes Robertson, 

Jane Davis, William Holmes,Margaret Holmes and Richard Duggan. Jonathan 
43 

Davis had hired a Negro boy from his brother John for the year 1836. 

CAPTAIN JAMES DAVIS, son of the elder John Davis, died in 1822 at the 

age of 68 years. His wife Mary was born in 1741 and died on July 30,1840, 

at the age of 99 years and three months. Her monument was erected by her 

44 
only son Jonathan Davis. 

James Davis made his win on October 19,io22, and it was proven on 

October 26,1822. His son Jonathan and his friends James R. Woods and John 

Rogers were named his executors. James Rogers, Isaac Lowe(Love?),and Levi 

Ger witnessed the will. To his wife Marv, he left the use of the old 

plantation,three old slaves, and what livestock and tools that she might 

needfHls lower plantation, the Boyd place, was to be sold. He had little 

in the business ability of his daughter Elizabeth Boyd and 
45 

her husband John Boyd, Jonathan Davis bought the Boyd place. 

Captain James Davis, Fairfield District, was a merchant,land 

speculator,and had extensive financial dealings. On April 29, 1793, he 

bought from James Dillard Sr. and James Dillard Jr.a sixteen year old 

- .P.C,Apt.46,file 715, 1836. 

44-lnscrlptions Furman and Davis cemet. 

.C.,Apt. ile 131, 1822. 
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Negro girl named Rachel for the sum of 36 pounds, 6 shillings and 3 pence, 
46 

sterling.. He had bought 250 acres of land from his father John Davis on 

Febr 5, for the sum of 100 pounds. This land lay on Wilkinson 

Creek. The deed was witnessed by D.Bradford, Thomas Parrott and John 
47 

Gregg. John Barker, planter of Fairfield County,sold James Davis and 

Phillip Pearson, the undivided portion of 15 acres of land on November30,1796. 

The 15 acres wa8 part of 50 acres that had been granted to Robert Ellison 
48 

on October 20,1772. George Reddich witnessed the deed. John Woodward J] 

planter of Fairfield District,gave James Davis, merchant of Fairfield 

District, a mortgage on 40 or 50 acres of land on Woodward Branch of Little 

River to secure an indebtedness of $247.07.The document was signed on 

December 2j,lttu2.ihe land had been orlgnaiiy granted to Snadrlck James 
49 

(Jones?) On March 10,1802, James Davis sold Enock James a Negro girl named 

Peggy and 55 acres of land on the north side of Beaver Creek,Broad River, 

for 704 milled Spanish dollars.Half of this sum to be paid on February 10, 

1803, and a mortgage taken for the remainder. The land had been original 
50 

granted to Margaret Godfrey In 1774. Mary Powell,on November 26,1804,gave James 

Davis a morCgege on her household furniture,a horse, and a tract of land 

leading down to Strother's Ferry to secure the sum of $55,23. 

199,1793 

47-Ihld. Hk.B,P-56,1785 

7 A. ,17* 

49- 11)1,1. »k.O,P-345,1802. 

50-Ibid. Bk.O,P-348,1802 

51- 11.1,1. Hk.P,P-151, 1804 
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vis owned a number of mortgages,and on occasions bought the 

land or goods for the principal sum of the mortgage. On Januarv 23,1805, 

John Lewis sold James Davis one dun cow, one red heifer, one mot lev faced 

yearling,two old bedsteads,one Dutch oven,three hogs,one large trunk,and 

all the goods in a certain messuage on lands of Samuel Comfiets between 

52 
Broad and Little Rivers for $82. John Norton sold James Davis two mares, 

a colt, saws, chains, and a lot of household goods for $123, on "ebruarv 12, 
53 

1805. On February 6, 1805, David and Ann Marple gave James Davis a 

mortgage on household goods and livestock to secure an indebtedness of $74.51. 

James Davis sold John Woodward Sr. and John Woodward Jr. 100 acres of land 

on the west side of Little River for $298.72. The land had been original 

been granted to James Butler . Thomas Nelson and Burbage Woodward witnessed 
55 

the deed in 1805. James Davis sold John Lyles 50 acres of land for 100 

pounds on February 6,1799. The land was part of 300 acres that had been 

granted John Dye on Rocky Creek,northeast of Broad River. It was conveyed 

by John Dye to Elizabeth Ederington,inherited by Thomas Ederington, and 

by him conveyed to Jamea Davia. The land waa bound by the lands of James 

Roebuck,Shadrich Wooley, George Smith and Hennerv (sic) Ederington, Williaa 

56 
Woodward and Hennerv Ederington witnessed the deed. On Januarv 5, 1797, 

Jemes Davis sold Henry Ederington 120 acres out of the John Dye tract of land. 

.D.B.,Bk.P,P-153,18( . 

53- Ibid. Bk.P,154,1805. 

54-IM.l, Bk.P.P-156,1805. 

55- Ibid. 

56- Ibid. Bk R.P-165. 1799. 

r>7- Ibid. Bk.S,P-239,1797. 

54 

57 
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Sheriff John Barkley, Fairfield District, at the direction of the 

Court of Common Pleas for November 1810, sold at public auction the land of 

John Rabb. The sale took place on April 5, 1813, and the bid of $405 by 

James Davis was the highest for the 341 acres of land.This land had once 

>nged to Thomas Parrott,and waa bound bv the lands of William Catoe, James 
58 

Davis, Charles Montgomerv, Joshua Durham and others. James Davis sold 

Thomas Meana 33.7 acres of land for $50 on March 28,1808. This land was part 

of a grant to Shadrich Jacobs in 1789,and conveyed by Jacobs to John Woodward 

in 1808, and by Woodward to James Davis. R.Mil ling and A.Cooper witnessed 

59 
the deed. On February 10,1809, James Davis sold Thomaa Ederington 150 acres 

of land for $300.This land, where John Robinson now lives,was sold to James 
60 

Davi8 by Wade Hampton on November 2^, James Davis soia George 

Godfrey 100 acres of land in Fairfield District for $391 on October 9,1809. 

This land,originally granted to Margaret Godfrey, was transferred to Enoch 

James, and by the sheriff of Fairfield District was transferred to Jamee 

Davis as the "James Property.MThe land was bound on one side by the land of 

Thomas Strother. Aromanua Lyles Jr. and Phillip Pearson Jr. witnessed the 
61 

deed. James Davis, planter of Fairfield District, sold William Woodward, 

planter of Fairfield District, 80 acres of land that had been granted 
62 

to Edward Watts, and by him conveyed to John Woodward Sr. (deceased) 

Perhaps the biggest of the land purchases of James Davis was made 

58- F.D.B.,Bk.W,P-85,1810 

Md_, Bk. R,P-272,1808. 

60- ibid, .S,P226,1805 

61- ibid, BkJC,P-141,1809. 

liid Bk.Y,P-73 ,1815. 
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on December 17,1816.He paid his son-in-law John Boyd $7000 for 710^ acres 

of land made up out of the following tracts: 100 acres originally granted 

Richard Neely Sr.;a second tract of 100 acres originally granted Richard 

Neely Sr.;165^ acres on Little River;324 acres^with an additional 21 acres, 

to make up the total of 710^ acres. Elizabeth Boyd signed her release. This 

property was bound on the north bv Thomas M in and on the south by 

63 
John Lyons. James Davis, for the love and addection that he had for his 

daughter Elizabeth, gave her one-third of this land that he had bought 
64 

from John Boyd. 

John Boyd, meanwhile,had moved to Tennessee. He deeded the slaves Dick 

I his wife Peggy, and their two children to his children as a gift. James 

Davis, as guardian of the children of John Boyd,was to keep the two slaves 

in his possesion until Januarv 1,1818, at which time they were to be 

returned to the full possession of James Davis. John Boyd gave James Davis 
65 

his power-of attorney for this transaction. 

John Long,in 1822, sold James Davis 23 3/4 acres of land on Neelyfs 

Branch of Little River for $200. This land came from the northeast corner 

0̂0 acres of land that had been granted Thomas Nelson on April 3, 1786, 

and by him conveved to John Long. James R.Wood and Thomas McMeekin witnessed 

the deed. William Cato, Benjamin May, Joshua Durham and Phillip Pearson, 

nissioners for the Village of Monticello, sold James Davis a lot in the 

village containing one-half acre for $57,on Januarv 3, 1811. A dozen years, 

63- F.D.B,Bk.AA,P-l,1816; Bk BB,P-313,1819. 

64- U. -'23,1819. 

65- Ibldt Bk. AA,P-170,1817. 

. DD,P-215 ,1822. 
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later, on January 18,1823, Jonathan Davis, James R.Wood, and John Rodgers, 

executors of the will of James James Davis , released to Simon Flodan , 

mechanic of Fairfield District, James Davis1 lot and the house it contained 

in the village of Monticello, for the $500 paid James Davis before his 
67 

death.Joseph A.Woodward, William R.Means and Levi Gere witnessed the deed. 

The tax returns for Fairfield District for 1822 showed the estate of 

James Davis to contain 1431 acres of land and 41 slaves In Fairfield, and 
68 

178 acres Q 1 in St. James Parish. 
69 

JONATHAN DAVIS , only son of Captain James Davis and his wife Mary,was 

born on August 18,1786, and died October 1,1855. His wife Rebecca Kincaid, 

daughter of Captain James Kincaid, and six of their eleven children 

Survived him. Rebecca Kincaid was born on January 2,1787, married Reverend 

Jonathan Davis on January 22, 1807, and died at the home of her son-in-law 

Dr. James C. i, in Greenville, on June 9,1870.The children of Jonathan 

and Rebecca Kincaid Davis: 

James Bunyan Davis(Dr. James B.Davis)born December 30,1807,married 

Mary R.Scott, died--

William K.Davis,born Ju •,1809,married Saram M.Zimmerman on 

December 12,1833. 

Mary Davis, born March 6,1811,died October 31,1811. 

Benjamin F.Davis,born December 23, 1812,married Grace Adams, died 

June 13,1858. 

D.B. ,Bk.EE,P-119,1823. 

68-Retum of Taxable Propertv for Fairfield and other Districts,1822. 

69- Sometimes referred to as Colonel, Doctor,or Reverend Jonathan Davis 
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Harriet E.Davis, born September 23,1814, married Dr James C.Furman 

on April 3, 1833, died August 17,1849. 

Jonathan Davis, born August 5, 1816, married Mary Carter. 

Rebecca Davis, bom May 5, 1818, died August 18,1838. 

Nathan Davis, born March 29,1820. 

David Daniel Davis, born June 22,1822,died February 28,1823. 

Mary Glenn Davis, born June 26, 1824, married Dr James C. Furman as 

his second wife on June 4,18r 

John Bunyan Davi8, born May 10,1826,married Violet Patterson in 1856. 

Jonathan Davis and his children, Harriet E.Furman, Rebecca Ann, Mar 

Daniel David are buried in the old Furman -Davis burving ground 

70 
not far from Monticello. 

On December 5, 1821, at a meeting in Columbia to organize a State 

Baptist Convention, Colonel Jonathan Davis, a deacon of the Rock Creek 

Church, was invited to a seat on the Council. Furman Theological Institution 

with the purpose of teaching,besides theology, agriculture, English and the 

Classics,was to be moved to Fairfield District because of the better soil. 

J.Davis was among those appointed to purchase the needed land. Jonathan 

Davis was on the first Board of Truatee of Furman Theological Institutte 

and its sister English and Classical Schools, Fairfield District. He stood 

by the institution when it was destroyed by fire on May 1,1837, and served 

on the ing committee when it was rebuilt and a Theological Department 

70- Inacriptions Furman-Davis burying ground. Rev. Horace Rabb,Biographical 

Sketchea of the Kincaids,McMorries, Watts.Glazier, and Rabb Faraiels,Second 

LOO, 1936. 
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established. Later he served on the committee that recommended the 

removal of Furman to Greenville in 1750. He died in 1856(1855), sometime 

after accepting the position as an agent for the Mission Board. He was 

lame es e result of an accident,and it was believed that this and his 

71 
labors hastened his death. 

Jonathan Davis was in many weys an unusual man.Besides his thiry years 

of service to the Baptist Church, he was a colonel in command of a regiment 

of militia,served in the South Carolina Legislature , was a large land owner, 
72 

and business m 

Chrispen Morgan mortgaged a sorrel mare to Jonathan Davis (and Boyd) 

for the sum of $67.27. The mortgage was signed on March 29,1806, and was to be 

paid by December 25, 1806. William F.Pearson and George Reddick witnessed 
73 

the transaction. John Boyd, brother-in-law of Jonathan Davis, conveyed 

to Jonathan Davis the 100 acres of land where Jonathan Davis lived for 
74 

$800 on October 21,1806. On April 2, 1810, Jonathan Davis bought 160 acres of 

land at a sheriff's sale for $67.37,plus $12.33 costs. This land had been 

mortgaged by James Smith to Boyd and Davis . Sheriff James Fort Muse, 

Fairfield District, gave Jonathan Davis sheriff's titles to the land. 

William Catoe resurveyed a tract of land for Jonathan Davis on November 13, 

1810. The land was surrounded by the lands of Nathaniel Holley, Hugh Per: 

71-King, S.C.Baptists, Pp.172,198,201,221. 

72-In part from the inscriptions on his tombstone. 

73- F.D.B., Hk.G,P-80,1806. 

74-Ibj^ .P-52,1806. 

H>1.1, i'.k.T,P-278,1810. 
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76 
and Jonathan Davis. Robert Barkley sold Jonathan Davis 1244 acres of land 

$866,on August 5, 1811. This was an original tract granted Samuel Elliott ,except 

for that part divided off James Rogers. Barkley signed the release of her 
77 

dowry. Jonathan Davis and his wife Rebecca sold Rbert Barkley 3 50 acres of 

i,minus 14 acres that had been taken off, for $625.This land lay on the 

Charleston Highway two miles above Winnsboro, and had been granted to 

Richard Hampton,Esq.The deed was signed on August 16,1811, and was witnessed 
78 

by S.Alston, James Rogers and James Davis. Jonathan Davis, at a sheriff's 

sale on June 7,1813, bought the home place of Samuel McGill for $130. This 

place had been seized for failure to repay $153.57.3 due Caleb Clarke and 
79 

-arnett Bals. lomas Yarborough sold Jonathan Davis one-half of the land 

.ted Colin Phorbis,containing 100 acres, for $400 on November lU,18i:>: 

bound by the remaining one- of the tract;west by Abraham Thompson;southeast 

by William Catoe;eaet and north by Jonathan Davis.William Blair and David 
80 

Boyd witnessed the deed. Agnes C.Yarborough signed the release of her dowr 

Thomas May, Union District, sold Jonathan Davis 100 acres of land for $100 

on September 28,1814. This land had been originally granted to John A.Thorpe, 

and had been conveyed to Thomas May at a sheriff's sale. Burrell B.Cool* 
81 

and Daniel Dansby Free witnessed the deed. William Duggan,Fairfield District, 

on September 18,1820, sold Jonathan Davis the following tracts of land: 

>.B.,Bk.T,P-374,1810. 

77- 11)1(1, Bk.l\P-171,1811. 

78- Ibid. Bk.U,P.176, 1811. 

79- Ibid, Bk.W,P-76,1813. 

80- Ibid. Bk.X,P-129,1815. 

81- Ibid. Bk. Y,P-95,1814. 
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112 acres of land made up out of the land of William Duggan1s estate,including 

part of the 194 acres t \d been granted to Richard Duggan In December 1790, 

and part of 200 acres granted David Atckinson on November 9,1772;an adjoining 

114 acres on the east side of Little River, originally granted to 

William Duggan,and being the remainder of 176 acres after 52 acres had been 

82 
divided off. for William Rabb. Harriet,wife of William Duggan signed her 

83 
release. William Dansby and Jonathan Davis were chosen by the heirs of 

William Dugan Si ceased) to make a division of his land. William Duggan Jr. 
84 

bought the five shares of his brothers and sisters. David Wilson sold 

Jonathan Davis 230 acres of land for $3000 on April 28,1819. Part of this 

land was made up out lrom the 150 acres originally granted to James McCullough 

on August 12.1791, and bv him conveved to James Russels end th^^ 

David Wilson. dd was bound southwest by Hugh Perry and southeast by 

William Rabb. The remainder of the 230 acres was made up out of land granted 

to William Duggan. Agnes, wife of David Wilson, signed the release of her 
85 

dowr 

On September 2,1824, William Kincaid left 600 acres of land in trust 

with Colonel Jonathan Davis for his daughter Nancy Hall, wife of Alexander B, 

Hall.This land adjoined the lands of Abner Fant, William Robertson,Thomas 

Means, James Andrews and Henrv Edrington. This trusteeship to last the natural 

life of Nancy Hall, and ahe and her husband to pay $2 annually to the executors 

86. 
of the estate of William Kincaid. On February 23, 1830, William Kincaid 

82- The error in arithmetic is in the deed. 

83-F.I) .CC,P-85,1820. 

84-lbhi, Bk.CC,P-88f1820. 

85-Ibid. Bk. CC,P-96,1819. 

86-lM^, Bk.GG,P-4,1824. 
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for the natural love and affection that he bore Anne Hall,wife of A.(Alexander) 

Bi Hall, and for $1, he left in trust with Jonathan Davis four slaves , not 

to be used by her husband. He,also, left in trust for Ann (Nancy)Hall the Hall 
87 

plantation and all of the stock that he had purchased during the year. On 

September 15, 1829, Jonathan Davis signed a quit claim on the plantation of 

183 acre8,on Little River, that had been conveyed to Isaac Love by Samuel 
88 

McDill on Fel 14,1815. Jonathan Davis,on Januarv 30,1836, sold Stuart 
89 

Mitchell the Boyd plantation of 453^ acres for $1800. On June 27,1837, 

than Davis sold his son James B,Davis the following tracts of land for 

$2745: sixteen acres conveyed by John Dawkins to Jonathan Davis in 1836, and 

bound northwest by the methodlst church lot,northeast by John Dawins,southeast 

by fonafhan Davia,and South Kv the *? e9tate of Jzzzes Dto let 

of land conveyed by William Aiken to Jonathan Davis on March 8,1836, and 

I OUOd on the north by the above tract, west by the lands of the estate of 

Jamee Davis,and south by W.K.Davis; one-half of the old remaining undivided 
90 

portion of the estate of James Davis and containing 228 acres. 

t: Cathcart, Winnsboro, sold Jonathan Davis 116 acres of land on 

Little River for $650,on August 16,1830. Th: d had been originally granted 

to Thomas Lewers, and was bound by the lands of William Carnahan, Robert Rabb, 
91 

and James Lyons. Dr Joel E.Pearson sold Jonathan Davis 200 acres of land 

for $1000,on June 29,1836. This land was taken from the eastern part of the 

H7-F.D.B., Bk.HH,P-280,1830. 

88-Ibid, Bk.HH,P-72,1829. 

89- rM^. Mk.MM,1-201,1836. 

90- Ibid. l.P-470. 

H - IMd, Bk.MM,P-503,1830. 
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Bunker Hill Plantation that had belonged to P.Pearson (deceased). The land 

lay on Dawkins Branch,Owens Creek,Broad River, and lay between the road to 

Monticello and the one to Huey's Ferry. The land of John Dawkins and the 

Monticello Reservation lay to the east, the rest of the Bunker Hill Plantation 

v to the west,the land of Jonathan Davis lay to the north and just south 

of the road to Monticello, the land of John DawRins lay to the south.Ann 

92 

Pearson signed her release. 

Jonathan Davis, according to the tax returns for Fairfield District 

for 1822, owned 2163 acres of land and 46 slaves. 

DR. JAMES BOLTON DAVIS,son of Jonathan and Rebecca Kincaid Davis, 

waa born in Fairfield District, near Monticello,on December 30,1807. He married 

Har. . o n N, HrpH -nerHclno F<XT a very shnrr t | 

before turning his considerable talents to agriculture; he spent the years 

1845-1849 a* a minister of agriculture to Turkey, and for this duty,he was 

richly I t m I brought back with him a pair of Brahma cows, the first 

brought to America. He lived for awhile in Charleston and Columbia,but 

spent the last years of his life at his home near Monticello where he 

93 
died in 1861. 

Dr. Jamea B.Davis was not aa active in the buying and selling of 

land aa had been hia father.On December 2,1830, he bought three lots in 

the town Oi Winnsboro from David Meana: one lot on Congret Street, one on 

0 Street, and the third between the other two. Charlotte Meana aigned 

* 

.l).H,Bk.MM,P-504,1836. 

93- Rev. Horace Rabb.Biographical Sketchea, gave hia name as Jamea Bunyan. 

herine uarson __1 _ _ _ j { e l J Sketchbook, by Stevenaon Bolick,1963. 

Rev. Horace Rabb,Biographical Sketchea, 2nd Ed.,1936. 
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her release. A little more than a vear later, on March 12, 1832,he sold these 
95 

lots to Robert Cathcart for $3000. Later in the same year, on October 1,1832, 

in order to secure a note to John Buchanan, Commissioner in Equity for 

rfield District, for the penal sum of $3643.37, conditioned upon the 

payment of $1821.68.3/4,James B.Davis gave a mortgage on a tract of land on 

Broad River.Colonel Thomas I.Cook cosigned the mortgage.. This mortgage was 

taken for the purpose of buying,for $1896, a tract of land belonging to the 

estate of George Ruff.This land sold by the Court of Equity for Fairfield 

District upon the complaint of William Ruff in his own right, as guardian 

of Warren and Hilbum Ruff,and for his brother George Ruff against I Ruff, 

widow of the elder George Ruff and now married to Daniel Hughev. The land 

Rr-naH Rivpr, on the land John Hollinshed, Daniel Hughev and James 

96 
Alaton. Thomas I.Cook and Thomas Dellaney witnessed the deed. 

Dr James B. Davis sold his brother William K.Davis the 199 acre George 

97 
Ruff tract of land for $2500 on April 15, 1832.James B.Davis and his brother 

William K.Davis bought two tracts of land from Joseph Holmes for $2888,on 

October 28,1836; one tract of 105 acres was bound on the west by the land of 

General is McMeekin,but originally belonging to Charles Montgomery,and on 

the north and east by land of Charles Rabb; the second tract of 378 acres was 

bound northeast by Wi Steel, the Calhoun estate Aiken land and by 

Dawkins land,southwest on Jonathan Davis, and southeast on Charles Montgomer 

Both tracts lay to the west of Little River. Ezekiel Hoy and Benjamin F. Davis 
98 

witnessed the deed. 

95-F.D.B.,l>k.HH,P-301,1830; Bk .KK,P-297,1832 . 

96-IMd. Bk.KK,P-372,1832 ;Bk.LL,P-20,1832. 

97-Ihid.Bk LL,P-332,1834. 

98- IbidJBk.MM,P-474,1837. 
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As previously noted, James B.Davis bought land from his father Jonathan 

Davis on June 27,1837.He bought into his grandfather Captain James B.Davis1 

estate by buying the share of his cousin Celia B. Boyd, Newberry District, for 

$119.86,on February 23,1837. This was a one-sixth share of the land that 

represented the one-half portion of the plantation that Captain James Dav 

had given his widow Mary Davis. For the same price,he bought the one-sixth 

99 
shares of John Howrd,Benjamin D.Boyd, and Isaac and Marcia Nichols. Willia 

Alston,as President of the Monticello Jefferson Society, sold James B.Davis 

two half acres lots number 9and 10 in the village of Monticello for $27, on 

July 10,1837. These lots lay in approximation to Campbel1,Mercer and 
100 

Montgomery Streets in the village of Monticello. John Seigler sold James B. 

S .:crc3 of 1- between 

Broad and Little Rivers.Jane, wife of John Seigler, signed the rlease of her 
101 

dowry. James B.Davis bid $1525 at public auction and purchased,on 

December 4,1837, 122 acres of land that had been sold as a foreclosure on a 

mortgage for $1057 against Zac h and Richard R.Woodward,and given by 

Joel A.Pearson. This land lay on Wilkinson Creek and was bound by the lands 

102 
of Stevenson,Daniel Free and others. 

Soon after this, Dr. James B.Davis began selling property.On May 29, 

1839, he sold William Bell 295^ acres of land on Broad River ,known as the 

l««w's place,for $806.17. This land was bound by land already owned by 

William Bell,on the east by Thomaa Owens, south by Eleath Elkins,and on the 

99- F.D.B., ,PP.471,472,473,475, 1837. 

100- IMd. k .MM.P-474,1837. 

101-I • -.71,1837. 

102- n__,] !<k.MM,!'-488,1837. 
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west by the lands of Jamea B .Dav i s . Marv E . D a v i s , wi fe of James B.Davis 

signed the release oi 0 n t h l s s a m e day»James B. Davis sold sold 

William Bell 340 3/4 acres of land on Broad River for $3925.25: bound by lands 

Elliott Elkins, William Free,William Bell,William Alston and by the land 

imes B.Davis had sold William Bell on this date. Still on May 24, 1839, 

Jamea B.Davis sold Thomaa Owena Sr. 14% acres of land,for $290.1235, adjoining 

103 
land already owned by Thomas Owens Sr. Altogether James B.Davis sold 

650 3/4 acres of land for $5021.541} on Mav 24,1839. 

WILLIAM K.DAVIS second son of the Rev. Jonathan and Rebecca Kincaid 

Davis,was born on July 14,1809, and married Sarah Margaret Zimmerman on 

December 12,1833. Sarah Margaret Zimmerman waa born September 14, 1815, and 

died December 29 18' r daughter Eliza Kincaid Davis died on November 5, 

104 

1840, and is buried by her mother in the Furman-Davis Burying Ground. 

In November 1834, William K.Davis bought 145 acres of land from 

McCreight for $725. This land was part of the McCreight home place 

and lay eaat of the road from Monticello to Columbia: bound by the lands of 

Charles Montgomerv, Jamea M.Bell,and W.K.Davis. Sarah McCreight signed the 
105 

release of her dov. John Free, Fairfield District.sold William K.Davis 

79% acrea of land for $400 in 1834. Thia land waa the whole of John Free's 

land except for a smell tract laid off for William Free. The land lay 

southeast of the road from Ruff's Ferry to Winnsboro ,and lay partially on 

103-F.D.B.,Bk.NN,PP.-272,284,285. 

104- Rabb, Biographical Sketchea,2nd Ed.,P-13. Inacriptiona from stones in 

Furman - Davis 

105-F.D.B ,1834. 
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Free's Branch, Owen's Creek,Broad River: bound by the lands of William K. 

Davis, John Hoi 1inshed,William Free and William Brown. N Free signed 
106 

the release of her dowr- On April 15, 1834, William K.Davis purchased 
107 

199 acres of land from his brother Dr. James B.Davis for $2500. Jonathan 

Davis and James R.Wood,as executors of the estate of James Davis(deceased) , 

sold William K.Davis 252 acres of land on Reeses Creek ,Little River,for 

$756, on January 7, 1835. According to a plat made by Thomas J.Cook D.S.,on 

May 26,1834, the 1 iy to the east of the road (Monticello) to Columbia 

and ju8t\the road to James Bell. Reeses Creek lay along the eastern border of 

the land and the lands of Samuel McCreight.Charles Montgomery .Joseph Holmes* 
108 

Elizabeth Boyd and the estate of William Aiken bordered the land. 

DA\ MAM 'X CM 

There were several Thomaa Davis' in early South Carolina and it has 

been very difficult to separately identify them. On May 5, 1773, Thomaa Davia 

obtained a precept for 200 acrea o that was laid out for him on 

two amall -hea of Bever(sic) Creek, North of Broad River: bound southeast 

by Henry Hartotinortheaat by George Gyat and vacant land,northwest by George 

Davis,and on the other aide by 1 land. Job Owen D.S. made the survey on 

May 12, 177 On December 12, 1789, Thomaa Davia, blacksmith Fairfield Coun' 

106-F.D.B.,Bk.LL,P-330,1834. 

107-Ihld. BK.LL,P-332,1834. 

108-Ibid. .LL,PT427,1835. 

109- C.P. Vol.l4,P-335,1773. 
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and his wife Jane sold Elijah Major, blacksmith of Fairfield Countv, this 
110 

200 acres of land for 100 pounds, sterling. 

Thomas Davis (Sr.) died intestate in Fairfield District sometimes near 

November 3,1825, the date a warrant of appraisement was issued to Benjamin 

s 
Nettles, Thomas Robertson, Anderson Rochelle, John Harr^pn and George Rochelle, 

for the estate of Thomas Davis.Jacob Davis, his son, was appointed the 

administrator of the estate. Among his possessions was 116 acres of land 

valued at one dollar an acre. Before his death, he had given his son Timot: 

50 acres of land valued at $1.50 an acre, a cow, a calf and a bed.To his son 

Thomas(Jr.)he also left 50 acres of land,a cow and a horse. Thomas Davis, 

through his assigner David Aiken, requested his distributive share of his 

ler's estate on 3m 7,1828. The heirs of Thomas Davis(Sr.) were to 

receive $277.10.8 each , but some had already received part of their 

inheritance . The named heirs were Timothy Davis, Jacob Davis, John Davis, 
111 

William and Nancv Ivey, Strother and Polly Tidwell, and David Davis. 

A tew years after the death of her husband Thomas Davis Sr., his widow 

Elizabeth died intestate In Fairfield District.Her son Thomas Davis(Jr.) was 

\e warrant of appraisement was dated October 20, 

1829, and John M.Stork, Moses Knighton and Samuel Evans appraised her 

estate. She still had the $529.34.6 share of her tu:sbandfs estate. Her coffin 

112 
was made by Anderson Rochelle for $5.80. Dr. D.R.June's account was $17.00. 

110-F. V - 36,1789. 

111- F.P.C. Apt. 44,file 693, 1825. 

112- lhldm Apt. 45, file 702,1829. 
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On February 12,1818, Thomas Davis Sr. deed half of his estate to 
113 

William Ivey(son-in-law?), to be effective at the time of his death. 

ry Robinson and his wife Mary sold Thomas 120 acres of land on Shadrick 

Branch,of Broad River, for 50 pounds,current money, on December 17,1794. This 

I was part of a tract that had been granted to Henry Robinson on August 7, 

114 

1786, and bordered on the lands of Peter Larews and Edrington. John Ham, 

n County, North Carolina,sold Thomas Davis,Fairfield County,150 acres of 

land on Thorn Tree Creek for 40 pounds, sterling. This land had been granted 

James Langhan and John Got >mas Davis sold this land to John Smith for 
115 

50 pounds, sterling, on February 22,1799. Jesse Havis sold Thomas Davis 

10^ acres of land on Dutchman's Creek for $50 on April 9,1811. Andrew 

McDowell sold Thomas Davis, Dutchman's Creek,200 acres of land for $94 on 

December 10,1800. This land was part of a tract originally granted to Andrew 

McDowell.THe signing of the deed was witnessed by James Stewart,James Austen 

(sic) and Thomas Sant. Jesse Havis sold Thomas Davis 2 5 ^ acres of land for 

$50 in October 1802. This land was part of a grant to Jesse Havis on January 5, 
118 

1795. Jesse Havis,on December 2,1814, sold Thomas Davis 40 acres of land 

for $45. This land came from the southside of the 430 acres granted Jesse Havis 

on January 4, 199 

U 3 - F . D . B , B k . Z , P - 1 1 8 , 1 8 1 8 . 

U 4 - r t ) l c l , H k . K r P - 8 1 t 1 7 9 4 . 

1 1 5 - I b l d . Hk.I., I1- 796; Bk . 0 , P - 2 8 0 , 1 7 9 9 , 

116-IMcji, h k . V . , P - l 2 7 , 1 8 1 1 . 

1 1 7 - I J M , , P - 2 8 2 , 1 8 0 0 . 

U 8 - n > i d j ' , k . O.P1V3,1802 

1 1 9 - \h±±9 N 
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John Pickett,on September 6,1817, sold Thomas Davis 100 acres of land on 

Dutchman Creek for $100.Jesse Havis had bought the land from William Gaines, 

and it was part of 400 acres that had been granted Andrew McDowell in 1795. 

There was some question as to the validity of the title and the deed contained 

the stipulation that If the title proved faulty,John Pickett was to pay 
120 

Thomas Davis $110. 

Thomas Davis sold Thomas Robertson 9 acres of land on Dutchman 

Creek in September 1818. This land was part of the 400 acres that had been 

ited Andrew McDowell in 1795. The lands of Richard B.Havis, Jacob Davis 

and Abner Ross surrounded this land.Elizabeth, wife of Thomas Davis signed 

her release. Thomas Davis Sr. sold his son Thomas David Jr.50 acres of land 

land 121 
out of the Mc Dowel Uf or $100 on Januarv 6, 1818. 

James Whitaker, planter of Kershaw District, gave little James Davis, 

son of Thomas Davis Jr..carpenter of Fairfield District, a five year old bay 

122 
mare in January 1824. W.and Mary T.Whitaker witnessed the gift. Thomas 

Davis Sr gave hia daughter-in-law Ester Davis a Negro girl named Susa, fire 
123 

irons, tongs and a shovel on February 10,18. It will be remembered that 

mas Davia Sr. waa a blacksmith. 

In the returns for taxable property for Fairfield District for 1822, 

Thomas Davis had 300 acres of land and seven slaves. Thomas Davis Jr. had 
124 

50 acres of land.Jacob Davis had lib acres of land and seven slaves. 

120-F.D.B.,Bk.Z,P-114,1817. 

121-IMd, Bk.AA,P-22,18I EE,P-264,1818. 

122-n,i,i,Hk.KE.I'-245. 1824. 

123-n.id.Bk.Ei-:. . - :I,1824. 

124-Rcturna of Taxable Property Fairfield and other Districts for 1822 
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DAVIS was the son omas Davis Sr. Gazaway Godbold ,on 

June 1,1829, acknowledged an indebtedness of $160 to Jacob Davis. To secure 

this Indebtedness, Gazaway Godbold gave Jacob Davis a mortgage on three 

slaves. Gardner Ford sold Jacob Davis, planter of Fairfield District 

807% acres of l.» r $5200,on January 28,1834.This land was made up out of 

300 acres bought by Gardner Ford from Rachel Griffin, and 507% acres bought 

from Cannon Cason? and others: bound on the east by Thomas Robertson, John 

Smith and Woodward lands;south by the lands of the estate of Thomas Davis(S: 

and John Harrison; west by the estate of Abner Ross; northwest by James 

Harrison;and northeast by Oliver Ross. Elizabeth Ford signed the release of 
126 

her Jacob Davis' hog mark crop off the right ear and a hole in the 
127 

left ear. His st :and was a J.D. 

JOHN DAVIS, probably a son of Thomas Davis Sr., purchased 28% acres of 

land on (Jedar Creek from James Crossland for $700,on December 21,1835. 

Margaret Crossland signed her release.M.A.M.Leggo and John Hollis witnessed 
128 

the deed. 

CALEB DAVIS (J| ived in the northwest corner of Fairfield District. 

Caleb Davis Sr. ,Chester District, received 2 pounds.sterling, for 28 days 

militia duty in Captain Anderson Thomas' Company in 1779.On November 25, 1813, 

he made a claim to the South Carolina Senate and House of Representives for 

two horses taken by men who represented themselves as patriots.He also claimed 

that in 1781, a detachment from General Greene's Army called at his house and 

1 2 5- f.D< .Il,P-330,1829 

126- Ibid..Bk.l.l.rl>-/i 

l 2 7 - U I A J i6. 

l28-l!iilLL Hk.MM,?-: 
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turned their horses into an oat field that he thinks might have made fortv 

bushels to the acre. also took 2 5 bushels of clean wheat and a horse. 
129 

The claim was denied. 

I tax returns for Fairfield District for 1822, showed Caleb Davis 

as the owner of 150 acres of land. In 1829, he had four persons in his 
130 

household. 

Caleb Davis died intestate in Fairfield County. In his letter 

requesting appointment as I ;trator of the estate of Caleb Davis, Jacob 

Feaster states that Caleb Davis had died in March 1852-.that he left a son 

Martin Davis; a daughter Frances, wife of Biggers Mobley; and the children of 

his deceased daughter Mary, wife of Levi Grubbs. The estate was worth about 

$2000. The children of the deceased Mar v̂ r-o- FraoclS, :rc 

old; John,about 11 years ol red, about 8 years old; and Martin,about 

6 years old. ia not likely that this was the Caleb Davis who had 

seen service in the Revo iary War, but was probably his son. 

Caleb Davis, on April 2,1823, sold Richard Elam two tracts of land for 

$1000. This land was made up out 300 acres of land granted Jeremiah Davis, 

deceased, and by his widow deeded to Stephen Davis, and then deeded to Caleb 

Davis on February 16, 1815; and a second portion of this 300 acre tract that 

>n the northside of McClure Creek in Fairfield District, and lying on the 

road to the Shallow Ford on Sandy River. William R.White,Nicholas Colvin and 
132 

Nicholas Colvin Jr. witnessed the deed. 

129- Rev. War Records. 

130-Tax Returns for Dairfield and other Districts, 1822. McMaster, History of 

Airfield County,P-172. 

l3l-F.P.C.fApt.98,file 112, IH 

1 32-F.D.H. ,1823. 
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Caleb and Sarah Davis promised to pay Biggers R.Mobley $300 a year from the 

date of the sale of a slave woman and her son John,on February 5,1827. A year 

later, on January 7,1828, Caleb Davis and his wife Sarah sold Biggers R. 

Mobley a 21 year old slave that Sarah had inherited from her grandfather 

George Phillips (deceased) of Virginia. Caleb and Sarah Davis, Biggers Mobley 

and wife Frances,Levi Grubbs and wife Mary, all heirs of Caleb Davis (Sr.?) 

sold Thomas Mobley 172 acres of land for $2064,on November 29,1836.This was 

the land where Caleb Davis lived and lay north of McClure Branch,Beaver Creek, 

and was bound by the lands of Micajah Mc Coleman and James Feaster Sr, 
133 

It had been transferred from Stephen Davis to Caleb Dav: 

Although Caleb Davis had aquired land from the estate of Jeremiah 

Ls through Stephen Davis,we do not known the relationship of these 

several Davises. Sgt. Jeremiah Davis ,Chester District, served 29 days during 

1779 in Captain Anderson Thomas' Companv during the Revolutionary War. Amos 

Davis witnessed his request for payment of two pounds .sterling for this 

134 
service. 

DR sician of Columbia, S.C, made his will on 

April 5, 1837, and it was proven on August 11,1838.David Johnson, Robert 

Henry and David W.Johns. nessed the will.He desired that his estate be 

kept intact for the support of his wife and unmarried children,and for the 

education of his sons James and Hen I wife Catherine to have one-third 

of the residue of his estate. His daughter Caroline, wife of Edward G. 

Palmer;his daughter Penelope, wife of the Honorable William C.Preston 

133-F.D.B.!'k.I I , MM,P-459,1836. 

134- Rev. War Records. 
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and his sons,Wi ,James and Henry to receive the other two-thirds of his 

estate.His wife Catherine and his son-in-law Edward G.Palmer were named his 

executrix and executen his probate papers,Jacob Geiger was paid $125 as 

overseer;James Geiger was paid $150 for attending medical lectures(1842 

Henry Davis1 tuition for college for 1842 was $25; James Davis was paid 

$250 for attending medical lectures; Thomas Park was paid $25 for tuition 

for H.( ) C.Davis.The warrant for the appraisement of his estate was issued 

on December 22,1839, to Jesse DeBruhl, Jacob Geiger and David Johnson. In the 

October 11,1839, ac Ing of his estate,he owed $33,555.68,and was owed 

$3,252.86. At this time he was in the possession of the following property 

in Richland District:33 slaves, ranging in value from $50 to $1000, for a total 

^12,500; slaves at New Lands, Fairfield District valued at $21055; 

and the Grimke1 slaves valued at $15,765. At the time of his death,he owed 

Mrs. Grimke'$11,900. John Kennedv, M.A.M. Leggo and James B.Coleman 

appraised his Fairfield proper* 

An understanding of the extensive holdings of Dr. James Davis can be 

appreciated when we consider a mortgage that he gave Sarah D.Grimke 

administratrix of the estate of Thomas Drayton,to secure the penal sum of 

$23,800(actual sum of #ll,900)due February 23, 1853. He gave as security 

mortgages on 2600 acres of land made up out of tracts of land purchased 

from the Coramiesioner-in-E<| airfield District, and made up out of tracts 

of Robert Cathcart, Isiah Neely, Samuel McCants,David Milling and Daniel Faust. 

This l.ui.l lay on Sawney Creek and Dutchman Creek and was known as New Lands: 

135- R.W.B., Bk.K ,P-32ft,1838;R.P.C. ?,Pkg. 155,1838 
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bound by the lands of Edward G.Palmer, John Rosborough,Doctor Rosborough and 

Samuel McCants. He also used as security 500 acres of land on Little and Big 

Crane Creek, Broad River, Richland District: being the northern part of 

1070 acres of land that he had bought from Samuel Guignaard,and bound by 

the lands of Daniel Faust, James Boatwright, Robert Miller,Jacob Geiger and 

his own land. This was the home place of Dr. James Davis and was known as 

Eswaw. The mortgage to Sarah Grimke1 was dated February 1, 1835, and was 

witnessed by Robert Waddell, J.C.Phillips, and Patrick Doherty. Catherine 

136 
Davis signed the release of her dowry rights. 

John Buchanan,Commissioner-in-Equitv for Fairfield District , gave 

Dr. James Davis, Columbia, title on 600 acres of land sold at public auction, 

on Januar 127'• Dr. Davis' bid of $2953.90 was the highest,and the titles 

were dated July 4,1827. This land was sold as a result of an action brought 

by Thomas Heath against Thomas T.Williamson and Aillery Williamson as 

executor and executrix of the estate of Roling Williamson; against Phillip 

Cook and his wife Jemima; and against James DuBose. The land lay on Dutchman 

Creek tad had been granted to Roling Williamson on August 6, 1792; bound at 

137 
the time of the original survey by the lands of Reuben Hall,Veal and others. 

Robert Cathcart sold Dr. James Davis, Columbia, 2 50 acres of land on 

the headwaters of Cedar and Dutchman Creeks on August 6,1827. Robert Cathcart 

had obtained this Ian the property of James DuBose, at a sheriff's 

sale on February 10,1808. It was bound by the lands of Roling Williamson 

138 
(deceased) and David Milling (deceased) . Nancy Cathcart signed her release. 

136- k.LL,P-451,183 

137- Ibid, Hk.HH,P-249,1827. 

138-Ibld. .HH,r-)7r>,1827. 
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Isiah Neely,Fairfield District,on February 1,1829, sold Dr. James Davis, 

Columbia, 11 acres of land that had been divided off from 40 acres that had 

139 
been granted Isiah Neely on the headwaters of Big Cedar Creek. Dr. James 

Davis bought 1539 acres of land on Big and Little Sawnev Creek from Daniel 

F/auat on January 22, 1831. This tract of land was made up out of three separate 

tracts of 640 acres,each, that had been granted to Daniel Faust. This land 

was bound on the south by the lands of Usuah Neely,southeast by Milling land, 

140 
and on the west by land whose owner was unknown.. David Milling sold (Dr.) 

James Davis 370 acres of land in Fairfield District,on Sawney Creek and Wateree 

River for $925, on June 3, 1833. The land was part of an original land grant 

to David Milling. The deed was witnessed by Edward G.Palmer and John J.Woodward, 

Jane W.Milling signed her release. 

Dr. James Davis, ia, son of the elder Dr. James Davis,died intestate 

and his brother Henry C.Davis applied for letters of administration on 

December 2 hi handwritten will was made on April 19,1848,and 

was proven on December 20,1848. The will did not name an executor. The slave 

Gabriel and his famllv was left to his mother Catherine,and at her death to 

his brother Henrv. William C.Preston, Edward G.Palmer and Daniel Trezevant 

witnessed the will. 

Henry Campbell Davis(Colonel C.Davis) son of the elder Dr. James 

Davis,was born on August I Ied on August 27,1886. He was a member 

of the South Carolina Legislature and the Secession Convention. He was a 

!39- . II ,r-/' ,1828. 

140- n>idt Hk.KK,r-l 1 1 ,U91a 

1*1- Ibid, Bk.LL,r-30,18> 

1^2- R.p.c 1 ,1848. 
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Lieutenant Colonel in the 12th S.C.V.,C.S.A. On May 18,1848, he married 

Isabella Harper Means,who was not quite eighteen years of age. She was born 

on July 4, 1830 and died October 23,1871. Th*ir son Robert Means Davis was 

born April 9,1849, and died March 13, 1904. His wife Sally LeConte was born 

on November 11,1850 and died November 14,1915. Robert Means Davis was a 

professor in the South Carolina College 1882 to 1904. 

Henry C.Davis ( ion of Isabella Means and Henry C.Davis, grandson 

of Dr. James Davis (Sr.),was born September 15, 1857, and died on December 22, 

1931. He graduated from West Pol 1883, and was a colonel in the U.S.Ac 

He married Marianne Watson who was bom on July 11, 1861,and died December 26, 

1941. 

'̂ Ise Davis, • er of Cclonel a Means Dav: 

was born December 10,1860,and died March Lf1957« She married William Herbert 

who was born Februar 859, and died October 23, 1926. 

Catherine Davis, daughter of Colonel Henry C. and Isabella Means Davis, 

married Colonel David DuBose Gaillard, who was an engineer on the construction 

of the Panama Canal. 

James Quentin Davis, son of Henry C. and Isabella Means Davis,was a 

Winnsboro Bank.* 

Kdward Wiiium Davis, son of Dr. James Davis *Sr.) and Catherine Ross 

Davis, was born May 17,1816, and died September 28,1870. He remained unmarrid 
143 

U 3 - Copied from the gravestones in St. Stephens Episcopal Churchyard, 

Ridgeway, s.C. BolicksfFairfield Sketchbook, P-36. 
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A number of other Davis families will have to be considered separate 

because they cannot be positively identified with the Davis families already 

described. 

John Davis died intestate in Richland District sometime just prior 

to January 23, 1832, the date on which letters of administration were issued 

to John Zeagler(sic) and William Gaffney. Dr. Joseph A.Reese had been his 

physician and the estate owe. st of his indebtedness was to A.Marks, 

who apparently ran a tavern. On August 12,1831, he had purchased sixteen 

drinks for $1. His favorite drinks were toddys(sic) and honey drams. On April 9, 

1831, he purchased ten gallons of NewOrleans whiskey, and some weeks later on 

18,1831, he purchased another ten gallons. His coffin cost $7.00. No 

heirs were named. 

Mary Ann Williams Davis, Richland District, made her will on October 10, 

1820f and it was proven on December 5, 1820. Margaret and Jane Snead witnessed 

the will. Her propert ed a bed, bedstead, other furniture,two trunks 

and a little lumber, which she left to Mary Shirley for taking care of her. 

Mary T.Davis, Richland Con ade her will on July 1850 , and it was 

proven on September 18,1852. She had for six years lived in the house of 

Samuel T.Bailey and left all of her property to him, and in event of his 

death, to his son Starr H.Baile-

David Davis, Richland G . made his will on August 25, 1857, and it 

was proven on January LI,1859. Foster Roberts, Arthur L.Davis and Samuel Dent 

1 liiilL, . Pkg. 120. 

146 -IM_d^ Box g. 1004,1852 
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were made his executors. His wife was named Harriet. He left legacies to 

Elizabeth Watts, mother of his wife;to John Watts and his two daughters ,Mrs. 

Susannah Ross and Marian Watts; a sofa to Elizabeth Jones, daughter of 

Reuben Watts; and one dollar,each , to James Glaze, Allen Davis, David T.Davis, 

and Phelby Roberts, wile oi William T.Roberts. The rest of his estate he left 

to his eldest son Arthur L.Davis, and to his daughter Mary Dow, wife of 

Ardalson Dow and to her five children:David, Char: iry, Thomas and Mart: 

His personal property was appraised as an old pine table worth fifty cents, 
147 

and anMold barouche body" worth eevent - | cents. 

David T.Davis,, and Cc made his will on July 16,1856, and it 

was proven August He appears to have been the son of David and 

Jlet Davis, tn U L V ] e L 

of age were:Martha E.Thomas, Caroline T.C.Davis, David P.Davis,Sarah Rebecc 

Davis,Arthur I.S.Davis,Maryann and James D.Davis, All of his property to 
148 

remain together for the use of his wife and his children remaining at home. 

Dr. John F.Davis was born January 13,1812, and died on November 6, 1861. 

His wife Elizabeth was born on November 28,1826, and died on August 5, 1898. 
149 

They are buried in the ct -ard ot I cello Methodist Church. Dr. John F. 

Davis died intestate in Fairfield Count nistrative bond was for 

J00, and he was certainly a man of proper otters cf adminstration 

were issued to his widow Elizabeth S.Davis and to her brother Joseph B. 

Martin on March 3. | the year 1864, his administrators paid tuition 

147-R.P.c , P k K. 1009,1859. 

148- ibid, Box |] , fee, i i3§ L N L 

1^9- Gravestones, Mont 1 cello Methodist Church. 
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for the following children: Mary A.Davis, Sallie Davis, Clara Davis and Amos 

Davis. 

. John F.Davis lived near Monticello and certainly bears a 

relationship to the immigrant John Davis, but I am not certain of the 

relationship. 

Edward Davis made his will on Ms 1770, and it was probably proven 

In 1786. His wife was named Nelly and he had the following children:Henson, 

Rozure, Mari Mason,Rachel and Ester. N.S.Robinson, Patrick McKain and 

Jacob Holley witnessed the will. 

Another Edward Davis died about 1822. The admininistrative bond for 

Moses Knighton was signed on November 11,1822. John Hal 1,Mourning Elijah 
152 

Hollis and I lis were his neighbors designated to appraise his estate. 

On December 1, 1 Joseph Davis gave Rachel Davis ,mother of Edward 

Carroll , four rows .m.! calves,20 pigs, one feather bed and furniture, 4 sheep, 

six geese, and the furniture that Rachel Davis had in her possesion. Edward 

Carroll to inherit after his mother. Daniel and Hannah Muse witnessed the deed. 

Rachel Davis, Kershaw C* her son Edward Carroll, 50 acres of land 

153 
on Sawney Creek that had been purchased from Moses Ayers. 

Richard Davis made his will on May 4,1815, and it was proven on 
154 

June 22,1H1'». His wi ie was named Hannah but no children were named. 

-F.P.C.Apt. ile 90(new), 

- K.W.B., Vol. l, villi not recorded,P-3 

152 ~ , Apt. 14, file 132,1822. 

D.B., Bk. A,P| 8, 1785, 1792. 

154- K.W.n.f v\>!.i, willa not recorded,P-11,1815, 
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Richard Davis promised to pay Wm,Beth and Co. the sum of 12 pounds, 

15 shillings and 2 pence,sterling, from the date of January 12, 1795. He gave 

as security a mortgage on his plantation of 115 acres on Shadrick Branch of 

Broad River. 

Abraham Davis sold Enoch Davis,April 24, 1800,for 24 pounds, a one eyed 

seven year old mare, a sorrell (sic) mare named Felag, a black cow with a 

swaller(slc) Iork in each ear, two large puter(sic) dishes,a half dozen 

156 
puter (sic) plates fand a cov, a "MM" crop in her right ear. 

Manly Davis bought two lots in Rocky Mount,Fairfield District, from 

James C.Robinson for $412.50,on / 8,1828. The lots were formerly the 

n 
property of N.A.Edwards.and James C.Robison bought them at a sheriff's 

sale on April 8. A few months later,on December 10,1828, Manly Davis 

sold these lots to J< Kee, Chesterville, for $300. 

John W.Davis died intestate in Fairfield County. James F. Gamble,on 

September 19,1844, petitioned the Court of Ordinary for Fairfield for letters 
158 

of administration since John W.Davis owed him money. 

Henry M. Davis, Fairfield District made his will on September 2, 1841, 

it was proven on September lr),1841. He wanted his contract with Leah 

Smith rescinded. He wanted his Negro girl Susan sold and replaced with another 

girl. His wife Prances to inherit all of his estate and personal goods. Johr 

Waring and M.A.M.Leggo were named his executors. John E.Robinson, William E. 
159 

Robinson and A.K.Craig witnessed the I 

155-F.D.iv 95 

L57«gfey^ nti iifPp. 144,1. |fl 

l 5 8" ] ,1844. 

- LtiU, Apt. 74,file 46, 18-. 
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160 
Christiana Rhister 

On March 5, 1773, 100 acres of land was laid out for Christiana 

Rhiste rth of Broad River,and on Little Cedar Creek:bound northeast on 

Mark Davis and William Bell,east on Thomas Franks(FranklIn?),southeast on 
161 

Christopher Davis, and on all other sides by vacant land. 

By 1804, Christiana Rister was married to George Leightner(Leitner). 

On January 27,1792, Christian Reister (Christiana Rhister?) witnessed the 

deed when Christian Leitner, heir of Michael Leitner, sold John George 
162 

Freshley some land on Crooked Run Creek. 

The land of Christiana Rhister finally came into the hands of Jesse 

Wirick through a purchase of lai • Phillip D.Cooke on October 8,1832, and 

a land grant made to hi 8,183^, totalling 572 acres made up out of 

vacant and abbandoned lands. 

160- Also written as Rheueter, Reuster, and Riete 

.,Vol.20,P-128,17; 

162- F.D.B.,Bk.P,P-27,1804; Bk.K,P-364, 1792. 

163- F.D.i .KK,P-394,1832. S.P.,Index 2,Vol.52,P-304, 1839, 
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a Robertson and Robinson Families 

When the 572 acres of land was surveyed for Jesse Wirick on Little 

Cedar Creek, 18,1839, the land was bound to the north by the land of 

William Robertson, on tHe east by the lands of William Robertson and B.H. 

Robertson, southeast by the land of Catherine Gradick, and on the south 
1 

and southwest by the land »J James McCants. 

On December 1, 1 78, B.H.Robertson made a survey of the Gradick lands 

There were 1500 acres of land made up out of the following tracts: the home 

place of 190 acres; the Taylor place of 245 acres; pinev woods with 180 

acres; Martin place i 110 acres; Jacob Wirick place of 250 acres;220 acre 

Cook place of 112 acres;01d Home Place of 258 acres. All of this land except 

r the last two tracts lay northwest oi Little Cedar Creek. This large body 

of land was bon he land of 1.8. (Isaac Smith) Chappell and 

>berteon;on the east by the estate of D.(David) Gradick,Elias Gradick 

the Lowrance lands;on the south by the Metz lands;southwest by the land 

of O.F.(Oscar Fitzland) Chappell; west bv the lands of C.B.Lyles, Elizabeth 

Wrick, k.T.Camak and A.G.Bookman; on the north by the Cook lands, lands of 
2 

T.C.Smith and others whose names could not be read. 

Phil rather late plat serves to locate some of the Robertson lands 

lyln^ y to Little Cedar Creek, and serves as a starting point for 

the study of the Robertsons, alt in earlier days, they owned land over 

Wmh of Fairfield C,,,,,,! 

1 -1.: », [ode >. 

A copy of the original plat was oimed by Lonnie Bluroe, a desce o£> the 

Gradicka. 
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The brothers John and Alexander Robertson,with David McCreight, William 

Milton,James Gray, an lip*. * H elders and recently come from 

Ireland, organized the Lebanon Presbyterian Church, with the leverend John 

Logue of Ireland or the Reverend John Simpson of Fishing Creek as the first 

minister. The first meetings of the congregation were held in the home of 

John Robertson. Later a log cabin church was built and the church transferred 

3 
to the land of John Chapman. A stone church was built and used for many 

years, but abandoned and Lebanon Presbyterian Church now lies a short 

distance away 14, 

On September 1,1 iam Robertson, newly arrived 
4 

net, applied foi 

JOHN ROBERTSON >ther of Alexander and probably of William and 

Hen !>ertaon, died intestate In Fairfield Q in late 1793. On 

Januar \%$ William Robertson and Robert Rabb signed the administrative 

bond for Hannah an<l FhoMS Koberts< homes Robertson gave William 

Robertson and Robert Rabb a mortgage on several slaves to insure them against 

possible loss as signers of the bond. Hannah and Thomas Robertson applied 

for letters of administrat ovembe^ >3. The sale of the personal 

goods of John Robertson, i: ng ten slaves, netted 676 pounds, 14 shillings, 

and 5 pence. ng at the sale were his neighbors and kinfolk William 

[>erteon Sr.,Win iam Robertson 'ickle, Bartlee Smvth, James 

caid, Thomas Bell, VlUlM les Sr., William McMorries Jr 

<<**•, Hi«; ,f Presbyterian 0 , Pp-415,416, 

4- ••Till,LletS of Protestant Immigrants, P-82 



p-78 Chapter 3 

rth of the Broad River 

Up Little Cedar Creek 

James Nealy, Alexander Kincaid, William Hatcher, John May, Widow Woodward, 

David McGraw, i'arrott, William Hardage, Jacob Gibson, John Bell, and 

John Wallace. Included in the perishable goods were fourteen bushels of 

indigo seeds. 

Hannah Robert* low of John Robertson, made her will on March I 

1805, and it was proven on November 26,1810. She had been previously married 

to Daniel Muse, and by him had a son Joseph Daniel Muse. By her husband 

John Robertson, she had a son John Robertson. In her will, she forgave a 

note for $194 due her by Joseph Woodward, and gave him a feather bed and other 

furniture.She had sold Joseph Woodward her dowry third in the estate of 

John Robertson for $300 on October 2,1804. This sale was for 174 acres 

of land on Mill Creek. She gave her son Joseph Daniel Muse six slaves in 

lieu of the legacy due 1 txn his father Daniel Muse's estate and the 

estate of his deceased sister Rebeccah Muse. To her son John Robertson,she 

gave some slaves and a note 1 rhomae Robertson(his half brother) to be 

applied to his schooling. John Mickle, Darling Jones and Benoni Robertson 

6 
were named her excecutors. 

In accordance with a precept from John Thorp,DSG,dated November 4, 

1766, 200 acres of land was laid out for John Robertson north of Broad 

River, on Murley'e Branch. The plat was certified by John Winn D.S. on 

January | j()}in Robertson had 300 acres of land surveyed for him on 
7 

Little River by Mino a D.S., on May 26,1784. 

5-P.P.C.,Apt.6,file 195. I ,P-10,1794. 

6-P.W.B.,V,,i . 1 , 1 . F.D.B., Bk.G,P-58,1804. 

7" C.P.fVol ,Vol.8q,P-ll, 1784. 
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On September 19,1777, Thomas Marple sold John Roberson (Robertson), 

- 500 pounds, current la- \oney, 100 acres of land on Little River 

that had been granted to Thomas Marple on December 12, 1768; and a second 

tract of 50 acres that Thomas Marple had bought from Elizabeth Austin on 

January lr;, 177^. Jacob Gibson and Ruth Smart witnessed the deed. On August 21, 

1777, Thomas Woodward sold John Robertson 10 acres of land that lay between 

their lines on Little River. is land was part of 794 acres that had been 

granted Isaac Brecker.John Robertson sold Dudley Curry 139 acres of land, 

originally granted John Robertson on Little River, for 100 pounds, sterling, 

November 1790. This land was bound by the lands of Stephen Curry and Henrv 
8 

Hunter. Barney Pope and Peter Curry witnessed the sale. 

John Robertson, the immigrant (died 1793), had been married prior to 

his marriage to Hannah, widow of Daniel Muse. It is quite probable that his 

rat wife was the daughter of Marcellus Littlejohn. This assumption has 

proof in the will 0| Marcellus Littlejohn written on June 30, 1795, and 

recorded on July 21,1796. Marcellus Littlejohn's wife was named Sarah,and 

to her he left a slave named Poll and the use of his property during her 

lifetime. He left hn his real and personal property to his grandchildren 

Sarah Harrison and Ma: he remaining half he left to his grandchildren 

Thomas Robertson, Mary Robertson,Ann Robertson,Elizabeth Robertson,Martha 

Robertson and Samuel Robertson. 

,probal m eldest son of the Immigrant John 

Robertson, had moved to York District prior to selling John Bell the 

8-P.D.B. , 2,1790. 

'- r.W,B.,Vo]. .P-59,1796. 

file:///oney
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one-eighth part of 300 acres of land that he had inherited from his father 

John Robertsoi $112 ber 180b. Mattha and Samuel Robertson, 

daughter and I Robertson, brother and sister of Thomas Robertson, 

had died prior to December 1,1806; on that date Thomas Robertson sold John 

Bell 15 acres of land for $45, and representing his one-fifth share in the 

•state of Martha and Samuel Robertson. On Januarv 27,1797, Thomas Robertson 

sold Edward Willingham 100 acres of land that he had inherited from 

Samuel Littlejohn, and taken from the northeast corner of 640 acres granted 

Samuel Littlejohn In 1785 or 1786. 

On February 10,1827, as Robertson of York District sold William 

Kincaid, Fairfield District, 50 acres of land on Mill Creek; being part of 

200 acres that had been granted E.Austin on July 7, 1772, and representing 

I tli 

of his death. Rebeccah, wife of Thomas Robertson, signed her release. 

Thomas Roberts District, Elizabeth Robertson,James Brvant,John Bell, 

and William Robertson, Fairfield District, all heirs at law of John Robertson, 

for and In the considerati $22, sold George Ashford 47 acres of land 

on Little River. This land was bound on the northeast nd of James 

liott, west by land of George Ashford.south and southwest bv land of 
11 

Samuel Alat 

Thomaa Robertson, son of the immigrant John Robertson,died in York 

District Uia win made i ust 4, 1847,was probated on August 9, 1849. 

10* F-D-B. -224, .P-226; Bk.R,P-98,1797. 

U - F.D.B.,Bk.HH,l>-L KK,P2f »5. 
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He left a wife Rebeccah,a daughter Rosinda R.Robertson and sons William L. 

AiIan Robertson. 

HENRY ROBE! was a brother of John and Alexander Robertson. He 

died In 1791. His will made on August 30,1791, was proven on September 20, 

1791. He wanted hall ol fell home place sold to pay his debts. The other half 

of his 250 acre home place to be retained for the support of his wife and 

children William, Hannah, 1 lizabeth, Mary and James. He appointed his brother 

John his executor.Phi 1 lip Raiford ,George Harrison and Daniel Harrison 

witnessed the win. 

Elizabeth Robertson, widow ot Henrv Robertson,died in 181b. On December 2, 

1816, James RobertSo: 1 iam Airs(Ayers) applied for letters of 

dftratlOG jo4g ware appraise. nomas Lyles. Robert 

Bell,James Owens, Elisha Owens and James Craig on December 16,1816. The 

final settlement was made on December 17,1817, and $2 94.47.3 was given to 

each of the toll owl- 1iam Robertson, Hannah Harrison,Elizabeth 
14 

Wil llama,Mary Airs(Ayers) and James Roberts 

The 2 50 acre home place of Henry Robertson had been purchaaed fi 

llip Shaver on September r>,1783. This land had been granted to John Ard, 

who had died without heirs in this c< Phillip Shaver was acting 

as his agent. The land U ] lie north side of Broad River. By 1814, Hannah 

Harrison,already a widow, and during that year she sold her brother Jamee 

Robertson,her undivided tilth share in the 250 acres of land that her father 

12-York Will B* -.'39,1849. 

'•.B.,Vol.l,Hk.! 

K - P.P.C,Apt. Me 456, 
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had purchased from Phillip -haver.In January 1818, William Ayers sold 

James Robertson the fifth share in the 250 acres for $420. His wife Mary 

was not mentioned and might have been dead. William Robertson,son of Henrv 

Robertson had moved to Frank 1 In District Tennessee, and from that place on 

December 31, 1817, he sold his brother James his one-fifth share in his 

her's estate for $400.His land lay on Little River and was bound northwest 

on Robert Bell, northeaat on Edmund Martin ,southeast on Elisha Owens and 

southwest on James Owena. James Robertson sold Robert Bell 30^ acres of land 
15 

out of this tract for $213 on March 10,1818. 

James Roberta* of Henry Robertson, made his will 

on August 6, 1855, and it was recorded on January 15, 1856. He left a wife 

Mary and these children: William, Henrv, George. James, Thomas, Elizabeth 

0m(wtt% ol Job *) and Catherine McNeil. Thomas Robertson was appointed 

trustee of Catherine McNeil, and was to eeceive and hold her inheritance in 
16 

trust. His so m was sppolnted his executor. 

was a contemporary and probably a kinsman of 

Alexander, Henry m\ Robertson: he might have been a brother. On 

September 1 Johfl and William Robertson, newly arrived in South 

17 
Carolina, petitioned (oi 1 C acres of land,each, on the boun: William 

Robertson waa know,, aa Captain William Robertson. On January 18,1799,he took 

oath of office as Justice of the Peace;on January lb,1799, William 

Robertson and Jamea Bell obtained a license to operate a tavern and sell 

p-D.B.,Bk.K -418,181 Z,P-451,1818;Bk.Z,P-450,1817} 

k,19,F«393. 
1 7 - R e v i U f L i s t s of Protes tant Immigrants, P-82 
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1 iquor.During the years 1786 to 1799, he was frequntly in attendance at the 
18 

Fairfield County Court aa a grand Juror and as a witness. 

<ob*rtson Sr. made his will on December 4,1824, and it was 

recorded on August 19,1825. His children were Be Sibba Shedd, William Jr., 

Nancy Jenkins, Thomas,Henry and George Robertson. He left his son George 

the remainder of the home plantation, two slaves and a bay horse,with saddle 

and bridle,a third of the live eto* > feather beds,and one-half of the 

household iture. The remainder of his property to be divided among the 

rest of his children. His sons Benoni and William Jr. were named his executors. 
19 

T.O.Hanlon, Booker Foster and William T.Woodward witnessed the will. 

William Robertson applied for letters of administration for his 

AtJgU«t ; stratc 
20 

he received $110 due his son aB balance of pay for service in the U.S.Ar 

George Robertson, son ol William Robertson Sr.,died intestate in 

Fairfield District, and letters of administration given to his brother Benoni 

and to his widow Nan )0,1804. William Robertson (Sr.), on September 3, 

1808, for the love and affection that he bore his grandchildren John W. 

Robertson, Sarah Robertson and Libby Robertson, children of his deceased son 

George, gave them a plantation of 119 acres. This plantation was part of 

a tract of land i ad been granted William Robertson on January 11, 1786, 

and lay on the headwaters of Jackaon Creek. John W., Sarah and Libby Robertson 

aold this land to theii | Benoni Robertson for $952, on Jar. ,1826. 

-Holcomb, Minutes Faifield County Court, Pp.lb,17,25,bl,67,71,118, 

l2l,144,l64, , 

Ij~' " Thia legacy probably to George'children. 

^-P.P.C. Apt. 29,file 449. 
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Nancy Robertson .widow of George Robertson, made a marriage contract with 

John iell on September 4,1818. He renounced all rights to her property and 

promised her a good liv g her widowhood .should she survive him. 
21 

His home plantation was 1 Creek. 

William Robertson, probably William Robertson Sr., known locally as 

Captain William Robertson,was married at least three times. On Decemner 18, 

1810, he made a marriage contract with the widow Ann Watson, and in which 

he denounced all claim to her property. Ann Watson died sometime between 

the making of her will on Speteraber 17,1813, and the proving of her will on 

November 9,1813. She had previously been married to James Alexander Watson 

and was survived by six Watson sons: Ephraim,Wil1iam, Alexander, John, James 

nlson and Hardy Davis wats. ut a year later, on May 28,iw 

Robertson Esq. made a marriage contract with the widow Lucy Hancock, and 

stated that they intended m«: | the same afternoon. Both renounced the 

property rights ol the other. Hancock Robertson died in the fall of 

1824, apparently Juat a few months before the death of her husband. The 

final settlement of her property was made on April 13, 1832. Her heirs 

were Mary Morris, larriet Finch, John and Luc cock,the children 

of Ephraim Hancock, James Han ind Elizabeth Foot, Bennett and Cripey 

Ashford. Bennett Ashford was named executor of her estate. 

William Robertson had 100 acres of land surveyed for him on Jackson 

Branch'Creek) and the plat ci Tanuary 7,1765.He had 100 acres 

l-F.P.C.,APf . 29,file US, I :42,1808;Bk,GG,P186,1826; 

ftk.AA,P-l7ifl818# 

" •D#l .1813. F.D.B.,Bk,W,P248,1814. 

F-p.C.,Apt.(,2,! !!«• | |4, 
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aurveyed for him on Creek, waters of Cedar Creek, Camden District, 

and the plat certified on January 11, L783, Eighteen acres were surveyed 

for William Robertson on Jackson Creek and the plat certified by Henry 

Moore D.S., on September K. bound by the landa of William Robertson, 

Henry Moore and David Ham: A.B.Ferguson D.S..surveyed 492 acres of land 

Cor William Robertson ranchea of Wateree River,on May 27, 1811;bound by 

the landa of Zachariah Nettlea, Thomaa McCall.Anderaon Rochelle and Gardner 

Ford. On Februay 2 acrea of land waa laid out for him on a branch 

Wateree River: bound northwest on Wixey Ward, northeast on Darling 

Jonea, southeast on Alexander Crumpton,east on William Reynolda, and south-

weet on Robert Mc Cants.. A third tract containing 211 acres of land was 

mnd a haaeet 

Zachariah Nettles •heast by Thomaa McCall.Jonathan Belton and William 

Robertaon; aoutheaat by Reuben Harriaon; and aouth by William Harrison. 

This repreaenta a total of 885 acrea of land aurveyed for William 

23 
Robertaon on the branchea of Wateree River in 1811. 

George Shedd,Fairfield County, gave Captain William Robertson his power-

-of-attorney on July 9,1790. On the same dey, Jamea Thompaon Shedd, 

alao of Fairfield Co«. ,ave Captain William Robertaon his power-of 

attorney to receive hia inheritance from hia father Jamea Shedd who had 
24 

died in I.. lMt v Virginia. 

0 0 M a r '/.Benot ,.ld County aold William Robertso.Esq. , 

23-CP.,Vol.8,l ,ulex 1, Vol7q, 1785.S .P., Index 2, 

roi.at, p. ; l 

U - F.D.B., Bk.A.I'p. 
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206 acres of land on Crooked Run Creek for $800; bound by the lands of 

George — ?, Nicholas Wirey (W and George Eleazer. This land had been 

originally been granted to Jamea Mann. Included in the sale was a dark 

mare 10 years old, another horse, cattle and other livestock with an H 

on the near buttoka and a smooth crop in the right ear, household furniture 

and farm tools. Benoni Boll#9 was to continue to live there and to use the 
25 

livestock and tools for the payment of one ear of Indian Corn a year as rent. 

William Robertson Sold Mlcajah Mobley 27 acres of land on McClure Creek 
26 

for $72 on July 27,1800. 

William Robertson gave David R.Evans a hill of sale for a slave 

named Abraham that he had • ,1801, William Robertson 

sold John Lan ( a m : acres of land for $100 on May 19,1808. 

This tract of land was taken from the upper part of 640 acres of land that 

had been granted to Samuel Littlejohn and now Jointly owned by William 

Robertson and Jonathan Harrison; bound by the Kinsler lands on the east,H.Beys 

on th* west, Ed Watts on the east,and the rest of the original tract on the 

south.Jenny and Abner#witnessed the deed.On this same day, Mary and John Land 

sold William Robertson all eritance rights from Samuel Littlejohn 

for $100. On April 12, 1809, John Land sol tarn Robertson 93 acres of 

land for $300. Thie land was taken out of 645 acres that had been granted 

Samuel Littlejohn in 1785.and repress 186 acres jointly owned 

n Land and Captain Jonathan HarriN lomaa Robertson as legal heir 

Satmiel Littlejohn s< Mam Robertson divisive share in 400 acres of 

- -D.B., Bk.K,I>p. 

i±, Bk.N, r«24],1800. 
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land on Dutchman's Creek lor $20ton January 9,1809. William and Elizabeth 

Ashley sold William Robertson their share in the estate of Samuel 

Littlejohn for $100 On February 20,1808. 

William Robertson continued at every opportunity to buy up the land 

of Marcellus and Samuel Littlejohn. Jonathan Harrison released to William 

Robertson,December 5,1811, the rights of his wife in the estate of Samuel 

Littlejohn. This property came to her through inheritance from Sarah Tyler, 

28 
a legal heir and niece of Samuel Littlejohn. 

William Robertson sold James Boyd 93 acres of land for $300 on April 19, 

1818. This land was part of 645 acres that had been granted to Samuel 

Littlejohn in 1785 01 was the southern half of 186 acres that had 
29 

been j c i : *n H a r H q o n .inH W-MltaTTi R n h p r r s n n . 

We have not.as of now, been able to definitely identi: I Samuel 

Littlejohn other than to say that he was definitely a kinsman of Marcellus 
Littlejohn: father,son,or brother.A Samuel Littlejohn died in Union County 

in 1813, considerably after Samuel Littlejohn had died intestate in 
30 

Fairfield District. 

Martha P.Pinder of Chatham County, Georgia, on May 9,1811, for herself, 

M.Pinderf and cCants.guardian of Mallnda A.Phillips, f ) paid by 

William Robertson, sold him 400 acres of land that had been granted Harris 

McCaule on August :?, 1789.This sale excluded some land that might have been 

27-P.I). ..99,195,1808; Bk.S,Pp.203,215,216,1808,1809, 

28- Ibid t 1 ;« 1 1 

29. Ibid. 18. 

3 ° - tUllBoi .93,18 
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included in a previous survey. The land lay on Morris Creek and was bound 

by the land of Gardner Ford on the northeast. On the next day, May 10, 

1811, Mallnda P.Pinder gave William Robertson her power-of attorney for the 

settlement of the estate ft! McCaule,late of Fairfield District 

31 

and late president of Mount Zion College. 

On December 7,1814, William Robertson sold Captain William Neville, 

for $15,what,if any, remained of the 150 acres of land on McClure Creek that 
32 

had been granted to Samuel Littlejohn. 

Frances Tllley, widow of Absolam Til ley, sold William Robertson, on 

February 11,1811, LOO acres of land on Dutchman Creek for $100. The land was 

granted to Absalom TMU'v ^,1784. Nathaniel and Betsy Holley 

33 
witnessed the dee 

On October 28,181 I,Williamson sold William Robertson two tracts 

of land on Little Cedar Creek, Fairfield District. One tract was part of 

400 acres of land that had been granted Thomas Franklin on February 24, 

1771, and contained 341 acres J land was bound to the west by the land 

of Benjamin Hart, lam Dea and John Brent;south on land of Jacob 

Turnipseed;to the east on lands of John Compty and estate of Henry Walker; 

north on James Alston; and lay on Little Cedar Creek.The second tract of 

24 acres had been originally granted to John Brent Sr. on December 3,1804, 

and lay adjcent to the 341 acre tract: bound north on land of William Dea, 

34 
'-'est on Nicholas Wirick and Jacob Turnipseed. 

31-F.D.I'.. 11 . 

32-Ibid. 

33- Ibid, i m . 

34-*Hd, 
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William Robertson sol 1 Klisha Owens 70 acres of land on AUgUst 29, 

1816, for $12 0. This land was part of 300 acres that had been granted 

James Maijors(sic) on March 17,1775, and lay on a branch of Mill Creek. 
35 

This land was resurveyed by Samuel Alston D.S., on Januarv 20,1815. 

On March 7, 1814, and for $1, James Nelson sold William Robertson Esq., 

Benjamin Owens, Rolling Williamson, John Woodward and James Nelson two 

-es of land for a house oi worship for Baptist Ministers and other 

Christian ministers,and to be known as the Regular Baptist Society,or a: 

other legal name.John Woodward gave the congregation free access to a spring 
36 

of water on his la 

John McMaster, acting as an agent for William Robertson, on January 25, 

1821, bought acres of land ,exclusive of 250 acres for Cornelius 

Mandaviii ,>f Dtrli strict. The land lay Crcc!;, 

was formerly the estate of Zack Nettles that had been sold at a sheriff's 
37 

sale. 

Benjamin Hart of Conech, Alabama, on April 15,1823, sold William 

Robert8on,of Fairfield District, 409 acres of land on Little Cedar Creek 

that had been granted Benjamin Hart on July 6, 1801. At the time of the 

original survev, lt was bound on the north and west by the land of Thomas 

McKinstry ; southeast by Nancy Alston southeast and east by Daniel Brown, 

east and northeast by Henry Walker, James N.Hart acted as an attorney for 

B«njamin Hart 

Samuel Hendrix, late of South Carolina but now of Feliciana,Louisiana, 

35-F.D.B.,Bk.X,P-59; K 

36-n>id, Bk./.,!>,. u . 

3 7 -

38- Ibid. Bk.EE,! 1823. 
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gave William Robertson his power- - ey to dispose of 246 acres of land 

on the headwaters s Cre« October 23,1823, William Robertson sold 

this land to William Shedd for $616. The tract was part of 2650 acres of land 

39 
that had been granted Isaac Porcher on June 4,1771. 

William Robertson, Fairfield District, sold Allen Rochelle,Union District, 

227 acres of land for $445 on Janua .817. This land lay on Dutchman Creek, 

Wateree River,and was part of 400 acres granted Samuel Littlejohn: bound 

at the time of the « al survey by the lands of James Hunt and vacant 
40 

1 ar.;s . 

John H,Nettles, Kershaw District, sold William Robertson 250 acres of 

land for $1000, on Novembr his land lay on Sawney Creek, and was 

halt of a purchase made by John and *Uck Nettles trom John Kix; made up out 

100 acres originally granted Mary Craig and 495 acres that had been granted 

John Vanderhorst. The land purchased by William Robertson was the lower 

half of the total purchase and was bound by the land that William 

Robertaonhad Uased from Cornelius Mandeville: bound on the southeast 

by the Frost estate. 

WILLIAM ROBERTSON JR. 

All transactions In r he name of William Robertson after the death of 

the senior William Roberts. | late 1824,or early 1825, must of necessity 

KE,Pp.26 1823. 

Ibid. 

•DD.P3 spite e many transaction of William Robertson, 

the 1822 Tax Returns strict showed William Robertson as the 

O W n € r acres of land and 23 slaves. 
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refer to William Robertson Jr.,son of Captain William Robertson- or v< 

unlikely, another William Robertso: 

William Robertson (Jr.) made his will on Januarv 13, 1858, and it was 

proven on November 23, 1 He gave,in trust,to Dr. Thomas T.Robertson and 

R-E.Ellison 150 acres of land and four slaves to be held in trust for his 

son Benoni H. (Benoney Hawley) and his issue. To his wife Ellen, he left 

the residue of his estate for her natural life. To his son Jonathan B. 

Robertson, he gave the old slave woman Hester with the admonition that he 

take good care of her his daughters Amanda and Melinda,he gave slaves. 

His daughter Cynthia was to share In the residue of his estate.He named 

his son Dr. Thomas T.Robertson ,hls son-in-law R.E.Ellison, and his nephew 

ll.Robc 22 his executor? . T 'cCanrs and 

R.:.Woodward witnessed the will. R.E.Ellison, writing from Camp Witherspoon, 

42 
nssr Georgetown, stated that he could not and would not serve as an executor. 

»e heirs ol William Roberts . were: his wife Ellen; his daughters 

Amanda(died unmarried), Harriet Malinda (married James Alexander Bookhart), 

Cynthia (married R.E.Ellison Li son Dr. Thomas T.Woodward, Benoney 

Hawley(Benoni H.), tfl athan Barnes Robertson. 

Amanda Robertson, daughter o: iam Robertson Jr,dled intestate 

in 1866. J.A. Bookhart,as her n*d« the staement that she 

had died on August 17,1866, and applied for letters of administration. These 

43 

^•re granted on October 1 ,1866. Dr. Gibson was her phvsician. 

42-F.P.c. Apt. 20(new)Pkg. 183,1863. 

43- lh_Mf Ape. 25(MV)flit 273, 1866. 
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BENNONEY HAWKKY ( vn<>n 1 H.) ROBERTSON , son of William Robertson Jr 

grandson of William Roberts* .was born on Januarv 1, 1814, and died May 17, 

y. His wife Amelia Dixon Robertson was born on February 2,1818, and died 

November They are buried in the churchvard of Bethel Methodist 

Church, lower Fairfield Countv. Several of their children are buried close; 

Jonathan B.Robertson ,died December 21,1860; Roxanna E. 

Robertson, born February b9 1858, died Januar nie Robertson, 

born Mary 2, 1660,dltd Tune 21, 1664, I irzie Robertson Nei I of William A. 

Neil, born November 20,1851, died September 6, 1898, was propbablv their 
44 

^hter. 

Harriet Malinda Robertson, wife of James Alexander Bookhart, daughter 

Robertson Jr. and sister of Bennoney Hawley Robertson, was born 

on J:nc * led on April 30,1930. She ia buried in the churchyard 

3andy Level Baptiat i near Blythevood. 

William Moore*, Nheriff of Fairfield District, gsve William Robertson Jr. 

a sheriffs title to 28 acres of land on Mill Creek,on January 1,1831, The 

land had belonged to and was sold at a sheriff's sale to satisfy 

an indebtedness to William Kincaid.Wil1iam Kincaid,acting as an agent for 

William Broom, bought the land for $10.Calb J.Broom and Thomas Harrison 

witnessed the deed. Howard Robinson, planter of Fairfield District, sold 

William Robertson 100 acres of land on Jackson Creek for $200,on November 23, 

Rhl have been the elder William Robertson,or even William 
46 

Jnson. 

•4- Tombstone inset irehyard , Bethel Methodist Church. 

45- F.D.B., Uk.HH- | , 

i8,1812. 
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On February 28, 1831, Kezlah and Bartholomew Austin sold William 

Robertson 50 acres of land on Mill Creek for $180. This land was part of 

the land belonging to the heirs of John Austin (deceased), and originally 

granted to Edward Watts: id to the northeast on land of William Hatcher, 

northwest and northeast on lai ward Robertson (Robinson),southwest 

by part of the nal grant, southeast and east by William Kincaid. 
47 

Rebeccah Austin signed her releaae on December 31,1831. 

Ham Robertson sold Samuel H.Yongue 30 acres of land on Shirley 

Branch,Jackson Creek, lor $600 ember 5,1831: bound bv the lands of 
48 

John P.Robertson, A.Robertson and Henry Moore. 

On December 24,1832, A.W.Yongue, Sheriff of Fairfield District, gave 

William Robertson a sheriff's title to 247 acres of land on Cedar Creek. 

This land had belonged to William Day before it was sold to William Robertson 

at a sheriff's sale on December $1262 J Thia land was bound 

by the lands cholas Wi Samuel Alston and William Robertson. B.(Bennonev) 
49 

Robertson and Win iam Shead(sic) were witnesses. 

Samuel Robinson, planter of Fairfield District, sold William Robertson, 

planter of the same district, 107 acres of Ian Pitman's Creek, Big Cedar 

Creek for $160.50, no Januarv is land was bound northeast and 

northwest on land of H.E.M k, aoutheaet and southwest on Samuel 

Robinaon, and being part of the Potherlngham grant. The land had been 
50 

resurveyed l,v M.A.M.Leggo D.S.on December 28,1828. 

4 9- , nt#nc,p«a 

[bJLiL Bk,KK,P-387 1833. 
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John H.Taylor and his wife Lavina(Turnipseed) sold William Robertson 

243% acres of land on Little Cedar Creek for $1339 on October 25,1834.This 

is part of the dower of the elder Katharine Turnipseed,and the whole 

of the distributive share of Lavina Turnipseed from the real estate of Jacob 

Turnlpeeed. Part of this land had,apparently, been conveyed to John H. Taylor 

by John Turnipseed. Alexr. B.Fetner ai ael Turnipseed witnessed the 

deed; Lavina Taylor signed her releaae. 

JONATHAN BARNES ROBERTSON, son of William Robertson Jr., grandson of 

William Robertson nherited an old slave from his father,but there is 

no record in hia father's will of a gift of land. On August 15,1833, Jonathan 

Barnes Robertson | 103 acres of land on Long Branch, Broad River,from 

Burr Harrison for $(> a tract was pa: estate #6 of General John 

Pearsontand the part dlvldtd cKeneie: bound northwest by the 

land of Robert McKennie, southeast by land leased to Joseph St 

northeast by land of Isaac Stanton (deceased), west by land of Elijah 

Willingham, and southwest by Jaroen M . Francis W.Harrison, wife of 

rr Harrison,signed her release. Jonathan B.Robertson bought more of the 

General John Pearson estate on November 21,1835, when he purchased 94% 

acres for $1 rom Robert McKennie. The land lay on Stanton Branch of 

Broad River ,and was the eastern part of a tract obtained by Robert McKennie 

from his father Johnston McKennie by inheritance: bound on the west by land 

*ob«rt P.McKennie that he had sold to Elijah Willingham, north by Thomaa 

and Jane Stantoi |heast and eaat by Jane Stanton's land,and on the 

*l- F.D.B. \9l |fl 
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south by the la Robert P.McKennie and Elijah Williangham. Charlotte 

Mc Kennle signed her release. 

BENONI H.(Hennoney Hawiey) ROBERTSON ,son of William Robertson(Jr. 

grandson of William Robertson Sr., was left four slaves and 50 acres of 

land by hia father.Hia son Dr ertson and his son-in-law 

53 
R.E.Ellison acted as trustees of the slaves and land for Benoni Robertson. 

B .H. f?„ennoney Hawes) Robertson bought 156 acres of land from James S.T. 

Alston for $1248 on May 6,1839. The land lav on (Litt le )Cedar Creek and was 

bound by the landa of Jesse N , Zach Wirick, Nicholas Wirick ,Jacob 

Wirick and William Robin." oberts 

JOR BENONI probably the eldest son of William Robertson Sr., 

made his will on October I . He died sometime before the death of his 

widow Ruth Ann on February 4,1853.To his wife Ruth Ann, he left the home, 

part of the home plantation for her lifetime, a number of slaves for her 

absolute poeeeaion^household and personal goods. She was to give his son 

James and daughter Sarah a bed and furniture. To his daughter Martha Matilda 

A s h : he left four slaves and some horses,to go to her children after 

her death.To his son John erteon; he left the slave named Reuben;to his 

son Joseph W.Robertson,he left a Negro woman named Louise and her children 

Quincy and George; to his son Jesse H.Robertson , he left the slave John | 

to his sot <obertson,he le >r slaves. To his daughter Sarah H. 

Robertson, he left a slave, a horse worth $100,and one-fourth of the livestock. 

52 - r.D.B,MuLL,eM u 

f.t.G. A p t . 2 0 ( n e w ) i j l e 
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To his son James O.Robertson, he left the residual of the home plantation 

1 «ose« slaves. To Thomaa Robertson, son of his deceased son Benoni, he lett 

a slave boy and girl to be inheried when he reaches 21 years of age. He 

red his plantation on the Wateree eold and $800 given to his daughter 

Sarah; $300 to his daughter Martha Matilda Ashford; and the remainder 

equally divided among his two faughters and the children of his deceased 

daughter Nancy Jones.Nancy Jones,wife of Henery Jones of Texas, had children 

who inherited slaves from thler grandfather. His wife Ruth Ann to select the 

books that she wanted and the remainder to be divided between his children 

Jamea and Sarah. His brother William(Jr.) and hia own sons,John, Thomas, and 

James Robertson were named his executors. 

Ruth A >ertson,widow of Benoni Robertson, died intestate. Her 

eldest son JohnM.Robertson stated that his mother had died on Feb: 4, 

1853, and applied for letters of administration on her estate. William 

Shedd,Joel Durham,John Harrison .C.Gayden and William Murphv were 
55 

appointed to appraise her estate. 

On August 13,1801, lienoni Robertson bought 162 acres of land from his 

father William Roberta* r $300.This land was part of a tract of land 

that had been granted to Thomas But lei eptember 30,1767, and lay on 

the headwaters M and Jackson Creekeibound southeast on John 

-rd, northwest on William Robertson , and southwest on General 

•'tires' land. He hree more trscts from his father for $300. The 

Wt tract of 113 acres had been granted to Benoni Hollev on April 6,1795, 

L.3, Bk.lt,r«9t0, 18 i\C. Apt. 100,file 499,1853. 
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tod lay on Crooked Run Creek: northwest by Benoni Holley,southwest by 

Stephen Eleazer.southeast by and, and northeast by Thomas May's land. 

The second tract contained 54 acres of land and had been granted to Benoni 

Holley on May 5, 1794, and was bound by the lands of Garrett Hendrix , Herman 

Wirey (Wir and Christian 1 ;»ger. The third tract was the complement of 

200 acres that had been granted James Mann on June 23, 1774, and was bound 

by the lands Stephen Eleazer, David McGraw,Nicholas Wirey(Wirick) and Geor 

Freshley. On April 20,1809, Benoni Robertson sold this total of 367 acres 

of land to Jacob Boney for $750. Apparently Jacob Boney was unable to pay 

C this land because Benoni Robertson,in an action against Jacob Bonev 

Harmon Wyrick (apparently Harmon Wyrick had signed a note with Jacob 

»ey),caused this property to be sold at a sheriff's sale on July 6,1812, 

and on May \$ received sheriff's titles to the land. Benoni Robertson's 

land on Crooked Run Creek now totaled 450 acrea,and on September 19,1812, 

he sold this land to Daniel Murff and Samuel Bookman. Ruth Ann, wife of 

Benoni Robertson, signed her release. 

James Cardens sold Benoni Robertson 102 acres of land on Wateree 

or $1530: bound on three sides by the land of Benoni Robertson and 

on the northeast by James Stevenson. The deed,signed on February 17,1819, 

*aa witnessed bv l(,hn Ford and Isaac Miller. Charity Cardens signed her 

release. 

David L.Adams, a factor of Charleston, on February 28,1817 sold 

Benoni Robertson ,Fairfield District, 200 acres of land at the time of 

• F # D k.'\l'-A,4, 1801. ,P-210,1809; Bk ,W,Pp .39,40,1813; 

Bk.V,P_ ll2 
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survey on September 29,17h7,wlth an adjoining 50 acres on Jackson Creek 
58 

r $500: surrounded at the time Q ;inal survey by vacant land. 

John W.Robertson, Sarah Robertson and Libby Robertson, children of 

-ge Robertson sold Benoni Robertson 119 acres on Jackson Creek for $952 

on Januar 1826. This land had been deeded to their grandfather William 
59 

Robertson on September 3,1808. 

On November ) t Ben bertaon sold James Rosborough Jr. 

58*s acres of land on the east side of Wateree Creek for $411. Osmund 

Woodward and M.A.M.Uggo witneased the deed.Major Benoni Robertson sold 

Ralph Jones 176 acres oi land on Dutchman's Creek for $2640 on Septe ber 30, 

I3« This land had been surveyed at the request of Major Benoni Robertson 

B hia son Jesse Robertson on February 2 5,1833, This land was part of 400 

acres that had been granted to Thomaa Charlton on December 4, 1771: bound 

northwest and east on Benoni Robertson and on the south by the lands of 

Captain Charnal Durham. Ruth Ann Robertson signed her release. On May 2, 

, he sold Edward 8<Palmer 282 acres of land on Dutchman's Creek 

f)00 and made up of tracts of land granted Thomas Charlton In 1771 and 
60 

1779. 

loben BeleBorttt, Muscogee C . Georgiara sold Benoni Robertson 

36 acres of land for $258 on November 25,1836. This land on Dutchman's 

Creek and was the undivided ninth part of a plantation of 331 acres: bound 

north by William Jones,northwest and south by Osmund Woodward, and on the 

•aat and north by Benoni Robertson. On Februar 1837, Benoni Robertson 

aold this land to William Jones for $360. Benoni Robertson sold Charles 

59-59-F.D.h 

-Ibid, Bk.MM 23,252,253. 
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Coleman Sr. 153 3/4 acres of land on a small branch of Wateree Creek and 

the first waters of Dutchman Creek for $2075 on October 31,1836. This tract 

was (aede up out of 400 acres of land granted Thomas Charlton on Februar 

1779, and out of 640 acres granted Robert Craig on Julv 4, 1791. Ruth Ann, 
61 

wife of Benoni Robertson signed her releaae. 

Benoni Robertson gave,in fee simple, a passage 30 feet wide across 

his land to his I r the use of the Fairfield Church on December 7, 

His family could me to use the spring. Abner Fant and William 

Jones witnessed the dec 

Benoni Robertson a «»d to sell off his land. On February 11, 

1837, he sold Nathaniel Ford 32S acrea of land on a small branch of 

Wateree Creek for M e land waa made up out of land granted to 

James Rutland and Robert Craig. D.H.Ruff and J* Pord witnessed the deed. 

On the same day, he sold John L.Ford 52k acres of land for $1306.25. This 

land made up out of land that had been granted Thomas Charlton and Robert 

Craig, and lay on Dutchman's Creek.On November 6,1838, he sold Nathaniel 

Pord Jr. 22 4/5 acres of land for $687.80 in this vicinity.henoni Robertson 

sold John McMaster a one-helf acre comer on his land lving on the main 

The 1822 tax return* for Fairfield District showed Mejor Benoni 

Robertson as the owner of 2194 acres of land and 32 slaves. 

J< was the eldest son of Major Benoni and Ruth Ann 

Robertson and the grandson of William Robertso: He made his will on 

November 17, .,,„! ,, w a g p r o v # n o n October 5, 1857. He left all of his 

^-P.D.B.Bk.MM.Pp.. J.183*. 

6 2" Lkid_,_ Bk.MM.i 

liiii, Bk.MM.i'.- 191,39?. N,P110,1838;Bk.KN,P-398,18 
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estate intact for his wife Martha Prearson Cook Robertson and his son Nathan 

Cook Robertaon. His brother Thomas G.Robertson to inherit after his wife 

and son if Nathan leaves no heirs. 

J.(John) M.Robertson was born in 1806 and died on September 28,1857. 

His wife Martha Pearson Cook Robertson was born in 1805 and died 

November 6, 187r). Thay were buried in the churchyard of Bethel Methodist 

Church In lower Fairfield County.Next to them is an unmarked grave and 

then the grave of Laura E.Robertson, probably a daughter, who was born in 

1830 and died on Januai 1856. 

Nathan Cook for the love, affection, and for other considerations, 

gave John M.Robertson and his wife Martha Cook Robertson 156 acres of 

land ne»«r i mv#>r *2: bound northwest bv Thompson Mavo, 

north by James E.KlUins, eaat by Burrell B.Cook and south by Nathan Cook. 

66 
Christiana, wife of Nathan Cook, signed her release. 

On Julv Z3i 1832, James Elkins and his wife Sarah sold John M. 

Robertson,for $36, a tract of land that Sarah Elkine had inherited from 

General John Pearsoi .Cook sold .Robertson 20 acres of 

land on Dunklln(sic) Creek for $170 on November 11,1831. This land had 

been divided off from a tract recently bought by Burrell B.Cook from 

John Pope Cook to whom lt had been conveyed bv his father Nathan Cook. Nat! 

Cook had bought the lai • the heirs of John Long,and part of the land 

had been bought by Nathan Cook from General John Pearson. Silas Ruff was 

Justice of the Peace for the trans.. and Mary Honoma Cook,wife of 

Burrell B.Cook signed her release. 

^'.F.C.Apf . IU, I Hi ! 

ravemarkers, Bethel Methodist Churchyard. 

.KK,P1 \2. 
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er7,1829, sold John M.Robertson these 

trscts of land for $211Bl his Uvisive share of 107 acres of land inherited 

M Jacob >seed;the divisive share of 60 acres of land on Mary Barbara 

Turnipseed; 72 acres that fel atherine Turnipseed Jr.;and 1 res of 

land that repreaented the dower of Katharine Turnipseed (deceased). These 

tracts of land total: 3 acrea lay on Little Cedar Creek. A grave veard 

waa excluded. Sueannah (Susan) ,wife of Michael Turnipseed,signed her 

rleaee. John M.Robertaon aold Phillip D.Cook(Cooke) 350 acres of land on 

Little Cedar Creek for $2250 on Januai X32. This was probablv the land 

that he had bought from Michael pseed,and was bound on the north by the 

land of Nicholas Wi> Mil bv Millar and lands of John Tavlor, west ; 

lands of Jesse I iH wir amson ana Jonn 

Stanton were witnesses to the sale. Martha P.Robertson signed her release. 

lUthan Cook, on Marc 1840, for the love that he had for his 

grandson Nathan Cook Robertaon, son 0 Martha Pearson Cook 

Robertson, left him in | rust wir hertson I ind a Negro 
69 

girl. They were the chiMren ol his Negro woman Molly. 

J A M E S ,son of Benoni Robertson and grandson of William 

Robertson Sr.,made his will on August 24,185?and it was proven on September 5, 

1852. He left his sister Sarah H.Robertson a his real estate including 

that portion that hia father had passed to his mother Ruth Ann Robertson, and to 

passed on to him after her death. His nephew James O.Robertson,son of 

68- P.D.B.,Kk.H! s 3 2 # 
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his brother Jesse, to have and to ' ils gold watch when he gets old 

enough to use it.The rest of his estse to be divided into eight parts and 

given to the !nhn M, Jesse. Thomas G. Robertson,all his brothers; 

to his nephew James O.Robertson; to his mother Ruth Ann Robertson; and to 

his sister Martha Matilda Aehford; and to the children of his deceased 
70 

sister Nancy Jones. His brother Thomas C.Robertson was made his executor. 

Apparently, he ha.l I1(, wile or children. 

THOMAS * -'111 lam Robertson Sr., made his 

will on December 29,1855, and it was proven on January 12, 1864. His wife 

Eliza to have the kitchen furniture, certain other household items, and to 

continue to live In the home. The residue of his estate to be divided among 

"J"'> i ighcer 

Martha C.Rabb. His son w n n . i m H.Robertson and h i s s o n - i n - l a w Eber A.Rabb 

were named h i s e x e c u t o r s . James B.McCants, O.R.Thompson and : Cants 
71 

wi tnessed the wii 

On June 26,1 0 « . g a v # h i s daughter Harr ie t , w i fe of Thomee 

Robertson, for $1 and the love and a f f e c t i o n that he had for her ,170 acres 

of land on Thomtree and Dutchman Creek,Wateree River. This land was bound 

by the lands •M,tltthftrd Harrison,Jacob Davis Whittaker and 
72 

Anderson Roche l l e . 

Robert Thompson a omas Robertson 288 acres of land on Big and 

f t t l e Dutchman Creeks for $4320 on M« ,1818 . This land had been so ld 

1-395,1852. 

1" f M6A. 
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to Robert Thompsoi Tickett on March 12,1813: bound north and 

northeaat by John Stark;southeaat bv John Tidwell and Rachel Griffin; west 
73 

and southwest by Gardner Ford,Abner Ross,J< irr and Moses Boulware. 

Thomaa Davia sold Thomas Robertson 9 acres of land for $22.50 in 

September 1818;belng part of 400 acres of land that had been granted to 

Andrew McDowH 1 ()M January 5,1795, and laying adjacent to the above land. 

John Harrison sold Thomaa Robertson 6 acres of land on the drains of 

Dutchman Creek for $100 in L626, Phis land was made up out of the land that 
74 

had been granted Alexander McDowell and Jesse Havis. 

William Robertson,the elder, on January 13, 1820, gave his son 

Thomas Robertson the choice of a Negro woman named Charlotte and her seven 

weeks ch • gro man H *2*. Is no 

record of the choice made by Thomas Roberts 

The 1822 Tax Returns for Fairfield *v. er Districts show Thomas 

Robertson aa the owner of 475 acres of land and twentv slaves. 

Thomas Robertson,on August 1,1831, signed a bond for the penal sum of 

$5000 (usually twice the actual sum) with A.D.Jones and Robert Cathcart ae 

his endorsers. To secure his endorsers, Thomas Robertson gave them a 

mortgage on the 300 acres of land that he had purchaaed from Robert 

Thompson and on aeveral slaves. Robert Cathcart gave him a receipt for the 

final payment of the note on May 20,1833. 

F.D.B. ,P-538, 

MJ * 1826. 

\P-95, 

7*- Ifcid. Bk.KX 23. 
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In 1833, Thomas Robertson signed a $10,000 note with the President 

and Board of Directors of the Bank e State of South Carolina. He gave 

a mortgage on the 288 acres of land that he had purchaaed from Robert 

Thompson, and a mortgage on the 170 acres of land that Abner Roas had 

given Thomaa Robertaon and his then wife Harriet. He finished paving off 
77 

this note on A; , m be noted from the will of Thomas 

Robertson that his wife waa named Eliza, n this tranaction it will be 

noticed that Thomas Robertaon acknowledged Harriet ,daughter of Abner Ross 

as hlsMth«n wife'.' Thomas Robertaon was married at least twice: to Harriet 

and then to Eliza. 

MAKTHA }l lughter ( t>ertson and granddaughter of 

William Robertson Sr.. was bom September 2.1823. and died on May 29,18^ 

She married Eber A.Rabb, |< omaa A.Rabb and Massie Smith Rabb. 

JUDGE WILLIAM R. ROBERTSON, son of Thomas Robertson and grandson of 

William Robertson ||-.t married Elizabeth Rabb, sister of Eber Rabb and thev 

had the following children: 

1-Eber Robertson, born April 3,1847, killed in the Confederate 

Army on September 24,1864. 

2- Edward Robertson, born December 27,1849, and died young. 

"homes Ross Robertsoi D April 24,1849, married Cora 

meton .daughter of Colonel Johnston, Charlotte,N.C., died July 25,1922. 

HEIIRY ROBEi probable son of James Robertson and grandson of 

nry Robertson, received a power-of attorney, Auguat 25, 1825, for Elizabeth 

77~ p.D.B.,Bk LL,P-12,1833. 

***** Logrphloal fetches, Pp-48,49. 
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Williams and her son Thomaa Williams of Mercer County, Kentucky. She was 

the daughter ol Htnry »nd Elizabeth Robertson, both deceased. Hem 

Robertson was empowered to act on her behalf in the settlement of her 

parent's estate. Henry Robertson passed this power-of attorney on to 
79 

James Robertson on November 6,18: 

ALEXANDER ROBERT brother I n and one of the earliest 

settlers on Jackson Creek, was probably a brother of Henry and possiblv 

Captain William Roberts. Me made his will on January 25,1796, and it 

was proven on April To his wife Margaret,he left the home plantation, 

farm tools ,animals and Negroes for her suppo: ing her widowhood. To his 

son John, he left the 100 acrea of land that he had purchased from Andrew 

cron and two clavea. To hir son Alexar.de I *CT* 

the McClelland tract .To hla son Jospeh, he left the home place. His youngest 

son Simon to have the remainder of the McClelland tract. His daughter Jane 

Moore already had 100 acres of land laid out for her from the McCleeland 

tract. He left a slave to sac' his daughters:Juliana Colwell, Elizabeth 

and Margaret Robertson. >imonCameron,James and David Hamilton were named 
80 

his executors.. Adam Robinson and Henry Akeson(sic) witnessed the will. 

Hugh McKec*m was made guardian of John and Alexander Robertson on 

July 18,1799. He handed this o Simon Cameron on September 4,1801. 

On* pound, 2 shillings and 9 pence was paid to James Kennedy in 1801 for 

clothee that he had made for the 1 1811, Alexander M 
81 

Joaeph Robertson signed abond for Alexander Robertson as Simon1guardian. 

79- '•»'B.9BkJK,I«244,ltZ3« 

80-F.W.B.,Vc,i .l,Bk2,P-8h :., Apt 6, fllel96, 

., Apt. 29,files 433,443. 
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Alexander Cameron sold Alexander Robertson 100 acres of land on a 

small bramch of Little River for 28 pounds,11 shillings,5 pence,sterling, 

on June 7,1786. This land had been granted to Samuel Dock on October 18, 
82 

1782. Apparently Alexander Robertson bought the McClelland place,also. 

The eons of Alexander Robertson bought and sold land on Little River 

but th* records are so confused as to make it impossible to make an 

accurate record. 

The Revolutionary War Records of the Robertsons are not complete. William 

Robertson, often referred to ss Captain William Robertson(Sr.) in later 

records, had no record ae an officer in the Revolutionary War, but a William 

Robertson waa paid runds, 4 shillings,3 pence, sterling, for service 

before and after the fall of Charleston,in the militia. Henrv Robertson 

served in Captain Parrot's Company, Colonel Richard Winn's Regiment. In 

May 1781, he served 16 days as a private foot soldier; in August 1781, he 

•erved 7 days aa a private of horse in the militia. On July 15,1781, he 

supplied 15 buahels of oats to a detachment of General Sumter's Brigade 

under Colonel Henry Hampton. He was paid 3 pounds, 4 shillings, 4 pence, 

•terling lor bis militia service n Robertson served 90 days as Captain 

of Foot Soldiers, Colonel Goodwyn's Regiment,from February 20 to May 20,1779. 

n i/ol, he served as a private horseman in Captain Frazier's Company. He 

also supplied com, beef, and hogs to the troops. For his military service 

and supplies, he was paid 42 pounds, 17 shillings, l\ pence,sterling. Aa a 

lieutenant, he cv ,d Lewie Pope's service as a horseman in Captain 

Fra - • 8 3 

azier s Company. John Irapp serve :aptaln Robertson's Company. 

8'^- F-D.i J'-I/VJ 

83-Rev. War Records. 
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I INSONS 

According to General .11 S.Woodward, his great grandmother, the 

mother of his grandfather Captain Thomas Woodward, married a Mr Robinson 

after the death of her first husband Thomas Woodward. She had two sons ; 

Robinaon: John and William Robinson. A good many years prior to the 

Revolutionary War, Captain Thomas Woodward brought his mother and his half 

brother John and William Robinson to South Carolina. The old ladv was said 

84 
to live in Fairfield County to the age of 114 vears. It is reasonable to 

escribe one branch of the Robinson family to these half brothers of 

Captain Thomas Woodward: John and William Robinson. 

JOHN I limd 100 acres of land laid out for him on Little River, 

of Broad River, and the plat certified fa • Pearson D.S., on December 22, 

>ome five years later 18,1767, he had a second 100 acres of land 

laid out for him on Little Rive: Ihwest on Leslie Bell and on all 

other sides by vacant land. His third land survey waa for 200 acres on 

Jackson Creek,and the plat certified by Robert Ellison D.S. on November 25, 

1771.This tract of land was t west on Drurv Austin, southeast by 

Samuel Weldon, southwest by John Robinson and partially vacant land. The 

fourth survey was !or 100 acres of Ltt rley Branch,by Robert Ellisom D.S., 

January 10,177 3. This land was bou: rheast on John Robinson, southeast 

on John Robinson Jr.,southwest on John Ewing, and northwest on John 

Ellens. 

W d , Reminiscences,P-143. 

'«tVol»20,P»] -73, 
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John Robinson died intestate ilrfield County late in 1793 or 

in 1794. On Tuesday,January 14,1794, the County Court of Fairfield 

noted the return of the cltaM n Robinson deceased,and ordered 

letters of adminlstratl. r Hannah and John Thomas Robinson.(wife and 

son?).The court ordered the sale of perishable goods within a period of 

86 
twenty days. There Is very little evidence for the family of John 

Robineon except that he apparently had two sons, John(Thomas) and Alexander (Sr.) 

It is possible that he had other sons, James, Samuel and William. 

On January 13, 1787, Alexander Robinson Jr. and his wife Agnes sold 

Richard Gladney the 100 acres of Isnd out of the 200 acres on Shirley 

Branch that had been granted John Robinson In 1767, and passed to Alexander 

Robinaon , 

A L £ X A , probably the son of John Robinson of the 

Jackson Creek -Little River area, made his will on April 20,1820, and it 

was proven on May :< , l. . . io his wife Nancy, he left the home plantation 

of 460 acres,six Negroes, farm equlpement, 1ivestock.and household goods for 

her use during her lifetime. After the death of his wife's his estate to be 

sold and the money .led among his | ames,Peggy, Alexander, 

emuel Y.,Wlliiam, Hn lam and Jane. (Probably in descending order of age). 

amuel Y.Robinson, Samuel Bonner and John Archer were named his executors. 

Jemes Kennedy Jr., Samuel Robinson and John Robinson witnessed the will. At the 

time of the settlement of the estate In 1828, the widow Nancy had married 

Mai- K 8 8 

natthev Broom and Jane had married Littleton Bell 

86~ Holcomb, Minutes Fairfield Countv Court, P-90. 

87-P.D.B.,Kk.K,P-, 

88-P.W.B.,V, c Apt.30,file 643,1820. 
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Alexander Robinson had 100 acres of land surveyed for him on Jackson 

Creek and the plat certified ,tm on December 10,1772: bound northeast 

on lands of Alexander Robinson,southeast on Richard Winn, northwest and 

west on Hamilton land.On Mar. . W.Boyd D.S., surveyed 30 acres for 

Alexander Robinson on Littlt Rlvfv | bv the lands of John Gill,Alex 

Robinson ,and vacant land. A e more than two years later,on May 7, 

91' A1< , planter, gave this land to his granddaughter 
89 

Jane Sterling Moore. 

John Stedman sold sold Alexander Robinson 400 acres of land on a branch 

of Little River,March 7,1784, for 21 pounds,15 shillings, sterling. Anne 

1. of John Stedman signed her release. On August 14, 1786, Alexander 

Robertson and wife Agnes sold Alexander Robins- the lower 200 acres of 

thl8 90 a C t ° f *°° *cr,t-Thli land h*d b«« n granted to John Stedman on June 

1769. 

J 0 S E P M • inherited this 200 acres of land from his father 

Alexander Robinson Sr.,I it to John Williams for 

$300.Alexander Robinson Jr. sold John Cameron the upper 200 acres out of 

the tract of 400 acres that he had bought from John Stedman for $300,on 
91 

March 19 ,1803 . 
W I L L I A M <»ptember 21 ,1814 , so ld Alexander Robinson 100 

cres of land ( i n acres by l a t e r survey) on Cedar Creek .west s ide of the 

ighway t o Chariest h l i land was part of 500 acres of land granted 

o l - 2 0 » p " 1 Index 1, V o l . l S q , P-216 ,1789 .F .D.B . ,Bk .E ,P-126 . 

F.D.B. , Bk.A. l ' - . 'o ] • 1886 

9 l - I b i d , Bk.X,P-12, WI* ) 3 > 
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to Willi lnson on March 79 1803: bound northest on lands of James 

Hambleton; west on Alexander Roberteon(Robinson?), east and northeast on 
92 

William Robinson. 

HUGH Y. ROBINSON, son oi Alexander Robinson Sr.,grandson of the 

first John Robinson, bought from Samuel Y.Robinson and John Austin, acting 

ae executors of the estate of Alexander Robinson Sr.,269 3/4 acres of land 

for $462.50, in Octobei his land was made up out of parts of these 

tracts of land: 640 acres granted Jeremiah n Mav 1,1792;148 acres 

granted James Hambleton on May 7,1792; 111 acres out of 500 acres granted 

William Robinson on March 7,180 is land lay on the drains of Cedar 

Creek and fheast snd southeast on lands of James and Samuel 

Bonner, northwest and southwest on lands of Benjamin Hodges. Daniel Smith 

was Juatice * Peace and James Kennedv Justice of the Quorum for this 
93 

tranaction. 

SAMUEL Y. | >N, son of Alexander Robinson Sr. and grandson of 

the first John Robinson, M is brother William secured a note due 

Samuel Gree: February 17,1822, and gave a mortgage on 100 

acres on Cedar Creek known as the Raiford place and a mill site purchased 
94 

from Phillip Schaffer (Shaver?). 

John Kennedy, Robert W.Craig and James Craig, Fairfield District, on 

July 26,1826, sold Samuel Y.Robinson,for $200, their interest in a tract of 

land on Cedar Creek that had been granted James Craig: bound southeast and 

92- P.D.B.,Bk.W,|»-. U . 

M,P-269,1827. 

£, Bk.EE,P-149,1822. 
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and northeast on the U N Lewis Hagood, north on land of James Bonner, 

northwest and southwest on land of John Bonner and Means Milling. On 
9 5 

October 13,1827, Samuel Y.Robinson sold this land to Daniel Smith for $200. 

WILLIAM ROBINSON, s. Alexander Robinson Sr. and grandson of the 

first John Robinson, apparently died Intestate prior to April 19,1824, the 

date his administrative bond was signed for his brother and business 

partner Samuel Y.Robinson.He apparent '-d unmarried and without children. 

His heirs were his brothers and slsters:Hugh Y. Alexander Jr., Samuel Y., 

Matthew Broom and wife Nancy, Littleton Kelly and wife Jane. His brothers 

James and Adam were not mentioned at the time of the settlement of the 
96 

estate end were probably dead or had moved out of stste. 

.son of Ale:: JtM .c hie 

father's will made In 1820, but his brother's will made In 1829, and 

it muet be assumed that he had died or moved out of the cour 

Jamea Brown,wi11 I am Boyd and Mary Alston, Fairfield District, sold 

James Robinson lot number 42 on Washington St,near the church, in the town 
97 

of Winnsborough on Mar 1804. Is probable that James Robinson 

went to Georgia with his brother Adam. 

ADAM ROBINSON, son of Alexander Robinson Sr., grandson of the 

•erlleat John Robins., ,,r to April 9,1822, the date his brother 

lexander Robinson h . was eppolnted his administrator. He had no personal 
98 

property in Fairfield Dletrlc 

95-P.D.B.,Bk.II,Pp.l9,20,1826,1827. 

P-C., Apt. f2,j lit 

''•».,Bk.N,P525,18< 

9 8 - P . P . C . , A P ( ,30,J I Lt •'.< 2. 
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On December 27,1797, William Owen, a blacksmith of Fairfield County 

sold Adam Robinson lot number 47 on Congress Street in the town of 

Winnsborough!..r 30 pound*. Adam Robinson sold this lot to William Paul 
99 

for $95 on April 8, 18<> 

Thomas Ha- tgaged a twelve year old black mare, a cow, a calf 

and a two year old heifer to Adam Robinson for $45 on January 21,1802. 
100 

Thomas Owens was a witness. 

Minor Winn sold Adame Robinaon, a blacksmith, a lot on the southside 

of Washington St.,Winnsborouy $100 In October 1802. On March 18,1809, 

Adam Robinson sold William McCreight the half -acre lot on the corner of 

Vanderhost and WnhinKton Streets for $300. Ma: e of Adam Robinson, 

signed her release. 

By Januarv 11, Adam Robinson had gone to Jones County, Georgia 

and from that place,on that date, sold John Wilaon,William Wilson and 

James Wilson the follovl acts of land for $700: 97 acres out of a 

tract granted John Robinson on Jsckson Creek; 70 seres of land originally 

granted John Gladney and Drury Austin; 81 acres granted Adam Robinson on 

Jackson Creek, March 5, 1795. 

J 0 H N A h nade his will in 1816 and It was proven In 1828. 

He appointed his wife Margaret , his brother- - aw John Martin ,and the 

blacksmith Robert Martin as his executors.He left his wife the home 

•,Hk.N,P-512. .N,P- I. 

100-Ibid. Ht.0,1 

lf;l-Ibld, fc.0,1 T-156, 1809. 

102- ••t.vtoi« I , . .4i3ti7«) 
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plantation in Fairfield and In 'hester Dls . There was no mention 

ren. We don't know who he wa>. m do know that he was a man 

with a violent temper. Samuel Y. and William Robinson signed a peace bond 

»e security for the penal sum of $1 or John Alexander Robinson against 

the citizens of this stae and his wife Margaret. John A.Robinson put up a 

ten year old slave girl as security for the peace bond. Apparently,he 

continued to have trouble with his wife Msrgaret.because in 1822, he placed 

in trust with his brother-in-law John Martin the 85 acres of land where 

*»•»- John A.Martin lives, but with the stipulstlon that he and his wife 
103 

have full use of the place as long as they"llve together as man and wife." 

The signing of the peace bond by Samuel Y. and William Robinson suggests that 

Poblnaon might have be«n their brother ana the son ot Alexander 

Robinson Sr. 

J 0 H N '' B August 31 ,1832, in the 77th year of his 

age and la burled in the Old Stone Churchyard (Lebanon) was possible the 

•on of the oldest John KoMnson of this region. His wife Sarah P.Robins, 

»»• b o m on June I. lp,nd dl-d December 18,1840. She Is buried bv his 
l M 

aide. They had a son John Robins 

"»• separation oi these severa . Robinsons cannot be made from the 

vallable to me, but a reasonable separation and identification 

often be made when the records are carefully studied. John Robinson,the 

Che eerlieat John Robinson,Is most often the subject of this stu< 

but other Join, Robinsor ns can sometime be Identified. 

• C , Apt. 63, file 963.182H.F.D . EX, P-52 ;Bk .DD.P-217,1822 . 

°4" Grave stones,Old Stone (Lebanon) Churchvar 
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John Robinson and his wife Rachel.on February 25,1794, sold John 

Hancock 100 acres of land on the northslde of Broad River that had been 

granted John Robinson on November 7,1785: bound southeast on Josep h Serine: 

notheaet on Henry Hartin, northwest on George Hancock and southwest on the 

Broad River. 

J*mm* (and foi 1 I I utler sold John Robinson 107 acres of land in the 

forks of Cameron Creek for $300 on November 17,1806. This land was part of 

600 acres that had been granted Thomas Colvill in August 1785, and transferred 

to Davii Hopkins on February 1, ind to James Butler on September 1,1787. 

The land lay south oi t \n> road to Chester Courthouse,and was bound by the 

lands od Moses Hi 11,Seaman Butler and Robert Wilson.John Robinson sold 

this 107 am*R ni land CO Jamee Wei $350 on September 10,1810. Lucrecv 

106 
(sic),wife of James Butler signed her release. 

Edward Mobley Sr.f planter Faifield District, sold John Robinson 200 

acres of land, July 17,1808, gor $1200. s tract of land was made up out 

of 100 acres on Bowers Mill CreekLittle River, that had been granted William 

Hill Jr. on June 25,1771: hound northwest on John Halsey, north on William 

Hill Sr.,and on all other sides by vacant land; and.alao, out of a tract 

that had been conveyed to Semuel Mobley Sr. by William Hill Jr. and by 

Samuel Mobley Sr. to Edard Mobley Sr. on January 10,1795. John Robinson 

•old this land to Thomas Coveen of Chester District for $600 on December 26, 

1812. 

l05-F.D.B.,Bk.IfP.O32, I 

106-lbld^ Hk.^,1. 1 8 1 0. 

lrj7"^lL N..S,F-U5,U<ft| « \ -295,1812. 



p-l Chapter 3 

: the Broad River 

Ie Cedar Creek 

On May 26,1809, John Robinson Sr. (son of the earlier John Robinson 

sold Archibald Paul one hi • tract of land on Dumper's Creek, 

originally granted to M.Dumper and containing 100 acres. James Rogers and 
108 

David Camack witnessed the sale. 

Jemes Butler sold fohfl Roblson(slc) 100 acres of land on Lick Branch, 

on the southeast fork o! I.ft tie River,for $156 on October 18,1804.This 

land made up in part out of 600 acres grsnted Thomas Colville on August 1, 

1785; and out of a tract o: acres gcsited James Butler on May 1,1784. 

John Robinson sold this land to James Brice for $339 on October 8,1810. 
109 

Lucres la Robinson signed the release of her dowr 

John Robinson sold Robinson(Robertson?) 100 acres of land for 

0 o n -January i0,1815. Tnls land was part oi acres ot land that had 

been granted Margaret >m,and by h« veyed to her son John Bigham, 

and by him conveyed to Jemes Russell ,then to Samuel Mobley,then to John 

Mobley an.l finally to John Robinson on Ju! 1814. This land lay on 
11 

Hill branch,Little Rive: 

John Robinson :;r., planter Fairfield District, on September 8,1815, 

sold John Robinso. - acres of land on Shirley Branch, Jackson Creek, 

or $200.This land on Jackson Creek had been granted to the earliest John 

Roblneon and was left to his two sons, John and Alexander. Alexander 

RnM 1 U 

ineon h a d *lreedy Sold hil portion to Richard Gladney on Januarv 13,1787. 

,Bk.S,P-2l3,1809. 

109-lbld, ,1**16, 

HO- Ibid, Bk.w | 1815. 

U l -' , 11 .P-455, 1787. 

^is is proof that the eerllest John Robinson had two sons, John Jr., 

at«r to be kn,,wn as John ir.,.M.,i Alexander Robinso; 
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John Robinson sol>! Thomas Pol ley 150 acres of land on a smell branch 

of Little River ,n December 22, 1806. 

ison sold John Robinson Sr. 100 acres of land for $100 on 

on June 22, 1821. This land made up out of parts of two original land grants: 

100 acres originally to John Robinson Jr.(now Sr) on August 31,1774, and 

bound at the time of the original survey northeast, northwest and southeast 

on John Ewing, and southwest by John McMullen; a second tract originally 

granted John Robinson Sr. on Jackson Creek, and bound northwest by John 

Robinson Jr.,and on all other aides b m Robinson Sr. Elizabeth, wife 

of Samuel Robinson, signed her releese. 

William Robinson sol obinson 50 acres of land for $200 on 

*mber 5,1826. This lend was r •• 

been granted John Robinson in hn Robinson had sold this land to 
1 14. 

William Robinson ,„, October 10,180 

On April 10,1827, John Robinson Sr. sold Jemes P.Robinson 100 acres 

of land on a branch of Jackson Creek 600. 

On April K „ o n B o s€i Robinson 140 acres oi' 

land on Jackson Creek | 00: bound by the lands of John Wilson,John 

Robinson Jr.,Wnilam Weldon and James P.Robinson. This land was part of I 

fglnally granted James McMullen and John Robinson. 

John Robinson Sr. sold John Robinson Jr, 83 acres of land on Shirlev 

"ranch, Jackson Creek $550 on April 17,182 7. 

112-p-&.B.,Bk.Y,P-178,1806. 

•'-3. 

:"x '• >.F.D.B.,Bk.HH-l,P-110,1826;Bk.HH-2,P-339,1803. 

115- ?.D.B.,Bk.llH-i, i-142,1828. 

XUm Ifett. Hk.HH-l,l'-.Mi,l827. 
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Joeeph Shelton, Laurens District, sold John Robinsor res of 

land on McClure's Creek,.Jul v El11890, !or $2140. Alexander W. and Minor 

Robinson witnessed the sale. John Robinson sold William Coleman 254% acres 

out of this tract of l.» 1.01 on January 15,1833. This land was made 

up out of two separate tracts; 100 acres granted Henry Funderburg, and 150 

acres that had been granted Ephraim Mitchell in 1773. Lucv, wife of John 

Robinson, signed her release. 

John Lucy Robinson(sic), wile ol John Robinson, together with 

Alexander W. Robinson(a ml enjarain Cockrell and wife Eliza, Harriet 

wife of Hardy Chapman (deceased), and Amelia Robinson, all living heirs of 

John and Lucy Robinson, sold Robert F.Coleman the Negro girl Re ibout 

118 
21 yeare of age, for $450 on January 19,1831. TM« thi 

living heirs of John and I m y Robinao 

Samuel Robertson Robinson 149 acres of land 

23.50 in Januai . s land came out of 1000 acres that had been 

granted Alexander Potherlngham, and out >2 acres granted Ezekiel Hay 

on June 4, 1797 la land was located on Wolf Pit and Pitman Branch of 
l L9 

Big Cedar Creek. 

John F. Debardelaben .Chester Distr ^old John Robinson ,Fairfield 

District, 100 acres of land for $250 on December 28,1833. This land lay on 

Little River where George Nolan Mnow livesM: bound by lands of John Robinson 

the north, south and west by lands of James Brice, and east by land of 

117- F.D.B., Bk.HH-/,I>-. 33. 

U8- Ibid. Hk.KK H31. 

U9-ibld_, Bk.KKtP-386, 
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120 
Samuel Banks. Clarissa, wife of John F. Debardelaben,signed her release. 

John Robinson sold Matthew Weir 50 acres of land on Hill Branch of 

Little River >600 on April 10,1834. Lucretla Robinson signed her 
121 

release . 

Ellas C.Lightner sold obinson two tracts of land for $3755 on 

November 22, lr lt tract contained 250 acres of land and was known 

*• thm Healing Spring Tract . It had been purchased by Ellas C.Lightner 

from John Roger, and was bound north by the land of Robert Wilson, east by 

the land of Jonathan Davis and the road from Buckhead to Columbia, on the 

south by the Methodist Camp Meeting Ground and Margaret Mores(Moores), and 

on the southwest by Hugh Stevenson. The second tract contained 126 acres, 

leas one-half acres for a graveyard, and was known as the Peter Dawkins 

place. It had been granted to Peter Eaetc 17bl. Elizabeth B.,wife of 

Ellas Lightner signed her release. John Robinson sold the 250 acres to 
122 

William A.Mart 0. 

On December 25, John Robinson for the natural love and 

affection that he had for his daughter Margaret, wile of Edward Shannon, 

gave her a Negro woman named Rachel and a Negro girl named Cathy, aged 

11 or 12 years. 

John Robinson sold John A,Robinson 307 acres of land on Little River 

tor $2 500 on November 12,1836. 

°*t of the land transaction were made by John Robinson Sr.,but he died on 

31, 1832, so any transaction after that was his son or another 

1 9
0 n n o R o b l n a < ) 

" 0 - P . D . B . , k J L ^ m 

« 1 - F.D. | 4 < 

1 2 2 - I b i d , Bk.MM,P-., . N N , P - 1 9 8 , 1 8 3 9 

123 (fefjj H )4# 

j ^ U i L Bk.NN 
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WILLIAM ROBINSON SR 

LLIAM ROBINSON SR. was a contempora Alexander Robinson and 

John Robinson :>r. BOi t have been their brother. He was too young to 

have been a brother of the earliest John Robinson,and probably too young 

to have been the half brother of Captain Thomas Woodward and to have come 

from Virginia with Capt Woodward's mother,Mrs Robinson. William Robinson 

died In Fairfield District S34 at the age of 74 years. His wife 

Martha died on May 10,1839, and is buried by his side in the churchyard 

of the 0-[d Stone (Lebanon) CL William Robinson Sr. died intestate and 

letters of administration given to his sons William C and Moses H. Robinson 

on July 12,1834. The division of his property was carried out on December 17, 

1834, and the \ < r* named- the v M s SCO**AroMbeld P 

William C,James C.,Alexander,and Moses H. Robinson; his daughters, Elizabeth Y., 

Margaret P., and Nancy Matilda Robinson,Sarah Kilpatrick,Margaret (Maria: 

Ferrel; and the children of his deceased id 

Martha P.Robinson, widow of Willisn Robinson Sr., made her will on 

Narch 28,1838. She died on May 10,1839. In her will she made her son William C. 

binaon her executor and le | her undivided one-third of the home 

P U c e she lived. In the listing of her heirs, no mention was made 

er son Alexander or daughter Margaret. Margaret Robinson died on 

*? ,1837, at the age of 27 years,9 months and 7 days,and is buried in 
125 

the churchyard of the Old Stone 

' P'P-C-. APt. 63,file | t | Vol.2,Bk.l8,P-23.F.P.C.,Apt.64, 

fll« 985,1839. 
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William Robinson Sr. had a plat for 284 acres of land on the "drains 

of Sedar(sic) CreekM,Broad River, certified on March 5,1803: bound on one 

side by the land ol William Robinson and on all other sides by vacant land. 

On the same day, he had a plat for 500 acres of land certified for him 

on Mthe drains of Sedar Creek called Cowhead Branch'1:bound by the lands of 

William Drury,Alexander Robinson,Sam Robison(sic) and James Hambleton. On 

May 19,1821, he had 63 acres of land laid out for him on the"drains of 

Cedar Creek", Broad River: bound southeast and northeast on the estate of 

James Craigf Qulnton Craig and H and northwest on William 
126 

Robinaon. The road to Bonners runs across this land. 

On September :i, Winiam Robinson sold Alexander Robinson(his 

son?) 100 acres of land on Cedar Creek for $100. The land lay west of the 

highway to Charleston and was part of the 500 acres granted William 
127 

Robinaon Sr. In 1803. 

John Robinson sold William Robinson 270 acres of land on Jackson 

Creek for $200 on October L0,lt09, William Robinson Sr. sold John 

Robinson 50 acrea of this land for $200 on December 5, 1826. Moses and 

Archibald Robinson were witnesses. William Robinson sold 54k acres of land 

out of the 270 acres to Henry Moore for $436 on January 2,1831. Martha 

Robinaon signed her release. 

William Robinson sold much of the 500 acres of land on Cowhead Branch 

of Cedar Creek to his sons. On Pebruar ^30, he sold Alexander Robinson 

126,S.P. I n d e x -,!7,1803;Vol.47,P-27,1821. 

127- F.D.B.,Bk.W,P-2 

128-Ibid, Bk.HH-2,P-331 H-l ,r-U0,1826; Bk .HH-2 ,p-340,1831 
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117 acres of land for $200. On the •am day, he sold William 106 acres of 

land for $200. On February 28,1831, he sold his son James C.Robinson 
129 

100 acres for $200. 

On Septemb. 02, William Robinson sold Charles Montgomery 3 acres 

of land on a small bran. little River where a tanyard is located. This 

was part of a tract of land originally granted William Powell. Silas Ruff 
130 

was Justice of the Peace. 

On July 2,1836, William C.Robinson, James C.Robinson, Alexander 

Robineon, Martha P.Robins. William Robinson Sr.), Martha L.wife 

Widow) of John E.Robinson,Elirebet Robinson,Moses H.Robinson, Mariah(sic) 

Ferrell, Nancy Matilda Robinson,Robert Klrkpatrick and wife Sarah, Sidon 

mi wife Mar ccesse r, 

gave Archibald Robinson title to the 237* acres of land that he had 

Inherited from his father. The land ley on branches of Big Cedar Creek and 

was bound by the lands , Iiam C.Robinson, Alexander Robinson,land lately 

belonging to James Bonner, L*1 James Raines, estate of Robert Milling, 
131 

and the land of James I M< Km, 

ARCHIBALD ROBINSON moved to Henry County,Georgia, where,on January 22, 

40, he sold his brother Alexander Robinson the 237* acres of land that he 

ad Inherited from his father,for $300. The only other land : ction of 

rchibald was his purchase of 50 acreson Jackson Creek from John P. 
132 

Robinson for $200 on January 6,1827. 

129~ »••»••• , * . L L , P H ~. 

130- rMd, ft.LL,P.359,1*32, 

" I - IMd, l'.k.NN,!-lh/,|H36. 

132" IkhL Hk.NN.i m -I.P-108,1827. 
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JAMES C. ROBINSON, Jon of William Robinson Sr., bought 100 acres of 

land from hia father for $200 on February 28,1831.This land was part of the 

land granted his father on Cowhead Creek. James C.Robinson bought the 

property of Dl .. Edwards of Rocky Mount I ^6 at a sheriff's sale 

on October 2,18,* . lames C. Robinson sold this property to Manley Davis 
133 

$412.50 on August 8, 

MOSES H. Rev H f son oi iam Robinson Sr., bought 140 acres of 

land on Jackson Creek i hn VrMlttftfl Sr. for $600 on April 10,1828: bound 

by lands of John WiHson, Kobertson Jr. (sic) .William Weldon, and James P, 

Robinson. This tract of land made up out of lands granted James McMullen 

and John Robinson. William Robinson Sr. sold his son Moses H.Robinson 

rec of land for November 5, 1831. ttkSon 

Creek and was made up out of parts of three separate tracts: part of 270 

acres of land granted John Robinson on June 4,1787; part of 18 acres of lend 

granted William Robinson on October 5, 1801; and part of 100 acres surveyed 

for John Robinson on 7. The 90 Jj acres of land was bound on the 

north by the la, Moore, east by David Hamilton,south and west by 

William Robinson Sr..Moses H.Robinson sold this land to Henrv Moore for $905 

on January 5,1836. 

AWNEY AND THORNTREE CREEK ROBINSONS 

On December 22, ];>•;, lobtfl Robinson (aged 60 years), his wife 

usannah (aged 50 years) and thai «n: Margaret (aged 29 years), 

l^-P.D.B.,»k.MM,P-22l,1831;Bk.Il,Pp.7,l 

134" Ifei'ij. B k . O M ,i'-i I. 

1 3 5 " Ibid | , ,,. k.MM , _1(Xlfl8. 
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Jane (aged 27 years as (aged 22 years), John (aged 20 years), and 

Robert(aged 16yeare)all newly arrived inroigrants on the ship Earl of 

Donnegal,Duncan Ferguson, Master, pet <»d for and granted the bount 

On the same day, they petitioned for, and were granted,warrants of survey 

for land. The following surveys were made and the plats certified by 

John Hamelton: 

Robert Robinson Sr. 300 acres on Thomtree Creek, February 28,1768. 

Robert Robinson Jr.100 acres on Sawney Creek, February 28,1768. 

Jane Robinson, 100 acres on Sawney Creek, bound on the southwest by 

Thomas Colville. 

Margaret Robinson, 100 acres on Sawney Creek, Fe> 23,1768. 

John Robinson, 100 acres on Sawney Creek,Febru.* ,1768. 

Thomas Robinson, 100 acres on Thomtree Creek,February 23, 1768. 

IN ail the Robert Robinson Sr. and his family had 800 acres surveyed for 
136 

them on Sawney and Thomtree Creeks In 1768. 

MAM4HT M M .daughter of Robert Sr. and Susannah Robinson, 

made her win on June 16,1776. She left the 100 acres of land granted her, 

ut in the possesion of her father, to her father and mother. On December 10, 

1782, her father sold this land to Blakely Shoemaker, formerly of Rocky 

reek. At the time of the sale, this land was bound above by John Robinson's 

lanH A u 1 3 7 

a n d b el° w by Ian Phomas Hodges, later owned by John McCants. 

Janie Revfll, Lists of Protestant Immigrants,Pp.89,91. C.P.Vol.20, 

PP-160,162,165,166,167,1 

-p.W.B.,\ 
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The immigrant Robert Robinson was 60 years old in 1767. He 

probably died soon after he sold his daughter Margaret'• land on December 10, 

1782. 

On September 0, Joseph Woodward sold Robert Robinson (Jr 

218 acres of land on Little River for $336.55. This land was part of 300 

acres of land that had been grante unker on February 22, 1771, 

and conveyed by William Ir-mker to Thomas Woodward, and by Thomas Woodward 

conveyed to Joseph Woodwar is land was bound by the lands of Robert 

Robinson and Eliaha Hagwood. 

Robert Robinson, planter of Camden District, his wife Mary(she signed 

her release es Margaret) sold william Beard ,a weaver of Camden District, 

0 acres of land on December 3,1783. This land was part of 200 acres on 

Jackson Creek that had been granted John Robinson in 1773, and subsequently 

willed to Robert Robinson. 

Robert Robinson sold Robert Martin two tracts of land on Little 

River on October 31,1 M tract was made up out of land original 

granted Andrew Ewing; the other tract was made up out of land where Joseph Woodward 

lived at the time of the sale. 

Robert Robinson sold August in Williams 48 acres of land on Little 

River for $60 on April 9,1609.This land was part of the 100 acres that had 

138-P.D.B.,Uk.R,l>-i<,7,lHOO. 

Ibid, Uk.w,; |t Neither this John Robinson or Robert Robinson 

can be accurately idem ni.-.i. They might have been brothers and sons of the 

iwnigrant Robert Robinson and his wife Susannah. 

^o-ibid, Bk. fc,f-207, 
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been granted to Willi.-.,, north and northwest on the land of 

Jacob Gibson,east on lands conveyed to Jacob Gibson and John McCrellis, and 
141 

south on the remainder of the 100 acres. 

Robert Robinson sold J< ;g 15 acres of land between Little 

and Broad Rivers for $30 on February b, 1802. Margaret.wife of Robert 

D u I 4 2 

Robinson, signed her release. 

On January 25,1821, Robert Robinson sold Robert Cathcart , merchant 

of Winnsborough, 49% acres of land on Jackson Creek for $492.50. This land 

was part of a grant to John McCaw, and by him conveyed to David McCreight, 

and by him conveyed to John Harrison ,who conveyed this land to Robert 

Cathcart by inheritance. The road to Kincaid Bridge runs across this land. 

Jane, wife of Robert Robinson signed her releese. Robert Robinson sold 

the remainder of the : H M ( 53% acres) to Robert Cathcart on 

January 4,1823. Robert Robinson had purchased the 102% acres of land from 

Robert Cathcart for 1 . on Mav 19. Agnes (she signed her name as 

I43 

Nancy) Cathcart signed her release. 

Robert Robinson was born on September 23,1793 and died on April 21, 

I. His wife Jane waa born on September 13, 1797, and died May 16, 1885. 
144 

They are buried in the c! e Old Brick Church. 

Ml- P.D.B.- ,6> l 8 0 9 

142- Ibid, Bk.O,P-1802. 

143-Ibid, Bk.CC,P-l()< DD,P-316,1823;Bk.AA,P-404,1819. 

By chronology and by t h e i r w i v e s ' names, we b e l i e v e that we can i d e n t i f y 

1 generat ions of Robert Robinsons: Robert Robinson t he immigran t ,60 y e a r s 

l n 1767;hl.4 w i l e Susannah. Robert Robinson,his son , 16 years old 1767; 

Margaret. Robert Robinson, grandson of the immigrant, 1793-1851; wi 
J «ne . 
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THOMe\S ROBINSON, the immigrant, wae 22 years old when he came to South 

Carolina with his father Rohert Robinson, his brothers Robert Jr. and John, 

and his sisters Jane and Margaret,in 1767. He obtained a survey for 100 acres 

of land on Thomtree Creek in 176*. John Milling D.S., laid off 183 acres 

of land for Thomas Robinson on Wateree Creek and certified the plat on 

August 26,1786, At the time of the original survev this land was bound by 

the lands of Thomas Robinson, Robert Ellison and by vacant land.Andrew 

McDowell D.S., surveyed 85 acres of land on Cedar Creek for Thomas Robinson, 

Fairfield County,December 5,179< >y the lands of Edmond Oneal(sic), 

Mr Whitehouse and James Hart. Henry Moore D.S., surveyed 12 acres of land 

on Cedar Creek for Thomas Robinson on September 28,1799: bound by lands of 
144 

William Broom, Jesse Hendricks and William O'Ne 

Samuel McMurrny, a weaver of Charleston, South Carolina, sold Thomas 

Robinson, Camden District, 200 acres of land on Wateree Creek for 790 pounds , 

current money, on Jul 779. At the time of the original survev this land 

was bound northeast on land of Robert Jones and on all other sides by 

vacant land. On Fttly 1,6,1792, Stephen Smith, planted of Fairfield County, 

*old Thomas Robinson, weaver of Fairield Countv,98 acres of land for 64 

pounds, sterling. This land was part of 300 acres of land that had been 

laid off for Isaac Hear December 24, 1774: bound by Nightingale's 

Cowpena and on all other sides by vacant land.Sarah, wife of Stehen Smith 

•igned her release. On October 3,1 horoas Robinson sold this 98 acres 

l*4- Revili, Lists of Protestant Immigrants.C.P.,Vol.20,P-166,1767 . 

s-P.Indexl, Vol. 11,,, P-247,178b;V, ,P-76,1790; Index 2,Vol.37,P-457,1799. 
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145 
with the adjoining 12 acres to William Broom for $150. 

On February 2 5,1785, Thomas Robinson sold John Yarborough Sr. 

9 acres out ol the 100 acres of land that had been granted hta. o»n September 12, 

1768. John Long bought the remainde he 100 acres plus an additional 

9 acres for 20 pounds,sterling, on February 4,1795. This land was bound on 
14b 

the north by Richard Campbell and on the west by Thomas Trapp. 

Thomas Robinson sold J eklt the slave named Jack for 80 pounds 

on November 8,1795. 

SAMUEL ROM" D October 22, 1850, at the age of 76 years, 

9 months and 10 days. He was burled in the Old Aimwell Cemetery at 

Ridgeway, His will Bade M February 1842, was recorded on October 29,1850. 

his wife Nancy,he left the home place of 240 acrea of Land,two M , 

her choice of two horses,three cows with calves, and the household and 

kitchen furniture bot otherwise willed. To his sons, John E., William E., 

i Alexander Robinson,he left a third,each,of his lands.To his daughter 

Margaret Robinson, he left 100 acres of land. He had already given his 

daughter Sarah Hood some land. His sons John E. and William E.Robinson 

were named his executors. James F.Rosborough,James McQuatters(sic) and 
148 

James C,Wiiliamson witnessed the wi 

On August 22, 1H22, Benjn on surveyed 41 acres of land for 

Samuel Robinson on Ceder Creek,Fairfield District: bound northeast, 

US- P .D. B., Bk. B, P-1H0,177'); Hk.!l,P-l2,1792; Bk.P.P-83,1804. 

1*6- Ibid, Hk.H,P-r-l(,3,l7H5;Bk.l P-286,179 

U 7 " &i£. .Bk. K.P-1 

*8-p.W.B.,Vol. 19.P-399.F.P.C. Apt.94,file 354,1850. 
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southeast and sotuhweat by the lands of the estate of Alexander Robinson, 
149 

and northwest by the lands of James Bowers. 

Hannereth E. ock sold Samuel Robinson Sr. 200 acres of land on 

Cedar Creek tor $200 on January 21,1823. This tract was part of the 

Fotheringhara grant ol .Jul v 12, 1771, and had been transferred to Thomas 

Timma: bound southeast on Samuel Robinson Sr., northeast , northwest and 

southwest on Hannereth William McQuarters and John E.Robinson 

witnessed the deed. it is very hat Samuel Robinson acquired more 

of the Fotheringhara tract, because in January 1832, he sold John Robertson 

149 acres out of this tract and out of 192 acrea of land that had been 

granted Ezekiel Hav | or $223,50. The land was located on Pitman 

and Wolf Pit Branches of Cedar Creek. On January 1,1833, Samuel Robinson 

sold William Robertson L07 acres of land out o: otheringham tract for 

$106.50. Samuel and Ann(Nancy),on October 1,1634, lor the parental love 

they had for their daughter Susannah (Susan) Hood gave her lib acres of land 

on Nelly'• Branch, being part of the Fotheringhara tract. On February 26, 

1836, Samuel Robinson, planter of Fairfield District, sold William McQuarters 

151*5 acres of land out of the Fotheringhara tract for $475. Ann(Nancv) 

Robinaon signed her elease. Samuel end Ann Robinson gave their daughter Sarah 

Hood 120 acrea out of this tract on December 30,1837. Samuel Robinson and 

his wife Nancy(sic) sold M.A.M.Leggo 111 acres out of the Fotheringhara 

tract for $444 in 1840. On August 18,1840, Samuel and Ann Robinson sold 

Win, 15° 
m i a m McQuarters 50^ acres out of the Fotheringhara tract for $353.50. 

U9-S.P.,Index 2,V.,1 . 110,1822. 

150-P.D.B, Bk.EE,P-127,1823; Bk.KK,PPr386,387,1832,1833;Bk.LL,P-315,1834; 

I*.MM,P-206,1836; Bk.MM.P- 17;Bk.NN,P-512 ,1841. 
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JOHN E. ROBINSON, .on of Samuel Robinson, was bom on March 6, 1796, 

and died on November 6,1877. His wile Elisabeth was horn on February 13, 

1804, and died on August 10,1878.They are buried in the old Aimwell 

Cemetery at Ridgeway. 

ALEXANDER ROBINSON, son of Samuel Robinson, died on November 22,1845, 

aged 49 years, 4 months and 27 days. He died intestate and John W.Martin 

In his application for letters of administration stated that he was the 

brother-in-law of Alexander Robinson. The chattel goods sold for $939.31 

and distributed to the | heirs: the widow, Martha Robinson (now 

Martin) and William W.Robinson, on Januarv 1,1850. Alexander Robinson was 

buried in the old Aimwell Cemetery st Ridgeway. 

JAMES ROBINSON who died rrhpr <rlBn^'(HpH uh 

a Jemes Robinson aged 42 years received a warrant of survey for 350 acres 

of land on June 22,1767. Coming on the seme ship,the Nancy, were ~rizil 

Robineon(aged 40 years) his wife I,Thomas Robinson (aged 13 vear),George 

Robinson(aged 10 years),and John Robinson (aged 7 years).It is also reasonable-

and probable - that this James Robinson was ason of one of the older 

Robinsons already mentioned. Jemes Robinson's will was made on July 7, 1801. 

To his wife Margaret, he left the plantation and property for her lifetime; 

ter her death the property to go to his dsughters Agnes Boyd and Sarah 

•terling. To his grandson Samuel Sterling ,he left a colt and a horse; to 

Grave markers.Aimwell Cemeter neway. 

-•P.C.Apt. 63,file 205. 
I s a 

" Revi l i . L i s t s ol l 'rotss tant Immigrants . ,Pp74,76, 
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his granddaughters Margaret Stt* and Margaret Boyd,he left cattle and 

sheep. He forgave a note owed v Andrew Boyd. His son-in-law John 

Sterling and Stafford c> ere made his executors. 

JOSEPH W. i (,d intestate in Wilcox County, Alabama sometime 

prior to November 12. 1 he date Thomas W.Robinson petitioned for letters 

of administration . The heirs were the widow Sarah (later married to Per 

McCammon), Thomas W.Robinson, Alexander(H?) Robinson, Margaret Bowen,Nancy 

Yongue, Will iam C.Robinson, Mary Weir, Winney Robinson, Sarah Jane Robinson, 

and Jane Robinson.Margaret Bowen died in Coctaw C , Alabama, between 

March 5,1853, the date she signed as one of the petitioners for the division of her 

father's la, <>vemb<* I, when her husband James Bowen, acting 

as guard 

gave Thomas A.Robinson his power-of-attorney. John W.Robinson of Chester 

District gave his brother Thomas W.Robinson his power-of-attorney on 

ovember 25,18V M w.Robinson was appointed guardian of his brother 

Joseph(or Jamea),and his sisters Sarah Jane and Winney on August 1,1853. In 

accordance with the wishes of the petitioners (heirs) the land that Joseph W. 

Robinson owned in Fairfield Din .consisting of 67^ acres, was sold at 

* 8 h € r l f f , a M U on September 5,1853. Hugh Stiel bought 24% acres for $413.45, 

and WlHiani C.Robins* Kht 43% acres for $302. 

J 0 H N mother of William H. and Howard Robinson, died 

ntestate in the CSA in Virginia in May 1863. His widow J.Robinson 

U brother WiiM.lin H.Robinson were appointed his adminstratiors. He had 

A 156 
n r t € •one,not named. 

154-P.W.B.,\ l\C,Apt.29,file 432,1801. 

55* p-P.C.,APt . M t f U i 434,Apt. 101,file 467,1852,1856. 

.Apt. rj(ncw), m a 237, 
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HOWARD ROBINSON .brother of John S. and William H.Robinson, died 

intestate in Fairfield County. Letters of administration were issued to 

Uiam H.Robinson ai omae Sloan on February 5, 1867. One third of his 

estate to go to the children of his deceased brother John S.Robinson, one 

third to Margaret J.Sloan (sister?), and the remaining third to William H. 

157 
Robinson. 

THE RK ARY WAR RECORDS OF THE ROBINSONS 

Because of the large number of Robinsons with the same or similar 

names serving in the Revolutionary War, it is impossible to tell which 

came from Fairfield District. 

James Robinson claimed 2 pounds,8 shillings, 7 pence sterling, for 

supplies hed « detachment fro™ r>n#ral ^at#i Anry, ccnmanri^ 

Lt. Col. P.Adams In L780. These supplies included 140 pounds of beef, 10 

sheaves of oats,one-half bushel of corn, and eight pounds of flour. Another 

James Robinson claimed 270 pounds current money, or 30 pounds, 8 shillings 

and 6 3/9 pence, sterling, for 270 days service as a horseman under Captain 

William Nettles, Colonel Mrshall, General Sumter. He used the money 

to buy land and apparently lived in Camden District. Another James Robinson 

claimed 39 pounds, 2 shillings and one pence,sterling for sundries furnished 

t e militia and 60 days service aa a horseman. Still another James Robinson 

claimed 47 pounds, 2 shilling and 10^ pence,s t militia duty in 

Colonel Brandon's Regiment. 

John Robinson claimed 3 pounds, 7 shillings,9 pence .sterling, for 

luPPlies taken by Samuel Galey for the use of Colonel Hamton's Regiment. 

'-p-p.C.,Apt. 27,(new),fiU 303, 18< 
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-t. William Gray and John Winn certified this claim. A John Robinson made 

a claim for 9 pounds, 5 shillings,8% pence, sterling for 65 days service in 

Captain William Dawkin's Company. 

Samuel Robinson made a claim for 150 pounds,current money,(22 pounds, 

5 shillings, 8% pence, sterling) for a horse that he lost coming from the 

battle of Hanging Rock. William Robinson certified as to the truth of this 

claim. James Will son and John Klrkpatrick appraised the horse for 130 pounds, 

current money. Included in the claim for 150 pounds were two steers that he 

sold General Sumter's camp. 

William Robinson served 65 days In the militia and was wounded at 

the battle of Hanging Rock. 

Alexander Robinson,Camden District, made a claim for 500 pounds of 
158 

flour furnished on March 20,1780. John certified the claim. 

- Rev. War Records. 
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William Strother lived on the Rappahannock River, Richmond Courv 

Virginia. His will made in 1700 named his children; William,James,Robert, 

Benjamin, Joseph and Jeremiah. His wile was named Dorothy and he had a 
1 

grandson named William. 

The Spotsylvania Count cords show that William Strother 

patented land In Virginia Li and in 1720, he witnessed a deed. In 

1729, William Storther married Mildred Taliaferro, daughter of Charles 

Taliaferro,granddaughter o: | Taliaferro, and sister of Kemp Taliaferro, 
2 

Essex County, Virgins. 

William Strother died in the Congarees, South Carolina, and In 17 
3 

his property was appraised for the sum of 700 pounds. This can be taken 

as evidence that Mildred and winum Strother had moved to the Congarees 

•o^atime before his death. Whan Mildred Gerrald made her will on October 9, 

1762, she stated that she had first been married to William Strother and 

by him she had the following en; Willlam^Lucy,Benjamin and Samuel. 

By her second husband James Gerrald she had a son Gabiel Gerrald (her 

son?) who was not of age at the time of her will. In her will,she mentions 

ner grandson "Camp Toliver" (Kemp Taliaferro) Strother, son of her son 

illiam. Her son William Strother was named her executor and her property 

to remain In hia hands until C.jhriel Garrald came of age. Jo Curr 

4 
Jeremiah Dargan and Je*nes witnessed the will. 

!- William and Mary Quaterly (1st Series) V, :>-270. 

2- Tyler's Quaterly Magazine, Vol.9,P-276. 

Meriwether,Expansion uth Carolina, P-h3n. 

4- Chas. W.B.,Vol.l0,P-766. 
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There was a close association of the Dargan, Taliaferro,and Strother 

families, and many of the Strothers carried the sir names Dargan and 

Taliaferro as given names in honor of relatives. 

Timothy Dargan, Berkeley County, made his will on March 8,1761, and it 

was proven on November 5, 1762. His sons were Timothy, William, Jeremiah 

and John; his daughters were Catherine(married to William Strother),Elizabeth 

Dargan and Dorcas (married to Benjamin Miller). Apparently his daughter who 

had married Charles Russel was already dead. Timothy Dargan's wife was 

named Catherine. 

On March 1- iliaferro Strother made a return of the 

guardianship of his WOT zabeth Dargan, daughter of William Dargan. He 

declared that he had In hla posaaealon a will made by William Dargan ,but 

suppressed bv fobs Vim had married the eldest daughter of 

William Dargan , and had converted all of the property to his own use and was 

now insolvent. Apparently there waa some property in Georgia. William 

brother had three daughters. 

Catherine Dargan, widow <> f Dargan, aold her daughter Dorcas 
7 

Miller a slave girl named Chloe nds, sterling, on Januarv 20,1791. 

On November 20,1790, Catherine Dargan appeared before John Winn, Justice 

of the Quorum , Fairfield County, and made an affidavit that her son Timothy 

Dargan had married Ann Reaaley, and that ahe waa with her daughter-in-law 
8 

when she was delivered of her only 101 j Dargan Jr. 

v'ore, Wills, 17M1-1784. 

6"P-P.C, Apt. 2, Mle | 

7_ P-D.B.,Bk,A,l--! .,!. 

8* I&ii, Bk.A.I»142,171 
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Strother Dargan who was born on July 7,1807, and died on October 15, 

1865, la buried in a cemetery in Winnsboro. 

Catherine, daughter of WilHan and Catherine Dargan Strother, was born 

on February 28,1760, and was baptized by the Rev. John Gissendanner on 

Sunday, April 13,1760. Her godmothers were Elizabeth Dargan and Dorcas 
9 

Liar. 

John Dargan, son and Catherine Dargan, brother of Catherine 

Dargan Strother, died in 1766. In his will he mentions Richard Singleton, 

who was underage, and his godson John Dargan Strother. No mention made of 
10 

wife and children. William Strother was one of the executors of his estate. 

WILLIAM STROTHER,son ol William and Mildred Taliaferro Strother, made 

hi* will In it vc- prcb D Wchlaiw, County sometime 

before the appraisal of his property in the spring of 1783 by Timothy Rives, 

William Kirkland and Thomas Baker. Andrew (sic).Christian Kinsler 

and Richard Gradick witnessed the will. To his wife Catherine he left his 

cattle and the plantation whecttha lived,and acquired from Gabriel Garrald; 

to his son John he left 300 acres of land that had been granted Henry 

Middleton and 400 acrea that had been granted to Davis Hay and 200 acres 

granted William Strother ... -ek;to son William, he left 350 acres of 

land on Crane Creek and 300(?) acrea granted to Richard Strother; to his 

daughter Catherine, he left the Negro gi1 cena,a mare and colt; to son 

Kemp Taliaferro, he left the land purchased by Richard Strother and 

11 
himaeif from jncot, Swechart(Swvgert).The Negroes to be sold. 

9-Salley, P-191. 

10- Moore, Wi11H, 1 

U« :'.o. , Camden District, Wills and Adminatrationa, 1781-1787, P-57 
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Uiam Strother, So 1iam and Mildred Taliaferro Strother, 

had 50 acres of land surveyed I at at head of one of the branches of 

Edlsto River. Be had 200 acres of land surveyed for him on Turkey Creek 

on July 6,1772. He had 300 acres of land laid out for him on Tom Creek, 

between the Congaree and Wateree Rivers, by George Strother. The plat was 

certified on August 14, 1771. John Alston, D.S., surveyed 300 acres of land 

for William Strother north of the Broad River on December 23,1771. The land 

waa bound DOTtbVMi M the land of Christian Kinsler and on vacant land,north­

east on vacant land, southeast on land of Alexander Teto and vacant land, 
12 

and southwest on Broad River. 

William Strother, son ol William and Mildred Taliaferro Strother, was 

bom in Virginia about the year 1730. Aa previously noted, he died in 

Richland County in 1/-1. ne served in the Second Provincial Congress , 1775-

1776; the First General AesemMv, 1776; and the Second General Assembly 1776-

1778, all from the Diatrict between the Broad and Catawba Rivers. In 1778, he 

served as commiasloner lor roada north of the Congaree; in 1776, he was 

commiaaioner of electiona for the Diatrict Between the Broad and Catawba 

B, 13 
Mvera; a n d 8 # r v # d a, sheriff of Orangeburg Diatrict 1778-1780. 

CATHERINE S H U K M , daughter of William and Catherine Dargan Strother, 

Irst married Andrew Lester and by him had the following children: John, 

on**. Rebecca, Andrew, win lam, Catherine and Frances Lester. Andrew 

•ter died in | >n Auguet 15,1796, John Chestnut left in trust with 

1 2 - C P . Vol.21 

•c-H.&G.Mag.,V.,i . K». Rev. War Records, S.C.Dept Archives and History. 

°- Dlr. I.C.HOUM Ol Repreaentives, Vol . I 11 ,1775-1790,P-690. 
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with William Strother and Frances Lester two slave boys, a gray mare and 

a black mare for these children of Andrew and Catherine Strother Lester. 
14 

Catherine Strother Lester married Samuel Nelson in 1798. 

KEMP TALIAFERRO STKOTHKK, son o iam and Catherine Dargan Strother, 

grandson of William and Mildred Taliaferro Strother,was paid 111 pounds, 

7 shillings,and 3 pence for his 274 days service as a private and as a 

captain in the militia (luring the years 1780,1781, and 1782.This pay included 

3620 pounds of beef furnished the militia during the Revolutionary War. During 

the years 1780 and 1781,he served 183 days as a horseman in General Sumter's 

Brigade,and 30 days as captain Q I In the same brigade in the expedition 

to Orangeburg. In 1782, he served 30 days as captain of foot in General 

Henderson's Brigade at Orangeburg and 31 days later in the same brigade 

in the same year. General Man MTtlflftd his service in the Revolutionary 
15 

War. 

In addition to his service In the Revolutionary War, Kemp Taliaferro 

Strother served in the Sixth General Assembly, for the District Between the 

Broad and Catawba Rivers; he was a member of the Mount Sion Society ; a tax 

Inquirer, assessor and collects 

Kemp Taliaferro Strother had 332 acres of Isnd laid off for him on 

ateree Creek by j o h n Winn D.N., on April 10,1785. This land was bound by 

t e lands of Minor Winn, Ump r Strother and by vacant land. 

14- Summer, Hlstorv <»wberry County, P-386; Green, History of Richland 

County» ] .use of Representives,P-690; F.D.B.,Bk.K,P-368. 

W - Rev. War ilecorda, S.C.Dept. Archives and History. 

6* Bio. Dir. S.C. House of Representives, Vol.Ill,1775-1790,P.690. 

17' S-P..Index 1,Vol.11 ,,,i -• 
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On April 17,1766, Kemp I.Strother bought 501 acres of land on Mill 

Creek,Little River. William Woodward for 386 pounds, sterling. The land 

was made up out of these five tracts: 

1- 125 acres on John Marple Creek originally granted to William 

McMorris and by him conveyed to Thomas Woodward. 

2- 100 acres on Mill Creek granted to John Winn,Esq., and by him conveyed 

to Thomas Woodward on June 8,17 

3- 76 acres granted to Isaac Slbly on August 31,1774, and by him convey­

ed to Thomas Woodward. 

4- 100 acres north of Broad River granted to Thomas Woodward on 

August 22, 1776. 

5- 100 acres on Mill Creek grnted Thomas ird on August 31,1774. 

This land was inherited by William Woodward from his father Thomas 
18 

Woodward. 

0 0 J*nu;i Kemp Taliaferro, Gentleman, sold this 501 acres of 

land to Minor Wlnn,Esq. 

Kemp T.Strother sold Reuben Woorster iot77 In the town of Winnsborough 

for 20 pounds, sterling, on October 11,1786.The lot contained one-half acre, 
20 

ronted on Lion Street and backed on the lot of Captain Durphey's tavern. 

J o h n pounds,sterling, sold Kemp T. Strother the following 

!ots in the vinnsboroi 10,1787: 

l8-p.D.B.,Bk.A,P-<)ll. 

19-lbid, Bk.B,P-172 

20- IMd, Hk.A. 
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1- Lot 136, one quarter acre, on Congress St. 

2-Lot 68, late Balfur's tavern. 
21 

3- Lot 77 on Lion Street adjoining in the rear lot 68. 

On July 10,1786, Kemp T.Strother sold Thomas Baker the following 

tracts of land for 2000 pounds: 

1- 3 50 acres of land on the middle ground between the Broad and 

Catawba Rivers, granted to Joseph Kirkland on March 8,1763. 

2- 100 acres on Wateree Creek granted to Joseph Kirkland on November 27, 

1770. 

3- 150 acres on Jackson Creek granted to John Smith on November 12,1770. 

4- 150 acres on the main road to Russel's Ferrv and granted to John 

Winn,Eaq., juiy 2H,17 

5- 200 acres on Jackson Creek released by Robert Ellison on July 6,1786. 

A H Of this land had been sold to Kemp T.Strother by James Hart on 
2 2 

January 6^7,1784. 

I could JO probate papers on Kemp Taliaferro Strother I did the 

selling of his property mean that he planned to move out of the countv 

and possibly out of the state? The 1790 census did not list him,and the 

rax Returna for Fairfield Diatrict did not show him as an owner of land 

or slaves. He was in court In Winnaboro aeveral times during the years 1786-

1798- 0 n June General William Strother made a deposition that he 

2l- F.D.B.-

22 - Ibid, Jit. | i) 
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found a note among the papera of Kemp Taliaferro Strother to the effect 

that he had finish paying off the mortgage on a plantation M 
23 

Winneborough from John Vanderhost. The receipt was dated May 10,1786. 

This might have some slxnlticance in auggesting that Kemp Taliaferro had 

died prior to and that General William Strother had served as his 

executor or adminiatrat 

GENERAL WILLIAM STROTHER , brother of Kemp Taliaferro Strother and 

John Dargan Strother, ion of William and Catherine Dargan Strother, died 

intestate in Fairfield District in 1834. His son John Dargan Strother 

applied for letter of adminatration on April 28,1834.Phillip D.Cooke 

and William Jonea signed a aecurity bond for John D.Strother as 

administrator of the estate of General William Strother. The appraisal of 

his chattel goods was carried out by P.D.Cooke, Jemes Lvles and George 
24 

Shedd on May 28, 183 

Sarah Strother (she signed herself as Salley Strother),wife of 

Genered Wiiiiara Strother made her will on December 10,1845, and it was 

witnessed by Thomas Lyles, Thomas M.Lyles and John L.McMahon. There 

wee no date of proving of the wi t it was recorded on February 4,1850. 

e named her son John Dargan Strother es executor and left him all of her 

property with the exceptions to be noted. When her granddaughter Sally 

Woodward Strother reaches 14 years of age, ahe ia to select three slaves 

2^- Holcomb,Minutes Fairfield C, -1799, multiple references 

F-D.B.,Bk.Z,P-3 

24-P.P.C.,APt.65, fil. 100( 
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to be held in trust ,e reaidue of her property to be held in trust 

for her gran. ren:Sally Woodward Strother, Mary Pope Strother, William 

Strother and Helen O'Neal Strother. The property to be held in trust until 

25 

William and the girla are 21 yeara of age, or until the girls man-

General William Strother became a very prominent and wealthy 

citizen of Fairfield Diat His rank of major-general was in the 

militia, although he probably had some service in the Regular Army during 
26 

the War of 1812. He served aa Senator, Fairfield District 1810-1812. 

During the yeers, General Strother acquired a very large plantation 

on Little Cedar Creek,aa well aa other land in Fairfield District. Joseph 

'jdward( 1 ,. Sarah - f̂K«r- | -.>«, 

of land for $151 on December 20,1796. This land was the southwest portion of 

500 acres granted Major Pierce Butler on Jsnuary 20,1773: bound by the lands 

Samuel Hendicka on the D John Woodward on the east,and on the south 

I 2 7 

by land mortgaged to the public by Colonel Joaeph Kirkland. 

Caleb Powell aold win lam Strother 58 acres of land for $58 on March 3, 

1798. This land had been granted to Jeaae Sibley on January 1,1794, and lay 

on Rocky Branch of Little Cedar Creek. It waa bound on the north by the land 

of Caleb Powell,aouth l.v II la ha Haywood, north and west by William Strother. 

25-P.P.C.,Apt. Apt. 93, file 3< 

'-eynolds and Fant, Bio. Di • Sente of S.C., 1776-1964,P-316 . The 

s pnlcal sketch in this volume contains many errors. The authors have 

unately mixed the biograpies of General Srother with that of his father 

Ham Strother, Richlan Charlea Strother of Charleston ( a cousi 

2?" P-D-B.,l',k.!.,l'-/.' 
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On this same day, March <H, William Strother sold Caleb Powell 58 acres 

of land for $58. This land was part of 414 acres that had been granted Luke 
28 

Rawls on April 3,1786. is was,in effect, and exchange of land between 

William Strother and Caleb Powell. 

In March 1798, John Woodward Sr. sold William Strother (his son-in-law) 

314 acres of land on Rocky Bram e Cedar Creek, for 50 pounds.sterling. 

This land was part of the 414 acres of land granted Luke Rawls on April 3, 

1786.John Woodward Jr. came forward on August 3, 1816, and swore to the 
29 

authenticity of this deed,and that he waa preaent when it was signed. 

On September 5, 1803, William Strother sold Robert Phillips the land 

that he had bought from Luke Rawls and Caleb Powell for $300. The sale did not 

include ihe i.,, ,„ h a d Boi e b F o u ( 1 1 | a n d f o r 250 acres, and the 

58 acres that he had purchaaed from Caleb Powell and originally granted to 
30 

Jesse Sibley on Jan... <M. 

S h e : '• 1 1 lng,Fairfield Diatrict, aold at public outcrv on the 

first Monday in September 1801, 900 acres of land that had been granted to 

Iseec Porcher and James Owens, and mortgaged b oseph Kirkland,one of the 

orrowers of the paper medium. The several district treasurers had foreclosed 

on the borrowers of this money, and the South Carolina Legislature,in 1801, 

ordered that theae lands be sold. William Strother.being the last and highest 

bidder, bought this land for 

' '.u.B., Bk.L,P-223. 

29- Ibid, »k.CC,P-237. 

30- Ibldr Bk. 0.P-2 

3l~ Ufe4* 
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William Strother told George Shed(Shedd) 190 acres of land on Dry 

Branch, Little Cedar Creek, for $200 on Februarv U , 1803.This land had been 

granted to James Owene and John Woodward and waa bound on the north by the land 

of George Shedd and Captain John Woodward, northeast on land of Thomas 

Richardson and Caleb Powell, and southwest on land of William Strother. Sarah 

32 
Strother signed her release. James and Samuel Alston witnessed the sale. 

By February 11, William Strother's home place contained 1500 

acres. On that date, William Strother gave Robert Means and David Read Evans, 

executors of the estate of John Means,a mortgage on his home place for the 

penal sum of . William Strother's home place was on Little Cedar 

Creek and was bordered by the lands of John Woodward, Elisha Haygood, Hardv 

Milee and George Shedd. 

William Kirkland died in 1806. In his will he had named his son 

Joseph Kirkland and his friends William Strother,James Alston and Samuel 

Alston his executors. On February 23, 1821, William Strother, James Alston, 

and Samuel Alston, as the surviving executors of the estate of William 

Kirkland, and after all of William Kirkland's children had reached the age of 

21 years,or married, caused a division of the property of William Kirkland. 

Th* youngest daughter Mary Honor Kirkland had married Burrel B.Cook. On 

32- F.D.B., Bk.W,P-394. 

33" Ibid. Bk.V 
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this same day,they gave Martha Marie Kirkland her distributive share of land 

amounting to 467 acres; to her brother John DeBell Kirkland they gave the 

privilege of flooding as much of his sister's land as needed to rebuild a 
34 

dam and sawmill that had recently been destroyed by fire. 

William Strother,as one of the executors of the estate of William 

Kirkland, purchased i <» heirs of William Kirkland 460 acres of land on 

Big Cedar Creek eter and Rebecca McQuire, who had obtained the land 

as heirs of John v. The land was part of 3800 acres that had been 
35 

granted John and Minor 

Samuel Alston, D.S., surveyed 37 acres of land for William Strother 

on Dry Branch ol Little Cedar Creek,October 22,1819. This was a state 

survey and was surrounded by the lands of David R.Evans, now held by 

Rowland (Rolling?) Williamson, and by land granted to Leonard Miles,now 
36 

held by the descendants ol as Richardson. 

Thomas Richardson sold William Strother a tract of land on Dry Branch, 

Little Cedar Creek, for $200 on February 20,1820. This land was the 

distributive share that Thomas Richardson had inherited from his father 

Thomas Richardson rhe land was bound by the lands of Osmund Woodward, 

George Shedd, Maden M. Leggo, Roling Williamson and by a tract of land 

34- F.D.B. , Bk .DI),! - -J61. 

Bk.W,i>P- \2. 

36-s-F. Series 2,Vol. .26 
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37 

that had been laid <> Richardaon. 

On February 2, Jamea Maater aold William Strother 38 acres of land 

for $40 on libit? Branch, Mill Creek,Little River. This land was part of a 

tract of land granted John Sibley on June 23,1774, and was bound by the lands 

38 

of Thomas Veal, Jeaae Nelaon and George Haaaan. 

William or the higheat bid of $900, bought 300 acres of land 

offered at a aheriff'a aale from the eatate of James Hendrix., deceased: 

Mary Hendrix waa the executoi e land lay on Little Cedar Creek and was 

up out of three aeperate tracta, and bound by the lands of William T. 

Woodward, Jamea Nelaon,Thomaa Nelaon and William Strother. Sheriff Hugh 
39 

Barkeley gave William Strother the aheriff'a title on February 3,1822. 

William Happen aold William Strother 140 acres of land on Mill Creek 

for $450 on Januar hia land had been granted to John Sibley and was 

bound by the landa of Jeaae Nelaon,Thomaa Nelaon,William Strother, and the 

40 
estate of Jamea Hv ia Veal waa living on the place. 

The Tax Returna for Fairfield and Other Districts for 1822 showed 

General William Strother aa the owner of 2250 acrea of land and 42 slaves. 

Thomaa Lylea and hia wife Mary Ann(Marian Collins Lyles was a sister of 

Sarah Strother and the daughter of John Woodward) sold William Strother 

200 acrea of land on Cedar Creek for $546 on April 7,1824. This land had been 

37" ?.D.B.,Bk.CC,P-2< 

38-Ibid, .CC.P266. 

39-Ibid. Bk. EE.P-134. 

40-Ibld. Bk.EE,P-280 
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left Mary Ann (Marian Collins Woodward) Lyles by her father Captain (John) 

Woodward, and was made up out of 640 acres of land granted Jane Kirkland 
41 

and out of a tract of land granted Obed Kirkland. 

George Shedd sold William Strother 150% acres of land on Little Cedar 

Creek for $550 on February 24,1823. This land was part of 191 acres of land 

that Willi.-!: >ther had sold George Shedd on June 12,1805. Martha Shedd 
42 

signed her release. 

M.A.M.Leggo sold Will Urn Strother 73% acres of land on Dry Branch, Little 

Cedar Creek, for $220 on February 22,1823. This land was part of a tract that 

M.A.M.Leggo had iased from Jacob Powell,and originally granted Luke Rawls. 
43 

Harriet M.Leggo signed her release. 

John Hatcher,to secure the sum of $338.64 3/4, gave William Strother 

a mortgage on 50 acres of land on I inch,Little Cedar Creek, on December 29, 

1824. This land was part of an original grant to Leonard Miles,and purchased 

ROM. Hatcher from William Strother. 

William Strother sold George Shedd 24 acres on Little Cedar Creek for 

$550 on February 4,1823. This land was part of 172 acres that William Strother 
45 

had bought from Thomas Richardson. Sarah er signed her release. 

Elisha Haygood sold William Strother 141 acres of land on Little Cedar 

Creek for $1500 on February 12,1826. This land was bound by lands of Henry 

and James Haygood, and was made up out of Nightingale and Isaac Porcher tracts. 

4l-*.U.B.fHk.FF,r-4<j 

42-Ibid. 11 

43- IbldL Bk. VY\ ]>-

^Zlbid^ 128^ 

EUAa. Bk.tt;,i>-i9. 

EklAj Bfc.QQ.t-M, 
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William Strother aold John Barber 196 acres of land on Tom's Branch, 

Little Cedar Creek, for $786 on April 13,1830. This land was bound on the 

south by the land of David Long, now belonging to Charles Broom;on the east 

by William Strother,now belonging to George Shedd; and on the west bv ;ands 

of Jeaae Nelaon and the Wlnna. 

Two weeka later,on April 30,1830, William Strother sold George Shedd 

193 acres of lan<i i»772: bound northeast on William Rooks; northwest by 

Thomas Nelaonjweat by Jeaae Nelenn; southwest by Jane Sawyers,now John 
48 

Barker's landjand on all other sldea by the land of William Strother. 

William Strother aold Jamea Lylea 287*. acrea of land for $1292 on 

August 5, 1831, This land waa made up out a acres except the 59*. acres 

previously sold B.Rook, an icres -or more. This land lay on Tom's 

Branch, Little Cedar Creek, and originally granted to James Hendrix and 

Pierce Butler. Wil]lam Strother aold Benjamin Rook 59* acres of land for 
49 

$400 on January 23,1832. Thia land came out of the 342 acres just described. 

William Strother aold Willi* Beckham 105 acres of land on Dry Branch, 

Little Cedar Creek for $450,and made up out he following tracts of land: 

100 acrea of land granted Jamea Owena on August 31,1774. 

414 acrea of land granted Luke Rawla on April3, 1786. 

50 
500 acres of land granted Leonard Mi lea on September 5,1776. 

47-P.D.B.,Bk.HH)|..] M . 

48- Ibl.l, !'.k.HH-2,P-l 

Jiid_L Bk.KK,Pp. -206,207 

50- Ibid,- Hk.KK,P-A23. 
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Creighton Williams gave William Strother a mortgage for $456 for the 

120 acres of land that he had purchased from William Strother. This land was 

bound on the southwest and west by the lands of William Strother, south by the 

land of William Cloud, north by the lands of W. Means,William Strother and 
51 

Willis Beckham. The land lay on Dry Branch, Little Cedar Creek. 

General William Strother died sometime prior to May 28,1834. His son 

and administrator John Dargan Strother sold Edward Barnwell 152 acres of 

on Mill Creek for $320 On November 11,1834. The Round Pond Road cut across 
52 

this land. 

John Dargan Strother and the widow Sarah Strother sold William LXinlap 

56 acres of land for $220 on Januar 1837. This land was bound on the north 

by the land of George Shedd, northeast by the land of Thomas Richardson, 

and southeast by the land of Willis Beckham. On Januarv 10,1838, they sold 

53 
Henry Haigood 16 i acres of land on Little Cedar Creek for $62.50. 

OTHER STROTHERS IN SOUTH CAROLr 

We have been able to trace the William Strother line from the William 

Strother who lived on the Rappahannock River, Richmond County,Virginia to 

William Strother, son ol | Dargan Strother and grandson of General William 

Strother. We have not been so successful with the other Strothers in the 

state alt their given names suggest William Strother who made his will 

51- F.D.B.,!',k.U.,I -

52- Ibid. Bk.LLfP-296. 

- Ibid, Bk.MM.Pp. 273,.. 
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will on the Rappahannock River in 1700 might be a common ancestor. The inform­

ation about these other Strothers is fragmentary but such information as 

we can find win be presented. 

Charles, George, William and Jeremiah Strother took land in South Carolina 

prior to the Revolutionary War. As recorded in the Memorial Books of the 

Province of South Carolina the following land grants registered with the 

Auditor General's office will be noted: 

Charles Strother registed a grant of 100 acres of the Edisto River on 

May 1,1761. 

George Strother registered 182 acres in Craven County on July 15,1763. 

Jeremiah Strother registered 500 acres on the Saluda River on May 1,1761. 

William Strother registed 400 acres on Hard Labor Creek ( Ninetv-Six 

District) on March 16,17* 

CHARLES STROTHER, Charleston butcher, made his will on July 12,1766, 

and it was proven on November 5,1773. His wife was named Mary and he had sons, 

William and George, underaged at the time the will was made. His daughter 

Sarah was also underaged. He named his brother William and George Strother. 

Charles Strother purchased a child's cedar coffin from Thomas Elfe 

in 1771,presume >r one of his children. 

WILLIAM STR( , i o n of Charles and Mary Cross Strother, Charleston, 

outh Carolina, moved to Cheraw District,S.C. and became a large land owner. 

- Memorials.S.C.Dept. Archives and Histor 

55-Mooire, V lilt, 1760-1784, P-204; Chaa . W.B., Vol .15 ,P-bll ;S . C.H.&G, Vol.34, 

P-!56; Vol.38,P-41 .35, P-164. 
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He represented St. David's Parish In the S.C.House of Representives in the 

Fifth(1783-1784) and the Seventh ( 1787-1788).In addition to this service, 

he held many publ fc and private positions of service and honor in Cheraw 

District.He was married three times. His first marriage was to Dorothy 

Singleton and by her had two children: Charles and Thomas Singleton. 

His second marriage was to Lucy Rogers, daughter of Benjamin Rogers, and by 

her he had four children: John Cross, Sarah V. (married William Ayers),Mary 

Arm (married Charles Deer) and Harriet(married Samuel Broughton).His third 

marriage was t Jf daughter of George and Sarah James Hicks. By her 

he had four children:Elizabeth (married Robert H.Gregg),Charlotte (married 

John WHaon),Sarah(married William Henry Pledqsr),and George Hicks.He died 
56 

•onetime before July 15,1805. 

Jeremiah Strother ii * wife Catherine (or Katherine)lived in Amelia 

Township. Their son Jos#ph was born on March 6,1755, and privately baptized 

by the Rev.John Gissendanner ac< rites of the Episcopal Church , 

on Sunda ^ e l r i o n Moses was born on August 8,1758, and 

was baptized in Amelia Chapel on Sunday,October 8,1758. Jeremiah Strother 

was still living in Amelia Township and on January 11,1772, witnessed the will 

of Robert Rawlins. Joseph Strother, Lexington District, along with Jacob 

Boozer, Ullllesi Boozer Sr. and Elisabeth Boozer Sr. sold Henry Boozer 
57 

acres of land on Little Rocky Creek for $1000 on January 21,1815. 

56-Bio.Dir. <>! the S. use of Representives, Vol.111,1775-1790, Pp.691-692. 

>7« Salley Orangeburg,Pp.155,179.Moore, Wills, 1760-1784, P.167.Holcomb, 

U*ington District, P.-l 
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There were several contemporary George Strothers in South Carolina 

at *bout the time of the Revolutionary War: the George Strother who died in 

1771; George Strother of Cheraw District, probably the brother of William 

vther and son of Charles Strother, and who had one white free male over 

sixteen years of age, two under sixteen, four white, free females and six 

slaves in his household according to the 1790 census; the George Strother, 

,^ably of Orangeburgh District, imlshed large amounts of rations and 

supplies for the patriots, and served as a lieutenant in the militia. 

GEORGE STIOTIIIR, of the Congarees, made a will but it was so severely 

d*«M« d that it con 1.1 not be accurately read. The will was filed in 1772, but 

his property was Inventoried on December 12,1772.In the will, the following 

names can be made out: witnesses were Phillip Pearson, Nathan White, 

t"* r^ n e R*t«e; the executors were Anderson Thomas,James Thomas, and John 

Hopkins; these other names can be read, Kemp Strother, Sarah Hopkins, 

Anderson Thomas, James Thomas,Gabriel Gerrald, William Strother (brother) 

and Lucy Kennerly (sister). 

The names listed in George Strother's will leaves little doubt but that 

he was the brothe: . i11iam Strother,son of William and Mildred Taliaferro 

Strother. Sarah Hopkins, widow of John Hopkins (died 1775) and daughter of 

o n Thomas Sr.,and her brothers Anderson and James Thomas were named in the 

"1X1. John Hopkins in his will named Anna and Mary Strother. The relationship 
59 

torn Strothers, Hopkins and Thomases can't be sorted out at this time. 

58- Green, History Richland Count .'10 

ween, History Richland Count aura Jervey Hopkins, Planters 

L° l # € r Rlchland, Pp.l-<). Moore, Wills, 1760-1784,1-
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GEORGE STROTHER ol Orangeburg District was a justice of the peace 

for the years 1769- 1770, and again in 1776, when nominated by the General 
60 

Aaaembly and appointed by Governor Rutledge. 

George Strother was paid 236 pounds, 10 shillings and 4% pence, sterling 

for provisions that he ha. ilshed the continental troops and the militia 

during the yeers 1779-1783. The record Is of particular Interest because it 

8 " ° " * t n e type of provslons the troop* needed, and, in some instances, the 

general location oi the troop* at the time. 

April 29,1779- r,9 pounds of bacon and 2 bushels of com. 

•July 3,1781- 30 pounds of meal flover(sic), received by Lt. Col.Liridsey 

ne use ,„1 | , ,,.„ • «„g<m<.nr . 

-July 9,1781- ilons and forage received by Captain Michael Leitner 

for a scouting party for nine men and horses of Colonel Beard's Regiment. 

-January 16,1782- Captain P .Waters gave a receipt for 3 bushels of corn, 

200 pounds of corn blades, 30 pounds of pork,and 16^ bushels of peas in the 

hull,and 8 bushels of potstoes. 

In the 96 District,James Turner gave a receipt for two fat beeves 

received from George Strother. 

March 6, 1782- Captain Waters gave s receipt for 40 bushels of corn 

or the use of his detachment of drsgoons, General Sumter's Brigade. 

March l ., 17H2- c.F.Dreher Jr. gsve a receipt for 85 bushels of 

corn for the use of Colonel Beard's Regiment on Twelve Mile Creek. 

March 22, 1782- Ceptaln P.Waters gave a receipt for rations and forage 

for twelve men and horses. 

6 ° - 3'Hey, Orangeb County, Pp.248,265. 
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About January 22, 1782, David Glyn gave a receipt for rations and forage 

for 52 men and horses "in time of scouting after villons(sic), 

On June 13, 1782, Michael Leitner gave a receipt for 30 bushels of 

corn for the use of the distressed widows of Colonel Jonas Beard's Regiment. 

July 13,1782, Andrew Pickens gave a receipt for 2 bushels of corn for 

I troops on High Hill Creek. 

July 23, 1782, Captain Fulraer gave a receipt for 2 bushels of corn 

wad provisions for his scouting party of men. 

September 10,1782- a receipt for M ninety-six wate of flower". 

November 28,1782- Captain P.Waters gave a receipt for a steer. 

May 3,1783- Colonel P.Waters gave a recipt for 72 bushels of corn 

at various times lK the period March 6, to June 10, 1782, for use of the 

•tation at "Dragun Blockhous" (Dragoon Blockhouse) 

George Strother was apid 17 pounds,15 shillings,sterling for 71 days 
61 

as a liutenant In the militia. 

It seems that rhe Revolutionary War in South Carolina was fought on 

m bread, corn mus! aeon and an occasional taste of beef. 

When Thomas Kennerlv, a farmer of Broad River,Craven County made his 

~ and died in 1771, he named his children; John, James, Thomas, Joseph, 

Sa»u«l,Elizabeth, Mary Hollenshed (married to Zachariah Hollenshed), Ellen 

'•*rr*ed to George Strother). He had a brother James Kennerly still living 

in Augusta County, Virginia. His executors were his son Thomas Jr., and his 

U * Rev. War Records, S.C.Dpt. Archives and Historv. 
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soo-in-law George Strother. l.ucv Kennerlv,George and Richard Strother 

witnessed the wi 1 

I could : ml i will or probate papers on George Strother but 

he apparently lived In the Upper Part of Orangeburgh District and probably 

had as many as eight children. .en Strother, daughter of Thomas Kennerly 

and wife of George Strother was a widow living in the Upper Part of 

Orangeburgh District with two white, free meles over sixteen years of age, 

two under sixteen, five white, free females snd seventeen slaves in her house' 

hold,according to he 1790 census. 

RICHARD owberry ( -Six District, at the time of 

the 1790 census had one white,free mele over sixteen years of age, and one 

under sixteen, three white,tree temales snd 21 slaves in his nousenoid. 

Richard Strother was psld 31 pounds, 14 shillings,3 \ pence .sterling 

for 222 days service in the militia company of Captain John Lindsay,Colonel 

Philemon Water's Regiment from August 5, 1781 to March 15, 1782. He was paid 

30 pounds, 9 shilling,sterling for two horses lost in the service. He 

supplled beaef for the continental troops and was paid 9 pounds, 12 shillings, 
, 63 
o pence for 7 50 pounds of be.-

When Thomas Gaines of Newberry District made his will in July 1800, 

e Mentioned his wife Delilah, who had previously been married to Richard 

trother. He mentioned the Richard and Delilah Strother: Sarah 

Strother, Nancy Rachel I er and Lucv Strother. He assured them of 
.. 64 
tneir inheritance. 

62-Moore, Wnia , 17h()-17H4,P-l53 . 

-Rev. War Records,S.C.Dept. Archives and History. 

64-«ea,berry Win Hook,Vol. 1,B. C.P.-272. 
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The three young daughters of Richard and Delilah Strother had guardians 

appointed for them. Each had a slave, a feather bed and furniture willed 

them. The slaves were hired out and the money paid to the girls. 

On August 11,1804, Joseph ris was appointed the guardian of Sarah 

Port Strother; on October 21, 1805, Jospeh McMorris was appointed guardian 

cy Rachel Strother. John F.Yarborough was appointed guardian of Lucy 
65 

Strother on January 8,1810. 

Richard Strother did own considerable land in Fairfield County. He 

aPP e a r s to have had a brother William Strother, who according to the 1790 

census lived in the North Part of Orangeburgh District, and had in his 

household two white, free males over sixteen years of age, one under sixteen, 

one white,free female and four slaves. 

Jacob Swihart (Swygert) gave a note to William and Richard Strother 

for 2000 pounds, lawful money, on Januar ^78. To secure this note, 

Jacob Swihart (Swygert) gave a mortgage on 450 acres of land north of Broad 

River. This land lay opposite the upper limits of Saxe Gotha and was 

inherited by Jacob Swygert from his father Mical Swikard (Michael Swygert). 

F r m o c € a Strother was one of the witnesses to this document. Kemp Taliaferro 

Strother bought this Lei nn Jacob Swygert and sold lt to Major John 

r 66 

Co«Pty for 500 pounds, ate: , on June 31,1789. 

Richard Strother rsn a store on Broad River , and in the Newberry 

y Court for September 1788 and December 1789, he was issued a 

65- F.P.C.,APt. 30, files 472, tpt. 31, file 485. 

•D.B,Bk.C,Pp.152,206. Lawful money had about one-seventh the value 

of the pound, sterling. 
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a license to sell spirltous liquors In his store. The last entry in the Minutes 

.he Newberry County Court was for Jury du for the February 1793 
67 

term of court. He must have died soon afterwards. 

Richard Strother once operated the on Broad River that later 

became known as Ruff's Ferry. This ferry was established in about 1770 and 

later operated by Minor Winn, Richard Strother, Joseph McMorris and George 
68 

JAMES AND FRANCIS STROTHER lived in Newberry District. Very little 

Is known about either, but probably Francis was Frances and wife of James. 

Jaaes Strother spent so much time in court in Newberry County that it seems 

doubtful if he time | ch else. He obtained letters of administration 

on the estate of Jacob Anderson, but most ot his court appearances seem to 

have been for law suits regarding indebtedness. A suit against Francis 

Strother was dismissed in the June 1789, court because the sheriff found 
69 

that Francis Strother wai not an Inhabitant of the state. 

Dr. Solomon P.Strother, Fairfield District, died Intestate sometime 

prior to August 1,1H27, the date for a warrant appraisement to be issued 

to G.B.Pearson, R.M.Tallaferro, Phillip Cato and Nathaniel Holley. His 

test asset was $3729 due the estate In notes and accounts due. David 

A,
 7 0 

Alston was his administrator. 

iolcomb, Minutes Newberr Court, Pp.-74,123,209. 

68-Pope, Newberry Count v, P.-128. 

•olcomb, Minutes Newberr multiple references. 



P* 1 5 7 Chapter 5 

rth of the Broad River 

II ALS'K I ON LITTLE CEDAR CREEK 

JOHN ALSTON,D.S., received a warrant of survey for 150 acres of land 

• John Bremar, D.S.G. on Marc 1771.This land was surveyed for him on 

e branch of Little Cedar Creek,Craven Count R.Ellison D.S., and the plat 

c**"tified on June 27,1771. This land was bound on the northeast by vacant land 

•Od by the land of Thomas Powell, southwest on Nathaniel Guff's (Goff?)land , 
1 

and northwest by the land omas Franklin. 

He received a warrant for 160 acres of land from John Winn Esq., 

Co*ml88ione LocatI and) for Camden District on January 27,1785. 

This land was surveyed for him bv Alex Johnston D.S., and the plat certified 

oo February 1,178'). The land lay Q Ian Branch of (Little) Cedar Creek 

Wad was bound on the northwest by land of George Freshley, southwest by 

lends of Thomas May an< Alston, southeast by lands of Nicholas Wirick 

and Mack Davis (Mark Davies I theast by lands of George Lightner and 
2 

Christopher Davis. The State Grant was dated June 1,,1787. 

On August 1,1771! fofcl Alston of St Mark's Parish,Craven County, sold 

Jacob Love 150 acres of land on Dutchman's Creek for 125 pounds, lawful money. 

Jacob Love was already in possession of the land by a bargain made a year 

•srlier. The land had been granted John Alston on March 19,1771, and was 

<*od on the southwest hn Alston, northeast and south east on John 

0Utt*y,s la"d, and on all other sides by vacant land. John Yarborough and 

)b*rt Love witnessed the deed. Isaac Love was the justice of the peace. 

^-P.,Vol.13,P-40,1771;Royal Grants,September 14,1771,Vol.24,P-22 5. 

-*-, Index 1, Vol.7.), P-372,1785. Stete Grants , Vol.17.P-552,1787. 

3" 7.D.B., Kk.i. > 1 7 7 1 > 
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John Alston married Mary Boyd daughter of William Boyd Sr.,who had arrived 

-outh Carolina on board the ship Nancy. Captain Hannah, Commander, sometime 

just before June 22, 1767, It was on this date that the bounty money was allowed fot 

the payment of her passage.lt is probable that she was eighteen years of age 

4 
and not the fourteen years recorded In the ship's records. 

On July 16, 1767, Mary Boyd received a warrant of survey for 100 acres 

of land on Crooked Run Creek; bound on all sides by vacant land. The plat 
5 

wee certified by Joseph Curry D.S. on September 8,1767. 

On September 7,1808, Mary Alston (widow of John Alston), James Brown 

and his wife Jane, ill11lee Boyd (Jr.) and his wife Nancy, all heirs of the 

elder William Boyd, sold William Brown their share in the undivided estate of 

ira Boyd Sr. tor $100. This share was a tract of land on Crooked Run Creek, 

Fairfield District that had been granted William Boyd Sr. on October 13,1772. 

M * ^ Brown and David Alston witnessed the transaction. Jane Brown and Nancy 
6 

Boyd signed their releases. These same heirs of William Boyd Sr. sold James 

Andrews 138 acres of land on Alligator Creek, Little River, for $276 on 

November 2,1815. This land was part of 400 acres granted James Daniel on 

January 21,1785,and by him sold to William Boyd on January 13&14, 1790. This 

land was bound northeast on land granted Joshua Cherry,northwest and west on 

lands of the estate of George Ashford, southwest on land of Charles Brown, 
7 

and southeast on John Lewis. Jane Brown and Nancy Boyd signed their releases. 

B«vill, List of Protestant Immlgrsnts, P-78. 

5- C-p.,Vol.l3,P-307, 1767. 

'•D.B., Bk.S,p.39,18< 

7-Iiid, Bk.Y.P-200,1815. 

http://passage.lt
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<** December 7,1817, these sane heirs of William Boyd Sr. sold Ezekiel Frazier 

46 acres of land out of the same tract on Alligator Creek,Little River, that 

had been originally granted to James Daniel, and by him sold to William Boyd 

In accordance with an Act of the South Carolina Legislature for non-payment 

county. This land was bound northeast on land of Edward Andrews and 

land of James Mann, southeast on land of Richard Thompson , southwest on lands 
8 

Ezekiel Frazier and John Sims. 

From the naming of the heirs of William Boyd Sr., we can be certain that 

Mary Boyd was the wife of John Alston and daughter of William Boyd Sr, and 

that Mary Alston (Sr.) had a brother William Boyd Jr. and a sister Jane 

ehrwn, wife of James Brown. 

John Alston was a deputy surveyor and prior to the Revolutionary War 

he was quite active in surveying land in and around Fairfield County. He 

wwm service in the Revoutionary War and was paid 4 pounds, 17 shillings, 
9 

pence, st |f for 34 dayt i€rvlce in the militia in 1781. 

John Alston was born in 1739 and died in 1787 at the age of 48 years. 

His wife Mary Boyd Alston was born In 1749 and died on Julv 11,1826, at the 
10 

••• of 77 years. They are buried in the Alston Familv Graveyard. 

John Alston made hia will on June 2,1787, and it was proven on June 16, 

1787. This was a death-bed will tod there was the notation that" these words 

•poken by John Alston on his deeth -bed before James Mann,William Boyd Jr. 

- F-D.H., Mc. X,P-/.1J -17. 

^evolutionary War Records, S.C.Dept. Archives and Historv. 

n8criptions on tomstones,Alston family graveyard,copied by Sarah G.McBride. 
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Mrs. Jenny Brown In his own homeM. He Intended that all of his children 

to share equally in his property, but that his eldest son Samuel Alston 

*** to have first choice and share a little better than his other children, 

^fao* he did not mention. James Brown and Robert Boyd appointed to manage the 

•state. All moveable prop* o remain in the hands of his wife Mary, as 

i o Q* a s she lived or remained unmarried. The warrant of appraisement was dated 

August 14,1787, and was directed to William Boyd, John Walker ,John Bell and 
11 

BArard McGraw. 

Although John Air, named his son Samuel, there were several 

children. The following have been identified,although others might have been 

loet or died young. 

Samuel Alston, 1770-Julv 3,1834. 

Mary Alston Jr., August 24,1772 - August 26.1857. 

James Alston died in LS41 in the 68th years of his age. 

Jane McKinstry, wife ol -nas McKinstr 

Margaret McKinstr| cKInst-

David Alston. 

It is possible that one of the daughters of John and Mary Boyd Alston 

l M nan»d Rachel and married Francis Walker. Mary Alston Sr. gave Rachel 

alker, wife oi Francis Walker, four head of black breeding cattle on 

November 3,1787. 

n-F.P.C.,Apt. 1, 111 e 2,1787. 

l2- F.D.B.m Bk.B,P-179,1787. 
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The will of Mary Alston Jr. ,daughter of John and Mary Boyd Alston, 

wee made on April 4,1848, and proven on September 9,1857. This will gives 

ue an improved knowledge 0 <> children of John and Mary Boyd Alston. 

To the children oi her deceased sister Margaret McKinstry (wife of John 

McKinstry?), she gave $400 to be equally divided. To the children of her 

deceased sister Jane Mc Kinetrv (wife of Thomas McKinstry),she gave $400. To 

her niece Harriet E.Kennedv (wife of Alexander Kennedy Sr.) she gave the 

bed designed by her grandmother. To her niece Mary E.Smart, she gave a bed. 

To her nirece Elizabeth M.Pearson (daughter of her brother James Alston and 

wife of Dr. George Butler Pearson) she gave a bed. The rest of her property 

to be divided among the children of her brothers and sisters with these 

exceptions: two note of $500 each of her nephew James S.T.Alston to be 

deducted from her brother David Alston's(deceased) share; the note for 

3300 given by her nephew John A.Alston,September 16,1834, to be deducted from 

her brother Samuel's share; the balance of the share due her brother David 

(deceased) to be given to her nephew John A.Alston, who will act as trustee 

for David's children;the dist lve share of her nieces Nancy Broom and 

oily Hendrix to be turned over to their brother Thomas W.Mckinstry as 

trustee ;Will iam J.Alston to hold his sister Elizabeth M.Pearsonfs share as her 

ruetee. Hilllea J .All rhomas McKinstry and Samuel Owens were named her 

xecutors. Her personal property was appraised at $4635 on September 26,1857, 

m Copeland, Daniel V.Frazier and Stephen Gibson. Notes due her were valued 

585. Thomas McKinstry bought 540 acres of land from her estate on 

tober 15,1857. The total value of her estate was $25,653, 26, to be divided 
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into five shares of $5130,65,each. The money to be distributed as follows 

John A.Alston as trustee in Negroes and notes for $5180, and was overpaid 

by $32; Thomas W.McKinstr ind his sisters $5128 as a share and 

$439.60 as legacies; John McKinstrv was entitled to $1391.90 as a quarter 

share and legacy; Mrs. P.(Po iendrix received property and Negroes 

valued at $1044 and $269. r>h In cash for a total of $1282 (the arithmetic 

la theirs) ;Mrs. N.(Nancy) Broom received $1391.90: Mrs Pearson received in 

Negroes, notes and cash $: >, and was overpaid $0.45; the Owens were paid 

otal of $3016.83. 

Mary Alston Jr. lived to be 85 years of age, never married, became quite 

wealthy, and is buried near her father and mother in the Alston family 

graveyard. 

SAMUEl ON, eldest child of John and Mary Boyd Alston,was a surveyor, 

anner, Justice of the Peace, Justice of the Quorum, surveyor to run the line 

between Kershaw and Fairfield Districts in 1818,representee from Fairifeld 

District in the South Carolina House of Representives,1806-1808,1810-1812, 

1814-1816, and Senator from Fairfield District In South Carolina Senate 
14 

1816-1820. 

Samuel Alston was born in 1770 and died on July 3, 1834, at the age of 

years. He never married. He is buried in the Alston gamily graveyard near 

Mo^ydale. 

Samuel Alston had 103% acres of land surveyed for him on Little River 

^ y 8,1804, by Henry Moore,D.S.: bound by the lands of Thomas Upherion, 

i ̂  
F-p.C.,Apt. 112, in. 585,1857. 

" Arnolds and Pan< , i,,. Dir. of the Senate of S.C..P-172 
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held In 1804 by James Elliott, the estate of James Robertson, by land 

grented to Joshua Badger and held by George Ashford, by the estate of 

Harris Freeman, and by the estate of John Charles. The grant was dated 

October 1,1804. 

On April 2 , Samuel Alston D.S. surveyed 140 acres of land for 

hl"»elf on Riley Branch of Little River, Fairfield District. The plat was 

certified by Win lam Clark on August 25, 1812. The land was bound by the 

lands of James Mann, Edward Pigg,James Elliott, the estates of James McCants 

16 
and James Freshley. A fort in the road to Columbia was near the estate. 

17 
Seeejel Alston sold this land to Christian Freshley for $140 in January 1813. 

On June 13, 1821, Samuel Alston,with William Robertson .Nicholas Wirick 

and James McCants, were appointed Commissioners of the Court of Equity for 

Fairfield District for the pertition and distribution of the estate of 

Jacob Turnipseed. They laid off for Catherine Turnipseed a tract of 72 acres 

of land on Cedar Creek that had been granted to Mark Davis (Davies) for 

100 acres in December L766, tad also part of 260 acres of land that had been 

granted Jacob Rebaom. ipseed) on December 10,1794. On this same day, they 
18 

laid off a tract of 60 acres for Mary Barbara Turnipseed. 

William Nix, the town of Camden, sold Samuel Alston 336 acres of 

land on Little Cedar Creek for $400 on August 23, 1831. This land had been 

granted to Daniel Brown Esq. on January 1,1787. William Brown and Thomas 

M WA 1 9 

ncaunstry witnessed the deed. 

1 5 " S - P . , I n d e x 2,Vol .40 .P-308; S.i;. V o l . 5 0 . P - 4 3 6 , 1 8 0 4 . 

: - P . V o l . 4 3 , P - 2 l 5 , 1 8 1 2 . 

1 7 - P . D . B . , !<k.V,i>-194,1813. 

l 8 - Ibid^ .E .P-138 ,221 ,1821 . 

1 9 ~ I t i d , Bk. KK.P-249,1831. 
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Christian Freshly sold Samuel Alston 152 acres of land on Crooked Run 

Creek for $456 on October 5,1822. This land was part of 250 acres granted 

Michael Lightner (sic) on May 15,1 his land was bound north on the 

estate of John Alston (deceased) and Samuel Alston, east on the estate of 

Daniel Brown (deceaeed) and the lands of Christian Entzminger,southwest on 

the lands of Hugh Delacote, and west on Samuel McKinstr cv Freshley 

signed her release. 

William Mott sold Samuel Alston 24% acres of land (on Crooked Run 

Creek?) for $122.50 an January 2,1830. This land was part of 250 acres originally 

granted Nathaniel Boyd In May 1768, and bound noethwest on the land of Samuel 

McKinstry, southwest on Lei Samuel Alston, and northeast on William Mott. 

iam Brown and Aughei >ovell were witnesses. Harriet Mott signed her 
21 

release. 

George Ashford, in hie laet will and testament, directed his executrix 

and executors to sell all of his land southwest of Little River.On November 5, 

1805, and in compliance wi Li will, his executors John W.Rabb, Thomas 

Rabb and Jemimah BrOVB told Samuel Alston all interest in 47 acres for $44. 

The heirs of John Robertson had sold George Ashford this land, and the 47 
22 

acres was part of 300 granted John Robertson on October 3,1785. 

John Stanton,Fairfield District ,sold Samuel Alston 100 acres of land 

on Crooked Run Creek for $130 on October 4,1815. This land was originally 

Jl 

F-D.B., Bk.KK,P-26,1822. 

21- Ibid, Bk.KK.P-266,1830. 

22- Ibid^ KK,P-P-2 
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-ited to Janet Boyd , now married to John Walker, on March 2, 1768; bound 

northwest, north and southeast on the estate of John Alston (deceased), 
23 

and southwest on Samuel Alston. 

The 1822 tax returns for Fairfield District showed Samuel Alston as 

the owner of 795 acrea of land and 38 slaves in Fairfield District, 400 acres 
24 

in Newberry District, and 350 acres of land in Chester District. 

Samuel Alston died July 3,1834, without wife or legimate children. On 

October 13,1835, the distributers of the estate of Samuel Alston Esq. decided 

upon this division of his real proper­

ties Alston to have 143*5 acres of land to the west of Little River: 

bound on the north by the land of William Brown, east by Little River, south 

by the land of Gabriel Friday, and wes Vatt's land. 

Mary Alston to have the 100 acre bounty tract granted her mother Mary 

Boyd , and a second tract adjoining Margaret McKinstrv and made up out of 

lend purchased from William Mott, and a third tract being part of land 

originally granted Jane Boyd, also part of a tract originally granted Jacob 

Bream, and part of the Freahley tract. 

The representives of Margaret McKinstry to have 358% acres of land on 

rooked Run Creek: hound by the lands of Mary Alston ,Jane McKinstry, William 

Robertson, James Alston, Vincent Bell, the Camacks, and William Motte. 

Jane McKinstry to have 152% acree of land on Little Cedar Creekrbound 

north by the land of Mary Alston(Jr.), west by land of William Robertson, 

23* F-D.B.,Bk.KK,P-, 

*x Returns ,1822. 
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on the south and west by the lands of Jacob Wirick. 

David Alston to have 171 acres of land: bound on the east by William 

Robertson, south by Wvrlck land, and west by Jane McKinstrv. 

James Owens and his wife Amy,or Anne, to have a lot in Columbia contain­

ing one-quarter acre. 

This document was signed by James Alston, Mary Alston, John McKinstry 

for himself and other representives of Margaret McKinstry, William Brown as 

«f*nt for David Alston, James Owens for himself and his wife, Thomas (W) 

McKinstry for Jane McKinstey. James Brown and Mary Ann Mott witnessed this 
25 

mt. 

David Alston had moved to Crawford County, Georgia, where on 

August 18,1834, he gave William Brown of Fairfield District, his power -of-
26 

attorney to receive his legacy from his brother Samuel's estate. 

Jane McKinstry had moved to Pickens County, South Carolina, where on 

ll,183r), ahe gave Samuel McKinstrv her power-of-attomev to sell her land 
, . 27 
lying adjacent to the Wirick Ian 

JAMES ALSTON, second son and third child of John and Mary Boyd Alston, 

"aa bom in 1773 or 1774 and died in 1841 in the 68th years of his age. 

uilt his home on a bear site between Monticello and Broad River. 

The h 
ouse vu8 burned by Sherman's troops. He became quite wealthy and 

€ t a x returns for 1822 showed him as the owner of 4007 acres of land and 

27 el aves 

•F.D.B.,Bk.LL,l -

26-Ibid, Bk.l.L, P- 549,1834. 

27~ Ibid, Bk.LL,P-550, 

28-Bolick,A Fairfield Sketchbook,P-210. 

29- Tax Returns l 12. 
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Francis Lee Sold James Als 0 acres of land on Cedar Creek for 

5250 on January 9,18< Li land was part of 197 acres granted George Smith 

on April 2;1792 : bound northeast by land of George Smith, east by land of 

T—f n Craig, south on the estate of Peter Entzminger, west on lands of Evans 

^ig and Herman Douglas. Elizabeth Lee appeared before Timothy Rives, J.P., 

and signed the release of her dowrv rights. James Alston sold this land to 

Thomas McKinatry for $300 on May 25, 1805. Frances (she signed herself Frankey) 
30 

Aleton aigned her release. 

Charles Compty, Richland District, sold James Alston 899 acres of land 

on Big and Little Cedar Creeks for $200 on January 5,1805. This land was 

Charles Compty's distributive share of 3800 acres of land that had been 

grante \fay 10,1786, m •' John 

Cowpty's estate. This land was bound on the north by the land of John Compty, 

***t by the lands of John Broom and William Kirkland,south by land of 

Rebekah Compty, west by the lands of John Halgwood and James Alston, north-

wmmt by land of James Heart (Hart). Mary Winn signed a release of her dowry 

rights for the entire 3800 acres on February 21,1824. This included 321 acres 

of land that Rebecca fcy .daughter of Major John Compty and wife of 

Peter McGuire, had sold James Alston for $250 on October 10, 1811. This land 

**• conveyed by the Winns to Thompson Whitehouse, who in turn conveved it to 
31 

Major John Compty. 

Reuben Bailey,Fairfield District, sold James Alston 50 acres of land 

30-F.D.p -35,18 Q,P-335,1805. 

JX- Ibid, Bk.PfP-22l;B.VfP-209; - L3. 
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on Crooked Run Creek for $50 on September 19,1805; being part of 300 acres 

of land that had been granted to Christian Entzmlnger on September 21,1771: 

bound northwest on the estate of James Hunt (deceased), south on the land of 

Haraon Wirey,east on the estate of Daniel Brown (deceased),west on the 

estate of Daniel Frazier and on John Erlck's land. The next year on August 19, 

1806, James Alston sold this land to Harmon Wirev (Wirick) for $100. Frances 

AI
 3 2 

Alston signed her release. 

Samuel Alston D.S., laid off 270 acres of land for James Alston on 

December 22, 1802, This land was the residual of 422 acres that had been 

granted Thomas Trapp on July 7, 1800, and lay on Trapp's Branch of Big Cedar 

Creek : bound by the lands of Roland Williamson, the estate of Major John 

Coapty, the estate of William Trapp, and Thomas Smith's land. William Trapp 

sold James Alston this land for $120 on January 13,1810. Rachel Trapp 

gned her release.Thomas Trapp, James Taylor and Samuel Alston were witnesses 

Sale. James Alston Solil this land to William Shaver, mechanic, for 
33 

$300 on May 19,1814. Frankey (Frances) Alston signed her release. 

James Hart, Fairfield Disi James Alston 300 acres of land for 

$900 on April 3, 1810. This land lay on Little Cedar Creek and had been 

originally granted to Jemes Audey on May 2,1770, At the time of the 

original survey, this land wss 1 :>y vacant land , but at the time of the 

e, it was bound south and west by the land of James Alston, north bv land 

of TKn- 3 4 

"Wmas Robertson and on the east by land of William Brown. 

32" p.D.B.,Bk. Q.Pp.- 22,1805. 

* IMd, Bk.V,pp..2()3>2()/<,l810;Bk.W,P236, 1814. 

" Ibid, Bk. V.P-208,1810. 
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James Alston and Joseph Kirkland, equally responsible, bought 1840 acres 

(originally surveyed for 2000 acres) of land on Terrible Creek of Broad 

River.This land was granted to Phillip Porcher on November 22, 1771, and willed 

by him to his sons George and Isaac Porcher. George Porcher died and Joseph 

Palmer, St. John's Parish, Berkeley, acted for Frederic A., Marianne,Joseph P., 

and AnnPorcher, all minor children of George Porcher. This land was sold by 

court order on December 20,1816. James Alston gave Joseph Palmer , acting 

for the children of George Porcher, a mortgage for the penal sum of $5520 

(actual sum $2760). On the same day, he gave Isaac Porcher his bond for the 

same sum; also, on this same day, he gave Mary Ann (Marianne) Porcher, widow 

of George Porcher, his bond for the penal sum of $1840(actual sum $920). On 
35 

December 6,1816, Joseph Palmer,Isaac and Mary Ann Porcher signed the deed. 

On November 2, 1833, James Alson, for the love and affection that he 

had for his daughter Elizabeth M.Pearson, gave her 2303 acres of land on 

Terrible Creek, Broad River, that included the land that he had purchased from 

the heirs of Phillip Porcher, and part of 216.3 acres that he had purchased 

from David Montgomery on March 5, 1832. He had sold Nathaniel Major 78 

acres :out of the Porcher tract for $75 on August 7,1821. He also gave his 
36 

daughter several slaves. 

On February 17, 1825, Phillip Pearson Sr. sold James Alston 908 acres 

of land for $9080. This land was made up out of these several tracts: 

35- F.D.B., Bk.Y,Pp.-100,103,328,331,342, 1816. 

36- Ibid. Bk.LL,Pp-53,76,1833. 
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1-300 acres of land granted Thomas Williams on August 13,1756. 

2-Northwest portion of 200 acres of land granted Martin Shirer on 

Mey 2,1770. 

3- Southeast portion of land granted Elizabeth Shirer on June 23,1774. 

4- 71 acres of land granted William McKillroy on Aprl2l,1775. 

5- Northeast portion of 85 acres of land granted Phillip Pearson on 

February 6, 1804. 

This land lay northeast of Broad River and was bound southeast on the 

river and the heirs of Benjamin May, northeast on the heirs of Benjamin May, 

and the lands of (HH 1 M Brown and William McKillroy, northeast on land of 

George Free , land oi the heirs of McKell and heirs of George Ruff,southeast 

on heirs of Mc Kell and George Hull, Dr. Frederick Rhimer and William 

Thornton. William F.Pearson and William MAy were witnesses to the transaction, 

Mary Pearson signed her release. James Alston gave this land to his son 

William J.Alston on November 2, 1833, for the love and affection that he had 
37 

tor him P ft, 

John Buchanan, Commissioner in Equity for Fairfield District, caused to 

be sold at public on he purpose of partition , 597.2 acres of land 

that had belonged to Benjamin May (deceased). This land lay northeast of 

road River and bordered on the river. James Alston bought this land as the 

highest bidder for $4415.27, and received the commissioner's title on 
38 

•ovember 7, 18.' 

37- r*B«B.,*.ir,»-t36fU2! L,P-77,1833. 

3 8- Ibid^ Bk.GG,P-59,lH 
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In a suit brought by Isaac Whipple to recover $36.66 from Benjamin May Jr., 

Sheriff Beatty,Fairfield District, offered for sale at public outcry 

Benjamin May Jr.'s interest in 784 acres oi land on Broad River. James Alston 

purchased these rights for $1 on July 17,1828. This 784 acres of land was 

bound by the lands of James Alston, William Brown,William McGraw, William 

Stanton and James Finley. lay northeast of the river and was bound south-
39 

west on the river 

William Brown sold James Alston 105 acres of land on Hunter's Branch, 

Broad River, for $230 on November 6,1829. This land was made up out of 100 

acres granted Elizabeth Shirer , and out of another tract of 73 acres. The 

land was bound on the nort of Charles Free, and on the south and 

west by James Alston's lan< izabeth,wife of William Brown signed her 
40 

release. 

On February 20,1833, James Alston,for the goodwill that he had"toward 

religion and literature Mf gave to the trustees of Buffalo Stomp Meeting 

House three acres of land on a spring branch of Big Cedar Creek; being part 

f 4 1 

or a tract of 3800 acres of land originally granted John and Minor Winn. 

James Alston sold John Hinnant 340 acres of land on Little Cedar 

^ek for $1020 on December 19,1833. This land was part of the 3800 acres 

granted John and Minor Wi:. tad on the east and northeast by land of 

r Broom, on south by land of James Alston, on the west and northwest 

39~ F'D- 1^203,1828. 

*°- Ibid., Bk.HH-2,l>-11 3,1829. 

4l-lbid, Bkf LL,P-33,1^ 
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by the land of John Hinnant ,and on the northwest bv the land of James Alston. 
42 

H(Henry) Alston Owens and Aaron Powell witnessed this sale. On the same day, 

Janes Alston sold Aaron Powell 154% acres of land out of this tract on Little 
43 

Cedar Creek for $* 

James Alston sold Phillip D.Cook 204 acres of land for $2040 on 

September 1^,1834: bound north and northwest by land of Jesse Hendrix, east 

oo land of Charles Broom, south on land of John Hinnant, and on the southwest 

and west by land oi James Alston. Aldolphus E.Pearson and George B.Pearson 

witnessed the sale. On this same day, Phillip D.Cook gave James Alston a 
44 

mortgage on this land for the penal sum of $4080, actual sum $2040. 

imes Alston sold Aaron Powell 13 acres of land on Little Cedar Creek 

for $260 on February 22, 1836; being part of a grant to John Miles on Marchl9, 

1771. He sold him an additional 15% acres for $750 on August 20,1839, out of 

the same grant. On this same day, August 20, 1839, James Alston sold Aaron 

Powell 155 acres oi land n an original grant to John and Minor Winn. 

James Alston sold Aaron Powell a total of 338 acres of land on Little Cedar 
45 

Creek. 

Joseph Richardson sold James Alston 51 acres of land on Neely Branch 

(or Creek) for $331.33 on February 23,1840; bound on the north by land of 

Stewart Mitchell, east by William Holmes, south by Thomas Long, west by 

42-F.D.B.,Bk.LL,P-105,1833. 

«-Ibid, Bk.LL,] 1833. 

* 4 - i b i d , J V 2 5 , 1834. 

4 5 - I b i d ^ Bk.MM,P-322,183' M N , P P . - 1 8 0 , 1 8 1 , 1 8 3 9 . 
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land of G.W.Saunders, and Northwest by the land of John D.Stanton. Mary, wife 
46 

of Joseph Richardson>signed her release. 

James Alston made his will on December 31,1839, and died on August 16, 

1841. He is buried in the Kirkland cemetery beside his wife Frances who had 

i on November 29,1823, aged 46 years, 7 months. He had two children : a 

daughter Elizabeth M. who married Dr. George Pearson and a son William John 

Alston. His daughter Elizabeth died on July 20,1868, at the age of 71 years 

and is buried with her husband in the Pearson family ceroete: 

James Alston left his daughter Elizabeth M.Pearson three slaves ; a bed 

and bedstead his room; his desk , bookcase and one-half of his books; 

all the mules, horses, cattle and hogs that he leaves on his Hogsbook place; 

one-half of the plantation gears and tools; one half of his shares in the 

Broad River Bridge Company,C.C.Railroad and Southwestern Bank; one half of the 

proceeds from the sale of his Cedar Creek place that lies west of Cedar Creek; 

one-half of the proceeds from the sale of his Little River place that he 

Inherited from his brother Samuel; all of the purchase money from the recent 

•ale of land to Aaron Powell and the land about to be purchased by Phillip D. 

Cook; and one-half of all of the money in his possesion or owed him. 

To his son William John Alston, he left all the mules, horses, cattle, 

bogs on the May place,and the remaining half of all the property left his 

daughter Elizabeth.. 

He ordered the sale of hisMold Cedar Creek place" and the Little River 

Place that he had inherited from his brother Samuel. To his grandchildren, 

- F-D.B. Bk.NN,P-443,1840. 
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children of his daughter Elizabeth M.Pearson: George Butler Pearson, Emeline 

Martha Pearson and Mary er,he left slaves and land on Broad River and 

Terr*ble Creek and known as the Hogbook place. This place, made up out of the 

Hall and Thomas lands, had been purchased from John Thomas, Chester District, 

and John Mclvc la, for $7075 on January 14,1833. Dr. George B. 

Pearson and William J.Alston were made trustees of the legacies to the 

Pearson childr. 

To his grandchildren, children of his son William John Alston, he left 

the May tract and the Compty tract,which included all of the land lying 

***t of the road from Winnsborough to Columbia;and also the Broom tract. 

George B.Pearson and William John Alston to act as trustees for the legacies 

of the children ol William John Alst 

To Harriet Broom he left the slave Mary and her mother Eliza. 

He named his son-in-law Dr. George B.Pearson and his son William J. 

Alston as his executors. 

WILLIAM JOHN ALSTON, son of James and Frances Kirkland Alston, grandson 

of John and Mai d Alston, was twice married. His first marriage was to 

Marianne Brown of John's Island, and by her he had children William Samuel 

and Marianne K.Alston. His second marriage was to Susannah Pope Cook of 

Fairfield District, and by her he had the following children:Phillip C , 

Frances K. and Joseph K.Alston. 

'Hie will of Williea J.Alston was proven on July 20,1868. He appointed 

his son William Samuel Alston as trustee for himself and for his sister 

4 7- F.P.C,Apt. lie 65, 1841. F.D.B.,Bk.LL,P-273,1833. 
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Marianne K. Alston to inherit the Holllngshead place. This land was bound 

northwest by the land of Daniel Hughy , northeast by land of Daniel Hughy and 

the estate of the late Dr G.F.Furman, southeast by the land of Nathan Holley, 

and south by the Broad River. William Samuel and Marianne K. Alston to inherit 

the tract ol containing 596 acres, lying on See Wee Bay, Christ Church 

Parish, Charleston District, and inherited by their mother Marianne Brown 

Alston from her father James Brown (deceased) Susan Pope Cook Alston, second 

wife of William John Alston, and her children, P.C., Frances K. and Joseph K. 

48 
Alston, to inherit the rest of his property. They inherited these 

Plantati ons: 
north 

1- Home plantatio e lands of Thomas Dawkins, Charles Free, 

Burr Harrison and Mrs Martha Hawkins; east by the lands of the Widow 

Robertson (formerly the Ian Z. Day) and Thomas Bell; south by the lands 

-.C.Bell and Mary C.Harvey (she had married a Harvery, formerly the lands 

of Mary C.Bell), and Daniel Hu^hy; and on the west by the Broad River. 

2- A tract of about 25 acres near Shiloh Church where he had allowed 

Mrs ft#ens to live. 

3- A tract of 83 acres of land between John McMeekin and Mr Ruff's 

Place, formerly belonging to David Long and bought at a sheriff's sale. 

A tract oi 152 acres where he permits I German to live: bound 

orthwest by land ol John Stanton, northeast by Mr Curry, southeast by 

McMeekin,and west by land »j A.McMeeki 

5- About 150 acres of land on Little River near Brown bridge and bound 

by the land of Mr.W.Trapp. 

* • full names of these children were probably Phillip Cook Alston, Frances 

and Alston, and Joseph Kirkland Alst 
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6- A tract of 800 acres of land on Little Cedar Creek where he grew up: 

bound on the east by Little Cedar Creek,south by land of Mrs. F.Powell, west 

by land of Mr Camack , southwest by the land of the late William Robertson, 

and north by the land of General P.D. Cook. 

7- A tract of two surveys: one on the east and one on the west side of 

the road from Winnsborough to Columbia, and in the boundary where Buffalo 

Church stands; containing 500 acres and bound by the lands of Hinnant, 

Broom ,Powell and Kirkland. 

8- A tract of land not far from Ashford's Ferry and where Tresvant 

Ogilivy lives as a quasi purchaser since he has paid nothing. 

He named his son William S. Alston as his executor and his wife Susan P. 

Alston as the executrix of his estate. 

There were several interesting items in his estate papers: September 20, 

P.C.A. traveling expenses $250.15. P.C.A. &J.K.A. clothes $27.00. 

March 29,1873, expenses for P.C.A and J.K.A to Sewanee $156.60%. 

January 20,1874, Articles for Phillip from R.L.Bryan, $8.75. 

April 14, 1874, shoes and clothes for J.K.A. at start of term. 

June 4, 1874, tuition for J.K.A. at University of the South, $150. 

October 1,1874, University of the South, $190. 

September 30,1874, funeral expenses(person not named), $91.61. 

April 9,1875, University of the South,$200. 

August 11, 1875,University of the South, $180. 

December 3,1875, expenses of Fanny, Joe and myself( (Wm,S.A.) to 

Charleston, $32.05. 
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December 13, 1874, cash to Joe and Fanny, $3S. 

December 31, 1875, sent to Fanny,$40. 

Apparently Susan P.Alston remarried a Cook and died intestate with 
49 

three minor children on May 31,1870. 

Colonel Joseph K.Alston was in command of the First S.C.V. Regiment 

In the Spanish American War. They left for Chickamauga Park on June 6, 1898, 

and stayed there in training for a few months before they returned to 

50 
Columbia where they were mustered out on November 10.1898. 

William Lemuel Alston gave William J.Alston his bond for the penal sum 

of $800.50, actual sum $400.25, and gave a mortgage on a slave to secure 
51 

this sum. 

nn November 24, , George Owens and his wife Nancy sold William J. 

Alston 55 acres of land on Wilkinson Creek for $345,50; bound on the north 

t>7 the lands ol William Bell, east and south by the heirs of Hugh 

Montgomery (or H.A.Glenn), west by land of William J.Alston and George 

Seigler. This land was part of a tract originally granted George Seigler. 

Daring her widowhood, .md under the name of Nancy Montgomery, the land had 

been conveyed to her by Minor Seigler on January 5,1828. The widow Nancy 
52 

Montgomery had married George (X*ene. 

John Holllngshead and wife Barbara sold William J.Alston 496 acres 

of land for $7500 on Novembe 1835: bound on the west by Broad River, 

4 9- F.P.C,file ZH,PkK. 318,1868. 

50- Hennig,Columbia, P-293. 

**• .LL,P275,1834. 

52- Ibid, Bk.MM,I>')8,lH34. 
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north by the land .Davis, east by the land of George Seigler, 

William Free,and Mrs George Owens, and south by the land of Hargrove 

^ur Glenn. This land was made up out of several tracts: 

1- Barbara Kinsler Roll inghead'a distributive share from her father 

Herman Kinsler'a estate, 

2-A tract of 35 acres bought by John Holllngshead from Thomas McMeekin. 

3-A tract of 55 acres bought from Thomas McMeekin on October 22,1832. 

4- A tract of 31 acres conveyed to John Holllngshead by Mioner Seigler, 

Isaac Free and his wife on December 5,1825. 

5- A tract of 33 acres conveyed to John Holllngshead by Minor Seigler 

on December 20,1826. 

Barbara Holllngshead signed her release. This land was probahlv rb 
53 

referred to as the "Hoilingshead place" in the will of William J.Alston. 

Elizabeth McKell, David McKell and William Bell Sr., executrix and 

^-ecutors of the estate of William McKell, sold William J.Alston 288 acres 

of land for $720 on December 1,1835. This land was made up out of two tracts: 

one tract of 97 acres was conveyed to William Bell for William McKell by 

Jacob Dansby; a second tract of 191 acres of land conveyed to the heirs 

at law of William McKell bv Henry Memer on December 18,1823. This land was 

bound on the north by the lat Nathan Free, east by the lands of Zachariah 

Day and Wiliiam Bell, south by lands in guardianship for William Cole,a 

free person - } anci the lands of William J.Alston and the heirs of 

william Thornton, west by land of William J.Alston. 

53-F.D.B., Bk.MM,P-60,1835. 

I^Id^ Bk.MM,l'-144, 1835. 
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As president of the Monticello -Jefferson Society, William J.Alston 

sold several parcels ol Lei 

1- Sold s two acre tract of land in the village of Monticello to 

John Dawkins for $45 on October 17,1836: bound northeast on De Calb (sic) 

Street, southeast on Wooater Street, southwest on Campbell Street, and northwest 

on Warren Street. 

2- Sold Nathan Cook, who was acting for "the Winnsborough Circuit Parson­

age In the Village 0f Monticello
M and the trustees of this organization: 

Mathan Cook, Burrell B.Cook, John P.Cook, William Holmes,George B.Pearson, 

Daniel B.Kirkland Si in R.Buchanan, two half acre lots in the village of 

Monticello : 9 on December 28,1836. The two lots, totaling one acre, were 

nd north by wi, l?et, southeast on Montgomery Street, southwest by 

DeCalb(sic) Street, and on the >est by a lot belonging to the Monticello 

oclety and through which the path to the Academy from the village spring 

runs. 

3- Sold J.E.Pearson a lot in the village of Monticello which was the 

action of the Main Street which extended from the public road: bound by 

the lands of John Dawkins and upon which the office of J.E.(Erskine) 

Pearson stands. 

4- Sold James B.Davis two half-acre lots in the village of Monticello 

for $27 on July 10,1837, These lots were known as lots 9 and 10 on a plat 

**** bY Phillip Pearson on January 5,1803. 

^ e sale of these lots in the village of Monticello by William J.Alston 

vldes an Interesting ba, to the history of Monticello. The villagers 

•D-B.,Bk.MM,Pp..284,288,474,1836,1837, 
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proudly named the 1 lage in honor of the home of Thomas Jefferson, and 

seemed to expect a good growth with streets named in honor of prominent 

local citizens and heroes. Apparently the land upon which the anticipated 

village was to be built was owned- or controlled-by the Monticello- Jefferson 

Society. 

Nathan Free, Fairfield District, sold William J.Alston 1.65 acres 

for $34 on March 13,1839. This land was bound on the north by the land of 

Mathan Free and on all other sides by William J.Alston. Nathan Free obtained 

this land from his father George Free, who had purchased it from Jacob 

Dansby as part of 100 acres in 1805. This land was part of 200 acres of 

land granted Isham Dansby on February 7,1171, This tract adjoined 4 acres 

56 
that had been sold to William J.Alston on September 24, 1834. 

Nathan Free sold William J.Alston 73 3/4 acres of land for $591 on 

November 2,1840; bound north and east by the land of Nathan Free, south and 

57 
^••t by land of William J.Alston. A.W.Yongue and Jesse Nelson were witnesses. 

On April 19,1842, Nathan Free sold William J.Alston 115 acres of land 

on a branch emptylnK Into Broad River for $920: bound north and northeast on 

leads of Nathan Freefeast on land of Hugh Bell,south and west on land of 

58 
William J.Alston. John Dawkins and H.H.Counts were witnesses. 

William Matthews, Crawford County, Georgia, sold William J.Alston 57 

acres of land tor $400 on April 3, 1838. The land lay on Owens Branch, 

Broad River, and had formerly belong to William Bell: bound by lands of 

56-F.D.B.,Bk.NN ,1839 

-Ibldj Bk.NN.P- ^40. 

58* Ibid. Bk.00,P-68,1842. 
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William Bell on the east, an liam J.Alston on the west. John Matthews 

*Uid Patrick M.Calhoun, < rawford County, Georgia, were witnesses. Sarah, wife 
59 

of William Matthews signed her release. 

Hargrave Arthur Glenn sold William J.Alston 32 acres of land for $50 on 

March 10,1842. This land lay near Richardson Branch , and had been granted 

to Daniel Wooten on February 6, 1786: bound northeast on land of Elliott 

Elkln, southeast by the land of H.A.Glenn, south and northwest by land of 

William J.Alston. Charles and Samuel A.Montgomery were witnesses. Margaret J. 

^ 6 0 

Olenn signed her release. 

DAVID ALSTON was the third son of John and Mary Boyd Alston.William I. 

•Wgustine, for the love and affection that he had for his grandsons John 

Aygustine Alston, William Lemuel Alston, and James Samuel Thomas Alston, and 

for $100,gave them the slaves Maugy, Daniel, Hannah, July, George, and Elsie 

on December 27,1812. James Alston and Nathaniel Parrott witnessed the deed. 

David Alston sold William I.Augustine the five months old slave Elsey for 

$200 on December 27,182. 

62 
David Alston's wife was named (Susannah) Ellen. It can be concluded 

that David Alston had married Susannah Ellen Augustine, and that they had the 

following sons: John Augustine, William Lemuel and James Samuel Thomas Alston. 

Mary Wiinnghamf on March 7, 1809, gave a note for $1000 to guarantee 

the title on several slaves that her son William Jr., not vet of age, had sold 
63 

l d Alston, a planter of Fairfield District. 

•D-B., Bk.00,P-59,1842. 

tt-ttUi Bk. w, Pp.-16,18,1812 

- IbUa. m\Jm\$\ -
6 3 - I l l ic i t Bk.:;, , 9 -
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Richard Dunkley sold David Alston 165 acres of land in Fairfield 

District on July 28,1809: northeast on land of Reason Williams, east on 

William Willingham , south on of William Ashley, west on lands of John 

Jones and Elijah Willingham.This tract was part of 496 acres of land granted 

Isaac Porcher on May 15,17 --, and by him conveyed to Thomas Woodward Jr., 

then in order conveyed to David McGraw, John Willingham, Mary Willingham, 

and finally to Richard Dunkley. William Ashley and Peter Upthegrove were 
64 

witnesses. 

On September 11, 1813, William Willingham sold David Alston 142^ acres 

of land on Morrison Creek ,Little River for $500:bound northwest on land of 

David Alston, northeast on land of Samuel Proctor, southeast on land of 

George Ashford, and southwest on lands.of William Ashley and John Dabnev. 

This land was William Will Ingham's distributive share of his father John 

lingham's estate, and was part of 200 acres of land granted John Andrews 
65 

on May 2,1772. 

David Alston sold the land bought from Richard Dunkley and William 
66 

Willingham,totaling 307** acres, to James Owens Jr. for $2000 on May 24,1816. 

William Bell Jr., son ol John Bell, sold David Alston 474 acres of land 

on Little River for $1844 on Ju This land was all of the land 

originally granted Oliver Dale and part of 430 acres granted John Buchanan 

ugust 7,1/Hr>: I these lands: on the east by James Phillips and Hugh 

Lling,north on John McDowell and Patrick Gladney, west on Little River,south 

*n Win l a m Kernaghan and James Phillips. James Beard and Hugh Mc Call witnessed 

67 
« * sale. Elizabeth Bell signed her release. 

" F-D.B.,Bk.S,P- s09, 

65*££i!,Bk.W,P-i07,1813. 

6*-Ibid^ Bk.AA, 

J 7" Ibid, Bk.Y,F- 15. 
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John Kelso, Fairfield District, sold David Alston 80 acres of land 

for $50 on August 18,1825. This land was part of a grant to Campbell Kennedy. 

Jane Kelso signed her release. 

As previously noted, David Alston had moved to Crawford County, 

rgia, prior to 1834. 

JOHN AUGUSTINE AI^TON was the son of David and Susannah Ellen 

Augustine Alston, the grandson ol John and Marv Alston, and the grandson of 

-Ham I.Augustine.On July 29,1834, John A. Alston,with his brother James S.T. 

Alston, gave their uncle James Alston a mortgage on 554 acres of land on Little 

River and Myrick Branch, and on two slaves ,to secure penal sum of $6055.38, 

actual sum $3027.69. This land was made up out of 474 acres purchased by 

David Alson from William Bell Sr. and 80 acres of land purchased bv David 

AI
 6 9 

Alston from John Kelso. 

John A.Alaton sold James Martin the 80 acres on January 1,1836. James 

Martin gave John A.Alston a mortgage on this land for the penal sum of 

$2000,actual $1000. This mortgage was satisfied by James Martin on December26, 

1841. 

WILLIAM L8NDIL ALSTON was a son of David and Susannah Ellen Augustine 

•ton, a grandson of John and Mary Boyd Alston, and a grandson of William I. 

Jgustine. in 1834, till ilea I .Alston gave his uncle James Alston a mortgage 

several slaves to cover and indebtedness of the penal sum of $3356.65, 

71 
tual sum $1678.32. On September 1,1834, he gave his cousin William J.Alston 

6 « - F . D . B . , H k . ! l H . i j > . 3 4 0 , 1 8 2 

' & t t i H k . L L , P p . - 2 7 3 , 2 7 4 , 1 8 3 4 . 

7 0 - Ibid, , Bk.MN , 4 , 5 5 . 1 

7 1- ttU, nt.LL,Fp.«260,261,1894, 
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a mortgage on a slave to cover an indebtedness on $800.50, penal sum, $450.25 
72 

actual sum. 

JAMES SAM1J1 MAS ALSTON was the son of David and Susannah Ellen 

Augustine Alston, grandson of John and Mary Boyd Alston, and grandson of 

William I.Augustine. On December 26,1836, he sold Thomas A.Rabb 472 acres of 

land on Little River lor $4720. This was the tract that William Bell Jr. had 

73 
sold David Alston on 13, 1816. 

James S.T.Alston died intestate in Fairfield District. Samuel H.Owens, 

on April 15, 1848, petitioned J.S. Stewart, Ordinary for Fairfield District, 

stating that James S.T.Alston had died intestate about April 1,1848, and that 

hm desired to serve as the administrator of his estate. The warrant of 

appraisement was issued on April 24,i84tt, to Jesse ^urry, Dr. K.S.Dargan, 

Colonel George Leitner and William A.Owens. He had a very classical library 

and was undoubtedly a very serious scholar. There was no mention of a wife or 

74 

children. The sale of his estate did not cover his indebtedness. 

72*F'D-B-> 1834. 

'liiiL Bk.Mf,P-297,1836 

7 4- F.P.C, Apt. 90, file 283,1848. 
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The Rawls fami1v has been scattered over South Carolina for a long 

time. The name has been written in several ways: Rawls, Ralls, Rahls. John 

Rahls had established himself in Saxe Gotha at an early date. In March 1762, 

John Rahls was one one the men who carried out the inventory on the chattel 
1 

goods of Jacob Lever. Catharine (sic), Christian, Daniel,Frederick, George, 

Jacob, Jacob Jr., John,Nancy, and Thomas Ralls were living and active early 

In the 1800's in Lexington District. The more modern spelling of the name 

was Rawls, and it Is by this name that we know the Rawls in Fairfield County 

and on Little Cedar Creek. Lexington District -or County-is the more home 

hOeee of the Rawls fami ! 

LUKE RAWLS was a resident of Fairfield Dlsrrict but verv little is 

known about him. e late 1790,s he was often a petit and grand juror 

In Fairfield County Coui 

Luke Rawla received a precept from John Bremar D.SG., on December 5, 

1/69, for 150 acres of land that was surveyed for him on Crain (Crane_) 

-reek, between the Congaree and Wateree Rivers: bound northwest by the 

lands of James Brown and southwest by the lands of Benjamin Evereats (sic). 

T h € Plat w a s cc f.d on December 15,1769n by Joshua Wombwell. 

Luke Rawls made aclaim for 10 pounds, 16 shillings, 5^ pence, sterling, 

for forage an irished during October and November 1781, to 

the miltia. He ished three cows for the use of General Pickings (Pickens) 

1-Inventories, Vol.V,Pp. 183,1761. 

'"olcomb, Memorialized Records. Lexington District, multiple references 

'Olcomb, Fairfield County Court Minutes, 1785-1799,Pp.108,122,128. 

*.,Vol.20.P-. 9, 
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Brigade. He lurnished sixty weight of pork , S bushel and a peck of corn for 
5 

the use of Captain Dawson's troops on October 12,1781. 

Luke Rawls had 414 acres of land granted him on a dry branch of Little 

Cedar Creek on April 3,1786. He sold John Woodward the 314 acres residue of 

this land on March 10,1796 for$214. William Strother, Leonard Miles and 

Elisha Haigood witnessed this transaction. 

GABRIEL RAWLS had 200 acres of land surveyed for him on Hammon(?) 

7 
Creek, Broad River,Camden District, on November 25,1784, by Alex. Johnston,D.S. 

ELIZA 'ETH RAWLS bought a black mare, 13 hands high and 13 years old, a 

black cow, a brindle calf, and all of his household goods from John Hasson on 

Movember 12,1801. 

JAMES RAWLSj or 10 pounds, 14 shillings,9 pence, lawful money, mortgaged 

imuel Matthews, February 22,1805, two feather beds and furniture, one 

p € W t e r dish and half a dozen pewter plates, two pots, a set of cups and saucers, 

*o crocks, two iron pots, one Dutch oven,one Ing pan, one case of knives 

and forks, two red cows, and a set of Joiners and carpenter tools. The debt 
9 

to be settled by the payment of $30 by James Rawls. 

JOHN H. AND THOMAS W.RAWLS sold Levi Trapp 154 acres of land for 

1800 on Janua 1832. This land was made up out of land granted William 

T 1 0 

*rapp on Trapp Branch of Big Cedar Creek on Deceber 2,1794. 

5- Revolutionary War Records. 

6-P.D.B.,Bk.CC,P-24.' , Index 1, \ o 1 . 8q ,P-491,1786 . 

•S-P. Index ] >V((, -8q^ | [ 7 8 ^ 

8-F-D.B.,Bk.N,P-374,l8()I. 

9-IM_d, p>k# P>!>-i93fl8(1 

10~ &tti NC«IK,P-281 ,1832, 
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JOHN I, RAWI.S bought 208 acres of land on Little Rocky Creek, part; 

Fairfield and partly in Chester District, from David McMillan,Green 

County, Ohio, hut e r i y 0f Fairfield District, for $1215 on June 4, 1834. 

This land was originally granted to Josiah Perry on December 22,1772. Nancy 

McMillan signed her release. On this seme dav, June 4,1834, David Mc Millan 

•old Jesse Rawls 108 acres out of the seme tract for $522. Jesse Rawls sold 

his 108 acres to James Sutton for $425 on December 31,1835. Jesse Rawls was a 
11 

resident of Chester District. 

•AULS, on Christmas Day 1833,bought 263 acres of land from 

Charles Montgomery for $2450. On this same day, Thomas W.Rawls gave Charles 

gomery a mortgage for the penal sum of $4800,actual sum $2400. The mortgage 
12 

to be pel e l g h L y „ l g # 

Lewis Haigood , on October 12,1837, sold Thomas W. Rawls the following 

1 for $1000: 

1- 150 3/4 acres of land bequeathed by William Haigood to his son 

Levis E.Haigood and originally granted William Haigood on December 9,1819. 

« e land lay on Peraimnx k of Big Cedar Creek, and was bound on the west 

oj lande of Wiin.,,,, I'room and Jacob Blizzard, north by the land of David 

H»y«, northeast by lui ,or Smith, east and southeast by land of 

William Haigood,and southwest by John Boome Sr. 

2-27 acres originally granted John Broom (Sr.) and also lving on 

e 13 

persimmon Fork. 

H-F.D.B,i',k.i.i.. l.P-286,1834,1835. 

- Kfett* vk.m, 33. 

»Wf»P-432,1837, 
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Thomas W.Rawls sold thia lan< he had bought from Lewis Haigood 

to James Gibson EoC $1720 on August 1,1840. Emily, wife of Thomas W.Rawls 
14 

signed her release, 

Thomas W.Rawls and his wife Emily,daughter of William Haigood, sold 

Lewis E.Haigood their interest in the estate of William Haigood for $1100 
15 

on March 17,1838. 

There are bo probate paprers available on Luke Rawls in Fairfield 

County,but a kinship with John H.,Jesse, Samuel and Thomas W.Rawls can be 

assumed. The 1790 census shows Luke Rawls living in Fairfield County with 

two white, free males over sixteen years of age and two white,free female in 

his household. This same census showed one white ,free female and one white 

free male in the household of Jesse Rawls. Shedrick Rawls, York County,Benjamin 

and Elisha Rawls lived in Georgetown District. Gabriel Rawls lived in Richlad 

County with one white, free male over sixteen years ofvage,two under sixteen, 

acid three white, free females in his household. 

SAMUEL RAWLS died intestate in Fairfield District and the warrant for 

the appraisal of his estate was issued on January 1, 1842. John T.Rawls was 

na«ed administrator. Timothy D.Rawls, along with Thomas M.Rawls signed the 

•Utainistrative bo- Rawls. When John T. Rawls applied for letters 

of adminstration, he stated that Samuel Rawls had died in February 1841, and 

that he had Left a widen .ibeth, and these five children: Amanda, Sarah 

TO,Wade, John, and Lavenia. Lavenia died soon after her father. Zachariah 

14- F.D.B.,Bk.NN,: 

l*-Ibid, j8# 
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m*l. wee one of the buyers at the sale of the chattel goods of Samuel Rawls. 

THOMAS W.RAWLS made his will on July 5, 1849, probably just before his 

^eath, since his will was recorded on Jul 1849. His wife Emily M. Rawls 

vas pregnant at the time the will was made. The other children were not 

•entioned in the will. James H.Hughes and James Rowland were named as his 

executors. 

•JAMES S.RAWLS died Intestate in Richland District sometime prior to 

December 23,1854, the date that G.W.Rawls declined to serve as the 

dministrator of his estate. Jemes S.Rawls must have kept a tavern or saloon 

cause his place of business was destroyed re and the following items 

w»re saved and inventoried on July 2,1855: 

1BBL. Jamaica rum 20 gels. @$0.50- — $10.00 

1 BBL. peach brandy,13 gsls. @$0.75— 9.75 

I BBL.Holland gin,10 gals. <? $0.50— 5.00 

1 BBL. Scotch whiskey, 18 gals. <a$0.70- 12.60 

BL. B. whiskey, 18 gals. <? $ - 13.50 

18 
17 baskets of champagne <? $5.00 --- 85.00 

NJAMIN RAWLS was an industrious and ingenious blacksmith, silversmith 

matchmaker. He lived to be 94 years of age lived in and about Columbia. 

erected the first public clock in the city of Columbia. This clock was on 

° h l s '" he westside of Main Street between Taylor and Walnut 

16 

Streets. 

F , P c-. A!" • He 63,1842. 

' F'D-B- '• I9.P-3-- .C.Apt. 95,file 318,1849. 

• C. Bo kg, I >• ,1 

'Cott,Random Recollections,P-56;Selby,Anecdotal Reminiscences,Pp.131,138 
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On Saturday, September 3. 1825, Samuel and Charlotte Rawls were received 

by experien the Twent ••- ve Mile Creek Baptist Church (later Sandy 

el),and they were baptized on September 11,1825. Malachi Rawls was received 

experience into this church on Saturday, February 3,1826, and was baptized 

on February jolln Rawla was received on Friday, September 29,1826, 

and was baptized on the following day. Samuel Rawls asked for letters of 

dismissal on February 4,1827. Sarah Rawls was received into this church 

June 2,1827,and was baptized on the following day. Elizabeth Rawls was 
20 

received by experience on October 5,1827, and baptized the following day. 

Th€ listing of the Rawls Joining Twenty-Five Mile Church serves to identify 

several members oi the fan: vhere thev lived,and the generally the time 

that they lived as adults. 

DWELLS 

There Is no certain record of where,or when, the first Powells came to 

airfield County, or settled on,or near,Little Cedar Creek. On September 30, 

1794, William Powell and his wife Mary sold John Finley 150 acres of land 

or 100 pounds, sterling. Li land lay north of Broad River, on Buckhom 

ranch, and was the southern half of 300 acres of land that had been granted 

™***s Wiin a m 8 on August 13, 1756. Thomas Williams sold this land to 

iam Witherspoon on January 14,1758, and he sold the southern half to 

is Sing-or - .lnd hiB w l f e Martha, and they,in turn, sold this 

M-S. Minutes, Twenty-Five Mile Creek (Sandy Level) Baptist Church, 

S o u t h ^rol inlana Librar 
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tract of 150 acres to John and William Powell on January 15,1761. William 

^d Intestate and apparently without wife and children. His oldest brother 

*od heir-at-law,John Powell, inherited the land. John Powell died without a 

will and his oldest son William inherited the land. Adam and Jacob Free, and 
21 

Phil Pearson witnessed the sale of the land to John Finley. 

John and Mary Powell sold James Phillips 100 acres of land on the 

Idle F : Beaver Creek,Fairfield C , for 200 pounds current money, 

on September At the time of the original survev, this land was 
22 

bound on the nort ' he lands of Jacob Barker. 

William Powell, presumably the son of John Powell who had died prior 

to September 30,1794, died intestate in Fairfield District just prior to 

y 3,1803, the date upon w <ary Powell, John Finley, and Thomas Powell 

signed the adminstrative bond for the widow Mary Powell.The heirs were not 

-isted. Jacob Free, Isham Dansbyfand Thomas Powell appraised the estate 
23 

on August 13, 1803. Later land transactions named William Powell's sons 

Baxter and James. 

The 1790 census showed William Powell as living in Fairfield County 

with two white, free males over sixteen years of age, one under sixteen, and 

white, free females in his household. Baxter Powell,eldest son of William 

'>well,sold his younger brother James 250 acres of land for 50 pounds on 

ay 13,1802. William Powell had survey for 150 acres of land that on resurvey 

21- F.D.B,Hk I,P-228,1794. 

2 2" I^Id, Hk. A,: 

1 ;.P.C., Apt . 27ffili 400,1803. 
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-red 355 acres. Baxter Powell inherited this land and out of it sold his 

brother James the 250 acres. James Powell sold his 250 acres of land to 

24 

Charles Montgomery lor 100 pounds, sterling,on January 4,1804. 

Mary I p presumably the widow of William Powell, gave James Davis 

a mortgage, November 26,1804, on all her household goods, furniture, a dark 

bay mare,a cow and calf, two feather beds, and her dowry rights on a piece of 

'd leading down to Strother'e Ferrv, to cover the sum of $55.23. Baxter 

25 
Powell was a witness. 

THOMAS POWELL died intestate in Fairfield District sometime prior to 

'uary 25,1819, the date his wife Mary applied for letters of administration. 

^he distribution of his property too kplace on February 19,1819, and the 

Uowing heirs were named: the widow Marv. William Powel1.JoseDh Powell. 

26 
Thomas Powell,James Powell,and Melinda Powe I 

Thomas Powell sold the widow Gracey Wood 173 acres of land for $400 

In 1810 or 1811. Of this land, 100 acres had been granted to Elizabeth Shirer 

and was bound on the east by Isham Dansby, north on Francis Palmer, west on 

**llard Day, and south on Phillip Pearson. The 73 acres was bound southeast 

^ Thomas Willingham, southwest on Isham Dansby Sr., west on Elizabeth 

^ i r e r on Paul Porcher.Nancy Powell signed a release of her 

douer. 

CALEB POWELL lived across the district from Thomas, William and John 

'"well. T h ey lived on Broad River and Caleb Powell lived on,or near, Little 

2 4 - F.D.B.,Bk.O, Pp-219, 4 U . 

2 5 - Ibid^ Bk.P.,P-l ,i jo/,. 

:- p.c. Apt. 28,1 Lit MM,1819. 

27-F.D.B.,Hk. T,1>-}(H,l-ll. 
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^edar Creek. Caleb Powell died sometime prior to January 28,1828, the date his 

will was proven. To his wife Dorcas, he left,in lieu of dowry, the home place 

and home, and the slaves Minza;boy) and Sarah. After his wife's death, the 

land to go to her daughter Rebecca Stanton , and the slaves to go to her son 

eb. He left Caleb 50 acres of land south of the home place and the slaves 

George and Hannah. Hannah to go his son John after the death of his wife Dorcas 

*** w*ggon (sic) and blacksmith tools to go to his son Caleb. He left his 

•on Aaron the slave Chancy; to his daughter Tabitha Broom he left the slave 

1*aa; to his daughter Rebecca Stanton ,he left the slave Toney and his 

*lfe Minda,and daughter Beck. Beck to go to his granddaughter Martha E. 

Stanton after the death of Rebecca Stanton;to his daughter Jane Mitchell, 

left the slave Manna , [« son Jacob,he the slave Jack; his son John 

to have the slave named Tom. His daughter Mary Miles was dead; to her son John 

es some land in lieu of anything else to his grandchildren,the children 

benjamin Miles and his deceased daughter Mary Miles. He named his friend 

William Strother and his son-in-law Charles Broom as executors. William 
28 

rother,Jonathan Stanton, Henry Laws and Rebecca- Laws witnessed the will 

The family of Caleb Powell Sr.: Wife Dorcas; sons, Caleb Jr,John,Jacob, 

on Powell; daughters, Rebecca Stanton (wife of Jonathan Stanton?), Tabitha 

room (wife of Charles Broom), Jane Mitchell, Mary Miles(deceased,wife of 

B^njamin Miles) 

DORCAS PQWELLmade her win seven years after the death of her husband 

owell Sr. To her daughter Tabitha Broom, she left three feather beds, 

p-C.,Apt. 61,file 938,1828 
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a trunk, some furniture, and all of her wearing apparel. To her granddaughter 

rcas Broom,she left her sidesaddle;her son Caleb to have the residue of 

bar property. John Stanton was made her executor. Her will was proven on 
29 

December 21,1835. 

Caleb Powell Sr. was quite active and quite wealthy. The 1790 census 

showed one white, free male over sixteen years of age,four under sixteen,and 

one white, free female in his household. There were no slaves. 

John Bagwell and his wife Rachel, Fairfield County, sold Caleb Powell 

131 acres of land for 50 pounds, lawful money in November 1795. This land 

had been original anted to Richard Yarborough and lay on Cedar Creek. 
30 

Thomas Hill,Jesse Sibley and Jacob Summerland witnessed the sale. 

Jesse Sibley sold Caleb Powell 58 acres of land,actually already in 

the possession of Caleb Powell, tor 55 pounds, lawful money, on November 11, 

1/95. This land lay on Rocky Branch of Cedar Creek,and was bound by the lands 

31 
of Luke Rawls, Elisha Haygood and Benjamin Owens. 

On March 3,1798, Caleb Powell sold William Strother this same 58 

acres of land ,that he had bought from Jesse Sibley, for $58. On this same 

date WiHi a m Strother sold,or traded, Caleb Powell 58 acres of land that was 
32 

of 414 acres that had been granted Luke Rawls in 1786. 

Leonard Miles, planter of Fairfield County, sold Caleb Powell 100 acres 

of land on a dry branch oi Little Cedar Creek for 20 pounds, sterling,on 

- F-P.C,A, r f l l i 50,1835. 

^-F.D ,P-38^ 

" Sbiii Hk.I ,P-235,1795. 

1 ftiii '28,1798. 
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February 7, 1798. Thia land waa part of the 414 acres that had been granted 

to Luke Rawls on April 1,1786, M.,r • of Leonard Miles signed the 

release of her dower. 

William Mllea Bold Caleb Powell 25 acres of land on Rocky and Dry 

Branches of Little Cader Creek for $50 on February 3, 1804. This land was 

pert of 390 acrea granted Daniel Fauat. Barnaby McKinlev Pope and William 

34 
-other witneaaed the aale. 

The tax returns for 1822 showed Caleb Powell Sr. as the owner of 214 

-es of Lead and 10 slavea. 

CALEB POWELL JR. bought 42^ acrea of land from Marv and Lee Arick, 

Fairfield District on May 17,1826. The land lay on Sibley Branch and other 

drains of Cedar Creek, and waa part of 640 acres of land granted John 

Arick. The 42% acres of land waa included in 84% acres of land that Caleb 

• U Jr. aold John Laws for $388.60 on February 24,1836. The rest of 

the 84% acrei made up out of land that had been granted John Cropland 

36 
(Copeland?) 

Caleb Powell Jr. sold George Simpson 10% acres of land for $42 on 

-*ptember 17,1836. The land lay on Little Cedar Creek and was bound bv the 

lends of George Simpson and Gaorge Murph 

Caleb Powell lr. according to the 1822 tax returns owned 258 acres of 

i A 3 8 

-and but no slavea. 

3 3 " F.D.B.,Bk N.P-7,17" 

34-Ibld^ Hk AA.i 

" Tax Returns for 1822. 

-:-'-D.B.,l'.k.HH .P-221,1836. 

37-Ibid, ,1838. 

38- T 
iax Retruns for 1822. 
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-ACOB POWELL ,son of Caleb Powell Sr., bought a nine vear old gray mare 
39 

• George Swett for $94.2 5 on April 22,1805. 

Jacob Powell and his wife El lza(Elizabeth) sold Madan A.M. Leggo 100 

acres of land for $304 on September 23,1818. This was part of the 414 acres 

that had been granted to Luke Rawls: bound northeast on the land of Roling 

-illiamson, northweat by the land of William Strother, south by land of William 

'ud, and lay on Little Cedar Creek. Thomaa Keith and Tvrus D.Bell witnessed 
40 

the sale. 

AARON POWELL ,son of Caleb Powell Sr., had six white,free persons in 

hie household according to 1829 censua. According to the 1822 tax returns, 

-
n« was the owner of one alave but no land 

Mary Id District,on March 4,1824, for the love and 

affection that she had for her sona-i; - .Aaron Powell and John Shed(Shedd), 

•od for $25 paid her,left them the slavea Gracev and Jack, to be inherited 
42 

efter her death. 

The widow Mary Powell, John Shedd and his wife Jemima, sold Aaron 

Powell their on.- | part in the real eatate of Henry Walker(deceased) for 

in 1824. Thia real eatae waa made up out of 50 acres of land originally 

granted Michael Kinael(Kinaler? |784, an adjoing 50 acres that was part 

acres of land originally granted to Thomas Franklin on February 28, 

J , a n d *n adjoining 42 acrea of land granted Henry Walker on August 2,1802. 

39* F-D.B.,Bk.Q,i>-i„il805. 

*°- H***, Hk.AA.P-! . . 1 18. 

McMaster,History Fairfield County, P-182. Tax Retruns for 1822. 
/ O 

- F-D.B., H EE,P-359,1824. 

http://Hk.AA.P
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This land lay on Little Cedar Creek,and was bound on the north and southeast 

by the land of Jamee Alston, and on the west and southwest by lands of 
43 

William Robertson and Mary Hi 

On December 19,1833, James Alston sold Aaron Powell 154% acres of land 

oo Little Cedar Creek,Fairfield District, for $908.75: bound on the north by 

the land of John Hinnant, east and northeast by land of James Alston, 

southeast by land of J.D,K1rkland, southwest by land of William Robertson, 

and on the west by the lands of William Robertson and Aaron Powell. This land 

was part of 3800 acree granted John and Minor Winn on January 3,1786, and by 

them conveyed to Thompson Whitehouse,and by him conveyed to Major John 

Compty, and by his heirs to James Alston. 

James Alston sold Aaron Powell 115% acres of land for $750 on August 20, 

1839. This land lay on Little Cedar Creek and was part of 200 acres of land 

that had been granted to John Miles on March 19,1771: bound south and southeast 

on the la: Aaron Powell, north and west by the land of James Alston,and 
45 

east on the land of John Hinnant. 

On March 10,1839, with the permission of Captain William Robertson and 

Aaron Powell, the following tracts of land on Little Cedar Creek,containing 

Ial of 300 acres was resurveved for Aaron Powell. 

1- Part of 400 acrea originally granted to Thomas Miles on February 2, 

177l(February 28,1773?) and now held by William Robertson. 

- t.D.B. Hk.EE,P-360,1824. 

44* IMd, Hk.LL.P-1 ^3. 

' IkliL. 09, 
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2- Part of 200 acrea of land surveyed for John Miles on March 19,1771. 

3- An original grant to Aaron Powe 

4- A tract of 42 acres of land originally granted to Henry Walker 

on August 2,1802. 

5- A tract of 50 acrei granted Herman Kinsler on December 21,1771. 

6- Part of a grant to William Robertson. 

7- Part of a grant of 3800 acres of land to John and Minor Winn on 
46 

May 10,1786. 

James Alston sold Aaron Powell 155 acres of land on Palmetto Branch,Little 

Cedar Creek, for $1860 on August 20,1839. This land was part of the 3800 acres 

mted John and Minor Winn: bound southwest on the land of Aaron Powell, 

northwest by the land of John Hinnant, northeast bv the land of James 
47 

Alston, and southeast by the estate of John Del nd. 

Aaron Powell died intestate in Fairfield District in 1845. Frances Powell, 

widow of Aaron Powell, and his son ; W.Powell applied for letter?? of 

15,1845. Charles Broom, William Robertson and John 

nnant appraised the estate. The heirs were not mentioned. 

An interesting anecdote about Aaron Powell is found in the minutes of 

Twenty-Five Mile Creek Church (Sandv Level), under the date of June 14, 

1834, and in the foi if I letter sent to that church by Aaron Powell: 

Greetings.Know Ve that h last,Elder Asa Bell did slander me, 

e said Powell by accusing me in the presence of John Hinnant and Charles 

F.D.B.,Hk. NN,P-179,1839. 

"ibid, Bk.NN,P-181,1839. 

8- F.P.C.,APt . ,45. 
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iroom and others of Rascality,Negro stealing and Wheedling." Signed Aaron 

Powel (sic). The matter was brought before the official church body and 

t following reply made: M Brother Bell confesses that in anger he might 

have said so. That he considers the said Powel(sic) clear of the Acusations (sic), 

a friendly good Citizen and a Christian. Which gave the said Powell full 

49 
satisfaction,., (Minimum punctuation added for claritv.) 

The Powells were prominent low-country people prior to the Revolutionary 

War. George Gabriel Powell, a large land owner and Regulator, was especially 

t*ll known. There were Powells in Orangeburg District prior to the 

Revolutionary War but their relationship to the Fairfield Powells has not yet been 

proven. Martha, daughter of Thomas an It Powell was born on October 12, 

1757, and was baptized by the Rev. John Gissendanner in Amelia Chapel on 

May 21, 1758. Sponsors,or godparents, were William Thomson, Sarah Powell, 

and Anne Powell. Deborah,another daughter of Thomas and Anne Powell, was 

born on January 17, and was baptized by the Rev. John Gissendanner in 

;;eburgh Church on Mar .1760.Her sponsors were Thomas and Elizabeth 

/er,and John Powell. Elizabeth Powell had married Thomas Cryer, both of 

Amelia Township. Winifred and Martha Powell, daughters of Thomas and Sarah 

Powell,were baptized in Amelia Township on Sunday, June 10,1750. Winifred was 

bom in May 1747, and Martha in April 1950. On Tuesday,September 27,1753, 

William Powell witnessed the marriage of Edward Brady and Rachel Whiteford 

the church at Orangeburg. A Caleb Powell, his relatonship to Caleb Powell 

, _ _ 

M.S. Minutes ,Twenty-Five Mile Creek (Sandy Level) Baptist Church, 

^thCarolii Librar 
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of Fairfield County not established, was a member of Major William "Bloody 
50 

Bill" Cunningham's Royalist troop In 1781-1782. 

We have not further idv ed Stacy Powell,who appeared before Charles 

Puckett, a Justice of the peace, on March 6, 1796, and made the statement the 
51 

her daughter Elizabeth Hollis had died in 1794, at the age of 23 years. 

• WOODWaARDS 

According to General Thomas S.(Simpson) Woodward of Alabama and Louisiana, 

the Woodwards came from England and settled in Maryland under Lord Calverton, 

Baron of Baltimore. Thomas Woodward was born near Annapolis, married in 

Maryland and raised a fami1 v. His first wife died and he moved to Fairfax 

-ounty, virgina, where he marrie I .ibeth 00 of ScuLLisIi ue^ceiiL. 

The children of his first w .-mained in N ad, but later moved to 

Hewiddie County, Virginia and then to North Carolina. The North Carolina 

branch of the family lost the second "WM in their name.Thomas Woodward and 

Elizabeth Simpson had one child,Thomas. When the elder Thomas Woodward died, 

bis widow Elizabeth Simpson Woodward married a Mr Robinson and they had two 

*ons, John and William Robinson. After the vounger Thomas Woodward came to 

th Carolina, he moved his mother and half brothers to this state. Old 

W Elizabeth Simpson Woodward is said to have lived to be 112 years of 

*ge. Her sons and John and William Robinson probably became ancestors of 

large families. 

°- Salley, Orangeburg County, Pp.114,116,124,17 . Pope,Neberry County,P-305, 

:i~ F-] '96. 
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The younger Thomas Woodward, hereafter referred to as Captain Thomas 

Woodward or Regulator Thomas Woodward, fought In the French and Indain Wars 

ae a captain under Major, later Colonel,George Washington. He was said to 

have been older than eorge Washington. (George Washington was born on 

ruary 22,1732) 

Thomas Woodward married Jemima Collins in Virginia and they had two 

•ons and five daughters. While he was away in the French and Indian Wars, 

his wife Jemima died. A short while later he was ordered to the frontier 

In South Carolina. 

In South Carolina, Captain Thomas Woodward married Elizabeth Stokes 

Hay, the widow ol John May. She was one-quarter Indian. Early in the 

history of the state of South Carolina, a Spaniard or Frenchman bv the nnir.e 

of Silves or Silvester married an Indian girl. Their oldest daughter 

•arried Thomas Stokes, an Indian trader, and they had two sons and two 

daughters. The oldest daughter Elizabeth Stokes married John May and the 

other daughter married a Joiner. sonsJames (sic) and Silvester, were Whigs. 

In a battle or skirmish on the Ridge" not far from the Lexington and 

52 
Wgefield lines, they were wounded, taken prisoners and hanged by the British. 

Richard Brown |lvM a different version from this traditional view, 

^lvester Stokes was one of the infamous outlaws so vigorously hunted by the 

rC*«ulators. James (sic) and Silvester Stokes were engaged in a particularly 

bloody episode in the Ridge region of Lexington County on the night of 

2- Woodward, Reminiscences,Pp.143,144. 
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53 
July 26,1767 tester Stokes had served in the Cherokee Expedition. 

It might be noted here that the Regulators were organized to fight the 

depredations o law bands that flourished following the Indian raids 

of the 1760,8. 

Elizabeth Stokes and John May had two sons, Tom and Benjamin May, 

and a daughter. Thomas ai zabeth Stokes May Woodward had three 

sons and three daughters. 

In accordance with a precept issued bv Egerton Leigh,Esq.,S.G. , 

ted April 4, 1758, a tract of land containing 200 acres was laid off 

for Thomas Woodward near (Little) Cedar Creek: bound on all sides by vacant 

nd. The survey w.. it cer* el tfyley on 
55 

April 12, 1758. The Royal grant was dated May 1,1761. 

In another precept given on July 5, 1762, 50 acres of land was 

surveyed homas Woodward on Cedar Creek; bound on all sides by vacant 

Bd« The road to the Congarees crossed this land. The plat was certified on 

A 5 6 

August 11,1762, and the grant signed on December 7,1763. 

In accordance with a precept date Januarv 4,1763, 100 acres of land 

was surveyed for Thomas Woodward on Wateree Creek: bound on all sides by 

vacant land.John Belton D.S., made the survev and certified the plat on 

nuary 14,1763. On Januar 1763, John Belton D.S., laid out 100 acres of 

d̂ on (Little?) Cedar Creek. The grant for 200 acres of land was signed on 

ruary 2 8> 1 ; -ie road to Charleston cut across part of this land. 
'- Woodward, Reminiscences, P-143. 

~C'P-Vo1.' H. Royal Grants, Vol.14,P-25,1761. 

~r:-p.,Vol.7,P-2Hl,l i<oyal Grants, Vol. 6,P-45,1763. 

~c-P.,Vol.7, P304, Royal Grants, Vol.6,P-397,1765. 
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John Winn D.S., pursuant to a precept issued on Ocotber 7,1766, surveyd 

100 acres of land >dward on Cedar Creek, and the plat was certified 

November 21, 1766, and the grant signed on September 24,1771. This land 
58 

was bound on all sides by vacant land. 

Thomas Woodward had 100 acres of land surveyed for him on Mill Creek, 

d the plat certified on March 4, 1772, and the grant signed on October 22, 

1772. This land was bound on the southeast by John Marple,northwest on lands 

of John Turnipseed ai >odwar,Southwest on the land of Thomas 
59 

•utland, and on all other sides by vacant land. 

Isaac Sibley had 100 acres of land surveyed for him on Austin Mill 

r±ek: bound on the south by the land of Thomas Woodward, northeast on the land 

of Mildred Hawkins, and on the other sides by vacant land.This land was 

conveyed to Thomas Woodward on July 5,1772, and the plat certified by John 

Alston D.S., on July 14,1772. A tract of 300 acres of land was surveyed for 

Thomas Woodward on Mill Creek: hound southwest on the land of John Sibley, 

and on all other sides by the lands of Thomas Woodward. Mill Creek ran 

through the center of the tract of land. The survey was made by Richard Winn D.S., 

and the plat was certified on July 14,1774. A grant for 400 acres of land fc 

-homas Woodward was signed on March 7,1775. Eventuallv Thomas Woodward would 
60 

acquire 950 acres of land and 11 slaves. 

:or 

58- C.F.,701.20,1-496, I <:oyal Grants, Vol.11, P-60,1771. 

J9~ c-P.,Vol.20,P-' '72. Royal Grants, Vol.11, P-480,1772. 

j-c.P.Vol.20, P.502, 177. al Grant, Vol.13, P-365, 1775. Brown Regulators 

P-147. 
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Cd THOMAS WOODWARD was bom sometime between 1715 and 1720. He was 

an Imposing figure/'considerably over common size", a natural leader, and 

ted well into the"Virginia Colony" in Fairfield County. He was one of the 

foremost leaders in the Regulator movement, was elected to the First Provincial 

sngrees in 177r)-,was one of the eleven commissioners named to execute the 

continental Association in the District between the Broad and Catawba Rivers. 

was an ardent Whig and raised his own company of Rangers to serve under 

o onel Wilii.lm Thomson . In his enthusiasm he made promises to his company 

that he couldn't keep. His men threatened to go home, but the crisis was 

soothed over and he and his company were successfully engaged in the Snow 

Campaign against the Tories 1: He was a justice of the peace and a 

-barter member of the Socier , he wa. 

led by Tories on May 12,1779. 

Thomas Woodward,Barnaby Pope, a: .Graw Sr. were the most 

active Regulators of the th t in the Cedar Creek- Little River Area. 

Thomas Woodward,Benjamin Hart, John Scott and Moses Kirkland presented to 

Assembly the Regulator Remonstrances which had been drawn up ny the 

8«v.Mr. Charles Woodmason,Anglican minister of St. Mark's Parish. The 

guage was so offensive that Woodward, Hart, Scott and Kirkland went before 

tha Assembly three days later and apologized. 

The Regulators were,in effect, a vigilante organization that had 

baen 
organized in the back-country to combat the lawlessness that had 

*1- Brown, Regulators 
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followed the okee War of I760-I7hl. There were no effective courts closer 

than Charleston, and the back-countrv justices of the peace were accused of 

regularity in their several Commissions to the great Encouragement of 

the Villiansn. 

Thomas Woodward was a very energetic and dynamic person.While active in 

the Regulator movement, he took a ride of two months duration that took 

to New | Virginia, in pursuit of two horse thieves, Ebenezar Wells 

*nd Absalom Tilley. He returned them to the gaol in Charleston, along with 

four Negroes that belonged to the Honorable John Drayton Esq. 

The Rangers represented the mounted militia of the back-country in 

South Carolina, and by loose association ,or overlapping with the 

••gulators, added some dignity, authoritiy and a small degree of legality to 

the Regulator movement. 

John Woodward,eldest S( Captain Thomas and Jemima Collins Woodward, 
62 

*od a youth of 21 years, was active in the Regulator movement. 

The patriotic fervor generated in Thomas Woodward during his years as a 

-anger captain and Regulator was carried forward and achieved fruition in 

bis activities as an ardent Whig, and against the Tories of the back-country. 

The roster of Captian Thomas Woodward's Company of Rangers,Colonel 

William Thomson's Regiment (Third Regiment) as given at Mineral Springs near 

the Congarees on August 7,1775. 

Captain, "hires ard 

First Lieutenant, John Woodward 

' Brown, Regulatora,Pj 54,73,84,86,87,115, llb-119, 120, 123, 124, 

J> 130-132 (212, 214, Woodmason, Carolina Backcountry, 

PP-- 90n, 233,233n43, 27 
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Second Lieutenant,William Boyd 

Drummer, William Wilson 

Privates: John Owens, James Pickett, James Owens, John Carr, John 

-arson, John Henderson, William rson, Francis Henderson, Daniel Oaks, 

Jacob Frazier, Henry Wimpey, Benjamin May, Charnel Durham,James Anderson, 

William Rayford, Matthew Rayford, Benjamin Wt Augustine Hancock, William 

<Xfens,John McDonald, Francis McDonald, Thomas Gather, Pritchard Stone, 

John Jacobs, John lull, Joseph Owens, Thomas Winningham (Willingham?), 
63 

Edward McGraw, Benja itchell, and William Duggans. 

An analysis of the lives and families in this company would constitute 

a book in itself. Mai these men will be mentioned in this book. 

On April 17,1773, Robert Stark sold Thomas Woodward 1100 acres of land 

for 1250 pounds, Lawful money, made up out of three plantations on Mill 

r-ek,Little River. This land had been conveyed to Robert Stark by Samuel 

Elliott on October 27,28,1771. 

Thomas Woodward, Craven County, Province of South Carolina,sold John 

Soberson (sic) a strip of land containing 10 acres for 64 pounds, lawful 

»oney,on August 21,1779. This land was the northeast corner of 794 acres of 

-and that had been granted Isaac Porcher and was the corner that joined 

*n Bell and Thomas Woodward. 

" S.C.H.M. Vol.2. 

- M > . B . , * , K,I>-'>7,1773. 

- Ibid, ,P-77,1779. 
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66 
Thomas (X) Woodw.i on October 20,1775, sold William McCallister 250 

acres of lai 500 pounds, current money.This land lay on Jackson Creek 

and had bee inally granted to George Davidson on March 8,1775, and was 

bound southeast on the land of Alexander Robinson, and on all other sides 

by vacant land. 

On July 22, 1771, Richard Winn,D.S., certified a plat for 368 acres 

of land for Peter Starnes on Mill Creek: bound northwest by the land of 

John Ard, southeast by land of John Marpole, northeast by land of John Siberly 

(Sibley) Thomas Woodward and Isaac Siberly(Sibly), and on all other sides by 

vacant land. Thomaa Woodward sold this tract of land, minus 100 acres, but 

including 100 acres of land that had been granted Thomas Woodward on Mill 

^reek, and with other lands for a total of 544 acres. The sale was to 

Phillip Raiford for 500 pounds, lawful money, on August 4,1778. The widow 

Jane Weldon bought the 100 acres out of the Peter Starnes tract from 

68 
Thomas Woodwar r 100 pounds, lawful money, on March 28,1775. 

Thomas Woodward left no will and his probate papers could not be 
69 

found. According to tradition, he was killed by Tories on May 12,1779. 

66- Apparently Thomas Woodward couldn't sign his name. General Thomas S. 

Woodward said that his grandfather Thomas Wooward, the Regulatorfs,education 

had been neglected by his stepfather Mr Robinson. 

67- F.D.B. ,Bk ,L,P*232 1) 

68- C.P.Vol.21, ,-88,89,1771. F.D.B.,Bk.N,Pp.8,529,1775,1778. 

Comenerative marker, Woodward cemetery near Rockton S.C. 
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Elizabeth Woodward (Elizabeth Stokes May Woodward), wife of Regulator 

"Captain) Thomas Woodward, died in Fairfield District sometime after the 

making of her will on August 12,1802. Her daughters were Lucy Woodward, Sarah 

ey, Elizabeth McMorries(married to William McMorries Jr.) and Jane 

eman(married to Reeves Freeman).Her sons were ^homas May, Benjamin May, 

Henry Woodward, Joseph Woodward and Thomas Woodward (deceased). Her son 

70 
speh was named her executo: 

General Thomas S.Woodward named the sons- - »w of the Regulator Thomas 

Woodward, beginning with the eldest daughter: James Nelson (married to Margaret), 

Phillip Rail Rabb, James Andrews, Phillip Riley (married to 

Sarah),W r o Elizabeth), William T.Augustine. 

71 
Beeves Freeman(married to Jane 

JOHN WOODWARD, son of the Regulator Thomas Woodward and his first wife 

Jemima Collins, was 21 years old at the time of the Regulator movement. He 

was active In the Regulator movement and was the First Lieutenant in his 
72 

father's compnay in the Revol ary War. 

John Woodward made his will on June 20,1815, but there is no date of 

vlng. His wife was named Easter and he had the following daughters: Sarah, 

*lfe of General William Strother;Marian Collins,wife of Thomas Lyles; and 

-ynthia, wife of Charnel Durham. His sons were John, William Thomas and 

Osmund Woodward. His grandsons were John Dargan Strother, son of General 

70-F.W.B.,Vol.l,Bk.4,P-32; F.P.C.,Apt. S3, S 525,1802. 

7 1" W°odward, Reminiscences,P-145. 

79 
Brown, Regulators, P-ll"; -ard, Reminiscences ,P-1AA. 



p-209 Chapter 6 

North of the Broad River 

The Rawls, Powel1,Woodward and May Families on Little Cedar Creek 

William and Sarah Woodward Strother; John Woodward III, son of John Woodward Jr.; 

John Woodward Durham, son of his daughter Cynthia and Charnel Durham; 

William Strother Lyles, son of Thomas and Marian Collins Lyles. 

The real estate h. ^B are vast and are summarized in the will of 

John Woodwa| 

To his daughter Sarah Strother, he left the 100 acres of land that 

had been granted Thomas WlM>dward and 18 acres granted John Woodward. 

To his son John Woodward, he left,among other lands, the land that had 

been granted Joseph Kirkla: Little River,adjoining the land of William 

Kincaid. He left John Woodward lands that had formerly belonged to Berlee (sic) 

Smyth and William Bell. 

To his daughter Marian Collins Lyles, he left 500 acres of land 

purchased lr i11lp Raiford; also part of a tract of land originally granted 

Obed Kirkland on Mill Creek; and 200 acres of land purchased from Lewis 

Elvey,originally granted to Jane Kirkland and called the Widow Shaver's Old 

Place. 

His home place, to be divided between his sons William Thomas and 

Osmund Woodward, was made up out of the following tracts of land: 

1-200 acres granted Thomas Woodward. 

2- 550 acres granted Samuel Winn. 

3- 226 acres purchased from Joseph Woodward and being part of a 

grant to Pierce Butler. 

4- 100 acres purchased from Thomas Miles and being part of 2 00 

acres granted Edward Pete 
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5- 100 acres purchased from William Hendrix , and being part of a 

tract of 200 acres originally granted to Thomas Miles. 

6- 130 acres purchased from Elisha Haigood and called the Bogwell 

Place, originally granted to Jesse Salle 

7- 120 acres granted John Woodward. 

8- 136 acres granted John Woodward. 

9- 242 acres granted John Woodward. 

10 - 150 acres purchased from Michael Easter. 

11- 300 acres purchased from John Rolland, and originally granted 

Thomas Sanders. 

1? - 200 acres gr» 

13- 183 acrea and 137 acres purchased from Husell Gills, being part of 

1200 acres granted Samuel Elliott. 

14- 37 acres purchased from John Elsey and called Conmon Hall, and 

>̂eing part of the 1200 acres granted Samuel Elliott. 

15- 40 acres adjoinig William Jones,and granted to John Woodward. 

The home place to be divided between William Thomas and Osmund 

Woodward by a line beginning on Big Cedar Creek near George Shedd's line 

and a branch of Cedar Creek called Big Gully and running to where 

-aptain Hart's cotton machine formerly stood. 

He also left a cotton machine and a brick kiln to his sons. He freed the 

•*«gro called Capta 

73- P.W.B. Vol.1, Hk.7,P-8,1817. 
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Brown believed that John Woodward owned over 7000 acres of land and 

55 slaves. The 1822 tax returns for Major John Woodward showed his estate with 

62 slaves and 2683 acres of land. Major John Woodward had died about five 
74 

years earli, 

Easter (Esther) Woodward, wife of John Woodward (Sr.) made her will on 

May 6,1818, but there was no date of proving. In her will, she mentions her 

ughters Sarah Strother and Mary Ann (Marian) Collins Lvles. Her son Osmund 

was made executor of her estate. To her sister Nancy Henderson, she left 

3*>ney for a proper suit of mourning and a coat that she had recently 

rchased in Columbia. To a young lady Elisa Hagood, who had been a faithful 

^panion, she left $20. She left a horse named Tom Bigbv. Jesse Rawls,Elisa 
75 

ood and Martha Shedd witnessed her will. 

MAJOR JOHN WOODWARD JR, son of John Woodward Sr and his wife Easter, died 

in Fairfield District sometime prior to the proving of his will on March 24, 

°23. To his wife Alley, he left his home place of 280 acres,and an additional 

acres of land that he had purchased from George Lott. To his sons ,John 

*nd Thomas, he left the Starke place of 1200 acres on Wareree Creek. To his 

•on Osmund, he left 540 acres made up out of 350 acres on Hog Fork called 

Smith place, and the 190 acres of land where John Miller lives and called 

*• Elliman place. To hia daughters Cynthia and Sarah Woodward, he left 758 

-res of land made up out of 530 acres that he had purchased from Thomas 

ans and known aa the Meana place,120 acres where his store stands and known 

e Barkley place, 16 acrea called the McClure place, 92 additonal acres 

. laid off from the McClure place .His daughters.Helen M and Easther 

" Brown Regulators, P-ll-,. Tax Returna for 1822. 

/ 5 »P u 
••••Vol.1, Mc.7,P-79. F.P.C. Apt. 35, file 563, 1818. 
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Woodward, to have 758 acres of land made up out of 600 acres called the Bacot 

place, 50 acres out of the Ellis place, and 100 acres out of the George Lott 

place. His grist mill to remain in comrnom usuage until his youngest child 

reaches 14 years of age and then the mill to go to his four daughters. He gave 

each of his sons, John J.,Thomaa A. and Osmund M. Woodward a lot in the town 

of Winnsboro. He named his brother- - M General William Strother, his brother 
76 

Osmund Woodward, and his friend John Buchanan,as executors of his estate. 

COLONEL JOHN J. WOODWARD, son of Major John Woodward Jr., moved to 

Talledega,Alabama. He waa the colonel of 10th Alabama Regiment,CSA, and was 

killed at the Battle of Gaines Mill in July 1862, His wife,Rebecca Pearson , 

died on Januarv heir daughtiv . Hie Woodward, was born on 

November 30,1844, and died I »•• Their foMghtW Patsie E.Woodward 

(1834-1905) married W.E.Aiken.(This information about Colonel John J. 

Woodward's • was obtained from markers in the Presbyterian Cemetery 

in Winnsboro) 
John J.Woodward sold J< Her lot number 85 in Winnsborough , fronting 

on Liberty and Sion Streets, for $60 on Februarv 23,1838. Rebecca Mary 
77 

Woodward signed her releeae. 

John J.Woodward sold Sterling Tidwell 171 acres of land on the drains 

of Beaver Dam Forks for $2 500 on December 11,1837. This land was bound north 

by the road from Winnsborough to Roc At, on the east by lands of 

David Smith and Harper Sr.,on the south by lands of Harper and Joseph 

76- F.W.B.,Vol.2,Bk.8,P-109. F.P.C., Apt. 36,file 577 

77~ F.D..Bk.MM.i'-' 11,1838 
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Caldwell, on the west by the lands of Thomas D.Peay and Benjamin Boulware. 

Troy Lumpkin and Elijah Gayden witnessed the deed. Rebecca Marv Woodward 
78 

signed her release. 

DR OSMUND M.WOODWARD, son of John Woodward Jr., died on May 11,1847, 

and is buried in the Presbyterian Cemeterv in Winnsboro. Dr. Osmund M. 

Woodward mads his will on April 26,1847, and it was recorded on May 25,1847. 

John W.Durham, John D.Strother, John E.Peay, Nicholas Peay, and Dr Caleb 

Clark had signed notes with Dr. Woodward, and it was the intent of the will 

that these notes be pa at. The above mentioned signers of the notes 

w e r e named as trustees of the estate until these notes had been paid; an 

exception was that his wife have enough income for bet- Mlntenance n̂d the 

maintenance of his niece Patsy E.Woodward, daughter of his brother John. 

At the time the will was made, he was working the land of David Aiken, father 

of his wife Eliza. He left a slave bov to William Clarke, son of Dr. Caleb 

79 
Clarke. There was no mention of his own children. 

THOMAS A WOODWARD, son of John Woodward Jr., moved to Hinds County, 

Mississippi. From this place, on April 18,1837, he sold Ethelred Thompson, 

of Chester District, 60 acres of land in Chester District for $346.50. This 

-and was part of 600 acres granted Peter Porcher, and had been willed to 

Thomas A.Woodward by his father. Green B.Montgomerv and John D. Strother 
HO 

witnessed the deed. 

78" F-D.B.,Bk.MM,P-<>12,1837. 

9-F.W.B.>Vol. \P-488. F.P.C. Apt. 86, file 338,1847 

80" F-D-B., Bk.MM,i - 137. 

file:///P-488
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On April 13,1837, Thomas A. Woodward sold Benjamin Boulware 540 acres 

of land In Fairfield District for $3300. This land had been willed to Thomas A. 

Woodward by his father, and lay on Wateree Creek and Holmes Branch of Wateree 

River. This land had been laid off for Major John J.Woodward at the request 

of General William Strother and Osmund Woodward, executors of the estate of 

81 
Major John J. Woodward. 

WILLIAM THOMAS WOODWARD was the son of John Woodward Sr. and his wife 

Easter. His will was made on December 11,1841,and he died on August 15,1842. 

On his gravestone in the Woodward cemetery near Rockton , the date of his 

birth is given as 1792. Also buried in this cemetery is his wife Harriet 

Woodward, who died on May 12,1837, aged about 50 years. He apparently 

married again, and this wife was named Eliza. To his wife Eliza, he left all 

the houses, real estate and property that she owned in Charleston,Columbia 

and Camden before they were married. His three children: Mary Collins 

Woodward, Esther Caroline and Thomas William Woodward were to share equally 

in his estate. He named his brother Osmund, John D.Strother, John B.Harrison, 

82 
Thomas Nelson and Thomas Lyles Jr. as his execuotrs. 

Alson buried In the Woodward cemetery near Rockton, and probably the 

daughter of William Thomas Woodward, was Mary C. (Collins?) Woodward, born 

May 9,1831, died June 9,1845. 

THOMAS Wiu.! EDWARD, only son of William Thomas and Esther (Harriet?) 

Woodward, was the grandson of John Woodward Jr. and great grandson of the 

81-F.D.B., BkMM,P-357,1837. 

82- F.W.B.,Vc,l . .P.C.,Apt. 76, file 86,1842 



P-215 Chapter b 

North of the Broad River 

The Rawls, Powell,Woodward and May Families on Little Cedar Creek 

Regulator ias Woodward, He was born on his fatherfs plantation near 

Rockton on May 7,1833. He attended King Mountain Militarv Academy,Mt Zion 

College, Wake Forest College for a few months, and South Carolina College 

where he was expelled in the famousMStewarts Hall rebellion" in 1851 as a 

junior. He read law but never practiced. He owned the Rock City Quarries 

west of Winnsboro, but was principally occupied as a planter. His first wife 

was Cornelia Dantzler, daughter of J.M.Dantzler of Orangeburg.They were 

carried February 15, 1854. Cornelia Dantzler was born on April 5,1833,and 

died on August 78, and is buried in the Methodist cemeterv in 

83 
Winnsboro. His second marriage was to Rebecca Valentine Lyles on January 9 , 

1879. 

Thomas Will ;ard was a major in the 6th S.C.Infantry, CSA. He was 

wounded at Draneville and discharged from the service. He reenlisted as a 

private and was promoted to quartermaster of the 20th Volunteer Regiment in 

June 1862, He served in the South Carolina House of Representives 1860-1862, 

84 
and was senator from Fairfield County 1884-1892. 

OSMUND WOODWARD, son o ward Sr, was the grandson of the 

Regulator Thomas Woodward. His wife Martha was the daughter of Roland and 

Alice W.Winiamson: she was bom in 1796 and died on November 29,1880. She 

Is buried in the Presbyterian cemetery in Winnsboro. 

The following young children of Osmund and Martha Woodward are buried 

n the Woodward cemetery near Rocktoi 

Her sister Georgiana Dantzler married Captain W.B.Lyles and is buried 

ln the Methodist cemete: Winnsboro. 

*4-Reynolds and Fant.Bio Ml the Senate of S.C.,P-339. Grave markei irs 
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William Strother Woodward died October 16,1823, aged 5 months and 

14 days. 

Leonard Cornelia Woodward died December 6, 1832, aged 3 years, 3 

months and 17days. 

Alva Milton Augustus Woodward died November 20, 1835, aged 8 years, 

3 months and 11 days. 

There are two vaulted children' tombs that have lost their markings, 

and two vaulted unmarked adult tombs inside the enclosed granite walls 
85 

of the Woodward cemetery near Rockton. 

Osmund Woodward served in the South Carolina House of Representives, 
86 

Thirty- | General Assembly, 1842-1844. 

The 1822 tax returns showed Osmund Woodward as the owner of 1915 
87 

acres of land and 31 slaves. 

Osmund Woodward made his will on March 5, 1854, and his personal 

estate was appraised for $190,213 on November 27,1863. To his wife Martha, 

he left a house with uijoining lots,14 slaves, 2 mules, 2 horses, a 

carriage, a wagon, and the tools needed to work a plantation; to go to 

his children after his wife's death. To his wife Martha, he left $1000 as 

an absolute gift, one half of his stock in the Commercial Bank, Columbia, 
7 

•C. To his grandson James Osmund Owens, he left a gold watch. The rest of 

h*3 estate to be divided into equal shares for his five daughters: 

Jemima Harrison, Sarah Owens, Amanda Heath, Rebeckah Buchanan, and Regina 

oodward. He made provisions for John Harrison to continue living on 

or 

»*• brave markers, ard cemetery, Rockton,S.C. 

86- Bio Dir. S.C. House of Representives, Vol.l,P-346. 

87- T« 
0/- Tax Returns for 1822. 
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his place of 250 acres, if his daughter Jemima Harrison should die^ without 

issue. None of his slaves to be carried out of Fairfield Dsitrict. He named 

Samuel G.Barkley, lomas S.Lvles, David McDowell,and Thomas 

Nelson as his executors.J.D.Strother was named guardian of Regina Woodward. 

In an undated codicil to his will made about five years after the original 

will, he left $500 to eacli is ten grandchildren:two children of his 

daughter Sarah C< 0 children of his daughter Amanda Mobley, four children 

of his daughter Rebecca Buchanan, and two children of his daughter Regina 
88 

Gadsden. 

Reg: »B. Gadsden was born October 20,1836, and died February 23,1891. 

C husband Christopher E.Gadsden was b* S1821, and died on tone 15, 

1864, as a result ot wounds suffered in the Confederate Army. He was the son 

of Bishop Christopher E.Gadsden. Christopher and Regina Gadsden along with 

the following named children are buried in the old Woodward cemetery near 

Rockton. 

Martha Ann Gadsden died October 31, 1859, aged 3 years, 8 months and 

19 days, 

John C.Gadsden was borr My 30,1859, and died January 22,1898. 

ncis Marion Gadsden was bom April 24,1861, and died February 23,1928. 

Lilla Rabb Gadsden, wife of Francis Marion Gadsden, was born January 3, 

1873, and died July 21, 1908. 

oo- F.P.C.fApt.19(new) file 177,1863. In the five years between the making of 

Smund Woodward's original will and the addition of the codocil about five 

years later: Regina married Christopher E.Gadsden,Sarah Owens was now married 

Cook, and Amanda Heath had now married a Mobley. Jemima Harrison was not 

^ntioned and apparently had no children. 
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Re (sic) Buchanan , daughter of Osmund and Martha Woodward, wife 

of Dr. Robert Buchanan, was born on April 20,1830, and died July 21, 1908. 
89 

She Is buried in the Presbyterina cemeterv in Winnsboro. 

. v!LI IAM WOODWARD SR. was the son of the Regulator Thomas 

Woodward and his first wife Jemima Collins. He was a prominent Baptist 

lister, and it has been said that his experiences during the Revolutionary 

War caused hia conversion and led him to the ministr 

In 1789, and because of the great distance from the old church on 

Sandy River, the Rev. William Woodward gathered a congregation together on 

Lower or Little Sandy River,and when this body received its constitution in 

1792, he became their minister and held the position until his death in 1820. 

After his death and in hia me the church became known as Woodward Baptist 

Church. There is a tablet on the church that reads: 

Sacred 

to the Memory of 

er William Woodward 

Who departed this life in the year of our 

Lord 1820;on the 23rd day of July; aged 

years, 9 months and 16 days. 

This tablet 

is erected to his memory by this church 

which was planted by his 

Instrumentality ! Through the indulgence 

of a kind Providence 

A.D. 1789 

Grave Markers.Bol airfield Sketchbook, Pp.- \S8. 



P-219 Chapter 6 

North of the Broad River 

The Rawls, Pow, ^ard and May Families on Little Cedar Creek 

He was the means of planting some 

And building up many of 

he neighboring Baptist churches 

In consideration of his manly virtures 

is church has unanimously consented 

To be known for the future,bv the name 

Of Woodward Baptist Church of 

Christ 

He was a phyaicia: a member of Congresj( Fourteenth Congress, 1818-
90 

1820). He married Nancy Barrett in 1781. 

The Rev. William Woodward made his will on August 24, 1819, he died on 

July 23, 1820, and his will was proven on August 2,1820. He represented himself 

as a resident of Fairfield District, although he spent much of his time in 

Chester District. To his wife Nancy Barrett Woodward, he left the household 

and kitchen furniture nc <>rwise disposed of, a Negro boy and a Negro girl. 

He had already given property to his four married daughters:Charlotte Turner, 

Jemima Hill, Marv Liles and Ellener Robertson. To his son William, he left 

276 acres of land on Sandv River, Chester District, and conveyed to Rev. 

illiam Woodward bv Wil Ha- .er. His son was already living on the land. 

To his son John,he left the 330 acres of land where John was already living, 

0 0 a n d other personal property. To his daughter Afsaneth Woodward, he left 

90-King, S.C.Baptists, Pp.- 106, 107,107n 
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these slaves: Lewis, Delilah and her children Margaret, Judah, Linda and 

Catherine. his son Joseph he left the slaves,Dave, Violet, Dyce, and her 

children Fannv, Klias and Matthew. To his son Thomas, he left the slaves, 

Charles, Fanny and her children,Nancy and Joseph; the woman Kenny and her 

daughter Susanna. He gave cows and calves to his children,Thomas,Joseph 

and Afsaneth Woodward.His sons, William and John Woodward were named the 

executors of the estate oi the Rev. William Woodward. John Woodward died 

sometime between 1820 and 1829. William Woodward as the surviving executor 

called a meeting of the heirs at the Chesterville (Chester ) courthouse 

for a final settlement on October 2,1^29. On September 30,1829, William 

Robertson wrote that he could not attend; on October 1,1629, James Lyies 

wrote for Aromanua Lyles that he could not attend; J.A. (Joseph A.) Woodward 

wrote on September 30,1829, that he could not attend.All these letters were 

directed to Peter Wylie Esq., and stated that although they were not able to 

attend,they were willing to abide bv the decisions of William Woodward and 
91 

wished that he would go ahead with the settlement. 

The Rev. William Woodward was paid 8 pounds, sterling, for 26 days 

service in the militia g the year 1781. 

Rev. Willi iherited these lands from his father, the 

Regulator Thomas Woodwai 

1- 125 acres of land on John Marpole Creek, originally granted to 

H I iam McMorris, and t> ved to Thomas Woodward. 

91-Chester Probate Court Records, file 71, pkg. 1116,1820. 
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2- 100 acres of land granted to John Winn Esq.,and by him conveyed to 

Thomas Woodward on June 8,1776. 

3- 76 acres granted to Isaac Sibley on August 41, 1774, and conveyed 

to Thomas Woodward. 

4- 100 acres north of Broad River granted to Thomas Woodward on 

August 22,1776. 

5- 100 acres on Mill Creek granted to Thomas Woodward on August 31,1774. 

11iam Woodward sold this land on Mill Creek that he had inherited from 

his father to Kemp Taliaferro Strother on April 17,1786. Kemp Taliaferro 

sold this land to Minor Winn on January 10,1788. By a mistake, 100 acres of 

land on Cedar Creek was substituted for the proper 100 acres on Mill 

<±ek that had been granted to Edward Wells on October 25,1764. Minor 

Winn asked for clear titles on the land on Cedar Creek and this was done on 

Member 9,1793. On the following day, September 10,1793, William Woodward 
92 

•old Minor Winn the 100 acres of land on Mill Creek for 30 pounds, sterling. 

On January 31,1801, Walter Pool.Fairfield District, sold William 

Woodward, minister, 60 acres of land for $30; being part of a tract of 
93 

granted Lewis Boatner,and adjoing land already owned by William Woodward. 

Christopher Edrington and James Davis, planters,declared themselves 

bound to the Rev. William Woodwa Chester District for 400 pounds, 

erling, on January 21,1795. They gave a mortgage on 351 acres of land on 

'2-F-D.B., Bk.A,P-54; ! p.i:,13. 

'^•IMi, !'k.N,P-367,1801. 
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Rocky Creek, Fairfield Countv,then the residence of Christopher Edrington 

94 
and formerly known as theMDavis Old Place'.' 

Milly(X) Watts, •:) Watts (the second), the widow Susanah Watts, 

John Watts, Thomas Watts, Elizabeth(X) Watts, Crispen Morgan and Sarah (X) 

Morgan, all the heirs of Edward Watts(deceased) sold William Woodward 210 

acres of land out of 224 acres granted Edward Watts on September 20,1774, 

for $350 on October 12,1809. This land lay on Watts Branch of Little 

River. On March 16,1810, the heirs of Edward Watts sold William Woodward 

an additonal 60 acres of land out of a tract granted Edward Watts on 

September 9,1794, for $60. 

John Watts sold William Woodward a 20 year old male slave for $500 
96 

on November 12,1810. 

On January 2,1810, James Butler Jr. of the state of "Caintucky" sold 

William Woodward (price not mentioi - 276^ acres of land that had been 

granted his father James Butler Sr. on May 22,1795. This land lay in 

Fairfield District, on Little River. Will ttntl and George Fant witnessed 
97 

the deed. 

William Woodward, on December 12,1810,sold back to the widow Susannah 

watts,the 270 acres of land that he had bought from the estate of Edward 

watt8,as well as the 276*5 acres bought from James Butler Jr., for $850, 

K-r.D.B.,11 ,1795. 

95-Ibid, Bk.T.,ppT293,294, 1809,1810. 

96- Ibid. Bk.T,P-296, 1810. 

97Vjb±d,Bk.T,l>-,!96. 

98- Ibld.lik. 

98 
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James Davis sold William Woodward 80 acres of land for $131 on May 5, 

1815. This land lay on Little River and was part of a grant to Edward Watts 

(deceased) and by him conveyed to John Watts (deceased) bound on the south 

99 
by lands of Robert Williams, and on the south by the lands of William Hamilton. 

On iry 5,1814, and for the sum of $3, Benjamin Owens gave the 

Regular Baptist Church on Mill Creek 150 acres of land for 10,000 years. 

This land to be used as a glebe for the Baptist ministers serving the 

church on Mill Creek and was bound by the lands of Michael Hawkins, the late 

General Moultrie, Benjamin Owens and John Nelson. The church was represented 
100 

by William Woodward, John Harris and Caleb Powell. 

William Woodward sold William Turner 185 acres of land on Rocky Creek, 

Fairfield District for $600 on August 10,1815. This tract of land was made 

up out of original grants to Jacob Free and Lewis Boatner. William Turner 
101 

was already living on the land. Thomas and John Woodward witnessed the sale. 

CHARLOTTE WOODWARD, daughter of the Rev. William and Nancy Barrett 

Woodward, made a marriage agreement with John Macon on October 29,1803, 

and It was agreed that she was to have the three slaves that she already 

owned. On February 13, 1805, John Macon gave these slaves, in trust, to William 

•Vfoodward for the sum of $10. The marriage of Charlotte Woodward and John 

• aeon must have been a first marriage for Charlotte who was referred to as 
102 

charlotte Turner in her father's will made in 1819. 

"-F.D.B. ,P-73,1815. 

100- Ibid^ i>-515,1814. 

101-ibid, Bk,BB9P«342ti813. 

102- IMd, Bk.O,P-399,1803;Bk.P,P-255,1805. 
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JOSEPH A WOODWARD, the son of the Rev. William and Nancy Barrett 

Woodward, was married to Melinda R.Woodward. She was born on November 6,1807, 

and died on Nov. 14,1839. She ried in the Presbvterian Cemetery 

in Winnsboro and "her New-born babe lies on her left side". 

Joseph A.Woodw.r.l represented Fairfield District in the South Carolina 

House of Representivea in 1834-36 and 1840-42. He moved to Alabama in his 

later yeer. and his son William Woodward of Sumter County,Alabama, served in 

104 
the Alabama Legislature. 

Joaeph A.Woodward, and hi. wife Melinda, sold John^Maloney 43.4 acres 

of land on Wateree Creek for $200 on January 22,1836. 

Phillip Edward Pearaon of Talladega Countv, Alabama, through his agent 

Dr Bratton of Winnsboro, aold Joaeph A.Woodward C M lot. on Walnut Street. 

106 

Winnsboro, for $400 on October 9,1840. 

THOMAS WOODWARD, eldest .on of the Regulator Thomas Woodward by his 

aecond wife, Elizabeth Stoke. May. Woodward, inherited 1244 acres of land from 

his father and made up out of these several tracts of land: 

1- 150 acre, of land originally granted to James Andrews. 

2-100 acre, of land granted William Watts. 

3- 794 acre, of land granted I.aac Porcher. 

4- 200 acre, of land granted James Andrews. 

103-Gravemarker., Pre.byterian caeroetery .Winnsboro. 

104-Woodward, Reminiscence.,P-l45;McMa.ter,Fairfield County, P-117. 

105- !•.!). .'99,1836. 

1Q6-IMd, !',k.NN,P-350,1840. 
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Thomas Woodward sold these 1244 acres of land to Robert Smyth of Charleton 

107 

for 868 pounds, .t i |, on Ally 2,1789. 

Shortly after the Revolutionary War, Thomas Woodward moved to Union 

County where he taught school severel years, and fell in love with one of 

his pupils,Mary Howard. When he a.ked her to marry him, her family objected 

becauae of his Indian blood. He returned to Fairfield County and soon afterwards 

left for the Cherokee Nation with a few slaves. The Howard family moved to 

Elbert County Georgia and Thomas Woodward follwed Mary there. Two of her 

anjther. interceded for Mary and Thomas and they obtained permission to be 

married. Thome, and Mary Howard Woodward had a daughter who married General 

Watson. Their son Thomas Simp.on Woodward led an active life, was promoted 

to Brigadier General 'little, and wrote the Remininences often referred to 

in the sketch o! t !»,• -ard family. A second son of Thomas and Mary 

Howard Woodward died in infan 

Thoma;, ward died in March 1800. His widow Mary married again but 

died in 1806. Thomaa Simpaon Woodward was left an orphan at a very early 

age. He lived with severel reletive. but seems to have made an attachment 

to a maternal uncle who remained a lifetime favorite. His formal education 

was neglected but he wa. an intelligent, observant, active individual with 

a strong sense of adventure and suffered little for want of more education. 

In 1812, and at a very early age (he didn't know the exact date of his birth) 

Thomas Simpson Woodward enlisted in the army and for the next forty years, 

107- F.D.B.,Hk.E,P-2,1789. 
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he was concerned with the military. He married but little is known of his family 

life. He spent all of theae active years on the frontiers of Georgia, Florida, 

Alabama, Mississippi and Louisiana, with enough adventure for several lifetimes. 

His Indian blood permitted a close kinship with the Indians, and he came to 

know and love them more than any man in his lifetime. He spent twenty of these 

years in Alabama and claima to have selected the site for Tuskegee ,Alabama, 

and claims to have been the foundered of that town. He spent the last years 
108 

of his life In Winn Parish, Louisiana. 

HENRY WOODWARD, son of Regulator Thomas and Elizabeth Stokes May 

Woodward, amde his will on November 25, 1802, and it was proven on January 13, 

1803. WI] Woodward, John May and Joseph Gibson witnessed the will, His 

wife was • izabeth, but there was no mention of children. He left his 

property to his wife, Elizabeth, and to the children of his deceased brother 

Thomas in Milledgeville, Georgia. These children were Elizabeth who married 

General Watson, Thomas Simpson Woodward, and Joseph H.Woodward who died in 

early childhood.Joseph H.Woodward and William McMorris Sr. were named his 

executors. 

On January 7,178b, Joseph Kirkland, Esq., Winnsborough, Fairfield County, 

sold Henry Woodward 300 acres of land on Little River for 100 pounds,sterling.. 

This land was part of 522 acres of land granted Joseph Kirkland. Henry Woodward 

110 
sold this land to John Woodward on September 3,1802, for 35 pounds,sterling. 

108- Woodward, Ren scences, multiple references. 

109-F.W.B.>Vnl .1 ,g| .4,P-3 . C , Apt. 33, file 527,1803. 

U o - F.U.B.,Kk,A,P-453,1786;Bk.Z,P-383,1802. 
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JOSEPH(ir:) WOOODWARD was probably the youngest son of the Regulator 

Thomas and Elizabeth Stokes Mays Woodward. He left no probate court record 

in Fairfield District and it is probable that he went to Alabama ,or some 

other state. He lived quite a few years in Fairfield Dsitrict and was quite 

active in that district. On December 12, 1796, Joseph Woodward, Gentleman, 

sold James Hendrix,planter of Fairfield County, 92 acres of land for $92.10. 

This land was the eastern part of 500 acres of land granted Pierce Butler on 

January 20,1773: bound on the north by the land of James Nelson, east by the 

land of John Woodward, south by the land of William Strother, and west by 

James Hendrix. This land was conveyed to Joseph Woodward by the last will 

and testament oi his father Thomas Woodward. A few days later on December 20, 

1796, Joseph Woodward sold v/llliam Strother 151 acres out of the 500 acre 
111 

tract for S7I5 

Hannah Robertson sold Joseph Woodward 164 acres of land on Mill Creek 

for $300 on October 24,180 s tract of land was her one-third share in 

the estate of her husband John Robinson (sic). William Woodward and William 

McMorries witnessed the sale. On January 26,1806, Joseph Woodward sold this 

land to George la for $450. Ann,wife of Joseph Woodward, signed her 
112 

release. William Ashley and Reeves Freeman witnessed the deed. 

Joseph Woodward sold Robert Robinson 213 acres of land on Little River 

or $336.55 on September lis land was willed to Joseph Woodward 

m-F.D.B.,Bk.K,P-45'}
 796-

U 2~ O U , • .- V'2,1806. 



P-228 Chapter 6 

North of the Broad River 

The Rawls, Powell, Woodward and May Families on Little Cedar Creek 

by his father Thomas Woodward,and was part of 300 acres of land granted William 

Trunker on February 22,1771: bound bv the lands of Elisha Halgwood and Robert 

113 
Robinson. Ann Woodward signed her release. 

On July 17,1807, Joseph Woodward sold James Martin 100 acres of land 

for $600. This land was part of the Trunker grant and had been conveyed to 

Thomas Woodward through Edward McGraw and inherited by Jospeh Woodward. The 

land lay northeast I Me River and was bound on the east by the land of 

William Ashley . north by land of William Ashley and on the west by the 
1! 

channel of Little Rive 

Joseph Wood' Gentleman of Fairfield District, sold James Nelson 

89 acres of land for $89 in October 1801. This land was the northeast 

portion of the 500 acres that had been granted Major Pierce Butler on June 20, 

1773: bound on the east by the land of John Woodward, north and east by the 

115 
land of James Nelson, and on the south by the land of James Hendix, 

She: lames Fort Muse,of Falfield District,sold the 92 acre home 

place of Reeves Freeman at public sale, and on March 5,1810, gave Joseph 

Woodward a six 's title to the land. Joseph Woodward was the highest 

bidder at $100. Jane Freeman, wife of Reeves Freeman, full sister of 

116 
Joseph Woodward, daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth Stokes May Woodward. 

tf111lea M and his wife Elizabeth, full sister of Joseph 

Woodward, daughter oi Thomas and Elizabet! es May Woodward, sold 

Joseph Woodward 8^ acres of land for $30 on February 23, 1811. This land 

H3-F.D.B. 00. 

114- Ibid, Kk.R.,l>-220,1807. 

115-lbid, ,1801. 

116- n^d, --.1. .i>.c.,Apt. 33,file 525. 
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lay on Morris Creek, and was the angle of a tract of land adjoining the land 

that Joseph Woodward « f Owens on February 23, 1811. This land 

was part of the 500 acres of land that had been granted Robert Stark on June 14, 

1771, and by Rolert Stark conveyed to Thomas Woodward in April 1773( or 1779). 

Thomas Woodward conveyed this land to his daughter Elizabeth by his last will 

and testament , and by her transferred to her half-brother Thomas May on 

September 21,1786, Thomas May transferred the land back to his sister Elizabeth 

117 
Woodward, later Elizabeth McMorries. Elizabeth Mc Morries signed her release. 

OTHER WOODWARDS 

RICHARD WOODWARD, /Airfield District, made his will on October 13. 1804, 

and it was proven on November 19,1804. His wife was named Anne and they had 

a daughter Margaret. Hia mother and father were still living but not named. 
118 

Richard and George Woodward were named his executors. 

The 1790 census showed Richard Woodward to be living in Fairfield County 

wlth one white, free male over sixteen years of age, six under sixteen , and 

five white, free females In his household. We know from several records,to 

be quoted, that he had sons named Richard (later called Richard Woodward Sr.), 

William, John, George and James, Margaret was the only daughter named. 

Phillip Walker, yeoman, sold Richard Woodward, cooper, of St Mark's 

parish, Craven Con 100 acres of land on Bower's Mill Creek, on April 10, 1777 

117« F.D.B. ,Bk.DD,P-28,1810. 

118- F. P. c , Apt. 33, file 530; F .W . B ., Vol .1, Bk . 5 ,P-113 , 1804. 
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This land had been originally granted to Samuel McCants on February 1,1768, 

119 

and by him conveyed to Phillip Walker on November 24,1768. 

In November L798, John Bell Esq., Fairfield County, sold Richard Woodward 

150 acres of land on Watts' Branch, South Fork, Little River for 22 pounds, 

sterling. This land was part of 410 acres surveyed for John Bell Esq., 
120 

on January 21,1791. 

Richard Woodward sold his son John Woodward 300 acres of land on Little 

River for 30 pounds, sterling. There is no date for the transaction. This 

land had been granted to Richard Woodward on January 21,1785. On September 21, 

1804, and after the death of their father, Ricard Woodward, George Woodward 

for himself and his brother James Woodward certified their father's signature 

on the deed. 

WILLIAM WOODWARD, probably a son or brother of the elder Richard 

Woodward, died intestate in Fairfield District sometime prior to December 24, 

1823, the date his administration bond was signed by Charles Bell, Thomas Bell, 

and Robert Bankhead lor $1000. Charles Bell was named administrator. Samuel 

McMillan Sr., Samuel McMillan Jr., Robert Bell,and Thomas Bell appraised the 
122 

estate on January 7,18: 

William Woodward, son of Richard Woodward, sold William Yongue 76 acres 

of land for $225 on January 2°,1814. This tract of land was made up out of 

two tracts: 

119- F.D.B.,Bk.B,T- 77. 

120-Ibld, Bk.M,P-8,17 

121- Ibid, tk.\ )4. 

122~ <:.,Apt la 580, 1824. 
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1-Part oi 587 acres of land granted John Quinn on May 7,1787. 

2- Part of 300 acres of land originally granted Richard Woodward. 

123 
This land lay between branches on the Southwest Fork of Little River. 

Susannah (X) Watts sold William Woodward 540 acres of land for $1000 

on December 24, 1814, made up out of two tracts: 

1- Land on Watts Branch granted to Edward Watts on September 9,1774: bound by 

the lands of the heirs of George Woodward , by the lands of Robert Means on 

Woodward Creek, and by the land sold John Woodward by Edward Watts and now 

claimed by James Davis and where Burbage Woodward lives. 

2- 276 acres of land i ally granted to James Butler and sold to 

the Rev. William Woodward by Susannah Watts. 

All oi this land had been sold back to Susannah (X) Watts by the Rev. 

William Woodwar 

William Woodward sold Robert Yongue 141^ acres of land for $424 on 

January 21,181 . M s land made up out 0 

1- Part of 416 acres of land granted John Quinn on May 7,1787, and 240 

acres conveyed to William Woodward by John Quinn. 

2- Part of 300 acres of land granted Richard Woodward on January 21, 

1785, and part of 115 acres of land conveyed by John Woodward, heir of the 

the elder Richani ard, to his brother William on Januarv 5,1806. Luvesia, 

wlfe of Wiin a m Woodward signed her release. 

123- F.D.B.,Bk.W,P-319,1814. 

124- ibj^ :,PP.203,294 .Y,P-37,1814, 

125- Ib id . ik y p-358 1815 
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Willi odward sold Martin Yongue 144^ acres of land for $435 on 

January 21,181 Mis land was part of 416 acres that had been granted to 

John Quinn on Mav 7,1787, and part of 240 acres of land that John Quinn had 

conveyed to John Woodward o; 1 7,1801. Luvesia Woodward signed her release. 

On April 8,1819,Ed Watts sold William Woodward 28 acres of land for $140; 

127 
being the northeast part of 120 acres surveyed for Edward Watts on May 26,1787. 

William Woodward bought 2 00 acres of land from his brother James for 
a 128 

$1000 on April 1,1822. 

JAMES WOODWARD, son of the elder Richard Woodward and his wife Anne, died 

intestate in Fairfield District during the year 1823. William Woodward,as 

viously noted died during the y«ar 1823. On June 2,1823, William Woodward 
and Hugh Stevenson were named administrators of the estate on James 

Woodward, but Hugh Stevenson now had to function as the sole administrator. 

el McMillan, Richard Woodwar other) and John Aiken appraised the estate 
129 

M July 14,1823. 

On February 23,1832, Hugh Stevenson and William Woodward (apparently a 

fferent Wil1i.im Woodward from the one that died in 1823),signed a guardian-

»hip bond with,and 1 or,I.ieuvice Woodward aa guardian of the children of James 

and Lievice Woodward,al | minors: Richard, Zachariah, Sarah, Nancy, James 0., 

and George Woodward. Aa their guardian,Lievice Woodward sold Thomas Lauderdale 
1 3 0 

7* 3/4 acrea of land on Little River for $1416.41,on December 15,1836. 

126- F.D.B.,Hk.Y,P-lh2,lHl4. 

127-Ibi^ Bk.AA,l>-270,l*: 

1 28- Ibj_d, Bk.DD.I'-186,1822. 

129-F.P.C.,Apt.36,file ' .3. 

°* ' •i,l'-171,lH3f). F.P.C. Apt.69,file 1053,1832. 
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On February -21, James Woodward sold Samuel McMillan 13 acres of 

land on the South Fork of Little River for $117. This land was part of a 

grant of 150 acres to Robert Brodie on March 3,1794, and conveyed by 

Robert Brodie to David K.Evans,and then to William Woodward on December 16, 
131 

1816. Lleuvice Woodward signed her release. 

James Woodward sold William Woodward 200 acres of land for $1000 on 

April 1,1822. This land was the home plantation of James Woodward,and was 

raide up In part out of land inherited by James Woodward from his father,the 

elder Richard Woodward. This land lay on the southwest fork of Little River, 

just above Brown's Bridge, and was bound on the east by the lands of James 

rfc and Ro ankhead, on the south by the land granted to John Waggoner 

and owne- Claries Bell, on the west by land formerly owned by Edward 

Walker but now owned by Samuel :ian, northwest by land of Robert Means, 

and on the north by land granted James Fares and now owned by Samuel McMillan. 
132 

Nathaniel and Isaac Woodward witnessed the sale. 

MARGARET WOODWARD, daughter of the elder Richard and Anne Woodward, 

^ade her will on February 28,1831, and it was proven on January 9,1832. She 

eft Luivicia Woodward ,widow of her brother James Woodward ,and the children 

of James and I., a Woodward, all of her propertv. She named Luivicia 

oodward and her son William her executrix and executor of her will. N.M. 
133 

ertson, WlllI;l™ Woodward and Hugh Stevenson witnessed the will. 

JOHN WOODWARD, son ol the elder Richard and Anne Woodward, made his 

ill on March 3, 1829, and it was proven on December 21,1829. To his sister 

l3l-F.D.B.,BkxXV>_148>182 

132- IMd,Hk.DD,P-186,1822. 

* F-W.B.,Vol .13.P-49; F.P.C.,Apt.69,file 1058,1832 
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Margaret, he left his 30 acre home place. To his nephew Richard Woodward,son 

of his deceased brother William, he left some slaves. To his niece Jane 

Morgan, daughter of his deceased brother George, he left a slave. To the heirs 

of his deceased brother James, he left his money. George W.Hill and John Shirley 

were named his executors. J.C.Means, John Bovle, and John Williams witnessed 
134 

the will. 

John Woodward, yeoman of Fairfield Countv p sold Burbage Woodward 

two bay horses, some hogs, corn,and fodder for 12 pounds, sterling, on 
135 

November 5, 1790. Isham Fair and Edward Watts Sr., witnessed the sale. 

George HeHI11 and John Shirley, executors of the will of John Woodward , 

sold Martin Yongue 112 acres of land on a smal tie River for 

$308 on February 13,18- his land was separated from the home place of 

John Woodward by a narrow strip of land owned by Martin Yongue, and was bound 
136 

by the lands of Martin Yongue, Richard Woodward and William Champion. 

GEORGE WOODWARD, son of the elder Richard Woodward and his wife Anne, 

died sometime prior to August 14, 1816, the date his widow Elizabeth sold her 

dower rights on 59 acres of land, minus 5 acres where the home stood, to 

illiam and George Woodward, administrators of their brother George's estate, 

for $200. This land waa the third part of a grant to James Alcorn on February 5, 

1794. Jol dward and Levisey(sic) Woodward, widow of William Woodward, sold 
137 

this land back to Elizabeth Woodward for $220 on March 13,1824. 

!34- F.W.B.,Vol .12,P-39.F.P.C.,Apt.68,file 1047,1829. 

135-F.D.B.,Bk.A,I>-98.1790. 

136-^Ml,Kk.HH.2,P-366,1830. 

13/^l£jd| KK.AA, P-2 . - 3,1824. 
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ELIZABETH WOODWARD, widow of George Woodward, died intestate in 

Fairfield District in 1830. Charles Bell and Nathaniel Woodward were named 

administrators of her estate. Thomas Lauderdale, Robert Bankhead, and Richard C, 

Woodward appaised her goods on December 28,1830. The administration bond for 

$1000 was signed on December 19,1830, by Charles Bell, Nathaniel Woodward, 

and James Rogers, The division of the estate was carried out on January 1, 

1833, and $7.10.6 went to each of the following heirs: Nathaniel Woodward, 

Cft&rnal James and wife Margaret, James Morgan and wife Jane, Isaac Woodward, 

Nancy Woodward, and George Woodward. Her coffin cost $5.00 ;George Brown was 

paid $40 for her tombstone; the freight on the tombstone from Columbia was 

$5.00; Dr. Dr. J.M.Brackett was paid $6.50 and Dr. Dauid H.Means was paid 
138 

$6. Of: iedical services. 

On April 19,1831, Charles Bell, Robert Bell, and Hugh L.Barkley signed 

a guardianship bond tor Nancy and George Woodward who were minors. Nathaniel 

Woodward was made the guardian of George Woodward , and William McMillan 

co-signed his guardianship bond for $1000 on January 18,1832. tfancy Woodward 

had died sometirne prior to January 18,1832. Dr. J.P.Pearson was paid $70 for 

attending her; her funeral dress and articles cost $39.90. Each of her heirs 

received $22.19, and were Nathaniel Woodward, Isaac Woodward, James Morgan 
139 

and wife Jane, Charnal James and wile Margaret. 

From the receding, the following children of George and Elizabeth 

Woodward can be named: Nathaniel, Isaac, -eorge , Jane,andMargaret. 

138- F.P.c.,Ap* ,1830. 

139- IMd^pt, 69.file 1055, 1832, 
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On June 7,1831, Isaac C.Woodward, Nathaniel Woodward, and Margaret 

Woodward James sold John Cameron 192 acres of land on Little River for 

$920. This land was made up 01 two tracts: 

1- Part of 178 acres of land granted James Alcorn in March 1794,and 

resurveyed to show 180*5 acres. This land lay on the road from Charles Bell 

to the Means place. 

2- An adjoining tract of 11*5 acres conveyed to Nathaniel Woodward by 

Richard Woodward on March 5,1815. 

This was James Cameron's home place. In November 1834, he sold 126.7 

acres to Richard C.Woodward for $1015.20. He sold Richard Woodward the 68h 

acres remaining in the northeast corner of the 192 acres of land that he had 

bought from the heirs of George Woodward for $993 on January 26,1836. 

Richard C.Woodward sold back to James Cameron 101^ acres out of his home place 

of 450 acres on Watts Branch,Lit tie River, for $1471.75. Rebecca Woodward 
140 

signed her release. 

RICHARD WOODWARD SR., was the son of the elder Richard Woodward and 

his wife Anne. His wife was named Rachel and he had at least two sons, 

Richard Jr. and George. 

On December 11,1830, Richard Woodward Sr. and his son Richard Woodward Jr, 

sold James Cameron a tract of land for $460. This land had been originally 

granted to the elder Richard Woodward and by him conveyed to his son 

Richard Woodward Sr. and Richard Woodward Jr. The land lay on Watts Branch, 

Southwest Fork (tie River, and on the Columbia Road from Kerr's store 

140- F.D.H.,M)k.nn.2,P-385;Bk.LL,P-410;Bk/MM,Pp81,82. 
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to Winnsboro. Rachel .ard, wife of Richard Woodward Sr., signed her 
141 

release. 

On December 8,1830, Richard Woodward Sr. sold James Cameron Jr. 153% 

acres of land for $996. This land was part of 416 acres granted John Bell Sr. 

on January 21,1797, and by him transferred to the elder Richard Woodward in 

1798. This tr.'i. was bound by the lands of George Woodward, Mart in 

Yongue ,and the heirs of George Woodward,John Woodward, Randolph Woodward 
142 

and others. 

On December 28,1829, J.Feaster, D.S., surveyed for George Woodward, son 

of Richard Woodward Sr.,58 acres of land representing the northwest portion 

of a | land originally granted to the elder Richard Woodward and by 

him devised to his son Richard Woodward Sr. by his last will and testament. 

The land lay on Chan: '.ranch of Little River and was bound on the north 

by the land of laaac Means east bv the estate of John Woodward (deceased), 

south by thi Richard Woodward Jr.,and west by the land of William 

Champion. George ard sold this land to Isaac Means for $ 400 on December 2, 

143 
1830. Jane,wife of George Woodward signed her release. 

This 58 acres of land was apparently George Woodward's share of the 

112 acres sold Richard Woodward Jr. and George Woodward by their father 
144 

Richard Woodward Sr. for $500 on March 21,1329. 

1 4 1 - F.D. ,HH-2,P-306,1830. 

142-Ibid, Hk.HH-2,P-304,1830. 

143- LMd,l',k.HH-2,P-350,1830. 

144-Ibid, !',k.II,P-367,1829. 
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H WOODWARD FAMI 

e is no sure connection of Randolph Woodward Sr. with the elder 

Woodward except that they were contemporaries and came to the same 

rfield County. They each bought a portion of the 410 acres of land 

**d been granted to John Bell Sr. on February 18,1792. Randolph 

r. might have been a brother or son of the elder Richard Woodward. 

**ndolph Woodward Sr. conveyed the 130 acres of land that he had bought 

<*n Bell Sr. to his son Randolph Woodward Jr. on February 18,1830. This 

*7 on Watts Branch of Little River. On this same dav,Randolph Woodward Sr. 

8on Joseph Woodward 95 acres out of the southwest portion of this 

r*s of land. On rhi* *nm* Hay, he also gave
 Toseph 120 acres 
145 

tne northwest portion of this same tract. 

er records write Randal for Randolph.) 

°* February 1,1832, Joseph Woodward sold Randal Wooodward Jr.,his 

^her 

i the 95 acres of land that his father had given him ,for $950. 

'dward Jr. sold this 95 acres of land Co James Cameron for $1305 

er 4,1833. Randal Woodward Jr. sold the 130 acres of land given him 
I K

 1 A 6 

-ather to Andrew Yongue for $1170 on Januarv 11, 1832. 
:al woodward Sr. sold Daniel fc es of land for $550 on 

''tin, 2 
.1832. This land lay on Little River and was bound by the lands of 

*o<u 

•D-B.,Bk.HH-2,Pp.- l 8 3 0. 

A, Bk.KK.Pp.- ,P-69 1832,1833 

^ B k . KK.P-266,1832. 
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ISAAC WOODWARD ,son of Randolph Woodward Sr., died intestate in 

Fairfield District in the fall of 1831. His brother Joseph was made the 

administrator of his estate on October 24,1831. Joseph Woodward, Randolph 

Woodward Sr.,Randolph Woodward Jr. signed the administrative bond for $800. 

Joseph Woodward died, left the district, or for some other reason gave up 

his position as administrator ,and Priscilla Woodward,widow of Isaac was 

appointed administrator in the place of Joseph Woodward on April 9,1832. 

Priscilla Woodward married Elijah Eubanks of Union District. On March 23, 

1839, Elijah Eubanks was appointed guardian of James P.Woodward. Priscilla 

Woodward, widow of Isaac Woodward and as administrator of his estate,made 

the following distribution of money: to the widow Priscilla, $24.98.1;$16.65.4 

to each of the following children, Daniel Y.Woodward,Isaac H.Woodward, and 
148 

James P.Woodward. 

BURBAGE WOODWARD, not fully identified, served in the Revolutionary 

War and was paid 6 pounds, 7 shillings and 1 pence, sterling for his 

militia service. The 1790 census showed him as a resident of Fairfield County 

with one white, free male over sixteen years of age and one white,free female 

in his household. There seems to have been a younger Burbage Woodwar'.! who 

bought 100 acres of land from the heirs of Edward Watts Sr. These heirs 

were John, Thomas, Susannah and Milly Watts. The sale took place on August 12, 

1815, and nearly four years later, on March 17,1819, Burbage Woodward sold 

149 
this land to Robert Milling. 

148- F.P.C. File 69,Pkg. 1056,1831. 

149- Rev. War Records. F.D.B. Bk.Z,P-7; Bk.BB,P-251. 
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THE MAY : 

When the Regulate nas Woodward married Elizabeth Stokes May, widow 

of John May, she was alreadv the mother of two sons, Thomas and Benjamin May. 

She had a daughter but we are not sure of her name. She had three sons and 

three daughters by Thomas Woodward. In her will,Elizabeth Stokes May 

Woodward named her children bv Thomas Woodward: Henry Woodward, Joseph 

Woodward, Thomas Woodward. f Woodward, Sarah Reilev, Elizabeth McMorries, 

L50 

and Jane Freeman. 

Benjamin May served in the Rangers under Captain Thomas Woodward and 

three hundred and twenty-five days as a captain and lieutenant of horse 

in the militia, He was noted for his t 7 and was paid 108 pounds, 18 

shillings, 6 pence and 3 farthings, sterling, for his service. His brother 
151 

Thomas May was a cripple and could not serve in the Revolutionary War. 

Benjamin May had a number of surveys for land following the 

Revolutionary War. OT 26, 1792, W.Cato,D.S. laid off 33 acres for him on 

Hunter's Branch, Fairfield County. This land was bound by the lands of 

Phillip Pearson, Esq., John Pinlev, and by land already owned by Benjamin 

May. A year later on July 26, 1793, he had 217 acres of land surveyed for 

for him on Pole Branch, Broad River, and bound by the lands of Robert 

Mansell,Ballard Dav, William Nettervllle, and Phillip Pearson, Esq. Both 

152 
plats were certified bv emer ,S .G . ,on October 6,1794. 

150- Woodward, Reminiscences,P-144.F.W.B., Vol.l,Bk 4,P-32,1802. 

151- Ray. War Records. Woodward, Reminiscences,P-145. 

1 5 2 - S.P. Vol.32,Pp.200,300. 
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Benjamin May died intestate in Fairfield District in the fall of 

1824. Hugh Stevenson and Jonathan Harrison were made administrators of his 

estate. Charles Rabb ai r Harrison joined Hugh Stevenson and Jonathan 

Harrison in the signing of the administration bond on November 30,1824. 

D. Montgomery, William Bell Jr., John Hutchinson, John Rogers and John 

Hollin8head appraised the chattel goods on December 21, 1824, and the sale of 

the chattel goods took place on December 22 and 23, 1824. The sale of the 

chattel goods brought in $6962,81,and there was $110.75 in cash. Thomas 

McMeekin gave a certificate to the effect that he had read the citation 

declaring the death of Benjamin May at several places on November 20,1824. 

Theodocla,daughter of Benjamin May, married Matthew Rice and moved with 

her husband to Autauga County Alabama,where on November 3,1827, she appointed 

her brother Theodore to collect her inheritance from her father's estate. 

A few days earlier, her brother William May, also of Autauga County, Alabama, 

appointed Theodore as his attorney to collect his inheritance from his father!s 

estate. 

The following heirs of Benjamin May each received $546.12.2 from his 

estate: Benjamin May h omas May, Joseph May, Jonathan May, Burr May, 

HIiam May, Theodore May, Nancy Samples(married to Daniel B.Samples),Mary Ann 

Goree' (married to Daniel Goree' <>odocia Rice(married to Matthew Rice, 

arah McMorries (married to Henrv W.McMorries),Mordecai Mav, Joel Mav, and 

Es 
prey H It is suggested that Benjamin May' wife might have been a 

l53-*.P.C.tf!U 57,Pkg. 880,1824. 
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Harrison because of the close relationship of the May and Harrison families. 

Benjamin May had sons named Jonathan and Burr, strongly suggestive of family 

ties with Kurr and Jonathan Harrison. 

HENRY MAY, son of the elder Benjamin died intestate in Fairfield 

District in 1823, the year before his father. The warrant for the appraise­

ment of his property was dated September 14,1823. The appraisement was 

carried out by David Montgomery, John Hollinshead, and John James. His 

brother William May was named administrator of his estate. The settlement of 

the estate was carried out on December 30,1826, and each of the following heirs 

received $r«> in May Sr.(now deceased),Thomas May,Jonthan May, Burr 

May, William May, Theodore May, Mordecai Kfl icy Samples. Mary Ann Goree\ 

Theodocia May, and Sarah McMorries. On November 27,1828, Daniel Samples and 

his wife Nancy appointed Simeon Ashford their attornev to collect Nancy's 

154 
inheritance from her brother Henry May's estate. 

JOHN (Jonathan?) MAY, son of the elder Benjamin May and brother of 

Henry May, died sometime prior to December 17,1826, the date that William 

Holmes read the citation,giving notice of his death,in Bethel-Meeting House. 

William Ashley applied lor letters of administration on December 30,1826, 

and on January 9,1827, ip Pulllg and John Chappell signed the bond with 

illlam Ashley. Rebecca, widow of John May, demanded an accounting of the 

estate from William Ashley on October 6, 1831.The estate was found to have the 

sum of $683.31, and I mon consent the heirs agreed to turn the entire sum 

155 
over to Rebecca May on October 10,1831. 

15*- F.P.c.,fiie 26,pkg. 376. 

135- iMd, iiie 58,pkg. 887,1826. 
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THOMAS MAY, son of Benjamin May, died Intestate in Fairfield District 

during the year 1828. His wife Susanna applied for letters of administration 

on June 10,1828.Zachariah Day aod David Montgomery signed the administration 

bond with her. The warrant for the appraisement of his chattel goods was 

issued on November 24,1828. On or about March 8,1832, Susanna May made a 

settlement of the estate of Thomas May. She retained one-third for herself 

and the other two-thirds went to her daughter Hortentia Lucy May, her only 

child. Most of the property had been inherited by Thomas May from his 

father Benjamin and his brother Her . .'.achariah Dav was made guardian of 
156 

Hortentia Lucy May,a minor, on July 28, 1828. 

THi AY, jon of Elizabeth Stokes May and John May, brother of the 

elder Benjamin May, had 300 acres Q id laid off for him on Crooked Run 

Creek by M.Winn and the plat certified by Ephraim Mitchell,S.G. on June 16, 

1784. The land was bound by the lands of Phillip Shaver, Dutch Wirey, and 

James Mann. On Janu. Kphraim Mitchell,S.G. certified a plat for 

71 acres for Thomas May ttle River, The land lay as a narrow strip 

running east to west and crossed Little River in its mid-portion. The part 

east of the river was bound by the lands of James Kincaid and Joseph Reese. 

'The part of the tract west of the river was bound by the lands of Thomas 
157 

Marpole, Phillip Pearson and Henry Crumpton. 

The Indian blood In the veins of the May family did not seem to matter 

a great deal in Fiirlield District. They married well but never attained the 

financial and social status of the Regulator Thomas Woodward's"first family.11 

!56- F.P.c.,fiie |S. 895,896. 

1 57- S.P. Vol.5fP-208; Vol.7,P-15. 
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Robert McCants. Nicholas Wirick, Mark Davies (Davis), Christopher 

Davis, George Freshley, Johannes Stephen Eleazer, James Mann, John Geiger, 

John Alston, Thomas May, Harmon , all had land surveys and grants on, or 

near, Cr Q Creek and its Junction with Little Cedar Creek. These 

families have already been described. At times the family holdings border on 

Crooked Run Creek and Little Cedar Creek. 

1 
THE ENTZMINGERS 

Peter and Christian Entzmlngers were early land holders on Crooked 

Run and Little Cedar Creeks. There Is no doubt but that they were related 

and might have been brothers. 

PETER ENSMINGER (sic) had 100 acres of land laid off for him in 

Orangeburgh Township, Berkeley October 14, 1767.The Royal Grant was 

dated March 21,1768. Peter Ensmire (Entzminger) had 150 acres of land laid 

off for him on (Little) Cedar Creek by John Alston, D.S., on February 10, 

1773. This land was bound on the southeast by land already held by Peter 

Entzminger, southwest by land of David Moore, and on all other sides by 

2 
vacant and unknown land. The Royal Grant was dated March 7,1774. 

Dr Green believed that Peter Entzminger came to Richland County at 

about the time the county was formed and settled to the east of the Old 

winnsboro Road. 

Peter Ansminger died intestate in Richland County and Frederick 

An8minger>as the nearest of kin was appointed administrator on February 16,1739. 

Also written as Hansminger, Ansminger,Enziminger and Ensmire. 

2* C.P.Voi .1 >,I>-47,1773;R.G. Vol.lb, P-157,1786; Vol. 30,P-Z07,1774. 

3- Green, History Richland County, Pp.-39,222. 
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CHRISTIAN B | received a precept from John Bremar,Esq.,D.S. G., 

on September 3,1771, and 300 acres of land was laid out for him on Crooked 

Run Creek and the plat certified for him on September 24, 1771. The Royal 

Grant was dated February 21 1772. In 1770, he had 300 acres of land out 

4 
for him next to Peter Hansminger in Orangeburgh Township. 

Although Peter and Christian were listed as "Hansmlngers" when they obtained 

their land surveys in Orangeburgh Township, Catherine, Catherine Jr.,Christian, 

Christian Jr•,Margaretta and Peter Elsminger were poor Protestant immigrants 

that arrived in the Province Just prior to 29 1764. It is probable that 

Elsminger was a variation on the spelling of Entzminger. 

Christian Entzminger never lived in Richland County or Fairfield County. 

The 1790 census showed Christian Ansminger living in the Northern Part of 

Orangeburgh District with tw< e males over sixteen years of age, 

three under sixteen and two white, free females in his household. The same 

census showed Frederick Ansminger living in Richland Countv with one white, 

tree male over sixteen years of age, three under sixteen years of age,four 

"hite,free females and one slave In his household. 

JWDIM was probably the son of Peter Entzminger. 

Frederick | intestate in Richland Co unty in 1808. Peter and 

ristian Entzminger were appointed administrators of his estate, and along 

wlth Lazarus Reeves signed the administration bond for $4000. The warrant for 

e appraisal of the chattel goods of Frederick Entzminger was issued to 

• C.P.f Vol.l
r), P. . Royal Grants, Vol .20,P-485; Vol .25,P-99,1772 . 

Revlll,Protestant Immigrants, P-
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Herman Dash, Lewis Koon, Alexander Kennedy, Jeremiah Taylor, and Lewis Hagood 

on November 1 ;nal settlement of the estate took place during 

the years 1811-1820, and the following heirs each received $103.08 1/3; 

Catherine(married to . Margaret, Mary, John and T.W.Entzminger. Ezra 
6 

and Elizabeth Entzminger received $150, each, in 1824. 

From the will ol Christian Entzminger,to be given later, it appears that 

Frederick Entzminger was married twice, and that Peter and Christian were sons 

of his first marriage,and were adults at the time of their father's death. The 

other children were by another wi: 

CHRISTIAN ENTZ:-' , the son of the elder Frederick Entzminger, made 

his will on Mav ,1854, and it was proven on February 2,1855. To his brother 

peter, he left $5 and to each of his half-brothers and sisters, he left $5. 

His half-brothers and sisters were: Frederick, Ezra, Rachel, Mary, John, 

Pe8gy, Sarah, Catherine Sharp and Elizabeth Bookhardt. To his nephew Samuel 

Bookhardt, he left a slave girl, his books, bonds, money,and accounts due. 

He appointed R.K.Hartin, Harmon Coon, and James V.Lyles as his executors. 

J.A. McCants, Willia: kins, and J.T.Sligh witnessed his will. 

Christian Entzminger was very wealthy and made a habit of lending 

relatively large sums of money, At the time of his death, the following 

owned his monr , J.C.Furman, I rtin, John Lever, G.W.Souter, 

David Leitner, A. v, Jacob Leitner, J.Z.Wirick, N.Boney, W.N.Mason, 

Levi T.Sharp, and George Lei' 

Christian Entzminger was a very religious man. He He transferred by 

6- R.P.C. 9,Pkg. 202,1808. 

7 - Ib id , BOS 42 , Pkg. 1030,18 



P-247 Chapter 7 

North of the Broad River 

On Crooked Run Creek 

letter from Santee Baptist Church to Sandv Level Baptist Vhurch, where he 

became a very active member and frequently served as a delegate to the 

Baptist Conventions, On April 19,1847, he was made a deacon and served in that 

capacity for the rest of his li£e. On Februarv 14, 1854, he founded the 

Entzminger Ministerial Fund with James V.Scott as trustee. The principal sum 

of $5000 was made- at of benk stock, insurance company stock, and private 

loans at interest. The proceeds from this sum to go toward providing a minister 

of the orthodox Baptist faith,who will live close enough to the church to 

provide pastoral care, preach twice a month,and conduct himself in a satisfactory 
8 

manner. A. I'.DuBard and James P. Boyce witnessed the notarizing of this document. 

PETER ENTZMl 11 brother of Christian Entzminger, son of the elder 

Fredp<-irk F.nf- /mlnger, made his will on August 1,1853,and it was proven on 

February 23,1855, He died on February 12, 1855. He apparently had no wife or 

children,at the time of his death, and left his entire estate to his nephew 

and executor, Thomas W.Entzminger. Adam F.DuBard, Daniel Nelson and James M. 

Nelson witnessed the will. A.F.DuBard, Jacob Leitner, and Stephen S.Lever 

appraised the chattel goods of Peter Entzminger's estate for $6251.22 in 

March 

JOHN • :, hall brother of Christian and Peter Entzminger, and son 

of the elder Fred.- ade his will on May 12, 1854, Like his half 

brothers Peter and Christian, he was without wife and children at the time of 

his death. He left his sister Peggy his home place of 234 acres of land : 

8- M.S. Minutes of Twem -e Mile Creek Baptist Church (later Sandy Level 

BaPtist Church), South Caroliniana Librar 

9" R.P.C., Box 42,Pkg. 1031. : 
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bound by the lands of Peter Entzmlnger, Mr Jones, Edmund Price, and Daniel 

Wootan. He,also, left her eleven slaves, his livestock, plantation tools,and 

household furniture. At her death, his estate to go to the following six 

children of his brother Frederick: Jeremiah, James, John, Mary Jane, Laura 

and Emeline Entzminger. Thomas W.Price, W.W.Entzminger,and Ezra Entzminger 

witnessed the will. His nephews Thomas W.Entzminger and Dr. Samuel W. 

Bookhardt were appointed his executors,but both refused to serve and Frederick 
10 

Entzminger, upon his petition, was appointed executor. 

We know nothing ni the sons of Ezra and T.W.Entzminger, or of the sons 

of the younger Frederick,Jeremiah,John and James Entzminger. 

DAVID AND WILLIAM MOTTE (MOTT) 

DAVID MO .testate In Fairfield County late in the year 1792, 

or early 1793. His wife Agnes was named his administrator. On January 1793, 

a warrant of appraisement waa Issued to James Mann, James Brown,and Robert 

Boyd. William and Robert Boyd signed the administration bond for 200 pounds 

with Agnes Motte. The chattel goods of David Motte was appaised for 18 pounds, 
11 

10 shillings. His books accounted for one pound and 4 shillings of the amount. 

WILLIAM MOTTE(MOTT) ,probably a son of David Motte, married Harriet Boyd, 
12 

daughter of the immigrant Nathaniel Boyd. 

The 1790 census showed William Motte living in Fairfield County,Camden 

trict, wlf white, free males over sixteen years of age,five under sixteen, 

and three white, free females in his household. 

10~ R-p.C., . 1032, 1854. 

U - F-P.C., Apt. le 158,1793. 

12~ p.D.B., Nk Hll, ,P-309,18. 
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The tax returns for 1822 showed William Motte as the owner of 100 
13 

acres of land in Fairfield District. 

William Motte,of Fairfield District, sold his brother-in-law Moses Camack 

100 acres of land in Fairfield District for 5 pounds, sterling. The land 

lay on the headwaters of Crooked Run Creek and had been granted to Jennett 

Boyd: bound at the time of the original survey by the lands of Jane Boyd on 

the southeast, and on all other sides by vacant land. Agness Boyd and William 

Boyd signed releases on December 127,182b. On this same day, William Boyd, 

Moses and Jane Camak ,Elisha and Elizabeth Ann Haygood, Nathaniel Boyd Jr., 

and Rober ill heirs of the immigrant Nathaniel Boyd Sr., sold William 

and Harriet Mott(Motte) 101 acres of land out of the 200 acres that had 

14 

been granted the immigrant Nathaniel Bovd in 1768. 

William Motte sold Samuel Alston 24*5 acres out of the 101 acres for 

$122.50 on January 2,1830. This land was bound at the time of the sale on 

the northwest by Samuel McKinstrv southwest bv Samuel Alston, and on the 

15 
northeast by William Motte. Harriet Mott(sic) signed her release. 

William Motte sold the remainder of the land that he had purchased 

from the heirs of Nathaniel Boyd Sr. to John McKinstrv for $350 on October 4 , 

1837: bound at the time of the sale by the lands of John McKinstry, A.McDowell, 
16 

the estate of Moses Camack.and the estate of John Alston. 

13- Tax Returns for 1822. 

U - F.D.B., Bit. Hll, Pp. -309,474,1826, 

15- rbj^ K k KK,P-262,1830. 

1 6 - Ibijl ,Hk .MM, P-4A5 1 8 3 7 . 
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There is no further record of William Motte, his wife,or children ,and 

It can be safely assumed that he left the district after selling all of 

his land. 
17 

• CAMAKS 

There were a number of Camaks In early Fairfield County,or District, but 

it has been almost impossible to establish an accurate genealogy with the 

public records available to me. It will be of some interest to name these 

early Camaks a; ,in this information trv to build some genealogical 

linkage. 

MOSES CAMAK was born in County Down, Ireland, but lived for 45 years 

In South Carolina, He died on May 18,1830 in the 63rd year of his age and is 

buried in the Old Lebanon Church yeard (Old Stone Church), in the Lebanon 

community of Fairfield County. He was married to Jane Boyd, daughter of 

the immigrant Nathani* d. 

DAVID CA"A'; died on October 31, 1802 in the 62nd year of his age. His 

wife M :ied on April 19,1824, in the 84th year of her age. She and her 

husband are buriec e Old Stone Churchyard. It is probable that they 

w*re the parents of Moses Camak. 

NANCY CAMK, consort of Samuel Camak «ied on March 21, 1847 in the 

year of her age. There was no grave marker for Samuel Camak but he 

W a s Probably a son of Moses or David Camak. 

ELIZABETH CAMAK died on October 1,1835, at the age of 21 years and is 

burled in the Old Stone Churchyard. 

17- S 
sometimes written Camack, Cammack, Cammak, Camac and Camurk. 
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MARTHA CAMAK died at the age of fourteen years on October 17,1835. She 

was probably a slstei lizabeth Camak ,and they probably died of an infectious 
18 

disease such as typhoid fevei 

HARRIET EMELINi CAMAK, daughter of the younger Nathaniel Boyd (Jr.) 

was born on July 22, 1820, and died on October 11, 1899. Her husband John M. 

Camak was born on June 2,1816, and died on April 2,1894. They are buried in 
19 

the cemetery oi the new Lebanon Presbvterian Church. 

DAVID Y. CAMAK was born on July 3,1810, and died on May 8,1885. His 

wife Mary J.was born on March 20,1817, and died on October 17,1872. They are 

buried in the cemetery of Bethel Methodist Church in lower Fairfield County. 

SAMUEL CAMAC (sic) died intestate in Fairfield District in 1858. James G. 

Brice was named administrator of his estate. Thomas R.Robertson pnH William 

Brice signed the 'stration bond with James G.Brice on November 1,1858. 

James G.Brice,in his letter of petition for the letters of aministration , 

stated that Samuel Camak had died on October 9,1848 (1858) and that five 

children survived himi David, John, Lettv, Marv and Margaret. Bv the year 

20 
1862, Letty had married Joseph Smith, ai. id married John Carlisle. 

A o.imuel Camak died Intestate in Fairfield District and Henry A. 

Gaillard, Commissioner in Equity, petitioned for letters of administration 

and stated that Samuel Camak had died in 1863,and that his estate was derelict. 

Robert Mi 11 ing,Fairfield District, sold David Camack , planter of the 

same district, 155 acres of land on Brushy Fork ,Little River,for $25 on 

18- Gravestones in the Old Stone Churchyard. 

9- Gravestones,Lebanon Presbyterian Churchyard. F.P.C. Apt.42, Files 650 and 657. 

20-p.P.C. Apt. : ae 8,1858. 

UjId.Apt. 26 (n< lie 2804,1867. 

21 
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November 5, 1804. This land was part of 455 acres of land granted John Bleakley 

(Weakley?) on May 26, 1786: bound at the time of the sale on land of Holliday 

on the northwest, by land of Samuel Cork on the northeast, on the land of 
7 2 2 

Joseph Chapman on the west, and by land of Henry Ackinson(sic) on the east. 

On January 9,1805, David Milling certified a tract of land containing 

162 acres for Robert Bold (Boyd).This land was part of 300 acres that now 

belonged to David Camack,but originally granted to John Weakly and Hugh 

Milling. On December 24, 1806, David Camack sold 162 acres out of this tract 

to Mary Denham for $333. This land lay on Brushy Creek,Little River, and was 

niade up in part by the 155 acres that Hugh Milling had sold David Cammack on 

November 5,1804. Hugh Milling had purchased this land at a sheriff's sale. 

The remainder of the 162 acres was part of the tract of land that Hugh 

Milling had sold David Camack in 1792. Letitia Camack, wife of David, 
23 

8igned her release. 

James Russell hillips, Ellen Phillips(wife of Smith Phillips), 

Thomas Russell, and Robert Russell, all of Fairfield District sold David 

Camack the same district, 187 acres of land for $131 on November 26,1818. 

This land lay on Jackson Creek and was part of an orginal grant to James 

^ssell. Wiliiam Gibson and Fergus Russell witnessed the deed. Mary Russell 

and Elizabeth Russell, wives of Thomas and James Russell signed their 
24 

relnasos. 

22" F.D.B. ,Bk.Q,P27,18(< 

23- ibid^ -32,18a 

24~ Ifeldj Bk.A, S18. 
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David Cammack,tor $1 and other good reasons,convyed 3h acres of land 

containing the Lebanon Presbyterian Church to the Lebanon Society on 

November 6,1819. The deed included the right to use the spring,and served to 

confirm a previous deed made to the Lebanon Society by James Russell on 
25 

August 27, 1791 . 

David Alexander Milling,planter of Fairfield District, sold James 

Camack Sr. 274 acres of land for $223.01.9 on February 8,1808. This land 

was the remainder of 400 acres granted to James Kennedy. David Camack Sr. 

had previously bought 100 acres of land out of the 400 acre tract. At the 

time of the sale to James Camack Sr., the land was bound on the northwest by 

the land of Samu< .ortheast by John Delashmet's original grant, 

South by the lands of Ralph Henry and David Thompson, and on the 

west by the land of James Martin. Sarah Milling signed her release. Fourteen 

years later,on March 2,1822, James Camack sold this 274 acres of land, 

resurveyed to shn acres, to William McMillan for $1907.16. The road to 

Winnsboro ran acroaa thia tract of land. At the time of this sale,the land 

was bound by the landa of Samuel Camack, John Tinkler, James Thompson and 

26 
Hugh Gladney. 

Some yeara earlier, on Auguat 24,1816, James Camack had sold William 

Siminton 977 (?) acrea of land for $300. This land had been originally granted 

to Hugh MillinK tod was bound by the lands of Burr Harrison, Joseph 
27 

Quarell, Joseph Chapman,Henry Ackinaon, and William McMorries. 

*3- F.D.B., 

26- ibj_(}, Mk.r,!'-r,7,18()8; Bk .CC,P-336,1822. 

27- Ibiq. I'.k.Y.P-
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On uary 1,1819, William Kennedy sold Samuel Camack 100 acres of land 

on Little River lor $200: being part of an original grant to James Kennedy 

on September 17,1772, and bound by the lands of James Camak and James Martin. 
28 

Nancy, wife of William Kennedy signed her release. 

David Camak,who died in the 62nd year of his age in 1802 and is buried 

in the Old Stone Churchyard,was probably the first of the Camak clan to come 

to South Carolina. Mr David Cammack (sic), late a private in Alexander's 

Troop, W.Hampton's Regiment, Sumpterfs(sic) Brigade, was paid 86 pounds, 

10 shillings, 8 pence for services and for bounty dating from April 1,1782. 

29 
This record proves that David Camak was In the province at a very early date. 

It Is always dangerous to try to build genealogical succession on 

presumptive evidence, but it seems reasonable to suggest that David (Jr.), 

Samuel, and James CamacI might be sons of David Camak. Moses Camak 

came to the state soon after the Revolutionary War might be a son of David 

Cam. 

Moses Camak appears to have been the ancestor of the Mossy Dale Camaks. 

Most of the Mosay Dale Camaks, certainly early members of the family, are 

buried in the cemetery of Bethel Methodist Church. David Y.Camak, as previously 

mentioned, was born on July3, 1810, and died on May 8,1882. His wife Mary J. 

Camak was bom on March 27,1817, and died on October 17,1872. He was probably 

* son of Moses Camak ias Charles Camak was probably the son of David Y. 

and Mary J.Camak. He was bom on May 11,1855,and died on July 9,1944. He was 

flrst married to Lou Meadors,or Meadows, who was bom on May 30,1859, and 

28- F.D.B.Bk. B! '>,1819. 

29- Rev. War Records. 
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died October 26,1898. His second marriage was to Carlos Pagett,who was born 

January 29,1871,and died on February 9,1957. Thomas Charles Camak and both 

of his wives are burled in the cemetery of Bethel Methodist Church. 

Marion Boyd Camak, son of Thomas Charles and Lou Meadows Camak, was born 

in Mossy Dale section of Fairfield County on September 4,1888. He became a 

noted educar 

Vinia Camak, daughter of Thomas Charles and Lou Meadows Camak, married 

A.F.Blair, of the Greenbrier community of Fairfield Countv. on December 4, 

1906. 

Thomas C(Charles) Camak Jr. was born on April 5,1894, and died on November 6, 
30 

1935.He Is buried in the cemetery of Bethel Methodist Church. 

R*v. Dr. D.English Camak, a inister, founded the Textile 
31 

Industrial Institute at Spartanburg on September 5,1911. 

32 
IE BOOKMANS 

Jacob :\n 9 Schottiken, Switzerland was baptized on March22, 1696. 

His wife, Margaretha Schwizer was baptized on December 25,1698. Their 

children: 

Ja< Baptized September 28 ,1721 

Hanez Baptized Ji , 1723 

n r i c h Baptized J anua rv 13,1726 

Saloman Baptized August 2 5 , 1729 

Anna Baptized August 24 , 1732. 

° - Gravemarkers, Cemetery Bethel Methodist Church. 

3 1 - w a l U c e , H i s t o r y ol h Carol ina, Pp .132 ,720 . 

- sometimes w r i t t e n Buchman. 
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Margaretha Baptized April 11, 1734 

Joachin Baptized June 30,1737. 

is Conrad Baptized July 10,1740. 

33 
ian lei rzerland about 1743. 

JACOB BOOKMAN arrived in the province of South Carolina with his wife 

and two children from Switzerland, by way of Philadelphia ,on Captain Brown's 

ship. He petitioned the Governor and Council for 200 acres of land in 

the name of himself, his wife,and two children on November 7,1749. The petition 

w*8 granted. On the loll owing day, November 8, 1749, George Hunter,Esq.,S.G. 

Issued a warrant of survey. John Pearson,D.S. surveyed 200 acres of land 

for John(J.K ookman on the southwest side of Broad River and certified 

the plat on January 10,1749/50. This land was bound northeast on Broad 

River, northwest on land of Jacob Pushart and on land not yet laid out, and 
34 

on the other sides by vacant lai; 

Some twent years later, on February 2 5,1784, Jacob Bookman had 

100 acres of land surveyed for him on Hollinshead Branch, south of the Broad 

River,and the plat certified by Ralph Humphries, D.S. This land was bound 

northwest on land already owned by Jacob Bookman, and on all other sides by 
35 

vacant land. 

On December 24,1784, P.Waters, D.S. certified two plats for Jacob 

Bookman containing 100 acres, each. The first 100 acres lay on the drains of 

33- Faust and Braumbaug! ss Emmigrants, Vol.l,P-47. 

34- C,J#| Vol.17,November 7,1749. C.P. Vol.5 ,P-74 ,171 

35- C.P. Vol .1 \% P-272,1773. 
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Broad River and surrounded by vacai id. The second tract of 100 acres was 

36 
bound by the land of Michael Hokes and by vacant land. 

On January 23, 1786, Jacob Bookman was paid 4 pounds, 19 shillings 

and 7% pence lalons and forage that he provided the continental 

troops and militia .luring the years 1781 and 1782. Of particular intesrest 

was the 100 pounds « that he furnished for the use of the hospital 

on August 13,lh 

We do www the names ot the two children that came to South Carolina 

with their father Jft< -okman in 1749, but it is probable that the Jacob 

Bookman that furnished forage and provisions for the troops during the 

Evolutionary War was a son of the immigrant Jacob Bookman.Anna Bookman, 

living in the Northern Part of Orangeburgh District, was the only Bookman 

listed in the 1790 census. She had three white, free males over sixteen years 

of age and three white, free females in her household. (Was she the widow of 

Jacob Bookman?) Sometime near the beginning of the 18th Century, there was a 

Samuel Bookman who had two sons, Jacob and John. 

Daniel Mu old District sold Samuel Bookman, Lexington Distrit, 

38 
1 8 3% acres of land for $300 on February 21,181 

bookman,son of Samuel Bookman,died intestate in Fairfield District 

In 1824. His brother Jacob Bookman was named the administrator of his estate 

on April 19,1824. John seed and James McCants signed the administration 

bond with Jacob .in. John Bookman was a carpenter and blacksmith and at 

37- Rev. War Records, AA 611, and Stub Indents X 13 

38- F.D.B.,Bk.W,l>-314,1814. 
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at the time of his death, he and his father were building a sawmill and 

grist mill on land in Kiirlteld that Samuel Bookman owned. Samuel 

Bookman and Magdelene Bookman, widow of John Bookman, agreed to have Robert 

Farbridge , Thomas Minton , and John Turnipseed place a true value on the 

work already done on the sawmill and grist mill. The figure of$441 was agreed 

on. 

On April 18,1825, Samuel Bookman wrote a letter stating that he had 

intended the land in Fairfield District to be given equally to his sons,John 

and Jacob, but since John had died the land that he had intended for John 

would go to Jacob, and that he would give the heirs of John lands of equal 

value elsewhere. He also stated that he expected Jacob to pay the heirs of 

John the value of the work already done on the mill. 

Dr. Smith attended John Bookman in his final illness, but died himself 

soon afterwards. The final settlemeny of the estate of John Bookman took 

place on December 8,1832. The widow,now married to a Mr Bouknight, was given 

5365.23.1 as her third; her children Samuel and Martha Bookman also received 

a third each. Jacob Bookman was made guardian of his nephew Samuel and niece 

Martha Bookman . Jacob Bookman paid Elizabeth Seastrunk $2.50 for making 

Martha a coat and pantaloons on March 3,18 

Jasper Slat: Seastr in his will made on Mach 29,1825, left the 

northern ha 1 dig plantation ,except for twenty-five acres reserved for 

3 wlfe, in trust wirh his executor James S.Guignard for the use of his 

Slighter Mary Magdalen Bookm.; ng her lifetime. At her death the land 

) go to his gran lren Samuel ami Martha Elizabeth Bookman. He gave his 

$2S 3 9 

^each, to go toward their education. 

39" lie 628,1824, 
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Samuel N airfield District, sold Jacob Bookman 149 acres of land 

for $487 on February 11,1 M l . :hla land was part of 150 acres originally granted 

Nicholas Wirick, and part of 300 acres of land granted Christian Entzminger 

on February 21, 1772. The land lay on Crooked Run Creek and was bound on 

the north by the lands of Stephen Gray and the old Bell place, east on the 

lands of Danie! Jacob Wirick, east on Jacob Bookman. Daniel Scott 

and Stephen Gray witnessed the sale. Elizabeth, wife of Samuel Wirick signed 
40 

her release. 

James McCants and his wife Mary sold Jacob Bookman 35 acres of land 

for $422 l,, L83i, [hll land was part of 224 acres originally granted to 

William McGraw on May 7,1787, and part of 200 acres originally granted 

Stephen Eleazer on May 21,1772. These 35 acres were part of a tract of 75 acres 

inherited by Ma| seed McCants from the estate of her father Bartholomew 

Turnipseed. The roi • Bell's Mill ran across the 7 5 acre tract; John 

Chappell owned land to the west and southwest of this larger tract and of the 
41 

road. 

Samuel Alston, D.S., surveyed a pie shaped piece of land for Jacob 

Bookman on Crooked Run Creek on June 30,1832. This land was a state grant 

and was bound on the south by the land of Jacob Bookman and Jacob Wirick,on 

th 4 2 

e w e 8 t by Samuel Alston, and on the north by land of Jacob Wirick. 

On December 17,1833,Samuel Bookman sold his son Jacob Bookman 367 acres 

of land on Crooked Run Creek. This land was made up out of land that had 

40-1 

^1-lbi, 

• S.P.Series 2, S32. 
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been granted James Mann on June 23,1774; out of 113 acres granted Benoni Holley 

on April 6, 1794; and out of 54 acres granted Benoni Holley on May 5,1794. 

At the time of the sale, this land was bound on the north by the land of 

Hermon Wyrick, on the southeast by land belonging to-or did belong to-

George Freshley, south by the land of John Turnipseed, southwest on land 

belonging to-or did belong to- Stephen Eleazer,and on the west by the land of 
43 

John Chappel1. 

On November 24,1834, and for $430.50, Joseph Seastrunk, Fairfield 

District, sold Jacob Bookman 61^ acres of land made up in part out of 250 

acres of land granted Michael Leitner on May 15,1770; in part out of 300 acres 

granted Christian Entzminger on February 21,1772; and the whole of 10 acres 

granted John Sanford Simerly on April 3,1827. This land had been conveyed 

to Joseph Seastrunk by Asa Bell. Phillip Pullig and William Brown witnessed 
44 

the sale. 

John Turnipseed sold Jacob Bookman 384 3/4 acres of land for $2000 on 

November 30,1836. Thia land lay on Crooked Run Creek and was made up in part 

out of a tract of land sold Bartholomew Turnipseed by Joshua Durham on 

November 8,1802; and part of a tract originally granted John Bell on 

y 13,1768, and sold to John Turnipseed by James Owens and his wife Anne on 

a ruary 14. John Carmen and Robert Farbridge witnessed the sale. 

E1, , 45 
Elizabeth, wile of John Turnipseed,signed her release. 

43- r.D.B.iBk. NN,P-130,1833. 

*4- Ibid, ,P-334,1834. 

*S- Ibi^ Bk- LL,P-465,1836. 
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Vincent Bell sold Jacob Bookman 11 acres of land for $145 on April 9, 

1840. This land was part of a tract of 46 acres that had belonged to Jacob 

Gibson and lay on the road to Bell's Mill: bound on the south by the land of 

James McCants, west by the land of Z.Trapp,north on the land of Vincent 

, and east on the land of Jacob Bookman. Sophia, wife of Vincent Bell, 

46 
signed her release. Thomas A.Pulllg and Phillip Pullig witnessed the sale. 

}>ecca(Sarah) Chappell, daughter of John S. and Gracey Goodwyn Chappell, 

granddaughter of Laban and Margaret Spigner Adams Chappell, was born on 

January 2,1814, and died on March L3, 13^4. She married Jacob Bookman on 

August 17,1834, and they had these children: 

William C.Booknvr Z6,1835,died September 12,1835. 

Oscar Bookman killed in the CSA. 

Victoria Bookman married Uriah Trapp,died in 1897. Their children were 

Rebecca, Marion, Howell,and Challie Trapp. 

Marion Bookman married Joel Smith. They had a son Joel. 

Eugenia Bookman married Elbridge Craig and their children were Bookman, 

Alice, Pluma, Ruth, Robert, and Annie. 

Alice Bookman married Russell Black and their children were Russell, 

Alice, and Iva. 

45 
Weston Bookman did not mar: 

The following information was taken from grave markers in the cemetery 

of Cedar Creek Methodist Church in upper Richland Count 

46- F.D.B. Bk NN,p-341,1840. 

7- Chapp,. m Chapptii Family, Pp.28-29. Rebecca Chappell Bookman lies in 

onely grave on the weat bat brooked Run Creek near the site of 

S C o b Bookman's mill. Little William lies by her side. 
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Mary A.Bookman, wife of Algernon Goodwyn Bookman, daughter of Colonel 

Daniel Dansby Finley and Elizabeth Klnaler Finley, was born on October 14,1853, 

and died on December 27, 1933. 

Mary Salome Bookmen, daughter of Algernon and Mary F. Bookman, was 

Rl on March 6,1885, and died January 2,1958. 

May Rebecca Bookmen, daughter of Algernon and Mary F.Bookman, was 

bom on October 22, 1882, and died on April 4,1954. 

Elizabeth 11 lips, daughter of Algernon and Mary F. Bookman, 

wife of Ernest Eugene 1" s, was born on April 2, 1880, and died on August 22, 

1963. 

Oscar Harold Bookman,son of Algernon and Mary F.Bookman, was born on 

October 12, 1891, and died five years later. 

These descendents of Algernon and Mary F. Bookman are buried in a 

separate plot enclosed by an i <-nce. 

The railroad station and the community in upper Richland County was 

r this f.i 
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On June 22, 1767, the following Bovds, with ages indicated,declared 

•selves newly arrived Protestants on the ship I Captain Hannah, 

Co-nander, and petitioned for the bounty to pay Messers Torrans,Poag and 

Beth for their passage: 

Rober' 1 Ann B°y d 27 

:',„V,i, 50 ISObel B ° y d 6 

William Boyd 18 William Boyd 41 

lrew Boyd Jane B°y d 39 

Robert Boyd 9 S a m u e l B o y d 16 

Agnes Boyd 6 ***? B°yd 1 4 

Nathaniel 29 Jane < B°y d ?> 13 

On December 22,1767, the following Boyds, Irish Protestants, newly 

arrived on the ship Earl of Denegal, Duncan Ferguson,Master,petitioned for 

the bount 

William 10 

Martha Boyd 17 

William Boyd 20 

li lollnw: vds petitioned for warrants of survey for the acres 

indicated and on the dates named: 

David Boyd,100 acres,November 8,1772. 

KlIsabel I , 100 acres, Novembers,1772. 

Jane Boyd, 100 acres, June 22,1767. 

John B O Y I) acres, November 8,1772. 
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John Boyd Jr.,100 acres November 8, 1772. 

Nathaniel 0 acres, June 22, 1767. 

Robert Boyd,300 acres,June 22,1767. 

William 100 acres June 22,1767. 

William I 1)9 100 acres, June 22, 1767. 

William 0 acres,December 22,1767. 

w H H a m 100 acres, December 22,1767. 
1 

William Boy- , newlv arrived on the Hopewell, 250 acres,January 6,1773. 

The date of the petitions for warrants for land surveys will be used to 

try to ident |he ships upon which the ent Bovd families arrived. 

nioee that petitioned for warrants for land survry; on June 22, 1767, arrived 

oo the Nancy; those petitioning ind on December 22,1767, came on the 

Karl of Dene^al! the ship that brought those making their petitions on 

•ovember 8,1772, has not been identified. The bounty money had run out by 

October 1768, and lt possible that those petitioning for land in November 1772, 
2 

•Ifht have had to serve a period of indenture. 

David, Elizabeth, John and John Boyd Jr.,all made their petitions for 

l*od on November V ,and all obtained land on a branch of Beach Creek, 

Saluda River and their land grants were dated November 9,1774. Mary,Jane, 

*thanlel, and Jennett or Janet V iad surveys for land on Crooked Run 

'reek ln 1767, and al had arrived I Nancy. David and William Boyd had 

*«* surveyed for them on Fishing Creek. David Boyd had land laid out for 

ta in Camden Diatrict on December 10,1772. John Boyd had 250 acres of land 

I- Reviiipr()teitant ironigrantg, Pp,. 74,75,78,90,92,94,118,119,124, 
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surveyed for him between the Broad and Saluda Rivers in December 1772. A John 

Boyd had 250 acres of land surveyed for him on Pig Pen Branch, Little River 

on January b,1772. A J« had 100 acres of land certified for him on 

Cre« >ree River, on December 70, There were several tracts 

of land laid off for William Bo- liam Boyds: 

100 acres on Johnson Creek,Long Canes,July 28,1767. The date of the 

precept was June 22, 1767, and identifies this William Boyd as coming over 

on the Nancv. 

100 acres on Brown Creek, Broad River, Granville County, March 9,1768. 

222 acres on Ra r 3,1773. 

I acres on Dumpers Creeto,Little River, June 12,1772. 

100 acres on Stephens Creek,Savannah River,February 13,1769. 

100 acre* Royal Grant, October 30,1772, 

Abraham ad 250 acres of land laid off for him in Granville County 

oo May 19,1 Robert Boyd received a precept for 400 acres of land on 

Juoe 22,1767, the land was surveyed on November 7,1767, and the Royal Grant 

issued on Marc! la was a passenger on t> It has been suggested 

that Win i.iin.Amlrrw, Robert and Agnes were the children of Robert and Mary 

•oyd. All the passengers of the Nancy and the Earl of Denegal applied for 
I 

•••oty to p;. cir passage. 

Aa previous ane, and Jennett (or Janet) Boyd,all had 

••rveys ) acres ,,i land on the headwaters of Crooked Run Creek in 1767. 

C-p ~ ^,Pp-292,294,295,305,306,307, 

3*6,327,329. Koyal Crants- , 531,557,566;Vol.16, 

**• 5; Vol.18,Pp.-106,352,581; Vol.20,P-213;Vol.21,P-513; 

vol.28,P-263. •),50,61,73,85,89,90,94. 
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Nathaniel Boyd h» acres of land surveyed for him on Crooked Run Creek 

1767. The Royal Grants for all oi these surveys were given in March 1768. 

i husband of Jane Boyd, apparently didn't receive a survey on 

>oked Run Creek he rest of the far but did receive a grant for 

100 acres of land on Crooked Run Creek in October 1772. (See previous surveys 

and land grants) 

WILLIAM BOYD Sr. died intestate in Fairfield County in late 1791 or 

U he was 41 years old when he came to South Carolina, he lived 

for about 25 years in Fairfield County and died at about the age of 66 years 

**• •< law James his nephew Samuel Alston were appointed his 

admins t rat ors. Robert Craig signed the administration bond with his 

•dainistratora on Janun ,1792. Among his possesions was a tomahawk. 

Although * probate papers,we know from other records 

:hat Jane was the wife of winiam Boyd and that he had the following children: 

William H< t wife named N. 

Mary Boyd married to John Alat< 

Jane or Jennett Boyd married James Brown. 

Although the records of the deeds are incomplete, we know that 

W l l l U i n v" to the 100 acres of land granted him In 

tober 1772, acquired tracts of 138 acres and 46 acres on Alligator Creek 

ittle River, being part of 400 acres granted Jamee Daniel on January 21, 

• He aleo acquired part .teres) of the tract of 450 acres of land 

•p-c-> ,fllt n . 

5-r 
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6 

* had been granted to Thomas Hathcock on December 24,1772. 

I 1 Lam Boyd | had aqulred considerable prestige and was a man 

of prominence by the year 1785, and waa known as William Boyd Esq. On Tuesday, 

October 2 he was appointed she of Fairfield County and on that 

e took the oat1 !ce. Robert Craig was chosen as his undersheriff 

atvi John Bell was chosen deputy sherlt!'. lo the July 1794 term of court for 

'eld Count »art Craig entered a suit against the administrators of 

tha estate of Winiam The court ordered auditors and third parties 

judge the merit of a dispute in the accounts of the estate of William 

toy} (Sr.)#Aftt« b**rln| the tvldmnM. I hi ftomrt lodgedtta B&dlm of Robert 

-g to be Just at the 1795 term o: he court had appointed 

•*•••• Brown and Samuel Alston administrators of the estate of William Boyd. 

WILLIAM i appears to have been the only male heir of William 

Bofd (Sr.) at the time of his death in 1791 or 1792. William Boyd Jr. and his 

fife Nancy released the 132 acres of land that William Boyd Jr. had inherited 

from his father ia land lay on Crooked Run Creek and was part of 

tha 450 acres that had been granted Thomas Heathcock on December 24, 1772. 

rMs land was bound northeast on the land of James Brown, southeast on the 

•*** of James Alaton,southwest on the estate of John Alston, Esq. (deceased), 
a 

•a* northweat on the Camak la: 

ll*"> '• if executor of the eatata of David Motte, entered a 

• »galnat Jamea Irovn Md Samuel Alaton, administrators of the estate of 

l l l a m ''" In the '795 term o: rfield County Court. 

Holcomb, Mlnutea of Fairfield County Court,1785-1799,Pp.- 1,6,47,106,118. 



hapter 8 

rth of the Broad River 

<« Boyd F;i 'n Crooked Run Creek 

The court ruled in favor 0 Hem Boyd Jr. aa the plaintiff and the estate 

-illlam ft . wae required to pay 30 pounda with interest. William 

Boyd Jr. wee called I uty as a petit Juror on several occasions and in the 

17'>9 ten, ,urt aerved ee e petit juror with David and Andrew Boyd. 

NATHANIK! D waa 29 yeere old when he came to this province on the 

p Nancy, and M lune 22. 1 -7, petitioned for 200 acres of land and the 

bot Thia land waa laid oi him on the headwaters of Crooked Run 

Croek, and waa bound M the lottttffMt by land of Mary Boyd and on all other 

•idea by vacent la he plat waa cer September 18,1767, and the 

10 
•oyel grent dated March 2,1768. 

Nowin 0r probate papere found for the elder Nathaniel Boyd, but we 

know from deeda.to be diacuaaed later, that he had « children: 

William,Jane married to Moeea Cemek, Harriet married to William Motte, 

Elizabeth Ann married to Eliaha Haygood, Nathaniel (Jr) married to Mary, 

••d Robert married to Bllzabe 

On December iam Boyd, Moaea Camk and wife Jane, William 

Hotte end wife Herriet, Eliaha Haygood and wi izabeth Ann, Nathaniel 

Boyd (ir.) and leten »oyd W W A eDove 11 101 acres of land on 

ooked Run CreeV I land wae parr he 200 acres of land granted to 

•athanie , March 2,l7f>8, and bound southwest bv land of William Motte, 

•outhea.t a., •!, ,..,-. he Ian Moaaa Camak, and northwest on lands 

Of Eben Smith and Samuel M luepin Branch runs across this land. 

.utee of Fairfield Co ,1783-1799,^.-14,26,118,171. 

-Kevin,,.,*,* .i rrotaataot Immigrant., Pr - '8. C.P.Vol.13,P-307,1767; 

*oy«l Granta, 1768. 



Chapter 8 

e Broad River 

«• Boyd Pamilv on Crooked Run Creek 

were signed ane Camak, Elizabeth Ann Haygood, Mary Boyd, and 

Elizabeth Boyd. 

On December 27,1826, the same heirs of the elder Nathaniel Boyd,but 

without William and Harriet Motte, sold William Motte 101 acres of land out 

12 
>e 200 acres originally granted Nathaniel Boyd on March 2,1768. 

On October 12, 1826, Robert Boyd,son of the elder Nathaniel Boyd, appeared 

before David Montgomer t.$ and made an oath that his brother Nathaniel bit 

off his ear in a "drunltM 

It is probable that Robert and William Boyd, sons of the elder 

ctothaniel Boyd remained m direction of the Court of Common Pleas 

for Fairfield District, April 21, the sheriff of Fairfield District,at 

c™* instigation ol WJl]f;tin Kinr.-iid cauaed a aale the 

goods and chattels ol wn1 lam and Robert Boyd to recover $39.49 and costs. 

'-> included in the sale was 100 acrss of land on Crooked Run Creek,bound by 

he lands of Moses Camak,the estste of George Ashford, the land of Samuel 

inatry, *nd other land. Samuel Brown purchased the land as the highest 

1 4 4 6 JW.Hugh 1'iikley, sheriff of Fairfield District,gave him a sheriff's 

tie. (),, December 25,1826, Semuel Brown sold this land back to Robert Boyd 

f 

tor $90. Harriet Hr,,w„ signed her releese. 

NATHANIK . h # inmigrant Nathaniel Boyd, made his will 

January 16, I ti . deathbed will. On January 4,1841, distributionn of 

Property was made snd each of his ci ffl received $103.10. His 

Idren were Harriet Emeline.vife of John Camak;Andrew Jackson Boyd;Agnes E. 

James McConnell was named executor and guardian of the children of 

ll* P-D.».,Bk.HH,l>-lH7,lH26. 

U " ltii'l,!'.k.GG,P2.. 
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Nathaniel Boyd Jr. Nathaniel Boyd Jr., William Brown, and James Camak had 

signed a previous guardianship bot ^ithaniel Boyd Jr. in the sum of $1000 

••*•* | was to permit the children to receive $37.12%, 

t a c h » the estate - :azier. Mary, the wife of Nathaniel Boyd Jr., 

"a* the daughter o! Andrew Krazier. Prior to the distribution of Nathaniel 

Boy-c , property on January 4, 1841, his daughter Harriet Emeline had 

married John Cam.. ickeon Boyd had died , and his daughter Agnes E. 
1 

Boyd had died. 

• M l OYD, eon of the immigrant Nathaniel Boyd, had,as previously 

••Otloned,prob.i f#cj p o o r # 0 n February 1,1792, he had 34 acres of land laid 

>n Crooke Creek by Samuel Alston, U.S.. The plat was 

ed on Febru" <• land was bound bv the lands of W i l l i e M̂ t-t-o 

••» (?) Boyd, lease Porcher and James Brown. On March 2,1811, Robert Boyd 

this land | Q hl.s brottel - - iw Moses Camak for $60.His brothers William 

*** N a thaniei witnessed the sale. 

ANDRE'-'- inch and Dumpers Creek, was 14 years of age 

1 h e * rrived to thfl . 1767. While not,strictly speaking, a 

d«nt of the land ar™ ooked Run Creek, he did come over on the ship 

5tt£y *nd there was a suggestion that all of the Boyds on the Nancy were 

•° *uggest«' on,was that Andrew Boyd was a son of the 

^ g r a n t s Robert and Mary Boyd. Also to be considered was William Boyd,the 

M y«sr old^who came on the Nancy 9 was probablv the son of Robert and Mary 

>*yd, and who had 150 acre*. *nd on Dumper fs Creek on June 12,1772. 

Apr. M 650 657; Apt. 48,file 7 

U - S.P.,Vc>i . I2,F.»< . ;tate Grants --335,1796. P.D.B.,Bk.HH-l, 

r-*72fl$ll, 
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Andre 1 made his will Unuary 10,1818, and it was proven on 

D«c#«ber i I I he was 14 years of age when he came to South Carolina, 

he was about 71 years of age when he died. He named his wife Agnes his 

ex«cjtrix,.md his sons Samuel and David were named his executors. His children 

were Hugh, Samuel, Margaret, Andrew, John and David. William Adger, Thomas 

17 
an and John McDowell witnessed the will. 

MES BOYD, wiic. <>t Andrew Boyd, made her Will irch 30,1829, and it 

wmm proven on Julv 17, 1829. Jamee Carlisle Sr.,Jamee Carlisle Jr. and James 

Phillips witnessed the will. Her sons Samuel and John Boyd were named her 

•xacutorH ,ar son Samuel she left the slave Harriet and her son Nelson; 

bat son John she left the slave Eliza, and Samuel to pav John $60. Her land 

te equally divided between her sons John and Samu Wt 

-garet, she left two slaves. As long as Samuel, John and Margaret lived 

together, they are Cd Wi I plantar r the common good. To her son Hugh, 

18 

Sbm left one silver dollar. No mention is made of David and Andrew Boyd Jr. 

The 1790 census showed Andrew Boyd to be living in Fairfield County 

k one white, free male over sixteen years of age in his household, three 

••^•r sixteen, and one white free female in his household. 

ED was the son of Andrew Boyd Sr. and his wife Agnes. His wife 

*•* named Ellender oyd and wife Ellender, David Boyd and wife Eliza, 

••d John Boyd, al | airfield District, sold Samuel and Margaret Boyd their 

rtghta in the inheritance of 267% acres of land on Shurley Branch, Dumper's 

19 
Cr^*k, Li Rivr >0 on November 20,1830. 

•t.38,file 606, 1824. 

19. 
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DAVID BOYD was the son Q ew Bov . and his wife Agnes.His wife 

*as named Eliza. On November )29 Jonathan Yongue sold David Boyd 200 

acres of Li Mill ^reek,Little River,for $1600. This land was the northeast 

side of a tract of land purchased by Jonathan Yongue from John P. Rutledge Sr. 

tbm time of the purchase by David Boyd, this land was bound on the southwest 

b* **• land of Pal rrison, northwest by the land of Jonathan Yongue, 

n a r * h * " t <>" fchi land of Benjamin Wages, and southeast on Wesley Terry's land. 

On December ,32, David Boyd sold Matthew Weir 150 acres out of this land 

that he had Just bought from Jonathan Yongue for $800. On the same day, David 

Boyd sold Andrew Wages the remaining 50 acres out of this tract for $800. 
20 

Eliza Boyd signed her release. 

SAM' ... -es, WWW still living 

**•• with his sister Margaret m at the time of their mother's 

- in 1829. By March 22, 1834, he had married Melinda,and with his sister 

^rgaret and her husband Samuel Hamilton of Chster District,sold William Brice 

h^ir inheritance in the 267% acres of land that thev had bought from Hugh 

••o Ellendei November 27,1830. (See Above 

Samuel B« iilg ai4m Melinda Boyd and James B.Coleman 

'ted administrators of his estate on October 6, 1835. The final estate 

1 -79 was distribute the widow Melinda now married to John 

received at: he children Nancy and Priscilla Boyd 
22 

••* received the same amount, $100* 

,-449,450,1832. 

,LL Pp 520 521 

1835. 
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At the time of his death, Samuel Boyd was in the process of buying a 

home plantation 16 acres on Wateree Creek. Robert Cathcart,in consideration 

of a bond given by Samuel Boyd (now deceased), and upon the payment of two 

promiaaary notes of amounting to $780,gave the title to this place to the 

heirs of Samue! I on May 17,1336. The heirs were the widow Melinda and the 

children, Nancy and Priscilla. Robert Cathcart had purchased this land from 

23 
Peter Hamilton on October 31,1834. 

ANDREW < K. was the son of Andrew Boyd Sr. and his wife Agnes. 

On February 16.1823, he bought 270 acres of land from William Heron, Fairfield, 

for $810. This land lay on Dumper's Creek,Little River, and was part of the 

land of Thomas McMullen and assigned by court order to John Cockrell and his 

wife N Lt lend WSS I ;r>ns of t-he heirs of 

Andrew Sr.,and by the lands of Hugh Milling, James Carlisle,John Cockrell, 

24 
and William Herron. Eestsr Herron signed her release. 

Andrew !',ov.l Mr.) sold Agness Boyd, Samuel Boyd, Margaret Boyd,John 

Boyd,and David R. is undivided in the 267% acres of land for $114.64 2/7 

on August 9, ,ls tract of 267% acres was made up out of 100 acres of 

land.resurveyed to show 182% acres, and out of a second tract of 85 acres on 
25 

Shurley Branch. 

E ROBERT BOYDS 

There were several Robert Boyds and it has been very difficult to 

Pick out the Fairfield Robert Boyds from this group. As previously noted 

Robert Boyd (age. <>ars) snd Mary (aged 50 years),and presumably Robert's 

wlfe, came to South Carolina in 1767 on the Nancy. Also on the Nancy was 

23~ F- 1836, 

24-lhH> .25. 

2 % Ihlli, -25. 
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a nine year <obert Boyd. As previously noted, Robert Boyd who came on the 

N a n c Y had land laid out for him on Long Canes. Robert Boyd, Granville County, 

Ninety Six District, made his will on June 21,1779, and it was proven on 

April 20,1782. His M .is named Mary and his children were Agnes, Robert, 

26 

and William Bo-

There was a Robert Boyd living in Fairfield County and the 1790 census 

showed him to have one white,free male ( ixteen years of age,and five 

white,free females in his household. It is very probable that this was the 

Robert Boyd,of Fairfield District ,who made his will on January 1, 1821, and 

whose will was proven on August 31, 1825. His wife was not mentioned but his 

daughters, Margaret , Sarah Boyd and Mary McDill were mentioned. He had 

a son named William. To his daughter Margaret Brown ,he left the home 

plantation <»time,to go to her daughter Margaret Weir at her 

mother's death. His daughter Sarah Boyd to have the $40 lent Margaret Weir to 

buy a slave. His daughter Mary McDill to have a bed and furniture and the use 

of his spring.His son William to have the $12 lent him to buy a horse, but 

never paid back. He left his grandson Nathaniel McDill a saddle and bridle. 

27 
James McDill (g ancj James Armstrong were named his executors. 

On March 6,1797, James Craig,planter of Fairfield County, sold Robert 

Boyd Jr. 93 acres of lat, 30 pounds,sterling. This land came out of 

2000 acres of land originally granted to Samuel Porcher and by his son 

James Porcher transferred to James Craig in 1792. The land lay on Morris 

26- C.P#fVol.l3fF« ;Royal Grants,' ,P-110,1768; Young, Abss.of Old 

Ninety Six and Abbeville Dist Wills and Bonds, P-31. 

27-F-p- I . >9,ftle 610,1 -25. 
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Creek and was bound on the south and east by lands of Isaac Porcher and James 

Mann, northwest by the land, of Robert Craig and Edward McGraw. Jane Craig 

signed her release. Robert Boyd sold this land to William Freeman for $200 

on November t. At the time of this sale, it was bound southwest on the 

land of Edward McGraw,south on the estate of George Ashford,southeast on 

the land of William Freemen,..st on the land of James Armstrong,and north on 

Zo 

the land ol Thomas Blair. Mary Boyd signed her release. 

On February 7,1798,James Crsig sold Robert Boyd Jr. an additional 200 

acrea out of the land originally granted Samuel Porcher for 50 pounds, sterling 

At the time of the sale, this Isnd wss bound north on the land of James Craig, 

east on the land o I Craig and James Lucas.southwest on William Simms, and 

Both .n the la. HaiRwood. On November 23,1804, Robert Boyd 

sold James McDill 100 acres,an undivided full moietv representing half of 

the 200 acres sold Robert Boyd Jr. by James Craig on February 7,1798. At the 

time of this ssle, the land w«. bou: the north bv the land of James Craig, 

east on the land. In Cr.ig *nd Jamea Kincaid,and on the other sides by 

29 
land of Robert Boyd. 

William Aiken, Charleston, S.C, sold Robert Boyd 350 acres of land on 

oked Run Creek for $750 in June 1816. This land had been originally granted 

to Edward McGraw ,,,, F.bruarv 17,1767, and at the time of the orignal survey 

was bound on all sides by vscant land. Included in the sale was a second tract 

of 100 acres of land William Bell on September 12, 

1768. At the time of ths origian survev this land was bound on the southeast 

28- F.D.i P-138 1797- Bk.Y,P532,1817. 

29- Ibid. | <8;Bk.Z,P-250,1804 
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comer by the land of Martha Bell. Henrietta Aiken signed her release. A few 

months later on Februar L8, Robert Boyd sold this land to Abram 

Turnipseed for $2700. At the time of the resale , the land was bound on the 

north by the land of Elijah Halgwood, southwest by the land of John Brown, and 

on the northwest by land that had been granted to Jane Kirkland. George 

Hamilton and Samuel Alston witnessed the deed. Marv, wife of Robert Boyd signed 

30 
her release. 

On November 20,1819, Samuel Brown sold Robert Boyd 829 acres of land, 

by resurvey, on Morris Creek for $3000.This land was bound on the north by the 

land :ge Jones, esst e land of the estate of George Ashford, south 

by the Ls John Martin ,and west by the land of Edwaml Andrews. This land 

was par iginal Porcher grant on April 8,1771. The land was 

conveyed to Joaeph Kirkland by Porcher , who,in turn,conveyed it to James 

Andrews Sr.in 177r>. Matth. rews inherited the land from his father. 

Archibald Boyd, William A: , and William Brown witnessed the deed.Harriet 

Brown signed her releese. 

On May 27,1822, Turner Meson sold Robert Boyd 171 acres of land on 

Morris Creek for $450. This land was bound northwest on the land of David 

Johnston, sout the lands of Hamelin Mason and James Owens, southeast and 

northeast on land of James Owens and part of a tract of 500 acres granted to 
32 

Isaac Porch.r on June 14,1771. Dorca. Mason signed her release. 

Margaret Boyd, John Boyd and Mary Boyd, in a suit for partition against 

Robert Boyd Jr ught 85 acres of land from Robert Boyd Jr.for $650 on 
9 3 3 

September 9,1837. 

3o-F.D.B.,Hk.Y, .-.,P-554,1818. 

3l-lMd, Bk.BB.P-

32"!iiili, !Jk .DO, i-113,1822. 

33-IMdJ_ Hk.MM. 
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This Robert .it made extensive land transactions in Fairfield 

was probably the father of Robe' yd Jr. Although he was probably the father 

of Robert B< . who was also active in land transactions, we have not been 

able to connect him with the previously described Boyd immigrants. Mary 

and Margaret Boyd were sisters of Robert Boyd Jr.,but Mary or Margaret 

might have been the widow of Robert Boyd Sr. John Boyd was probably a brother 

of Robert Boyd Jr. This is all conjecture but might serve as a genealogical 

tie-in. 

On April 25,1837, William Mundle sold William Boyd Jr. 200 acres of 

land on Mill Creek le River, for $4000. This land was part of an original 

grant of land to Robert Starke on June 14,1771. Elizabeth Mundle signed her 

release. On Ft <38. Robert Bovd Jr. sold back to William Mundle 

34 
the 111% acres of land where William Mundle" now lives'.' 

Robert Boyd, Fairfield District, made his will on July 20,1840, and 

it was proven on Fe! 7,1847. Marshall McGraw, Edward Andrews and James 

Beard appraised his estate for $5123.84 on February 17,1848. To his son John, 

he left all oi his land west of the Winnsborough Road and $5. To his son 

Archibald, he left 171 acres of land known as the Mason land£is blacksmith 

tools,and a rifle gun. To his son James, he left the 100 acres that cornered 

on the Quigley land and a rifle gun. To his son Robert, he left the home 

Place between Kennedy Road and John Boyd's land and a shot gun. To his daughter 

Jane Frazier, he left 75 acres of land between Frazier's fence and Watt's 

old field, and a slave girl. To his three daughters,Elendor(sic),Mary and Nancy, 

^4- F.D.h 1837* Bk.NN P13 1838. 
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he left the rest of his chattel goods. He named his sons Archibald, James 

and Rober* | aB his executors. James and Eleanor Boyd died before the 
35 

distribution ol I he goods took place. 

ARCHIBALD Boydt son of Robert Boyd Sr. made his will on May 16,1850, 

and it was proven on June 5,1851. He named his brother Robert Boyd Jr. as his 

executor. To his brother Robert, he left the 171 acres of land that his father 

had willed him. His father had also will him the John Boyd land and this he 

also left his brother,and,also, his interest in his brother James and sister 

Ellender's (sic) land. He also left Robert his interest in Mary L.Boyd's land, 

his purchased share i s 21 acres of land, and all of his personal 

property except the slave York that he leaves his sister Nancy,providing she 

treats him well and I >t hire him out to anyone who will mistreat him. 

To his brother John, he leaves $150 to be paid a year after his death. To his 

sister Jane Frazier he leaves a dollar. Marshall McGraw, Abraham McGraw 

36 
and Jamee Jenkins witnessed the wi: 

Robert Boyd Sr.,made his will on January 21,1853, 

and it was proven on May 31,1856. He was said to have died on May 10,1856. 

To his sister Nancy, he left his home place of 383 acres,and at her decease 

to go to his nephew Samuel R.Boyd. He retained one acre for a grave yard. He 

also left Nancy one-f Interest in the household and kitchen furniture,and 

two-thirds interest in his gray horse Pompey in lieu of the one»third interest 

she holds in the bay mare An She is to have his share in the crop. To 

his nephew Samuel R.Boyd,son of his brother John, he left the home place after 

r-y's death; the John tract of 83 acres, a second tract of 83 acres; 

a n d t h e tract of 100 acres willed by hifl father to James Boyd,purchased by 

35" r•*•<*.,A* Ha 270,1848. 
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Archibald Ci • ... other legetees and willed bv Archibald to to Robert Boyd Jr.; 

a tract of 20 acres of land willed by Robert Boyd Sr. to Archibald Boyd and 

by him willed to Robert Boyd Jr.; and a final tract of 110 acres of land on 

Crooked Run Creek sol n Parnell Sr. but not yet paid for. He gave his 

nephew Samuel R.Boyd live Negro girla and four Negro boys. The slave York not 

to be sold. He left hia nephew Samuel R.Boyd all the rest of his estate not 

otherwise devlaed M willed. He left $5 to his brother John and $5 to his sister 

Jane Frazier. Samuel R.Boyd and John S.Armstrong were named his executors. 

Marshall McGraw, Abraham McGraw and William Martin witnessed the will. John S. 

Armstrong died before Robert Boyd Jr. and Samuel R.Boyd died soon after his 

uncle. John B. .ther of Samuel R.Boyd and brother of Robert Boyd Jr., 

petitioned tor letters of adroinistrai Oji Si • blacksmith 

that did mm the neighbors and at the time of Robert Boyd Jrla death,many of 
37 

of the accounts had not been pa: 

NANCY BOYD, daughter obert Boyd Sr.,made her will on February 23,1855, 

and it was proven on May 13,1856, the same day that her brother Robert Boyd Jr.'s 

will was proven. She died on Mav 11.1856, a day after her brother Robert Jr. 

In her w i n , she left her brother Robert Jr. all her property during his 

lifetime. To her brother John she left $5. To her sister Jane Frazier, she left 

clothes, a spinning wheel and other personal items. To her grandniece Nancy 

J«ne Romedy, she left I - osted bedstead and furniture. To James, Joel,and 

Robert Boyd Prazier, all children of her sister Jane Frazier, she left the 

76 acres of land that had been willed to her by her father, but with the 

Provision that they not sell the land. To her nephew Robert Boyd Frazier, 

37- ?.P.C,Apt. H56. 
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she left a sixteen year old slave named Solomon with the provision that he 

not be sold or removed from the estate. To her nieces Mary Ann Remedy, Sarah 

Elizabeth Frazier en M Melinda Frazier, she left $20,each. To the three 

children of her brother John: Samuel Robert Boyd, Mary Jane Boyd and John 

Willi., ,d,she left the remainder of her land and a Negro boy named Aaron, 

who was not to be sold or removed from the st.te. To her grandniece Ellen 

Rebecca Boyd, she left the sl.ve girl Hester, never to be sold or removed 

from the state; a bedstead and bed clothes; a side saddle; and a cotton spinning 

wheel. The residue of her est.te to be inherited by the children of her 

brother Joh: „. named Semuel R.Boyd a. her executor, but healed on June 16, 

1856, and her brother John obtained letters of administration. 

From the probate p.per. of Robert Boyd Sr. and his children, it seems 

that John and Jane were the only ones to marrv. It is unique that Robert Jr. 

and hi. sister N.ncy, to I >e seemed to be very devoted, should die one 

day apart. Did they live in the same house or in close enough contact to 

have died of an Infectious dise.se? The death of Samuel Robert Boyd a few 

weeks later also speaks of a common c.u.e for all their deaths. Although 

Mary i. mention*, -er father's will made in 1840, she is not mentioned 

in the later will, of her brother or sister. James and Ellender(sic) Boyd died 

•oon after their father Robert Bo- Archibald Boyd had died a few years 

eerlier La I ••• 1 . 

There w.. . Robert Boyd who died intestate in Fairfield District on 

May here wes no record of wife or children. Archibald Boyd and 

38- P.P.C.,Apt.106,file 530,1856. 
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William Boyd applied for letters of id :ration. His brothers were William 

39 
and John and he had a sister named Ma: 

BENJAiMIN BOYD was living in Fairfield County in 1790,and the 1790 census 

showe to have three white, males over sixteen years of age,two under 

sixteen ,and lour whirejree females in his household, along with three slaves. 

Benjamin Boyd was not listed as a passenger on either the Nancy or the Earl 

of Deneftal . 

Benjamin Boyd had the following grants given after the Revolutionary 

War; 

22 acrea of land surveyed on Hughes Branch, Broad River, for T.A. 

Ogelive and the plat certified for Benjamin Boyd on April 25,1784. Phillip 

40 
Pearson, D.S. was the surveyor and the state grant was dated May 7,1787. 

1000 acres surveyed on Terrible Creek by Samuel Alston, D.S., 

on October 14,1791,.| .<> plat certified on November 5,1791. This land was 

bound by the lands Q Up Pearson, William Dunlap, William McMorries and 

Benjamin Bo i« road to Shirer's place to the river crossed this land. 

The state plat was dated November 7,1791. 

72 acres of land was surveyed for Benjamin Boyd on Wilkinson Creek, 

July 25, 1792, by William Cato,D.S.,and the plat certified on December 5, 

1792. This land was | by the lands of Crispin Morgain (sic), Benjamin 

42 
Boyd, an. ,(JWn ia ^ state grant was dated January 7,1793. 

39- P. P. C , Apt. 81, file 159. 

4 0 - S . P . Vol . ] S A ; S . G . V o l . 2 0 , P - 1 1 9 , 1 7 8 7 . 

^ • I f c U i v o l . , 0 . V o l . 2 9 , P - 1 5 7 , 1 7 9 1 . 

Ekili « 1,P-8H. ,P -410 ,1793 . 



p-282 Chapter 8 

North of the Broad River 

Family on Crooked Run Creek 

David and Enoch Jamea aold Benjamin Boyd a slave named Kitty for 75 
43 

pounds sterling, on June 11,1791. 

Prudence Gambel,Inkeepers of Fairfield County, sold Benjamin 

Boyd and 11 year old slave named Isaac for 45 pounds,sterling, on January 11, 
44 

1794. 

1789, Jamea Oglevie,planter of Fairfield County, sold Benjamin Boyd, 

merchant oi Fairfield County, 100 acres of land on Wilkinson Creek,Broad River, 

for 50 pounds,sterling. This land waa granted to Michael . on March 8, 

1763, and by him transferred to Frederick Henry in December 1763. Frederick 

Henry sold this land to James Oglevie on June 1,1770. Daniel Wootan and 

William McMorries witnessed the sale. James and Penelepv(sic) Oglevie signed 
45 

the deed. 

1789, Iaaac Ricks Pope, planter of Fairfield County, sold Benjamin 

Boyd 265 acres of lai Wilkinson Creek,Broad River,for 115 pounds,sterling. 

This land waa made H arts of land granted to John George Fertig 
46 

(Frid;i h a € l Easter, and Colonel Samuel Elliott. 

Benjamin Boyd was a Judge on the bench of the Fairfield County 

4o'' '>m the June term 1791 to the June term of court im June 1793. 

Benja w a g a merchant in Pi ntv, and the Benjamin 

°yd of Charleston,S.C. was also a merchant. It is probable that they are the 

one and same pern. * Benjamin Boyd of Charleston ,S.C, made his will on 

43-F i»i .A,P-U4,1791. 

44-ibj ^ M 

89. 

89 

Unutea of Pairfield Co<> 1785-1799 , Pp. -36,38,40,42 ,44, 

'° .52, 58,60, ,68 ,70 ,72 ,76 ,77 ,78 ,80 ,81 ,82 ,83 ,84 ,85 ,86 ,89 . 
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**Ouary 1,1, 1], and it waa proven on Februar -11. To his wife Mary,he left 

» • slave Judy and her three rem Tom, Wi I Rachel. He also left her 

* • slave girl Pen, and all of her future issue;a horse and a chaise; and all 

*t the household goods. is oldest son John Boyd, Fairfield District, he 

*ft $2000 and a slave boy called Adam. To his youngest son Benjamin Jr., 

left lot number Street,Charleston with the house; 20 shares 

tYm Union Insurance Company;8 shares A ank;3 shares in the Cotton 
m 

-ompany; 10 shares ,. Home Sr | Comp. - .icres of land on Russell 

•reek, Abbevill, District;snd Isnd end property on Charleston Neck. He left him 

house and lot in the vlliege of Vienna, Abbeville District. Benjamin Boyd Sr. 

Erected the sale of all •• merchandise. To his grandson William Boyd 

M left a traci Saunev's Creek, Ahh. -ict. He named 
t 

• M son Benju,,,!,, hie axecui 

**nia< was a member of the Old Brick Church and with other 

the congregation,he was concerned with the purchase of an acre 

•irter of Ian , Henrv Crumpt. nds, sterling, on June 2, 

is land was part of 71 acres granted Thomas May and bound by the 

*nda of Henry Crumptn: >glevies,and Thomaa Marpoles'land. 
B#nJar ,a Charleston Merchant,accepted a mortgage for $735 on 

•cree on Morris CreeL 1810. This sum was owed by David 

ton and P? "presented what was owed on the purchase price of the 
I I r* »m_ 

lla tr*ct originally belonged to John Maaon(deceased) and was bound 

11 . 

'-P.D.h 
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Southwest by the land of William McMorries,Esq., northwest by the lands of 
50 

Milly Mason an jamin Mason.John Boyd acted as agent. 

JOHN BOYD,whose ancestry cannot be traced, but probably a son of Benjamin 

Boyd,married Elizabeth Davis, a daughter of James Davis. On December 17,1816, 

James Davis bought 710% acres of land from his son-in-law John Boyd for $7000. 

This land was known as the Boyd place in the will of James Davis,and was bought 

51 
by Jonathan Davis after the death of his father in 1822. 

James Davis had little faith in the business ability of his daughter 

Elizabeth and her husband John Boyd. Jonathan Davis, only son of James Davis, 

seemed to have had more faith in his brother-in-law John Boyd ,and was a 

partner with John Boyd in a number of business transactions. 

When James Davis died in 1822. his son Jonathan Davis was made a trustee 

of the inheritance that James Davis left his grandchildren, children of his 

daughter Elizabeth and her husband John Boyd. Jonathan Davis was made a guardian 

of these children,and presumably John Boyd had already gone to Tennessee. The 

children of John and Elizabeth Davis Boyd were Mary, Celia D.(later married 

to George Leitner), Mariah, Jackson, Benjamin and Hester. Jonathan Davis kept 

very accurate records of the expenses incurred by his wards,and some of them 

w e r e of considerable interest. Mary,Jane (omitted above), and Celia went to 

school at the Greenville Female Academy in 1823. Jane lost $10 on her way to 

Greenville. In | K M, Mrs Calhoun did some weaving for the girls. During the 

year 1823, Mariah, Hester and Jackson lived with their mother,but by 1827,only 

Hester and Jackson lived with their mother. Mary Edrington, Jane,Celia ,Maria 

50» F.D.B P-109 1810 

51" .AA,P-1,1816. F.P.C,Apt.13,file 131,1822. 
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(or Merleh),BenJernln, Hester and James Jackson Boyd,each rece ived t h e i r 

f i n a l d i s t r •« share in the e s t a t e of t h e i r grandfather James Davis 
52 

on January 1,18) 

M*1" ngton died on December 29,1830, at the age of 21 years 

and is buried in the cemetery of Rocky Creek Baptist Church. 

Archibald Paul gave John Boyd and Jonathan Davis a mortgage on a saddle, 

cow and a calf, t] his corn snd fodder,and his plantation tools to secure 
53 

• loan for $73.50 on September 2,1805. 

On March 28,1806, Ann and David Marpole gave John Boyd and Jonathan 

a mortgage on one gray horse,one black horse,one bay mare,one dark 

h 5 4 

°ay colt,a cow end a waggon (sic) to secure a loan for $183.51. 

On October 21,1806, Jonathan bought a plantation from John Boyd for 

$800. Jonathan Davis was living on the plao 

Clemont Neely and Alexander Neely sold John Boyd 100 acres of land on 

Little River for $600 on May 1,1807. This land was granted to Richard Neely 

**y 8,1771. At the time of the original survey on October 12, 1770, it was 

ound on the southeast by the land of Richard Neelv and on all other sides 

by vacant Lai 

A few days later on Ma 07, Richard Neelv sold John Boyd 100 acres 

land on McGraw Branch,A11igator Creek,Little River,for $600. This land 

**» originally granted to Richard Neely on April 5, 1765. At the time of the 

r*ginal survey 1,1763, this land was bound on the southeast by the 

52' .Apt.39,ill,. -11 >W91 . 

" -B-D.,Bk.Q P-3 tans 

-lAlli, Wt.Q.l 1806. 

" .1806. 

1807. 
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57 

land of Victor Neely,ai, «11 other sides by vacant land. 

Joseph ••• ies sold John Boyd 267* acres of land on the west side of 

Little Rive; on September 14,1810. This land was bound to the east 

on Little Rive. f the land of William Kincaid,west by the land of 

James Bell (deceased),and on the south by the lands of William and Alexander 

Mooty. This land waa the southern half of a tract of land originally granted 

to John Peerson. Able Gibson snd Alexander Mootv witnessed the deed. Rachel 

McMorries signed her release.58 

Robert Barkley sold John Boyd 324 acres of land in the forks of Little 

River and Broad River for $810 on August 16,1811. This land was bound on the 

north by the estete of Mooty and the land of Charles Montgomery Sr.,west on 

the estate of Jemes Mooty, and the lands of Charles Montgomery Sr.and 

William Bel b on the lend of John Boyd,and east on the lands of 

Thomas McMeekin and wniiem Bell. This land was part of 500 acres of land 

iginally granted to Samuel Eliot(sic). Samuel Alston,Alexander Kincaid,and 

James Rogers witnessed the deed. Mary Barkley signed her release. 

On February . John Boyd sold Thomas McMeekin 100 acres out of 

the 2671s acres ol 1 it he hsd bought from Joseph McMorries on September 14, 
60 

1810,for $500. 

On December Boyd sold James Davis the following tracts of 

land measur acres for $7000: 

100 acres ol bought from Cleroont and Alexander Neely on May 1,1807. 

• F.D.I'.. 7. 

58- Ibid 

59-Ibir , , 

60- ihj |^ 



p-287 Chapter 8 

North of the Broad River 

«• Boyd Familv on Crooked Run Creek 

100 acrea of land bought from Richard Neely on May 5,1807. By resurvey 

21 acree added to thia tract. 

165% acrea of land remaining in the tract bought from Joseph McMorries 

on September 10. 
61 

324 acrea of land boug1 >m Robert Barkley on August 16,1811. 

Jol> I muet have been planning his move to Tennessee because on 

August 31,1816, for the love and affection that he had for his children,he 

gave them three Negro boye and $600 when the oldest comes of age. All of the 

slaves that might be hired out are to return to the care of James Davis 

(their grandfather January 1,1818. James Davis to be responsible for the 

62 
proper use i | inheritance. 

On November 1 , James Davis, for the love and affection that he had 

for his daughter Elizabeth Boyd,left her one-third of the land that he had 

bought oyd on December 16,IK d to go to her children on 
63 

her death. 

1, living ir ^lin County, Tennessee,put 

the slaves | fcii wife Peggy,and their children Patey and Phobe in the 

Possession oi \xi:i r t n for the love and affection that he had for them and 

f°r $1. James Davis had been named guardian of the children of John Boyd: 

^ry, Jane, Mariah,Celia,Benjamin and Jackson. 

°n Pebru.'i 17, John Boyd for the love and affection that he had 

65 
f°r his daughter Jane,and for $l,gave her the slave George. 

^*I >,P-220 1816. 

63-lbid_ -23,181 

EblAj N..M, ,172,1 
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On February 23,1837, and for $119.84, Celia D. Boyd sold James B.Davis 

her undivided one-sixth part in the half of the plantation that James Davis 

had left his wife Mary.One half of this inheritance to go at the death of Mary 

Davia to Jonathan Davia and the other half to the children of Elizabeth Boyd. 

A few days later, on March 1,1837, Benjamin Boyd sold his share to James B. 

66 

Davis for the seme price of $119.84. 

Al :> this study was primarily concerned with the Boyd family on 

Crooked Run Creek.we elected to include other Boyd families in Fairfield and 

nearby counties. 

DAVID BOYD OF DUMPERS CREEK,LITTLE RIVER 

David Boyd received e warrant for a land survey from John Bremar, D.S.G., 

on July 20,1772. A survey for 100 acres of land on Dumper's Creek, Little 

River, was carried out I • and the plat was certified on December 10,1772. 

At the time of the original survey, this land was bound on the northeast by 

the land, of Joseph Kennedy and Harrv Purday, southeast by the land of Agnes 

Wilson,southwest on old survyed land, and northwest on land of Robert Henry. 

The Royal Grant was dated November 9,1774. David Boyd sold this land to 
0/ 

Robert Stell 0 pounds sterling on October 10,1805. 

John Gray, Esq. sold David Boyd 100 acres of land on Chapman's Branch 

for 42 pounds, stc , on January 19,1795. This land was bound on two sides 

by land laid .lips. David Boyd lived on this land that had been 

to John Gray in 1775. 

66- 1837. 

67-C.P.,\ .*oyal Grants,Vol.34,P-85,1774.F.D.B.,Bk.Q,P-175,1805 

68-F.D. .1795. 
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David and James Boyd sold John Rogers all that tract of land where James 

Boyd Livestand made
 ]0 acres of land originally granted to John 

Gray and sold to David Boyd on Januar- ;also a second tract of 50 acres 

granted to Davi ;98. The sellers warrant that these two tracts of 

land contain 297 acres(by resurvey.M. Elizabeth, wife of James Boyd signed 

her release. 

There are no probate papers for the earlier David Boyd who had obtained 

the land grant nper's Creek in 177A. The 1790 census showed a David Boyd 

living in Ptlrflft] th one white,free male over sixteen years of age, 

two under sixteen, ai ree females in his household. It is thought 

that the two young males in David's household might be James and David. 

WILLIAM BOYD OF DUMPER1 S CREEK 

It will he reme-ubered that William Boyd had 150 acres of land laid out 

for him on Dumpar'e Crec I Rive: nd on all sides by vacant land. 

The plat was ci* <. 22,1772, and the Royal grant signed on 

rebruary 6f 1771. 

WllM.< umper's Creek, left his land to John Boyd, probably his 

•on. On August 24, 181<>. sold William Brice two tract of land 

totaling 343 acres,for $3991.64 and made up out of: (the arithmetic is theirs) 

150 acres of land granted William Boyd on F< ,1773. 

p«rt ,,i 150 acres of land granted Adam McCreary on August 19,1774. 

69~F .!0. 

13.P-327.1772. Royal Grants,Vol.22,P-19,1773. 
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The land that had been inherited by John Boyd from William Bovd,and laying on 

Dumper's Creek,was bound by the lands of Peter Hamilton,John Cockrell,Hugh 

McCocmick,Christopher iMunket and the estate of Andrew Boyd. Ann Boyd, wife 

of Johr | signed her release. John Bovd had already sold Robert Brice 

71 

30 acres out of the McCreary tract on June 5,1818. 

Jol (! as the only surviving heir of Charles Yongue, sold George 

Nelson 100 acres of land for 25 pounds.sterling,in 1795. This land had been 

granted to Charles Yongue on August 31,1774. Nancv (Ann) Boyd, wife of John 

Boyd,signed her releaae . On August 5,1810, John Boyd sold John McDowl(sic) 

33 acres ouf he tract that had been granted Charles Young. This land lay 

on Dumper*a Creek and was bound by the remainder of the land granted Charles 

ng,an<! John Boyd,Jame^ S»il,*l ".cDuwell, Nancy 

(Ann) Boyd signed her release. Ann Boyd signed a release that permitted her 

husband ,,yd to convey to John McDowell a tract of land containing 33 
72 

acres and a set ract of 96 acres. 

It is quite probable that William Boyd, David Boyd and Andrew Boyd, 

who were early settlers on Dumper'e Creek, Little r,were close relatives-

or even brothers. At the time of his mother's will in 1829, John Boyd,the 

son of Andrew Boyd Sr., was still living at home and it is doubtful that 

to **e the John toyd whose wife was named Nancy(or Ann 

71" 1818; Bk.BB,P-206,1819. 

72-Ibid^( .310;Bk.V,P-2 59,1813. 



P-291 Chapter 8 

North of the Broad River 

m Boyd Familv on Crooked Run Creek 

JOHN BOYD OF WATEREE CREEK 

John Bov , Wateree Creek, had a wife named Susannah. Agnes 

Lowry, Fairfield Di?< , gave her daughter Susannah Boyd the slave na-ied Lucy 

to be inherited after her death. John and Susannah Boyd sold Benjamin 

Harrison,Fairfield Diat Susannah's dowry rights on 138 acres of land for 

$800 ember 28,1829. The land had been granted to William Lowry for 100 

73 
acres, bwA was resurvyed to show 138 acres. From this It can be concluded 

that Susannah : rife of John Bovd was the daughter of William and 

Agnes Low? 

JOHN BOYD OF PIG PEN BRANCH,LITTLE RIVER 

I, Pig Pen Branch,Little River moved to Newberry District. On 

January | lC an(j his wife Jennett sold Willla uuauii , TOL 60 pounds, 

lawful mone > acres of land out of a tract of 200 acres that had been 

granted Johi ig Pan Branch, Little River,on February 6,1773. This land 

was bound on the northwest by the land of Bartholomew Austin,southeast and 

northeast on the land of Robert Bryant, southwest by the lands of John Lon^ Sr., 

John Long Jr.,William Yarborough.Howard Robinson,and William Watts. On January 17, 

17,177r), Joh, ( weaver of the Province of South Carolina, sold Robert 

Brynan ,schoolmaster, 100 acres of land out of the 200 acres of land that had 

74 

been granted on Pig Pen Branch, Little River, on February 6, 1773. 

<ewber? Six District, and his wife Jean,sold 

Alexander 0 acres of land on a branch of Little River on 

7 3- F.D.B.,Bk Z,I>-')2< ,P-109,1829. 

74'il^L .9,1794.Royal Grants. Vol.21,P-513,1773.F.D.B.,Bk,P-342,1775. 
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January 1 I land wa. bound on the weat by the land of William Rabb, 

north on the la,, I he heir, of William Powell.northeast on land of Thomas 

Parrott, and on the aouth by bo<; md and land of Patrick Smith. The land 

survey h.d been made for Jean Harper on April 24,1772, and the Royal grant 

•igned on December 9,1774. Apparently Hugh Boyd had married Jean Harper. 

HuKh Boyd «. ewberry Countv, were brothers. Hugh Boyd 

made hia wi krtober 3,1798, and it waa proven on March 5, 1799. He lived 

on Gildert Creek. Hia eldeat son waa named Matthew,and the names of his other 

• on. were John, lufb U «•« Boyd. A. mentioned above, his wife was named 

Jean or Jennett, and hi. d.ught.r. were named Jane and Rosanna. His brother 

John,hia wife Jane .and Lomel Dugen were named his executors and his 

executrix. Archil.., ota Boyd (wheelwright) and John Boyd witnessed 

the wil1 . 

A. related on page 264 of thi. .tudy, David Boyd, Elizabeth Boyd, John 

Boyd Sr.,a„ ,d precept, for warrants of land survey dated 

vember H,1772,and land wa. .urveyed each Creek,Saluda River. 

The Royal grant, were dated November9,17 

• BOYDS 0 1ING CREEK .CHESTER COUNTY 

Devid Boyd and Samuel Boyd received lend .urveys on Fishing Creek, 

mtM Count o or three Willie. Boyd, al.o received land surveys in 
77 

thi. area. 

• BOYDS OF SAN! BR, CHESTER COUNTY 

The Boyd, on Sandy River .ettled there Ju.t after the Revolutionary War. 

Bk.M,P-43,1790.C.P. Vol.15.P-303,177a.Royal Grants, Vol.34.P-375,1774. 

6" N«*beri-v Wi ] 1 Bool k.B.P- '9. 

.Koyel Grant,Vol.34,P-50,1774.C.P. Vol.9.P-282,1768; 

Gt"«nt., V. 06,1768.C.P. Vol.ll,P-5,1769;Royal Grant, Vol .18,P-35,1769. 

* •»V°1.32, tate Gr.nt.,Vol.4, P-239,1795. 
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Sandy River emptied into Broad River near the Fairfield - Chester Counties 

Line. Among the Boyda aettling on Sandy River,and therefore near Fairfield 

County, were Charles Boyd.David Boyd.and William Boyd 
78 

OTHER BOYDS IN CHESTER COUNTY 

Robei Htm Boyd,Samuel Boyd,David Boyd,and John Boyd settled 

in Cheater c ifter the Revolutionary War. There exists the 

probability that theae Boyda of Cheater C had a relationship with the 

Boyda of Fairflel.! 

UER BOYDS IN FAIRFIELD COUNTY 

There were other Boyda in Fairfield County that we could not place in 

the looae claesificat c? employed, and who could not be further identified, 

SARAH ed. f»de her will on January 18,1835,and 

It waa proven on May 23, e time ahe made her will,she had already 

given her daughter* Jane and Sophia their share in her estate. To her daughter 

Rachel, who wan living with her, ahe gave the alave Caty, all her land,and all 

ier chattel gooda. She appointed her daughter Rachel her executrix. Samuel H. 

Ov«na,Jamai MC-IMII.A: Thomas Brown appraised her chattel goods 
HO 

June 4, 

Sarah Boyd bought 100 acrea of land from Robert Craig and George A. 

C r a l 8 ! ember is land lay on Morris Creek and was part 

of 2000 acrea that #*n granted Samuel Porcher,Esq., and by his son James 

orcher „ y m t i to j a m g i Craig, and by him conveyed to Robert H. and George A. 

a±g. Thia l.iti.i h.i.l been surveyed in the name of John Craig who swapped it 

;>. S#riea l9 V, .7 ; Vol .24q tP-188;Vol .25 q ,Pp .-20,188;Vol .31 q,P-117; 

79-S.-%#. 1 

•verai references in Fairfield Deed Booka and Chester Will Books. 

" P J Li 77,18-
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to Qulnton Craig. Wil l iam Rowland and Jame. McDill were w i t n e s s e s . On t h i s 

•erne <Uy, a ig . o l d S .reh B<v | a c r e , of land for $20. This land was 

p e r t o f a grant of 55% e c r e . t o Qulnton Craig on October 2 3 , 1 8 1 7 . The 21% a c r e s 
81 

Lend we. ,o land. . 0 Smith (deceased) and Benjamin Owens. 

On Mar. 1, 11 rhomp.on .old Rachel Boyd,daughter of Sarah 

Boyd, 16 ecre. of lend for $37.50. Thi. land wa. bound by the land of James 
82 

Owene, John «.ld, and the land of Sarah Boyd. 

JAH not further identified,lived in the western part of 

Felrfleld Di.trict. On November 9,1815, Jame. Boyd, Fairfield District; sold 

David Blair 38 acre, of lei M e Creek for $100. This place was where 

•n Andrew, had made . .mall clearing, and the land was bound by the land of 

land .urvey to Be.rd, *nd on the other sides by land 

claimed • Igc Kav acre. wa. part of an original survey to 
Samuel 

Jame. -ought 93 acre, of land from Jonathan Harrison on January 17, 

1. land we. part of a grant to Samuel LittleJohn.Sarah 

Harri.on aigned her release. On thi. .an. day, J 17,1818,James Boyd 

•11 Ham McConnel 186 acre, of land out of the Littlejohn tract for $2000. 

Elizebeth Boy.l, wit. .t Jame. Boyd aigned her release. On April 19,1818, 

m Robei.on(.lc) .old Jame. Boyd 93 .ere. out of the Samuel Littlejohn 

trect for $3' hi. wa. the ided half of the 186 acres that Jonathan 

Harri.on and Willlea ion ahd Inherited out of the 654 acres of land 

84 
/.inelly granted to Semuel Little m April3,1786. 

-*.D.B.,!'.|..A. 

'fiteli 

P.572. ;H. St.te Grant., Vol.9,P-483,1786. 
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DA OF WATEREE CREBK 

Devid Boyd had 209 a c r e , of land .urveyed for him on Wateree Creek 

by .am Bov May 2 2 , 1 7 8 9 . Thi . land was bound by the lands of 

Joaeph Cethcart o r , Alex Turner, and William McClintock. The p l a t 

we. c e r t i f i e d on September 790, and the S ta te Brant was signed on October 4 , 
85 

179 

February 26 ,1793 , David Boyd . o l d 68 acres out of the 209 acres of 

land t o Thome. Ne l . . 50 pound. , . t e r l i n g . At the time of the s a l e , t h i s 

lend wa. ,. l and , of Hug! >ck, John Turner, Samuel McKees, 

86 
n Drenn/n .ma. Nel .on and Samuel Craig. 

A* p r e v i o u . l y noted , our primary . tudy was t o be d i rec t ed to the 

Boyd family t h . t l ive . ! -er,Crooked Run Creek,but a c l o s e r e l a t i o n s h i p 

the severa l Boyd t O e l l U l lo F a i r f i e l d nade a broader study of the Boyd 

fami ly necea.ai 

The S c o t t i . h .umame Boyd i . derived from Robert B o y t , l i v i n g in 1205, 

and . o named hecau.e of h i . f a i r complexion. Robert Boyt was the third son 
87 

of A l l a n , Stewai Scot ia: 

'•P..V .1790. .28.P-53.1790. 

W - P.D.B. >»3. 

7"Cl d Stenley Slmm., The Origin and Significance of Scottish Surnames, 

•••York, Av«n«- *inall i.hed in 1862. 
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Coĉ  Llllpi 18,68 

Cook Place, 76 

Cook, Sarah, 217 

Cook, Suaannah Pope, 174 

Cook, Thomas, 41 

Cook, Thomas J.,D.S.,60 

Cooke, P.D.,140 

Cooke, Phillip D.,21,42,75,101,140, 

172,173 



P-313 North 

Coon, Har ,!46 

Cooper , A . , 48 

Copeland, J, 

Cork, James, 233 

Cork ,Samuel , 23,252 

Coun t s , H.H., 180 

Coveen, Thomas, i 

Craig, A.K., 74 

C r a i g , A l i c e , 261 

C r a i g , Annie , . 

Craig, Bookman,261 

Craig, !dg«, | 

Craig, Evans, l 

Crsig, Eugenia Bookman, 261 

Craig, George A., 291 

Craig, James, 25,81. 0, 

167 ,274 ,275 ,293 

Cra ig , Jane, 25 ,275 

' ! « , 'oh,, , 173 ,293 ,294 

Cra ig , Mary, 90 

Cra ig , P i u m a ( 2 6 1 

Cra ig , Robe r t , 9 9 , 2 6 1 , 2 6 6 , 2 6 7 , 

275,293 

Craig, Robert H.,293 

C r a*8, Ruth, 261 

C r a*8. Samu.^2 94 

Crawford, Cept.in, 35 

he Broad River 

Index 

Crawford County, Georgia,181,183 

Cropland, John, 195 

Crossland, Margaret, 64 

Crumpton, Alexander, 5,6,85 

Crumpton, Henry, 243, 283 

Crumpton, James W.,8 

Crumpton, John, 8 

Crumpton, John W.,8 

Crumpton,Zach,, 5,8 

Cryer, Elizabeth, 199 

Cryer,Thomas, 199 

Cunningham,William "Bloody Bill1', 200 

Curry, Dudley, 79 

Curry,James, 133 

Curry, Jesse,184 

Curry, Jo,133 

Curry, Joseph, D.S., 158 

Curry, M.,175 

Curry, Peter, 79 

Curry, Stephen,79 

Dabney, John, 182 

Dale, Oliver, 182 

Daniel, James, 158,159,266 

Danaby, Isham, 180,191,192 

Danaby, Isham Sr., 192 



P-314 
North of the Broad River 

Index 

Dansby, Jacob, 178,180 

Dansby, William, 

Dantzler, Cornelia, 2 

Dantzler, Georgiana, 21 

Dantzler, 

Dargan, Catherine , 134,135 

Dargan, Dorcaa, 134 

Dargan, Dr.K 84 

Dargan, Elizabet h, 134,135 

Dargan Familv, 1 )4 

Dargan, Jeremiah, 133,134 

Dargan, John, 134,135 

Dargan, Kemp Strother, 135 

Dargan, , 134,1 

Dargan, Timothy U 

Dargan, Wil1iam, 134 

Daah, Herman, 246 

Davidaon, George, 207 

Daviee, Mark, 1,14,21,^2,157 

244 

Davia, Abraham, 74 

Davia,Alien, 72 

Davia,Amoa, 43,44. ,72 

Davia, A: ,72 

Davia,Arthur r.S.,72 

Davis 

Davis 

Davis 

Devil 

?avis 

?avis 

'Aivis 

Davis 

Davis 

157,2 

Da-

Davis 

Da\ 

Davis 

Davis 

Da\ 

Davis 

Davis 

Davis 

Davis 

Davis 

Davia 

Davis 

Davis 

Benjamin F., 50,57 

Caleb, 64,65,66 

Caleb Sr., 64,65,66 

Captain H.C.,26 

Caroline, 66 

Caroline T.C.,72 

Catherine, 66,67,68,69,70 

Catherine Ross, 70 

Christopher, 1,17,21,42,43,75, 

Clara, 73 

Col.Henrv C.,70 

David, 61,71,72 

David Daniel, 51 

David P.,72 

David T.,72 

Dr., 7,68 

Dr.James, 7,66,67,68,69,70 

Dr. James B.,50,55,56,57,58 

Dr. James Bunyan (Bolton?),50,56 

Dr. James Jr.,69 

Dr. John F. ,72,73 

Edward, 73 

Edward William, 70 

Elizabeth, 61,63,184 



P-3 
North of the Broad River 

Index 

Davis, Elizabeth S.,72 

Davis,Eliza Kincaid, 59 

Davis, Elnathan, 44,45 

Davis, Eloiae, 70 

Davis,Enoch, 

Davia Eater, 63,73 

Davis, Frances, 74 

Davia, George, 60 

Davia, Hannah, 

Davia, Harriet ,72 

Davis, H.C.,67 

Davis, Henry, 66, 

Davia, Hem ,69 

Davia, Henry Campbell,69 

Davia, Henry < 70 

Davia,Henrv M.,74 

Davia, Henaon,73 

Davia,laabella Harper Moane, 70 

Davis, Jacob, 61,64 

Davis, Jamea, 43,44,45,46,47,48, 

49,50,53,55,58,60,6< '2,221, 

223,231,; !88 

Davia,James 9,288 

Davia, Jamea D.72 

Davia, Jamea Qulnton, 70 

Davis, Janea, 

Davis, Jeremiah, 65,66 

Davis,John,43,44,45,46,61,64,71,73 

Davis, John Bunyan, 51 

John W., 74 

Jonathan, 43,445,50,51,52,53, 

56,57,58,59,60,118,184,284,285, 

DA via 

Davia 

54,55 

288 

Davli 

Davia 

Davie 

Davis 

Davia 

Davia 

Davia 

Davli 

Davia 

Davia 

: evil 

Joseph, 43,73 

Mack (Mark Davies ?),157 

(Davies?) Mark, 42,43,75,163 

nly, 74 

, 122 

Marion ( or Mason), 73 

Martin, 65 

Mary, 45,50,58,288 

Mary A.,73 

Mary Ann, 72 

Mary Ann Williams, 71 

Davia,Mary E. ,59 

Davis, Mary Glenn, 51 

Dev Scott,50 

Davis, Mary T.,71 

Davia, Nathan, 51 

Davis, ,73 

Davis Old Place,222 

Davis, Rachel, 73 



P-316 

North of the Broad River 

;.ex 

Davis , Rebecca An: Dawson, C a p t a i n , 186 

Davis,Rebecca Kincaid, 5 0 , 5 3 , 5 6 , 5 9 Day, Ba l lard , 192 ,240 

Davis , Rev. David, 43 

Davis , Rev. ,',3 

Davis , R icha rd , 73,74 

Davis , Robert Meens, 70 

Davis , Rozure, 73 

Davis , S a l l i a , 73 

Devis , Sersh , 4 4 , 4 5 , 6 6 

Dey, W i l l i a m , 93 

Day, Z . , 175 

Day, Z a c h a r i a h , 178,243 

Debardelaben, Clarissa,118 

Debardelaben.John F.,117,118 

DeBruhl,Jesse. 67 

Decalb (DeKalb) Street,179 

Davis,Sarah Margaret Zimmerman,50, Dee, William, 88 

59 

Davis, Sarah Rebecca, 72 

Davis, Thomas, 60, ,63,103 

Davis, Thomas 1 ,63 

Davis, Thomas Sr.,61,62,63,64 

Davis, 

Davis, Wlila*. 67 

Devis, Will lam .59,60 

D*vis, W.K.,55,59 

Deer, Charles, 150 

Deer, Mery Ann Strother, 150 

Delacote, Hugh,164 

Delashmet, John, 253 

Del'. . Thomas, 57 

Denhara, Mary,252 

Dent, Samuel, 71 

Dillard, James Jr., 45 

Dillard, James Sr., 45 

Dock, Samuel,105 Davis, Violet Petterson, 51 

Dawkins'Company, Captain William,132 Doherty.Patrick, 68 

Dawkins, 55,56. SO Dominy, A.,246 

Dawkins Land, 57 Douglas, Herman, 167 

Dawkins, Peter, 118 Dow, Ardelson, 72 

Dawkins,Thomas, 175 Dow, Charity, 72 



P-317 
North of the Broad River 

ex 

Dow,David, 72 

Dow, Martha, 72 

Dow, Mary, 72 

Dow, Thomaa, 72 

Djayton,Honorable John, 205 

Drayton, Thomaa, I 

Dreher, Q.F, .152 

Drennan, John,295 

VI 11 Lam, 1 2 0 

DuBard, A . F . . M 7 

DuBard, Adam F. .47 

DuBard, Will iam, 18 

DuBose,El iaa , 2 

DuBose, Jamea, 68 

Dugan, Larnel , 292 

Duggan, Harris I 

Dugg.i iard, 45 ,54 

Duggan, Wil l i.nn, M , 5 4 , 2 0 6 

Duggan, William Jl 

Duggan, William S r . , 5 4 

Dumper : 1 

Dunkley, Richard 

Dunlap, Wil l i . . S,281 

Dunnan, I 

Durham, Captain Charnal,98 

Durham, Charnal 206 208,209 

Durham, Cynthia, 208,209 

Durham, J o e l , 96 

Durham, John W.,213 

Durham, John Woodward, 209 

Durham, Joshua, 4 8 , 4 9 , 2 6 0 

Durphev's Tavern, 138 

Dye, John, 147 

Eaater, Michael , 210 

Easter , Pe ter , 118 

Edmonds, George, 227 

Edrington, Christopher, 221,222 

Dftoa, bath. '+7 

r ing ton , Henry (Hennery), 54,57 

Edrington Land,62 

ington , Mary, 284 

Edrington, Mary Boyd,285 

r i n g t o n , Thomas, 47,48 

Edward, N.A. ,74 

wards, Dr. V.A.,122 

Elam, Richard, 65 

Elbert County,Georgia, 225 

Eleazer , Jacob, 36 ,38 

E leazer , Johannes Stephen, 3 4 , 3 5 , 3 8 , 2 4 4 

Eleazer , George, 3 6 , 3 7 , 3 8 , 8 6 

E leazer , Mary, 37,38 

E leazer , Simon, 36 ,37 ,38 



P-318 
North of the Broad River 

Index 

Elea zer ,Stephr 3 , 2 7 , 3 6 , 3 7 , 

97,259,260 

E l f e , Thomas, 149 

E l i o t , Samuc 

Elk ina , E lea th , 58 

Elkina , E l l i o t 81 

Elkina , Jamea, 94 ,100 

Elkina, Jamea E . , 100 

Elkina , Sarah, 100 

E lk ins , William B. ,246 

Elllman Place, 211 

Elliott, Col.Smauel,282 

iott, Hugh, 

Elliott, Jamea, 80,163 

Elliott Landa, 38 

Elliott, Mary, 32 

Elliott, Robert, 32 

E l l i o t t , Samuel, 53 ,206 ,210 

E l l i s P lace , 212 

E l l i s o n , R .E . ,91 ,95 

Ellison, Robert, 46, *9 

Ellison, Robert 

Elaey, John, 210 

Elaminger, Catherine, I 

Elsminger, Catherine 

Elsminger, Christian, 245 

Elsminger, Christian Jr.,245 

Elaminger, Margaretta, 245 

Elsminger, Peter, 245 

ey, Lewis 

Ensminger ( See Elsminger, Entzminger) 

Ensminger, Peter,244 

Enemire (Ensminger?) Peter, 244 

Entzminger (See Elsminger, Ensminger,Ensmire) 

Entzminger, Catherine, 246 

Entzminger, Chrisitan, 97,164,168,244,245, 

245,247,259,260, 

Entzminger, Elizabeth, 246 

Entzminger, Emeiine, 24b* 

Entzminger, Ezra, 246,248 

Entzminger, Frederick, 245,246,247 

Entzminger, James, 248 

Entzminger, Jeremiah, 248 

Entzminger, John, 246,247,248 

Entzminger, Laura, 248 

Entzminger, Margaret, 246 

Entzminger, Mary, 246 

Entzminger, Mary Jane, 248 

Entzminger Ministerial Fund, 247 

Entzminger,Peggy, 246,247 

Entzminger,Peter, 167,244,245,246,247,248 

Entzminger, Rachel,246 



P-319 
North of the Broad River 

Index 

Entzminger, Tetf. ,246 ,240 

Entzminger, W.W. , ; 

Erick, John, 168 

E8waw,68 

Eubanks, E l i j a h , 239 

Evans, David H. ,144,233 

Evana, David Raad, 143 

Evana, Rebecca, 29 

Evana, Samuel,61 

Evana, Samuel H. ,23 

Evereata, BenJ.* 

Ewing, Andrew, 124 

E w lng , John, L07,l 

Ewing, Wi l l i ; i m , 1. 

Pair, Iaham, 234 

A i r f i e l d Church, 99 

Pant, Abner, 54, 

Pant, George, 222 

Pant, Jenny, 86 

Pairbridge, Robert, 258 ,260 

Parea, Jamea, 233 

Pauat, Danir L95 

Peaate 37 

p*aater,Jacc 

Feas ter , James S r . , 6 6 

Fe lder , Carolus ,13 

Ferguson, A . B . , D . S . , 8 5 

^uson, Master Duncan, 123,263 

Ferrell, George, 31 

Ferrell, Margaret, 119,121 

rtig, John George, 282 

Fetner, Alexr. B.,94 

Finch, Harriet, 84 

Finch,Henrv, 84 

Finley, Col. Daniel Dansby, 262 

Finley, Elizabeth Kinsler, 262 

Finley, James, 171 

Fir. ohn, 190,191,240 

First Provincial Congress,204 

Regiment,CSA,174 

Fish, Elias,7 

Flodan, Simon, 50 

P"ogg> Mourning, 73 

Foot, Elizabeth, 84 

John, 84 

Ford, Elizabeth, 64 

Ford, Gardner, 64,85,89,103 

Ford, John, 97 

Ford, John L.,99 

Ford, Marv,i:i 



P-320 North of the Broad River 

Index 

Pord, Nathaniel, 99 

Pord, Nathanic ,99 

Pord, Sidon, 121 

Potherlngham, Alexander 

Potherlngham, Grant, 93 

Potherlngham Tract, 128 

Pranklli.. .',88,157,196 

Pranks (Frank 1 inM.Thomas, 75 

Prazier,Andrew, 270 

Prazier, Captain, 106 

Prazier, Daniel \ 

Prazier, Ellen Melinda, 280 

Pr*2**i-, :,33,159 

Prezier, Jecob, 206 

Prazier, Jemes, 2 

Preai.r, Jane,29,32,277,278,279 

Prazier, Joel,32,279 

Prazier, Nancy, 32 

Prazier, Robert Boyd, 279 

Prazier, Sarah Elizabeth, 280 

Prazier, Win lam, 32 

Pree, Adam,191 

Pree's Branch, 60 

pr««, Charles, 41,171.175 

pree, Danisl,58 

Fre«, Daniel Dansby, 53 

e,George, 170,180 

Free, Jacob, 191,223 

Free, John, 59 

Free, Nancy, 60 

than, 178,180 

Free,William, 59,60,178 

Freeman, Harris, 163 

eman, Jane, 2 08,227,228 

Freeman, Reeves, 208,227,228 

Freeman, William, 275 

ench and Indian Wars, 201 

Freshley,Christian,40,41,164 

•, 111,41 

Freshley, George, 1,15,16,22,27,28,34, 

38,39,40,97,157,244,260 

Freshley, James, 163 

Freshley, John, 39 

Freshley, John George, 39,40,75 

Freshley,Joseph,41 

shley, Nancy, 40,41,164 

Friday, Gabriel, 165 

Frost Estate, 90 

, Jacob, 40 

Fulmer, Captain,153 

Fundenburg, Henry, 117 

Furman, Dr. G.F.,175 



P-321 North of the Broad River 

Index 

Furman, Dr. Jamea C.,50,51 

Furman, J.C., 246 

Furman Theological Inatitute,51 

G 

Gad8den, Biahop Christoph. -17 

Gadaden, Chriatopher E.,217 

Gadaden,Francia Marion, 217 

Gadaden, John C., 217 

Gadaden, Lilla Rabb, 217 

Gadaden, Martha Ann,217 

Gadaden, Regina, 217 

Gadaden, Regina G.,217 

Gafney, WHJiara, 71 

Gail lard, Catherine Davia, 70 

Gaillard, Col.David Duboee, 70 

Gai. 

Gaines, Delilah, 154 

Gaines1 attle of, 212 

Gainea, Thomaa, 154 

Gainea, William, 63 

Galey,Samuel 

Gambel, HuKh, 282 

Gambel , Prudence, 282 

Gamble, Jamea 

Gather ^ B 9 206 

Gayden, H.C.,96 

Geiger, Herman, 35 

Geiger, Jacob, 67,68 

Geiger,James, 67 

Geiger, John, 1,16,34,244 

General Gates1 Army,131 

General Green's Army, 64 

General Henderson's Brigade, 137 

General Picken's Brigade, 36 

General Sumter's Brigade, 106,137 

General Winn, 137 

Gere, Levi, 50 

Gerl (Gere?),Levi, 50 

German, l.,175 

Gerrald, Gabriel, 133,135,151 

Gerrald, James, 133 

Gerrald, Mildred (T.),133 

Gibson, Able, 282 

Gib8on, Doctor, 91 

Gibson, Humphrey, 12 

Gibaon, 78,79,125,261 

Gibaon, James, 188 

Gibson, Joseph, 226 

Gibson, Stephen, 40,161 

Gibson, William, 252 

Gill, John, 109 

Gills, Hussell, 210 



P-322 the Broad River 

Index 

Giaaendai \<mv. J ' 5 0 

Gladney, 253 

Gladney, Patrici 

Gladney, Richard, 108,115 

Glaze, Jamea, 72 

Glaze, , 112 

Glenn, John M 1̂ 

Glenn, H.A., 177,181 

Glenn, Hargrove Arthur, 178,181 

Glenn, Margaret 181 

Glyn, David, 153 

Godbold, Gazaway, 64 

Godbold, Nathan, 8 

Godfrey, George,48 

Godfrey, Margaret, 46 ,48 

^ ° ' iel , 106 

Goree1,Daniel,241 

Goree',Mary Ann,241,242 

Goyner (Joyner?),Daniel,10 

Gradick, Anna Sybilla, 18 

Gradick, Catherine, 17,21,776 

Gradick, D.(Daniel) 76 

Gradick, Eliaa, 76 

Gradick, H« 18 

Gradick, Jacob, 20 

Gradic tl 17 

Gradick Lands, 76 

Gradick, Mary, 9,259 

Gradick, Marv Metz, 20 

Gradick, Phillip, 18 

Gradick, Richard, 135 

Gray, James, 77 

Gray, John, 288 

Gray, Lt. William, 132 

Gray, Stephen, 18 

Gregg, Elizabeth Strother,150 

Gregg, John, 46 

*g, Robert H.,150 

een, Doctor, 244 

Green, Samuel, 110 

Greenbrier Community, 355 

tfin, Rachel, 64,103 

Grigga, John Sr.,6n,7 

rs . 67 

Grimke' Sarah D.,67,68 

Grubba, Alfred, 65 

Grubba, Francis, 65 

ibbs, John, 65 

Grubba, Levi, 65,66 

Grubba, Martin, 65 

Grubbs, Mary, 65,66 

iff (G, \athaniel, 157 

file:///athaniel


P-323 

North 

Guignard, Jamea S . , 258 

Guignard, Samuel, 68 

Gyat, George, 60 

I 

Hagood (See Haigood, Halgwood, 

Btygood; 

Hagood, I] i sha , 211 

Hagood, Lewia, 11,246 

Hegvo<> laha,124 

Haigood, E l iaha , 186 ,210 ,228 

Haigood, Her 48 

Haigood, Lewla, 187,188 

58 

Haigood, iraf 187,188 

Halgwood,Eliaha, 2 

Halgwood, Henrv, 275 

Halgwood, John, 1 

Hall A lexander B. ,54 ,55 

Hal l , Anne(Nancy),55 

Hall , 

Hell,Nanc 

Hall P l a n t a t i o n , 55 

Hall , Reuben, 68 

HaUey, 

Ham, ,,2 

Hambleton,Jamea, 110,120 

• he Broad River 

Index 

Hambleton, John, 123 

Hamilton, David, 85,105 

Hamilton, George, 276 

Hamilton, James, 5,105 

Hamilton, John, 5 

Hamilton Land, 109 

Hamilton, Margaret, 272 

Hamilton, Peter, 290 

Hamilton, Samuel, 272 

Hamilton, William, 77,223 

Hamiter, Adam, 11 

Haraiter, David, 1 

Hampton. Colonel Henry. 106 

Hampton, Colonel Wade, 36,48 

Hampton's Regiment, Colonel,131 

Hampton, Richard, 53 

Hancock, Augustine, 2 06 

Hancock, Ephraim, 84 

Hancock, George,114 

Hancock, James, 84 

Hancock,John, 84,114 

Hancock, Lucy, 84 

Hanging Rock, Battle of, 132 

Hanlon, T.O., 83 

Hannah, Captain, 263 

Hanaerington, John, 15 



P-l? A 
North of the Broad River 

ex 

Han8minger(See Ent «»r) 

Hanaminger,Chriatian f 1 ,^4,245 

Hanaminger, P e t e r , 2 

Happen, H l l l U a 

Hardage, Will iam, 78 

Harper, Jean,292 

Harper, Mr . ,Sr . , 212 

Harr i s , John, 223 

Harrlaon,Benjamin, 2 

Harriaon, I ,242 ,253 

Harrison, Captain Jonathan,86,87 

Harriaon, Danie l , 81 

Harriaon, Francea W.,94 

Harriaon, George, 

Harrison, Hannah, 

Harrison, Jamea, 64 

Harriaon, Jane, 23 

Harrison, Jemima, 216,217 

Harriaon, Jonathan, 8 6 , 8 7 , 2 4 1 , 2 4 2 , 

294 

Harriaon 

Harriaon, John , , 2 M 

Harriaon >6 

Harriaon,Reuben, 85,102 

Harriaon, Sarah, 79,294 

. Thomas, 23,92 

Harrison, Wil l iam,85 

Hart,Benjamin, 8 8 , 8 9 , 2 0 4 

Hart's Cotton Machine, Captain, 210 

Hart, James, 126 ,139 ,168 

Hart, James N. 89 

Hart in , Henrv, 114 

Hartin, R.K.,246 

Harton (Hartin 

Hart on, Henry, 60 

Harvey, Mary C.,175 

Hassan, George, 145 

Hassan, John, 186 

Hathcock (See Heathcock) 

Hathcock, Thomas, 112,267 

Hatcher, John, 146 

Hatcher, William, 78 

Havis , J e s s e , 62 ,63 ,103 

Havis, Richard B.,63 

Hawkins, Michael, 223 

Hawkins, Mildred, 203 

Hawkins, Martha, 175 

Hay, Davis, 135 

Hay, E z e k i e l , 57 ,117 ,128 

Haygood (See Haigood,Hagood) 



P-32 5 

North of the Broad River 

Index 

Haygoo. 141,143,146,194 

249,268 

Haygood, El izabeth Ann,249,268,269 

Haygood, He. 

Haygood, Janet. 

Healing Spring* Tract,118 

Heert, James, ! 

Heath, Amanda, 2 l6 ,217n 

Heath, Thomaa, 68 

Heethcock (See Heti 

Heethcock, I saac , 126 

Heathcock, Thomaa, 267 

Henderaon'a Brigade, General, 137 

Henderson, Prencia , 206 

Her. > , 206 

Henderson, Nancy, 211 

Henderson, M i l l i e * , 2 06 

• s s e , 126 

Hendricks, Samuel,I 

H e n B a r r e t t , 97 

H«" lamas, 1 .227 ,228 

Hendrix, Jes se ,172 

Hendrix, Mary, 145 

He., ( )2 

Hendrix, Samuel,89 

Hendrix, Wil l iam,210 

Henry, Ralph, 253 

Henry,Robert, 66,288 

Heron, Wil l iam, 273 

Herr . s t e r , 2 7 3 

Herron, Wil l iam, 273 

Hicks, l eorge , 150 

Hicks, Lucy, 150 

Hicks,Sarah James, 150 

Hi l l ,George W.,234 

H i l l , Jemima, 219 

<«<; ( 1 1 L 

Hill, Thomas, 194 

Hill, William Jr.,114 

Hill, William Sr., 114 

Hinds County, Mississippi ,213 

Hinn..nt, John, 171,172,197,198 

Hinnant Land, 176 

Hinnant, Lieutenant,26 

Hodges, Benjamin, 110 

Hodges, Thomas, 123 

Hogan, W.. 

Hogsbook Place, 173,174 

Hokes, Michael, 257 

Hollenshed (See Hollingshead) 



P-326 
North of the Broad River 

Index 

Hollenshed, Mary Kennerly,153 

Hollenshed,Zachariah, 153 

Holley, Benoni, 85,86,96,97,260 

Holley, Betsy, 88 

Holley, Jacob, 73 

Holley,Nathan, I 

Hoi: athaniel.52,88 

Holliday Land, 252 

Holllngshead (S«« Hollenshed) 

Mlngshead, Barbara, 177,178 

Hollingaheed, Berbera Klnsler. 

Holllngshead, John, 177,178 

u»«h«ad Pie* '3 

Holllnshead (See igehead) 

Hoilinahead,John, 241,242 

Hollis, Elijah,73 

Hollis, Elizabeth, 200 

Hollis, John, 7,64,73 

Holmes, Joseph, 45,57,60 

Holmes, Margaret, 45 

Holmes, William, 45,172,179,: 

Hood, Sera (Rob inf. V 

>d, Suaannah, 128 

Hopkins, Devi.I, 114 

Hopkins, John, 

Hopkins, Sarah,! 

Howard Family, 225 

Howard, John, 58 

Howard, Joseph, 44 

•, 22 5 

Huey's Ferrv, 56 

Huff's Land, 97 

Hughes, James H.,189 

Hughey, Daniel,57,175 

Hughev, Nancy Ruff,57 

Humphries, Ralph, D.D.,14,256 

Hunt, James, 90,168 

rer, George,S.G.,35,256 

Hunte: >rg« R. , 7 

Hunter, Henry, 79 

Hutchinson, John, 241 

Ivev,Nancy, 61 

Ivev, William, 61,62 

Jacobs, John, 2 06 

Jacobs, Shadrick,48 

James, Charnal,235 

Jamea, David, 282 

James, Enoch, 46,48,282 

James, John, 242 



P-327 
North of the Broad River 

ex 

Jamea, Margaret, 235 

James, Mergeret Woodward,236 

Jamea Prop. •$ 

Jame8, Shad: .'46 

Jef farao . . SO 

Jenkins , James, 278 

Jenk ins , Nancy, 83 

J o i n e r , Mr.,201 

•Jonea, A # 

Jones Co. «org ia , 112 

n«s , Dar l ing , 78,85 

Jones , ;2 

Jones , Henery ( s i c ) , 9 6 

Jones , John, 182 

• I , Judge, 2 

Jones , Mr., . 

Jones , Nancv 102 

Jones , Ralph, 98 

Jones , Robert, l 

' • s , Sarah, 32 

omaa, 32 

L l l l e a , . 0 ,210 

Johnaon, David, 

'>6 67 

Johnaton, A l , x , D 7,186 

Johnaton, Colone l , 104 

Johnston, Cora, 104 

Johnston, David, 276,283 

Johnston, Wil l iam, 18 

June, Dr. D.R. ,61 

Ke i th , John, 272 

Kei th , Melinda 

Kei th , Thomas, 196 

. Jane Robinson, 108,111 

K e l l y , John, 4 , 5 , 8 

K e l l v , L i t t l e t o n , 108,111 

Ke l so , Jane, 183 

: s o , John, 183 

nder, 246 

Kennedy, Alexander S r . , 1 6 1 

Kennedv,Campbell,183 

. Harriet E . ,161 

Kennedy, James, 5 , 1 0 5 , 1 1 0 , 2 5 3 , 2 5 4 

Kennedv, James J r . , 108 

. John, 2 5 , 6 7 , 1 1 0 

. Joseph, 288 

ncy, 254 

<oad, 277 

Kennedy, Wil l iam,254 

Kenner ly ,E l i zabeth , 153 



P-328 
North of the Broad River 

Index 

, E l l e n , 153 

Kennerly, James, 153 

Kenner 53 

Kenner 153 

Kennerly, Lucy, l r ) l , 154 

Kerr Mary, I 

Kenne amuel , 

Kenne! ! toman, 153,154 

Kenn«- M l Jr . 

Kernaghan,William. 182 

Kerr, Danie l , 238 

Kerr ' i S tore t 236 

Kllpa , Sarah, 119 

Kincaid, Alexander, 78,286 

Kinc.i 125 

Kincaid, Captain Jamee, 50,79 

Kincaid, Jamee, 243,275 

Kincaid, Rebecca, 50 

Kinciad, Wil l iam, 5 4 , 8 0 , 9 2 , 9 3 

209,2' 

untal: irv Acad< 

Klnael ,.u-l, 

K i n s l e r , Chr i s t i e : 136 

Herman,178,198 

Klnaler Lands, 86 

and Cemetery,173 

md, Col .Joseph, 141 

rkland, Danie l , B. ,179 

.rkland, Jane, 146 ,209,276 

.rkland, J .D . , 197 

rkland, John D. ,198 

rkland, John DeBel l ,144 

Kirkland, Joseph, 1 3 9 , 1 4 2 , 1 4 3 , 1 6 9 , 1 0 9 , 

226,276 

1 Lands,176 

rkland, Martha Marie, 144 

rkland, Mary Honor,143 

nd, Moses, 2 04 

kland, Obed, 146,209 

ind, William, 135,143,144,167 

. rkpatrick, John,132 

.rkpatrick, Robert, 121 

:ck, Sarah, 121 

ighton, Moses, 61,73 

ighton, Thomas, 6 

Koon, Lewis, 2 

215 L 

Lai, Green Berry, 6 

Lai, Sarah,6 

Land, John, 86 

Land,John Jr., 86 

Land, Mary,86 



P-329 
North of the Broad River 

Index 

Landers, Wil l iam, 40 

Langhan, James, 62 

Langhon, Rosanns,7 

Langhon, Wil l iam, 7 

Larew, P e t e r , 62 

Lauderdale, Thorass, 232,235 

Lawa, Henry,193 

Lawa, 

Lawa, Rebecce, 193 

Lebanon Presbyter ian Church 

(Old Stone Church), 77,253 

Lebanon S o c i e t y , 2 5 3 

LeConte, S a l l e y , 79 

Lee -abeth , 167 

Lee, Prancia , 167 

Leggo, Harr i e t , 146 

U « g o , ' , 7 4 , 1 4 4 , 

146,196 

Leggo, M.A.M.,; 1 ,93 ,98 ,1 

^ i g h . Egerton, 40 

Leightner (S«a Leitn.- .htner) 

Leightner, George, 28. 

Leitner, Captain,36 

Leitner , Ceptain Micha. 

Leitm- i a t i a n , 3 9 , 4 0 , 7 5 

U l t n a r , Colonel George, 184 

L e i t n e r , David, 246 

Le i tner , George, 246 

Le i tner , Jacob, 246,247 

Leitner, Michael, 39,75,153,260 

Lester, Andrew, 136,137 

Lester, Catherine, 136 

Lester, Catherine Strother, 136,137 

Lester, Frances, 136,137 

Lester, John, 136 

Lester, Rebecca, 136 

Lester, Thomas, 136 

Lester, William, 136 

Lever, Jacob, 185 

Lever, John, 246 

Lever, Stephen S.,247 

Lewe: m̂as , 55 

Lewis, John, 47,158 

Lightner, Elias C.,118 

Lightner, Elizabeth B., 118 

Lightner, George, 157 

Lightner, John, 10 

Liles, Colonel, 152 

Liles, Mary,219 

Lidnsey's Detachment, Lt. Col.,152 

Littlejohn, Marcellus,79,80,87 

Littlejohn, Samuel, 80,86,87,88,90,294 



P-330 

rth of the Broad River 

Index 

L i t t l e j o h n , Sarah, 79 

L i t t l e j o h n Tract , 294 

Logan, J.W.,32 

Logan, Ma • 33 

Logue, Rev. John,77 

Long, David, 147,1 

Long,James, 40 

Long, John, 10 ,49 ,100 ,127 

Long, Jol , 291 

Long, John S r . , 291 

Lorick, El izabeth Turnipseed,39 

Lott, George, 211,212 

Love, I saac , , | >7 

Love, Jacoi , 1 57 

Love,Robert, 157 

Lowe ( L o v e ? ) , I s a a c , 45 

Lowrance Lands, 7b 

Lowry, -Agnes, 291 

Lowry, Susannah,291 

Lowry, Will iam, 291 

Lucas, James, 2 

Lyles, Aromanus, 220 

Lyles, Aromanus Jr.,48 

Lyles, Captai 

Lyles, C.B.,76 

Lyles, James, 140 ,147 ,220 

es, James V.,246 

es, John, 47 

, Marian Collins, 208,209 

Lyles,Mary Ann, 211 

es, Rebecca Valentine, 215 

les, Thomas, 81,140,145,208, 209 

•les, Thomas Jr.,214 

Thomas M.,140 

.les, Thomas S. ,217 

Lyles, William Strother, 209 

on, Benjamin, 127 

, James, 55 

ohn, ->9 

He 

, Joseph,29 

McCall, Hugh, 182 

McCall, Thomas,85 

^Ulster, William, 207 

McCammon, Perry, 130 

amnion, Sarah,130 

McCance(See McCants) 

McCance,John, 2,4 

^ance,Sarah, 3 

McCants, Alexander, 4,8 

McCants, Andrew, 4,9 



P-331 

North of the Broad River 

Inr. 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

17,31,7 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

McCants 

Ann B . , 7 

Ihia Adeline, 8 

Dav ,9 

Dr. George, 13 

/.abeth, 2,11 

izabeth Amelia, 8 

LM Ann ,8 

George, 4,12,13 

George R.,8,9 

Hannah, 3 

Hugh, 87 

J. A.,!' 

James, 1,2,3,1 13, 

,257,259,261 

James B.,12,32,91,102 

Jemima. 12 

Jeremiah, 

John, 2,3,4,5,6,8,123 

n C. ,9 

n L.,9 

Joseph, 3 

5,6,8,9 

Land, 17 

McCants Margaret, 4 

ants, Martha, 12 

McCants, J7f259 

Clot*. Mary Ann, 12,13 

McCants, Mary Turnipseed, 259 

McCants, Miss Jane, 3 

Jants, Miss Jean, 4 

McCants, N . 12 

McCants, Permalia, 12 

McCants, Rachel, 3 

. Rebecca Ann,8 

McCants, Robert, 1,4,5,6,7,9,10,11,12, 

13,14,15,16,29,40,85,244 

McCants, Robert A., 7 

McCants, Robert Alexander,6,7 

McCants, Ros. 

Mc Cants, Samuel, 2,3,4,5,6,7,8,67, 

68,230 

McCants, Samuel A.,7 

'ants, Sarah, 4,5,6,8,9 

Stats, Sarah E.,8 

Jants, Sarah Eleanor, 8 

McCants, Sarah H.,13 

McCants, Thomas, 2,3,5,12 

its, T.M., 91,102 

'ants, William, 3,4,8,9 



P-332 
•h of the Broad River 

Index 

McCants, Willie, 14 

McCaule, Harris, 87 

McCaule, Thomaa, 88 

McCaw, John, 125 

McChants (See McCants) 

McChants, Elizabeth,7 

McChants, John, 2 

McClelland Tract (Piace),105, 

106 

McClintock, Wil l iam, 295 

McClure P lace ,211 

McConnel, Will iam, 294 

McConnell, Jamea,269 

McCreary, Adam, 289 

McCreary Tract , 290 

McCreight, David, 77,125 

McCreight Home P i s c e , 59 

McCreight, Jamea, 29 ,31 ,32 

McCreight, Mary, 31,32 

McCreight, P o l l y , 29 ,30 

McCreight, Samuel C.,59,60 

McCreight, Sarah, 59 

McCreight, Thomea,29,32 

McCreight, Thomaa V., 31 

McCreigl liam, 29,30,249,269 

McCrelli.s 

'ullough, James, 54 

McDill, James,274,275,293,294 

McDill. 274 

. athaniel, 274 

McDill,Samuel, 55 

McDonald, Francis, 206 

McDonald, John, 206 

.owell, A.,249 

McDowell,Alexander, 103 

:>owell, Andrew, 2,62,63,103,126 

Oowel l , Aughtery, 164,268 

McDwoell, David, 22,217 

McDowell, James, 290 

McDowell,John, 182 ,271 ,290 

McDowell Land, 63 

McDowl, John, 290 

McGi11,Samuel, 53 

McGraw, Abraham, 278,279 

:raw, Arthur, 22,39,293 

W, Benjamin, 206 

McGraw, David,10,27,78,97,182 

:raw, Edward, 10,160,206,228,275 

McGraw, Edward Sr., 204 

Marshall,23,277,278,279 

. 22,39 

McGraw, Nathan, 10 



P-333 
the Broad Rive r 

Index 

Mc Graw, Wi l l i am, 13 ,35 ,171 ,259 

Mclve r , John, 

McKain, Patr ick , 73 

McKance (See McCants) 

McKance, Robert, 11 

McKee, 

McKees, Semuel,295 

McKell, David, 178 

McKell,Elizabeth,178 

McKell Lendi. 

McKell ,W[|| j.,,. , 

McKennie, Char lo t t e , 95 

McKennie, Jnhnafon, 94 

McKennie, Robert P. 94,95 

McKensie, Mary, 94 

McKeown, H„K|,, 105 

McKil ln,v, Willi.,,,,, 170 

McKinn in., 15,160,1(1,165, 

166 

McKinatry, , (.60,141,162,1 

249 

McKinstrv, Margaret, 165, 

166 

McKinatry, Semuel, 29,30,164,166, 

249,269 

KcKinatry, Samuel f>8 

.—,. Thomas, 15,89,160,161,163 

-.-. Thomas W.,161,162,166 

Mahon, John L., 140 

Master, John, 89,99 

McMeekin, A.,175 

McMeekin, Andrew, 11 

McMeekin, Elizabeth, 11 

McMeekin, General Thomas, 49,57,178 

Meekin, James, 11 

McMeekin, John, 175 

Meekin, Thomas, 241,286 

Mil Ian, Archibald, 292 

I &» 187 

•illan, Nancy, 187 

•illan, Samuel, 232, 233 

Millan, Samuel Jr.,230 

., Samuel Sr.,230 

Mc :homas, 271 

Morries, Elizabeth, 208,228,240 

'orries, Henry W.,241 

McMorries, Rachel, 286 

ries, Sarah, 241,242 

•'.orries, William,284 

McMorries, William Jr.,77,208 

Morries, William Sr.,77,226,253 

McMorris, Joseph, 145,155,156,286,287 



P-334 
North of 

McMorris, Will iam, 138,220,227 

228,2; 

McMullen, Jamee, 12 

McMullen, John, 107.I 

McMurry, Samuel, 126 

McNeil, Archibald, 7 

NcNeil , Catherine , 82 

McPherson, Thomaa, 33 

u«r tere ,Wi l l i am,128 

McQuattere ( e i c ) , J a m e e , 127 

McQulre, Pe ter , 144,167 

McQuire, Rebecca, 144,167 

McWil lUma, Will iam, 40 

M 

Macon, John, 223 

Maijors , Jamee, 89 

Main Street 79 

Major, E l i j a h , 

Major, Nathanie l , 

MAloney, John, 224 

Mandavll l , Corne l ius , 89 ,90 

Mann, Agne* 12,33 

Mann, E l i z a b e t h , 2 9 , 3 0 , 3 1 , 3 2 

Mann, Jamea, 1 

2 8 , 2 9 , 3 0 , 3 1 , 3 2 , 3 3 , 86 ,97 ,139 ,1 

244 ,248 ,260 ,275 

the Broad River 

Imi' 

Mann,James J r . , 30 ,31 

Mann, James S r . , 3 0 , 2 4 3 

Mann, James,Third, 31,32,33 

Mann, Margaret, 33 

Mann, Mary Y.,33 

n/'Miss Betsv",31 

Mann, Nathaniel, 29,31,32,33 

Mann, Thomas, 29,30,31,32,33 

Mann, Thomas, Second, 31,32 

Mansell, Robert, 240 

Marks, A.,71 

Marple, Ann,47 

Marple, David, 47 

Marple, John, 203,207 

Marple, Thomas, 283 

Marshall, Colonel John, 131 

Martin, James, 183,228m253,254 

Martin, John, 112,113,276 

Martin,John A., 113 

Marin, John B.,72 

Martin, John W.,129 

Martin, Martha Robinson, 129 

Martin Place, 76 

Martin, Robert, 112,124 

Martin, William, 279 

Martin, William A.,118 

Maaon, Benjamin, 284 



P-335 
North of the Broad River 

Mason, Dorcas, 276 

Mason, Hamelin, 276 

Maaon, Jane, 32 

Maaon, John, 23,283 

Mason Land, 2 77 

Maaon, Mary, 23 

Maaon, Mil Iv, . 

Maaon, Pe ter , 23 ,32 

Maaon, Rebecca, 18,22 

Maaon, TurMI 

Maaon, Waahington, 22 

Mason, W.N.,246 

Msater, Jemes, 145 

Matthewe, John,160 

Matthewe P l a c e , 58 

Matthewe, Samuel, 186 

Matthewe, tfllllea, 180 

May, Benjamin, 4 9 , 1 7 0 , 2 0 2 , 2 0 6 , 

208 ,240 ,242 ,243 

May, Benjamin 

May, Benjamin S r . , 242 

May, _»A2 

May, El izabeth Stokee , 201,202 

240,243 

May, Eaprey, 241 

May Pamily,.' 

May, Henry, 242,243 

May, Hortentia Lucy, 243 

May, Joel. 241 

May, Jonathan, 241,242 

May, John, 78,201,202,226,240,242,243 

May, Joseph, 241 

May, Mordecai, 241,242 

May Place,173 

May, Rebecca, 242 

May, Susanna,243 

May, Theodocia, 241,242 

May, Thomas, 9,53,97,157,208,240.241 

1,244,283 

May, Tom,202 

May Tract, 174 

May, William, 170,241,242 

Meyo, Thompson, 100 

Meadows (Meadors),Lou,254 

Meens, Charlotte, 56 

Means, David, 56 

Meens, Dr. David H.,235 

Means, Isaac, 237,238 

Meens, Isabella Harper, 70 

Means, J.C.,. 

Means, John, 143 

Meens Place, 211,236 



P-336 

>rth of the Broad River 

Index 

Means, Robert, 143 ,231 ,233 

Means, w . , 148 

Means, wi l l iam K. ,50 

Merner, Henry, 178 

Methodist Camp Meeting 

Ground, 118 

Metz Landa,76 

Mickle , Jonathan, 7 

Mickle , John, 77 ,78 ,127 

Middleton, Henrv, 135 

M i l e s , Benjamin, 193 

e s , Hi 143 

Mi le s , -7,198 

M i l e s , Leonard, 144,146,147 

M i l e s , Hi '3,195 

Mi les , 9 ,210 

M i l e s , Will lam, 195 

M i l l e r , Benjamin, 134 

M i l l e r , Dorcaa Dargen.134,135 

M i l l e r , Iaaac , 97 

M i l l e r , Job 1,212 

Mi l ler Load 

<obert ,68 

M i l l i n g , Da'. 8 , 6 9 , : 

M i l l i n g , David Alexander, 253 

M l H i n g , 2 ,253 . 

Milling, Jane W.,69 

Milling, John, D.S.,126 

.ling Land, 69 

Milling, Means, 111 

Milling, R.,48 

Milling, Robert, 121,239,251 

Milling, Sarah, 253 

Milling, Sheriff Hugh, 142 

Minton, Thomas, 258 

ttt», William, 222 

Mitchell, Benjamin, 206 

•chell, Ephraim, 117 

chell, Lieutenant,4 

Ltcholl, Stuart (Stewart),55,172 

Mobley, Amanda, 217 

Mobley, Biggers, 65,66 

Mobley, Edward Sr., 114 

Mobley, Frances, 65,66 

Mobley, Janes, 193 

Mobley, Joan, 115 

. Micajah,66,86 

Mobley, Samuel, 115 

Mo! . iphraim, S.G.,243 

Monglett.George, 15 

Montgomery, B.,241 

Montgomery, Charles, 48,57,59,60,121, 

181,187,192 



P-337 

North of the Broad River 

.ex 

Montgomery, Charlea H6 

Montgomery, Daniel,242 

Montgomey, David, 169,242 

Montgomey, Dav ->9 

Montgomery, Green B.,213 

Montgomery, Hugh, 177 

Montgomery, Nam v, 177 

Montgomery, Samuel A.,181 

Monticello-Jefferson 

Society, 58,179 

Monticello, Main Street,179 

Monticello Village, 179 

Moore, D., 44 

Moore, Henry, 85,93,120,122 

Moore, I* . ,86,126,162 

Moore, Jane,105 

Moore, Jane Sterling, 109 

Moore, Sherill William,92 

Mooty, Alexander, 286 

Mooty, Jamea,286 

Moot .;g6 

Morea, Margaret,118 

Morgai: 

Morgan, CriH 2,222 

M°rgan, Elizabeth,222 

Morgan, James, 235 

Morgan, Jane,234,235 

Morris, Mary, 84 

Morrison, Patrick, 272 

Mossy Dale,254,255 

Mott, Harriet, 164,249 

Mott, Mary Ann,166 

t, 1,164,165,249,250 

Motte, Agnes, 248 

»ttOt David, 248,267 

•te, Harriet, 268,269 

te, William, 248,249,268,269,270 

oltrlo, General, 96,233 

unce, William H.,41 

:ncv, John, 157 

Mount Sion Society,137,204 

unt Zion College,215 

Mundle, Elizabeth, 277 

Mundle, William, 277 

rdock, Hannereta,128 

irdock, Hugh, 295 

-ff,Daniel, 97,257 

. George, 195 

. John, 28 

Muse, Daniel,73,78,79 

innah,73,79 

Muse, Joseph Daniel, 78 



P-338 
North of the Broad River 

Index 

Muae, Rebeccah,78 

Muee, Sh. ramea 52,228 

N 

Neely, Jemes,78 

Neely, Alexender.285,286 

Neely, Clermoi ,286 

Neely, Isiah,67,69 

Neely, Rlch.ir ,286,287 

Neely, Ricat ,49 

Neely, Uauah,69 

Neely, Victor, 286 

Nel Robertson, 92 

Neil, William A.,92 

Nelson's Battalion,26 

Nelaon, Daniel, 247 

Nelson, George, 290 

Nelson, Jamea, 89,145,208, 

227,228 

Nelaon, James M.,247 

Nelaon, Jesse, 145,147,180 

Nelson, John, 223 

Nelaon, Margaret, 208 

Nelson, Semuel,137 

Nelao, >ma8| 47,49,145,147, 

214,217,295 

ttles, Benjamin, 61 

ties, Captain William, 131 

ties, John H.,90 

•ties, Zach,89,90 

ties, Zachariah, 85 

tersville, William, 240 

Nertz, Jacob, 37 

Neville, Captain William, 88 

• Lands, 67 

chols, Isaac, 58 

chols, Marcia,58 

.-.htingale's Cowpens,l26 

^htingale's Tract, 146 

xon, William,163 

le, Patrick,21 

4an, George, 117 

rton, John, 47 

0 

Oaks, Daniel, 206 

Ogelive, T.A.,281 

Oglevie, James, 282 

Oglevie, Penelepy,282 

Oglevies, John, 283 

Oglivy, Tresvant, 176 

Old Aimwell Cemetery, 127 



P-339 
iver 

Old Bri< | 3 

Old Leba i n Church 

( Old Stone Church) 250 

O'Neal, Edmun,!, 126 

O'Nei l , w n i i a m , : 

Orangeburgh 199 

Owen, Job,I. . -,0 

Owen, John, D.S.,44 

Owena, A ,,5 

Owena, Ann.. 

Owens, Benjamin, 89,194,223,294 

Owena, Eliaha, 81,82,89 

Owens, Goorge, I 

Owens, H.A1;, 

Owens, Henry, 229 

Owens, Jamea, ,5 

U ' ,260,2 

Owena, Jama. 

Owena, Jamea Osmund, 216 

0w«ns , . ( 206 

Owens, Joseph,206 

Owens, Mrs., 175 

Owens, Mra George,178 

Owena, Nancy, 177 

Owens, Samue 

Owans, Saauel ^93 

0w«na, Sarah,216,217n 

Index 

Owens, Thomas, 58,112 

Owens, Thomas Sr.,59 

Owens, William, 112,206 

Owens, William A.,184 

P 

Palmer, Caroline Davis, 66 

Palmer, E.G. 7 

Palmer, Edward G.,66,67 

Palmer, Francis, 192 

Palmer, Joseph, 169 

Pagett,Carlos, 255 

Park, Thomas, 67 

Pamell, John Sr., 279 

Parrot haniel, 181 

Parrott, Thomas, 46,48,293 

Patterson,Violet, 51 

Paul, William, 112 

Pearson, Aldolphus E.,172 

Pearson,Anne, 56 

Peerson Cemetery,173 

Pearson, Dr. George Butler, 161 

Peerson, Dr Joel E.,55 

Peerson, Dr.J.P.,235 

Peerson, Elizabeth M.,161,169,173,174 

Pearson, Emeline Martha, 175 

Peerson, G.B.,156 

Peerson, General John, 94,100 



P-; 

Pearaon, George V. 

Pears '9 

Pearaon, Jeremiah, 

Pearaon, Joel A.,58 

Pearaon, 2 66 

Pearaon, M.» '6 

Pearaon, Mra.,162 

Pearaon, P.,56 

Pearaon, >1 

Pearaon, Philip, I ,170 

179,192,240,243,281 

Pearaon, Phil 1 : .181 

Pearaon, 

Pearac .111p Jr. 58 

Pearaon, Phil : <>9 

Pearaon, Rebecca,212 

pears 1liim, 2,170 

p«ay,John I 

p « y , Nlcholaa, I 

p«*y, Thomaa D.,; 

p* 2,54 

p* foalah, 187 

p«ter: m i , 2 09 

11 ipe, Ellen, 252 

^illlpa, Elizabeth Bookman, 

phllllpa, Emciat Eugene, 262 

:he Broad River 

Index 

Phllllpa, George,65 

U l i p s , James, 182 ,191,271 

P h i l l i p s , J . C . , 6 8 

Phillips, John, 77,288 

Phillips, Malinda A.,87,88 

Phillips, Robert, 142 

illips, Smith,252 

Phorcis, Colin, 53 

Pickens, Andrew, 151 

Pickett, James, 206 

Pickett,John, 6,63,103 

Pickings(Pickens) Brigade, General,185 

. I m i . I 

Pinder, Martha P.87 

Player, Joshua, 23 

Player, Thompson, 22 

Pledger, Sarah Strother, 150 

Pledger, William Henry, 150 

Plunkett, Christopher, 290 

Polley, Thomas, 116 

Pool.Walter , 221 

Pope, Barn. 34 

Pope, Barnabv McKinley,195 

Pope, Barney, 79 

Pope, Isaac Ricks,282 

Porcher, Ann,169 



P-341 

North of the Broad River 

Index 

Porche o9 

Porcher, George, 169 

Porcher, Iaaac, 90,142,146,169, 

182,206,224,270,275,276 

Porcher,Jamea, 2 74,293 

Porcher, Joseph I 

Porcher, Marianna, 169 

Porcher, Mary Ann,169 

Porcher, P.iul , 192 

Porcher, Peter,213 

Porcher, Phillip, 169 

Porchr: 

Powel l , Aaron, 170 ,173 ,193 ,196 , 

197,198,199 

Powel 1 , Ann*-, 199 

Powel l , Bexter , 191,192 

Pow«n , Celeb, 1 4 1 , 1 4 2 , 1 4 3 , 1 9 2 , 

193 ,194 ,195 ,188 ,223 

Powel l , Caleb J r . , L t t . l 

Powell, Caleb 

195,196 

Powell, Doborroh, 199 

Powell, Dorcaa, 193 

Powell,Eliza, 196 

Powell, HIizabeth, 199 

Powell, Frances, 198 

Powell, George Gabriel, 199 

Powell, Henry W.,198 

Powell, Jacob, 146,193,196 

Powell, James, 191,192 

Powell, John, 191,192,193,199 

Powell, Joseph, 192 

Powell Lands, 176 

Powell, Martha, 199 

Powell, Mary, 46,190,191,192,196 

Powell, Melinda, 192 

Pc . Mrs. F.,176 

Powell, Sarah, 199 

Powell,Stacey,200 

PowelIs,The, 199 

Thomas, 157,191,192,199 

Powell, William, 121,190.191,192,199,292 

Powell,Winifred, 199 

Preston, Honorable, William C.,66 

Preston, Penelope,66 

Price, Edmund, 248 

Price, Thomas W.,248 

Pringle, Thomas, 3 

Pritchard, Rachel, 43 

Proctor, Samuel,182 



P-342 
North of the Broad River 

ex 

Pucket t .Char lea , 200 

P u l l e g ( P u l l i g ) , P h i l l i p , 3 2 , 3 3 . 

260,2-

Pull ig .Thomes A . , ! 

Purdy, Harry, 288 

Puahart, Jacob, 256 

Q u e r r e l l , Joeeph, 253 

Quigley Land, 2 77 

Quince, Robert, 35 

Quinn, John, 230,.' 

Rabb, Charlea, 

Rabb,Eber A. l 04 

Rabb, E l i z a b e t h , 104 

R«bb, John, 48 

Rabb, John W.,164 

Rabb, Martha C.,102 

Rabb, Maaaie Of 104 

Rabb, Robert, ' 08 

Rabb, Thomaa, 164 

R*bb, Thomee W., 104,184 

Rabb, Wni iam, 54 ,208 ,292 

Rahla, John, 185 

Raiford (see Rayford) 

Raiford, P h i l l i p , 8 1 , 2 0 7 , 2 0 8 , 2 0 9 

Raines , James, 121 

Ral l s ( see Rawls) 

Ralls, Catherine,185 

Ralls, Christian, 185 

Ralls, Daniel, 185 

Ralls, Frederick, 185 

Ralls, George,185 

Ralls, Jacob, 185 

Ralls, Jacob Jr., 185 

Ralls, John, 185 

Ralls, Nancy, 185 

Ralls, Thomas, 185 

Rangers, 204,205 

Rawlins, Robert, 150 

Rawls, Ann,188 

Rawls, Amanda, 188 

Rawls, Bejamin, 188,189 

Rawls, Charlotte, 190 

Rawls, Elisha, 188 

Rawls, Elizabeth,186,188,190 

Rawls, Emily, 188 

Rawls, Emilv M.,189 

Rawls Family, 185 

Rawls, Gabr ie l , 186,188 



P-343 North of the Broad River 

Index 

Rawla, G.W.,189 

Rawla, Jamea, 1 

Rawla, Jamea S . , 1 8 9 

Rawla, Jeaae , 187,188,211 

Rawla, Jol 8 ,189 

Rawls, j 6 ,188 

Rawla, John T . , 187 ,188 

Rawla, Lavenia, 188 

Rawls, Luke, 142 ,146 ,147 ,185 

186 ,188 ,194 ,195 ,196 

Rawla, Malachl, 190 

Rawla, Samuel, 188 ,189 ,190 

Rawla, Sarah,188,189 

Rawla, Shadrick, 188 

Rawla, Thomaa M.,188 

Rawla, Thomaa W. ,186 ,187 ,188 ,189 

Rawla, Timothy D. ,188 

Rawla, Wade, 188 

Rawla, Zachariah, 188,189 

R*Y, Judge, 294 

Rayford, Matthew,206 

Rayford, William, 206 

Reamick, Peter, 

Roddick,George, 46, 

R«eae, Catherine , 

Raeae'e Creek, 60 

R « « e , Dr. Joaeph A. , 71 

Reese, Joseph, 243 

Reeves, Lazarus, 245 

Regiment, Colonel Brandon fs,131 

Regiment, Colonel Hampton1s,131 

Regiment, Colonel Richard Winn's ,44,106 

Regiment, Third, 205 

Regular Bapt i s t Church, 223 

Regular Bapt i s t S o c i e t y , 89 

Regulators , 202 ,204,205 

Regulator Movement ,202 ,204 ,205 

Regulator Remonstrances,2 04 

R e i l e v , Sarah, 240 

R e i s t e r , C h r i s t i a n , 40 

Rentfrow, Peter , 35 

Reuster , Christopher,21 

Reynolds, Will iam, 85 

Rhimer, Dr. George, 170 

Rhis ter , Chr i s t iana ,75 

Rice , Matthew, 241 

Rice , Theodosia,241 

Richardson,. E l i zabe th ,33 ,37 ,145 

Richardson,Joseph, 172,173 

Richardson, Mary, 173 

Richardson, Robert, 37 

Richardson, Samuel, 37 

Ricardson, Susannah, 33 

Ricardson, Thomas, 3 3 , 3 7 , 3 8 , 1 4 3 , 1 4 4 , 

^8 



P-3 44 
North of the Broad River 

Index 

Richardaon, Thomaa Si 

Richards 111am, 291 

Riley, Bryan, 33 

*ile .108 

R i l e y , Sarah,208 

Riater (See R e l e t e r . R h l e t e r , 

ReuHtrr ) 

Riater, Chrietian, 21,75 

Rivea, Timothy, 13 r>, 167 

Rix , 

Robeiaon, iam,294 

Roberaon, John,206 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robfttf 

105, 

Robeer 

lobtrt 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

9 Poater, 71 

, Phelby, 72 

A. ,93 

Agnea, 109 

Alexander, 77 ,81 ,82 

aon, Alexander J r . , 1 0 5 

A l I an ,81 

Amanda, 91 

, Amelia I '2 

Ann,72 

.93 

o, 92 

8 , 8 3 , 9 5 , 9 6 , 

97 ,98 ,99 , 

Rober t son , Benoni H . , 9 1 , 9 5 

Rober t son , Benoni Hawley, 91,92 

Robertson, B . H . , 2 1 , 7 6 , 9 5 

Robe r t son , Cap ta in Wi l l i am, 8 2 , 8 4 , 8 5 , 9 1 

105,106,197 

Rober t son , Cyn th i a , 91 

Rober t son , Dr. Thomas T . , 91,95 

Robertson, Eber , 104 

Rober t son , Edward Ross , 104 

Robertson, E l i z a , 102,104 

Robertson, E l i z a b e t h , 78 ,80 ,81 ,105 

Rober t son , E l l e n , 91 

Robertson, E l l e n d e r , 219 

Robertson, George , 8 2 , 8 3 , 9 8 

Robertson, Hannah, 7 7 , 7 8 , 7 9 , 8 1 , 2 2 7 

Robertson, H a r r i e t , 102,104 

Rober t son , H a r r i e t Mal inda , 91,92 

Rober t son , Henry, 7 7 , 8 1 , 8 2 , 8 3 , 1 0 4 , 1 0 5 , 1 0 6 

Rober t son , H o l l e y , 18 

Rober t son , Howard, 93 

Robertson, James, 8 1 , 8 2 , 9 5 , 1 0 4 , 1 0 5 , 1 6 3 

Robertson, James 0 . , 9 5 , 9 6 , 1 0 1 , 1 0 2 

Robertson, J e s s e , 98,102 

Robertson, J e s s e H. ,95 

Robertson, Jona than B . , 4 1 , 9 1 , 9 2 , 9 4 

Robertson, Jona than B a r n e s , 4 5 , 9 1 , 9 4 

Robertson, John, 7 7 , 7 8 , 7 9 , 8 0 , 8 1 , 8 2 , 8 3 , 

105 ,106 ,128 ,164 



P-345 

North of the Broad River 

Index 

102 

Robert 

Robert 

101 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Ror. 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

Robert 

98 ,99 , 

Robert 

Robert 

on, John 12 

John , 9 6 , 9 9 , 100, 

on, John P . ,93 

on, John W.,83,98 

Joaeph, 105 

eeph W.,95 

:ge W.R. , 102 

, Laura E. 100 

bby, 83 ,98 

>5,98,99 

on.Martha, 79 ,80 ,104 ,105 

on, Martha Cook,100 

on, Martha P . ,101 

I Pearaon Cook,100 

.82 

-3 ,84 

Nathan Cook,100,101 

on, Rebeccah, 80 ,81 

ia, 81 

xanna E. ,92 

Ann, M , 9 6 , 9 7 , 

f a i n l , 79 ,80 ,117 

, Sarah, 8 3 , 9 5 , 9 8 

Robertson, Sarah H . , 9 5 , 9 6 , 1 0 1 

Robertson, Simon, 105 

Robertson, Thomas, 6 1 , 6 3 , 6 4 , 7 7 , 7 8 , 7 9 , 8 0 , 

8 2 , 8 3 , 8 6 , 1 0 2 , 1 0 3 , 1 0 4 , 1 6 8 

Robertson, Thomas G. ,96 ,100 ,102 

Robertson, Thomas R.251 

Robertson, W.,17 

Robertson, Widow, 175 

Robertson, William, 11,21,54,76,77,80,81, 

82,83,84,85,86,87,88,89,90,91,92,93,94, 

95,98,106,128,163,165,166,176,197,198,200 

a.Wllliaa Jr.,77,33,90,91,9?,94, 

95,96 

Robertson, William Sr., 77,83,84,90,92, 

9 4 , 9 5 , 9 6 , 9 9 , 1 0 1 , 1 0 2 , 1 0 3 , 104 

Robertson, Will iam L . , 81 ,82 

Robertson, William R. ,91 ,102 

Robinaon, Adam, 105 ,108 ,111 ,112 , 

Robinaon, Agnes, 108 

Robinaon, Alex , 5,109 

Robinaon, Alexander, 109 ,110 ,115 ,119 , 

3 ,129 ,130 ,132 

Ro: , Alexander J r . , 1 0 8 

Robinaon, Alexander S r . , 108,109 

Robinson, Alexander W.,117 



: oad R: 

Index 

Robinaon,Anella,117 

Robinaon, Ann, 128 

Robinaon, Archiba 

Robinaon, Arch -0 

Robina 

Robinaon, Ellzabf peon 

Woodward, 200 

Robinaon, Elizabc- 21 

Robinaon, George,129 

Robinaon, G .9 

Robinaon, Hannah, 108 

Robin* f>2 

Robinaon, Howard,92,93,130,131, 

Robinaon ny, 108 

Robinaon, Hughy 10 

Robins imea, 10K 

Robinaon, Jamea C . , 7 9 , 1 1 9 , 1 2 1 , 1 . 

Robinaon, Jamea P . , 1 1 6 , 

Robinaon, Jane , 10,10h. 

6 130 

Robinaon, J< . 4 8 , 1 0 7 , 1 0 8 , 1 1 0 

111 18, 

U t , 22,12 31, 

200,227 

Robinaon, John Alexander, 

Robinaon, Johr. . , 121 ,137 ,128 ,129 

Robinaon, John J r . , 1 0 7 , 1 1 1 , 1 1 5 , 1 1 6 

Robins bn Lucy, 117 

Robinaon, John P . ,121 

Robinaon, John S . , 1 3 0 , 1 3 1 

Robinaon, John S r . , 1 1 5 , 1 1 6 , 1 1 9 , 1 2 2 

Robinaon, John Thomas,108 

Robinaon, John W.,130 

Robinaon, Joseph, 109 

Robinaon, Joaeph W.,130 

Robinaon, Lucre t ia , 115,116,118 

Robinaon, Lucy, 117 

Robinaon, Margaret, 9 , 1 1 2 , 1 1 3 , 1 1 9 , 1 2 2 , 

:7 ,129 

Robinaon, Margaret P . ,119 

Robinaon, Martha, 119,120,129 

Robinaon, Martha L. ,121 

Robinson, Martha P . , 119 ,121 

Robinaon, Mary, 62 ,112 ,124 ,125 

Robinaon, M a t i l d a , 1 1 9 , 1 2 1 , 

Robinaon, Minor, 117 

Robinaon, Moaes, 116,200 

Robinaon, Moaes H. ,119 ,121 ,122 

Robinsor. , 107,200,207n 

Robinsor , , 119 

Robinaon, Nancy, 108,127,128 



P-347 
'he Broad River 

Index 

Robina ,73 

Robinaon, Peggy, 108 

Robinaon, Robert, 122 ,123,1 

125 ,126 ,227 ,228 

Robinaon, Rob« l | 

124 

Robinaon, Samuel, 5 ,93 ,108 ,11 

,128 129 132 

Robin- imuel Y . , 1 0 8 , 1 1 0 , 1 1 1 , 

113 

Robinaon, Sarah, 130 

Robinn :30 

Robinaon, Sarah P. ,113 

Robinaon, Simon, 115 

Robinaon, Suaann- ^3 

Robinaon, Thomaa, 

Robina u>maa A . , 1 3 0 

•oblnr, homes W.,130 ^ ^ R : . 

Robinaon, Wil l iam, 9 2 , 9 5 , 1 0 7 , 1 0 8 , ^ ^ ^ ^ 

l W > • " • • <ooke, WHliam, 147 

Roaborough, Doctor, 68 

Roaborough, Jamea, 7 

Roaborough, James F . ,127 

Robinson Winney, 130 

Roblaon , Sam, 120 

Roche l le , A l l a n , 90 

Rochel le , Anderson, 61 ,85 ,102 

Roche l l e , George, 61 

Rock Citv Quarries ,215 

Rock Creek Baptist Church, 285 

Rockv Creek Church, 51 

Rodgera, John, 50 

Roebuek,Jamea,47 

Rogera, Benjamin, 150 

Rogers, Jamea, 45 ,53 ,115 ,235 ,286 

Rogers, Johr 118,241,189, 

Rogers, Lucv, 150 

Rolland, John, 210 

Romedy, Mary Ann, 280 

idy, Nancy Janes , 279 

' , 2 0 0 , 

Robinaon, Wi 130 

Robin*. 0,131 

Robinaon, Wil l ia: J, 

129 

Roaborough, Jamea J r . , 98 

ROB >'h,John, 68 

Rosa, Abner, 4 , 6 3 , 6 4 , 1 0 2 , 1 0 3 , 1 0 4 

Rosa, ^uaannah,72 



P-348 

North of the Broed River 

Index 

Roee, O l i v e r , 64 

Round Pond Road, 148 

Rowbuck, Jamea, . 

Rowland, Jamea, 189 

Rowland, Will iam, 294 

Ruff, D.H. ,99 

Ruff, E lo iae Davia 70 

Ruff'a P. 9 ,156 

^ f f , George, 70 

Rui 

Ru 

Sebaat . ,8 

Sebrene, 

0,121 

Ruff, Warren, 57 

11am, 

*" «m Herbert , 70 

Ruseel , Charlea, 134 

Russell .KUzabeth , 252 

Russe l l , Pergus, 252 

R e s e l l , Jamea, 252 ,253 

Russell , Jamea ->2 

Russe l l , Marv, 252 

Russe l l , Robert, 252 

*"•• • ! « a s , 2 5 2 

Rus .e la ' P.. 159 

Rusae l s , James, 54,115 

Rutland, James, 99 

Rut land,Thomas, 203 

Rutledge, Governor, 152 

Rutledge, John P. S r . , 272 

S a l l e y , J e s s e , 210 

Samples, Daniel B. ,241 

Samples, .242 

Sanders, Thomas, 210 

Sanders, William, 7 

Sand-. I Baptist Church,247 

Sent, Thomas, 62 

Santee Baptist Church, 247 

Saunders, G.W.,173 

Sawyers, Jane, 147 

Schaffer, Phillip, 10 

Schwirer, Margaretha,255 

Scott, Daniel, 259 

Scott, Janes V.,247 

Scott, John, 204 

Scott, Marv R.,50,56 

Scott, Widov 

Seal, Daniel, 5 

Seastrunk, Elizabeth,258 

Seaatrunk, Joseph, 33,260 



49 

t he Broed Ri 

S e i g l e r , George, T8 

S l e g l e r , Jane , 58 

S e i g U 58 

' 7,178 

S e l l e r s , Jacob, 7 

Seminole War, 22 

Sha 1 1 oi# Ford fi S 

Shando u r d , I 

HM Margaret Robinson, 118 

Sharp, Catherine, 

Sherp, U v l 

Sh* 

Shever's Old P lace , Widow, 209 

Shever. 1 ,82 ,243 

Shever, Wi l i i«:. 

.Wil Ham,93 

Shedd, George, 11 ,8 ' 

•8,210 

Shedd, James, 85 

Shedd, James Thompson, 85 

Shedd, Jemima,1 

Sh«-

Sh.- | ! 

Shedd, 90.96 

Shelton, Joseph, 117 

Shermen's Troops, 166 

Shi 1 oh Church, 175 

•;p, Earl .negal, , 123,263,264, 

Ship, Hopewell. 2 ,8 

Ship, Lord Dunlue, 2 ,3 

Ship, Nencv - . 2 6 3 , 2 6 4 , 2 6 5 , 2 7 0 , 

273,274,280 

Ship, p f B B f w l v a n i ; T g-r> 2 7 

S h i r e r , E l i z e b e t h , 170,171 

Sh: ' a r t i n , 170 

Shirer Place, 281 

Shirley, John. 

Shirley, Mary, 71 

Shoemaker, Blakelv, 123 

Shottikon, Switzerland, 255 

Shull, Henry, 29 

S i b e r l y ( S i b l e y , Sibly"), Isaac ,207 

Siber1. -07 

S i b l e y , I s e a c , 203,231 

S i b l e v , Jesse ," -2,194 

Sibley, John, 145,2 

Sibly, Isaac 

Stives (or Silvester),201 



P-350 

>f the Broad Ri 

Index 

Simerly, John Sat 60 

Si iam, 253 

Slmpaon, Elixabeth, 200 

Simpaon, George, 195 

Slmpaon, Rev. John, 77 

Slma, ,9 

Sing, Martha, 190 

Sing, Thomaa, 190 

Singli- 150 

Singlaton, Richard, 135 

Slatrunk ( S«« Seaat 

Slatr Ueper, 258 

15 

Skipper, Brian, 10 

Sligt. 

trgarr 31 

Sloan, Thomaa, 131 

Smart, Mary E. 

Smart, Ruth, 79 

Smith, Alexander, 291 

Smith, Captain Daniel,22 

Smlth'a Cor ain Daniel, 

Smith,Daniel,110 

Smith, D.. 

Smith, Doctor, 258 

Smith, Eben, 268 

Smith, George,47,167 

Smith, James, 52 

Smith, Joel, 261 

Smith, John, 62,64,139,294 

Smith, John H.,18 

Smith, Joseph, 251 

Smith, Leah, 74 

Smith, Lieutenant. 

Smith, Marion Bookman, 261 

Smi 187 

Smith, Patrick, 292 

Smith Place, 211 

, Sarah, 126 

Smith, Stephen, 126 

Smith, T.C.,76 

Smith, Thomas, 168 

Smith, Widow, 120 

Smyth (or Smvthe),Bartlee,77 

Smyth, Berlee, 2 09 

Smyth, Robert, 225 

Snead, Jane, 

Snead, Margaret, 71 

Snow Campaign, 204 

tor | 

South Carolina College, 215 

Southveatem Bank, 173 



P-351 

ft the Broad River 

Index 

Stanton, Chelaey, 20,24,25 

Star laaac, 94 

Stanton, Jane, 94 

Stanton, John, 25, 175, 

193,194 

Stanton, John D.,173 

Stanton, Joaeph, 94 

Its >3 

Stanton, Rebecca, 193 

Stanton, Seville, 20,24,25 

Stant( omaa, 94 

Stantot liaro. 

Star ,103 

St.i 206,229 

Starke, Robert, 277 

S t a m e e , Joahua, 10 

Starnea, P e t e r , 10,207 

Starr , J< )3 

Stedma: , 109 

Stedmar 109 

S t a l l , Robert, 288 

Ste 30 

S t e r l i n g , Margaret, 130 

S t e r l i n g , Samuel, 129 

S t e r l i n g , Sarah,129 

Stevenson , Hugh, 118 ,232 ,233 ,241 

S tevenson , James, 97 

S tevenson Lands, 58 

Steward, J . S . , 1 3 , 1 8 4 

Stewart's Hall Rebellion, 215 

Stewart, James, 62 

Stiel, Hugh, 130 

Stone, Pritchard,206 

Stokes, Elizabeth,201,202 

,jkes , James , 210 

Stokes, Silvester, 201,202 

Stokes, Thomas, 2 01 

, Anna, 151 

Strother,Benjamin, 133 

Strother, Catherine, 135,136,150 

Strother, Catherine Dargan, 134,135,137,140 

rother, Charles, 149,150,151 

Strother, Charlotte, 150 

Strother, Delilah, 150,155 

Strother, Dorothv, 133 

Strother, Dorofchjr Singleton, 150 

Strother, Dr. Solomon P.,156 

Strother, Ellen Kennerly,153 

rother, Elizabeth, 150 

Strother. , 134 

ner's Ferry, 46,192 



P-352 

S t r o t h e r , Prances, I 5 3 t ] 

o t h e r . .. i « , 156 

S t r o t h e r , (minora] Will Jam, 139 

Ufc, .208,21 

>ther, George,136. 

152 L3e 

ro ther , George Hicks, 150 

:50 

S t r o t h e r , M«l< 

S t r o t h e r , Jamea, <6 

S t r o t h e r J D 2 1 7 

S t r o t h e r , Jeremiah, 13^ 50 

S t r o t h e r , 

0 

S t r o t h e r , 

b r o t h e r , John Dargan, 135,140 

0 

S t r o t h e r , Kemp, 151 

amp Talla ' 3 , 

Strother sj 

Strother, M* 

Strother, Marv Ann,150 

er, Hs 

«d T a l l a 

Broad River 

ex 

e r , Moses, 150 

Rachel,154,155 

Str . Richard, 125,154,155,156 

. Robert, 133 

Strother, Salley Woodward, 140,141,209 

. Samuel, 133 

Strother, Sarah, 140,141,143,145,146, 

148,149,150,208,209,211 

er, Sarah Fort, 154,155 

Strother, Sarah Pope, 1 

Strother, Sarah . :30 

er, rhomas, 48 

Strother, Thomas Singleton, 150 

Strother, William, 133,135,136,137,140 

.8,149,151,155, 

186,1 

Summerland, Jacob, 194 

Sumter's Brigade, General,137,142,152 

Sumter County, Alabama, 224 

Mr, General,106,131,132 

Sumterville, 3 

Sutton, James, 187 

Swagert (Swygert),Barbara, 35 

Swech.* Jacob, 135 

Swr ror^e,l 

,Jacob,155 

Svlkard (Swyge ichael) 155 



553 
North of the Broad River 

ex 

Taliaferro, Charles, 133 

T a l i a f e r r o Pain 34 

Taliaferro, John, 133 

Taliaferro, Kemp, 133 

Taliafer ^3 

Tallaferr 

Talladega County, Alabama, 224 

Taylor, James, 168 

Ta Jeremiah, 2 • 

Taylor , 101 

Ta<. *U 

Taylor, Lavina Turnipseed, 94 

Tav lace, 76 

Taylor 's Regiment, Colonel 

Terman, Gret 

Terry, Wealey, 272 

Teto, Alexander 

The South Carolina Gazette, 34 

Thomaa, Andere M 

Thomaa' Company, Captain 

Anderaon, 44, 

Thomaa, Jamea, | 

Thomaa, , 174 

mas, J< 

Thomaa Landa,174 

Thomaa 1 Light Dragoons, Colonel ,36 

Thomas, Martha E.,75 

Thompson, Abraham, 53 

Thompson, David, 253 

Thompson Ethelred, 213 

Thompson, James, 11,12,253 

Thompson, John, 41 

Thompson, John B.,294 

Thompson, Martha,12 

Thompson, O.R.,102 

Thompson, Richard, 159 

Thompson, Robert, 102 ,103,104 

Thomaon, Colonel Wil l iam,204 

Thomson's Ranger Regiment, Colonel 

Will iam, 205 

Thomaon, Wil l iam, 199 

Thorpe, John A . , D . S . G . , 5 3 , 7 8 

Thornton, William, 170,178 

Tidewell, John, 103 

Tidewell, Polly, 61 

Tidewill, Pressley, 10 

Tidewill, Sterling, 212 

Tidewell,Strother, 61 

Tillev, Absolam, 88,205 

Tillev, Frances, 88 



P-354 

North of the Broad River 

Tillumn, t& 

Tillman, Sara! 

Timma, Thomaa, 128 

i, 253 

Trapp, Challie. 

Trapp, Howell, 261 

Trapp, John, 41 

Trapp, 

Trapp, Levi, 186 

Trapp, Lieuten.. 

Trapp, MaT :tl 

Tra| 

Trapp, Rachel, 168 

Trapp, Rebecca, 261 

Tr*pp, Thomaa, 10,25,127, 168 

Tra iah, 2 

Trapp, wn i Lam. 168,186 

Trapp, Z.,11,261 

Trapp, Zachariah,30 

Trezevant, Daniel,69 

.28 

Trunkr 28 

•ier, Al«?x, 295 

'•r, Charlotte. 

•er, Jamea, 152 

Turner, John, 295 

Turner, William ,219 

Turnipseed, Abraham, 22,38 

Turnipseed, Abrara,2 76 

•nipseed, Bartholomew, 12,13,37,38,259 

Catherine, 163 

Eliza, 22,39 

Elizabeth, 39,260 

Harriet S.,13 

Jacob, 28,88,94,101,163 

John, 11,16,18,22,39,94,203, 

Turnipseed 

Turnipseed 

nipseed 

nipseed 

Turnipseed 

Turnipseed 

^8,260 

mipseed 

nipseed 

nipseed 

nipseed 

nipseed 

nipseed 

nipseed 

Turnipseed 

Turnipseed 

Turnipseed 

nipseed 

nipseed 

John B.,39 

[Catherine, 17 ,94 ,101 

{Catherine J r . , 101 

Lavina, 94 

Marv Barbara,101,163 

Michael, 17,22,39,94,101 

Milev (Milly?) 39 

Nancy, 39 

Polly, 39 

Potley, 39 

Rachel, 39 

Rebecca, 22 

Tuakegee,Alabama,226 



P-355 

North of the Broad River 

Twentieth (20th) Volunteers, 

CSA,215 

Tyler, Mary, 79 

Tyler, Sarah, 87 

U 

Univeraltv of the South, 

Sewanee,176 

Uph« Thomaa, 

Upthegrove, Peter, 182 

V 

Vanderhorar 

Veal, Thomaa, 145 

. Fairfield 

County, 204 

W 

Wadde! bB 

Wagea, Andrew, 272 

Wagee, Benjamin, 272 

Waggoner, John, 233 

Waire lae, 34 

Wake Poreat College, 215 

Walker 33 

Walker, Prancla, 160 

Walker, Henry, 88,89,1' 

Walker, James, 15 

Walker, Joh, 8,9,160,165 

Walker, Marv, 196,197 

Walker, Nancy, 160 

Walker, PhfHip,229,230 

Wallace, John, 78 

Wallens, Elijah, 15,29 

Walling, James, 7 

Walnut Street, Winnsboro, 224 

Ward, Wixey,85 

Waring, John M.,174 

Was ;or Cccrgc, 201 

Waters, Captain P.,152,53 

Waters, Colonel P.,153 

Waters, P.,DS,256 

Watkins, David, 28,29 

Watson, Alexander, 84 

Watson, Ann,84 

Watson, Ephraim, 84 

Watson, General,225,226 

Watson, Hardy Davis, 84 

Watson, James Alexander, 84 

Wataon, James Richison, 84 

Wataon, John, 84 

Watsor. . inne , 70 

Wataon, William, 84 



- ) 5 6 North of the Broad River 

Index 

Watt, John, 32. 

Watts, Ed. ,232 

Watts, Edward, 4 8 , 8 6 , 9 3 , 2 2 2 , 2 2 3 , 

231,232 

Watts, Edward Sr., 234,239 

~s, Ellzabe< 22 

Watts, John, 72,222,223,239 

Watts' Land, 165 

Watts, Marian, 72 

Watts, Millv. 222,239 

Watta, Reuben, 72 

Watts, Susannah, 222,231,239 

Watts, Thomas,222,239 

Watts, William, 224,291 

Weeber, Jecob, 35 

Weakley, John, 252 

Weir, Jemes. 

Weir, Margaret, 274 

Weir, M;. 10 

Weir, Matthew. '2 

Weldon, Jane, 207 

Weldon, Samuel, 107 

Weldon, William, 115,122 

Wells, Ebenesar,205 

Wells, | . 221 

Werrick (Wirlc 'lolaa, 

14 19 

Werrick (Wirick), Maria Eva, 14,19 

Whiple, Isaac, 171 

White, Nathan, 151 

White, William R.,65 

Whiteford, Rachel,199 

Whitehouse, Mr.,126 

Whitehouse, Thompson, 167,197 

Whittaker, Jacob Davis, 102 

Whittaker, James, 63 

Whittaker, Marv T.,63 

ittaker, W.,63 

Whitworth's Place, Captain, 1 

Wilson, Agnes, !>4,Z88 

Wilson, Charlotte Strother, 150 

Wilson, David, 54 

Wilson, Drummer William, 206 

son, James, 112,132 

Wilson, John, 5,7,44,112,116,122,150 

Wilson, Robert, 114,118 

Wilson, William,112 

Williams, Augustine, 40,124 

Hams, Creighton,148 

Williams, Elizabeth,81,105 

Wil Heme, Joht 39,234 

Williams, Reason, 182 

Williams, Robert, 223 

Williams, Thomas,105,170,190 



P-357 

North of the Broad River 

Index 

Williamson, Aillery,68 

Williamson, Alic 15 

Williamson, James C.,127 

Williamson, J.W.,88 

Williamson, Roland, 168,215 

Williamson, Roling, 68,89,144,196 

Williamson, Rowland, 144 

Williamson, Thomas, 7 

WilUamaon, Thomas F.,101 

Williamson T.,68 

Willingham, Edward, 80 

Will <ngham, IliU -82 

: 1 Ingham, John, 182 

Willingham, Mary, 181,182 

Willingham, Thomaa, 192 

Willingham, William, 181,182 

Willingham, William Jr., 181 

Wimpey, Henry, 206 

Winn, General, 137 

Winn, Jo ,132,134,138,139 

144,157,167,171,172,197,198,: 

Winn, John, D.S.,137,203 

Winn Lands, 147 

Winn, M.,243 

Winn, Mary,167 

Winn, Minor, 112,137,144,156,167,171,172, 

197,198,221 

Winn, Minor, D.S., 78 

Winn's Regiment, Colonel Richard,44,106 

Winn, Richard,109 

Winn, Richard, D.S.,203,207 

Winn, Samuel,203,207 

Winn Street, 179 

Winningham, Thomas, 206 

Winnock, John, 134 

Wirey (Wirick) 

Wirey,"Dutch',' 243 

Wirey, Harmon, 165 

Wirey, Herman, 97 

Wirey, Nicholas, 15,89,97 

Wirick, Adam, 16,17,18,20,21,42 

Wirick, C.,23 

Wirick, Catherine, 18,20,21,22,23 

Wirick, Catherine Doretta, 19,20 

Wirick, Christiana, 19 

Wirick, Elizabeth, 19,76,259 

Wirick, Frank N.,26 

Wirick, Harmon,25 

Wirick, Jacob, 16,18,20,34,76,95, 

165,259 



358 
North of the Broed R: 

ex 

-remiah, 24. 

esse, 17,18. .42,75 

76,95,i 

Jesse P . , 26 

WlrlcV 

Wir. ,26 

r i c k , John Z . ,23 

Wirick, J . Z . , 2 6 , 2 4 6 

Wirick, Lebon V . ,26 

r ick Land,166 

6 

; . , 246 

Wirick, N i c o l a s , 9 , 1 0 , 1 1 . 

1 5 , 1 6 , 1 7 , 1 8 , 1 9 , 2 0 , 2 1 , 2 2 , 2 3 , 2 8 , 2 9 , 

2 4 , 4 5 , 8 8 , 9 3 , 1 0 1 , 1 5 7 , 1 6 ? 59 

",95 

Rebecca A. ,23 

Wirick, Samuel, 2 2 , 2 4 , 2 5 , 2 5 9 

.lman J e f f e r s o n , 19 ,20 

Wirick, W.P.,26 

Wl Zachariah, 1 8 , 2 3 , .95 

herspoon, Will iam, 190 

Wm. Beth and Companv 

Wombweil, Joahua, 185 

Wood.Gracey, 192 

Woodmas. «» Rev. Char les , 204 

Woods,James R. 4 5 , 4 9 , 5 0 , 6 0 

Woodwerd, Afsaneth ,219 ,220 ,229 

Woodward,Alley, 211 

Woodward, Alva Milton Augustus,216 

Woodward, Ann,227,228 

Woodward Bapt i s t Church, 218,219 

Woodward, Burbage, 47 ,231 ,234 ,239 

Woodward, Captain John, 143,146 

Woodward, Captain Thomas, 201 ,204 ,205 ,240 

Woodward Cemetery,215,216,217 

Woodward, Char lo t te , 223 

Woodward, Colonel John J . , 2 1 2 

Woodvrard, Cynthia, 211 

Woodward, Daniel Y. ,239 

Woodward, Dr. Osmund M.,213 

Woodward, Eas ter , 208 ,211 ,212 ,214 

Woodward er Caroline, 214 

Woodward, Elder William, 218 

Woodward, Eliza, 213,214 

Woodward, Elizabeth, 208,226,229,234,235 

Woodward, Elizabeth Simpson, 200 

Woodward, Elizabeth Stokes May, 202,224, 

226,227,228,240 

Woodward Family, 200 

Woodward, First Lieutenant John ,205,208 

Woodward, General Thomas S., 107,200,207n, 

: n 



P-359 
North of the Broed R: 

ex 

Woodward, George, 229,230, 

234,235,2 

Woodwerd, Harr ie t , 

Woodward,Helen M. ,. 

Woodward, H« i , 2 4 0 

Woodward, lea*, M 

Woodward, Isaac H.,239 

Woodward, James, 2 3 0 , 2 3 2 , 2 3 3 , 2 3 4 

Woodwerd, James 0 . . 2 32 

Woodwerd, James P . , 2 3 9 

Woodward, Jane, 237 

Woodward, Joseph H.,22 6 

Woodward Lands. 

Woodward, Leonerd Cornel ia , 216 

Woodward, Lev i sey ,234 

Woodward, L ieuv ice ,233 

Woodward, Lu ^8,240 

Woodward, L u i v i c i a , 233 

Woodward, Luvesia, 231,232 

Woodward, Major John, 211 

Woodward, Major John J . , 2 1 4 

Woodward, Major John J r . , 2 1 1 , 2 1 2 

Woodward, Jemima C o l l i n s , 201 ,205 , Woodward, Margaret, 229 ,233 ,234 ,236 

20r Woodward, Marian C o l l i n s , 145,146 

>dward, John, 48 , I oodward, Martha, 215,216,217 

, 2 0 8 , 2 0 9 , 2 1 0 , 2 1 1 . 19,220 Woodward, Mar 

2 2 3 , 2 2 6 , 2 2 7 , 2 2 8 , 2 2 9 , 2 3 0 . ' 2 , 2 3 3 , Woodward, Mary C o l l i n s , 214 

234,236 

Woodwarc. 12 

Woodwu " , 4 7 , 1 

Woodward, John Si 

4,215 

he Thi . 09 

Woodward, Joaeph, 2 0 8 , 2 0 9 , 2 2 0 , 

227,22 .239 ,240 

Woodward, Joseph A . , 5 0 , 7 8 . 

1,224 

Woodward, Mary Howard, 225 

Woodward,Melinda R. ,224 

Woodward, Nancy, 232,235 

Woodward, Nancy Barret t , 219 ,223 , 224 

Woodward, Nathanie l , 233,235,236 

Woodward, Osmund, 98 ,144 ,208 ,209 ,210 , 

l,216,217n,218 

Woodward, Osmund 

Woodward, P a t s i e E. ,212 

Woodward, P . ,213 



P-360 
North of the Broad River 

Index 

Woodward, Priscilla, 239 

Woodward, Rachel, 236,237 

Woodward, Randal Jr., 238 

Woodward, Randal, Sr,238 

Woodward, Randolph, 237,238 

Woodward, Randolph, Jr., 238,239 

Woodward, Randolph Sr.,238,239 

Woodward, Rebecca, 236 

Woodward, Rebecca May, 213 

Woodward, Regina, 216,217 

Woodward Regulator Thomas, 201, 

205,208,215,216,218,220,2: 

226,227,240,243 

Woe , Rev. William Sr.,218, 

219,220,221,223,224,231 

Woodward, R.C.,91 

Woodward, Richard,58,229,230, 

231,232,233,234,237,238 

Woodw., ichard C,235,236 

Woodward, Richard J r . , 2 3 6 

Woo< R i c h a r d S r . , 2 2 9 , 2 3 6 . 

Woodward , S a l l i e , 2 1 2 

W o o d w a r d , S a r a h , 2 0 8 , 2 1 1 , 2 3 2 

Woodwm omaa , 7 9 , 1 0 ^ 138, 

2 0 0 , 2 0 1 , 2 0 2 , 2 0 3 , 2 0 5 , 2 0 6 , 2 0 7 , 2 0 8 , 

2 0 9 , 2 1 1 , 2 2 0 , 2 2 1 , 2 2 3 , . 5,226 

228 ,229 ,240 

Woodward, Thomas A. ,212,213,214 

Woodward, Thomas Jr.,182 

Woodward, Thomas William, 214,215 

Woodward, Widow, 78 

Woodward, William,47,48,138,219 

Woodward, William Strother, 216 

Woodward, William T.,83,145 

Woodward, William Thomas, 2 08 

Woodward, Zachariah,58,232 

Wooley, Shadrick, 47 

Woorster, Reuben, 138 

Wooster Street,Winnsboro, 179 

Wootan, Daniel, 33,181,184 

Wooten, Moses, 10 

Workman, James, 11 

Wylie, Peter, 220 

Wyret (Wirick),Harmon (Herman),24 

Wyrey, (Wirick),Harmon, 244 

Wyrey,Nicholas, 15,24 

-ick (Wirick) Harmon (Herman),16,20, 

24,97 

Y 

Yarborough, Agnes G.,53 

Yarborough, E.,32 

Yarborough, Edward, 30 

Yarborough,Green W.,32 



P-361 

th of the Broad River 

.ex 

borough, John, 157 

Yarborough, John F.,155 

>orough, John Sr., 127 

Yarborough, Richard, 194 

Yarborough, Thomaa, 53 

Yarborough, William, 291 

Yongue, Andrew, 238 

Yongue, A.W.,180 

Yongue, Charles, 290 

Yongue, Jonathan, 272 

Yongue, Martin, 232,234,236 

i»Kue, , 130 

Yongue, Saimi** ,93 

Yongue, Sheriff A.W.,93 

Yongue, William, 230 

Z 

Zeagler, John, 71 

Zeagler, Sarah M,, 50,59 








